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FREFACE

This administrative history has been prepared to satisfy in part the
research needs as stated in the task directive (approved by Mid-Atlantic
Regional Director James W. Caoleman, Jr., in & memorandum dated March
15, 1984) concerning Valley Forge HWational Historical Park, Administrative
History under Package MNo. 333. The purpese of this study is the
collection, presentation, and evaluation of historical research data
pertaining to the conception, establishment, and coperation of Valley Forge
both as a Pennsylvania state park {1893-1976) and a national historical
park under the auspices of the National Park Service (1976-present). It
is intended that this study will provide a knowledge of the problems faced
and actions taken by past park managers, thus providing present and
future park administrators with a more informed background about the
successas, failures, and ongeing or recurring issues of the past and
greater awareness for management decision-making.

A number of persons have assisted in the preparation of this report.
Edwin <. Bearss, Chief Historian, and Barry Mackintosh, Bureaw
Historian, both of the Naticnal Park Service's Washington Office {WASQ)
provided direction for the project and made availlable to me WASQO files an
the park. Special thanks are due to Mid-Atlantic Regional Office (MARO)
Director James W. Coleman, Jr., and members of his staff {(John W,
Bond, Associate Regionat Director, Cultural Rescurce Management,
Clifford Tobias, Regional Historian); and retired Deputy Regional Director
George A. Palmer, for sharing their ideas on the nature of research
required for the project and making awvailable to me the regional office
files for research purposes, My appreciation also extends o
Superintendent Wailace B. EIlms, Assistant Superintendent Martin R.
Conway, Chief of Interpretation and Cultura! Resources Management John
Tyler, Historian Joan Marshali-Dutcher, and Secretary Barbara Fox of
Valley Forge MNational Historical Park for helping me to understand the
park administrative research needs and expectaticns for this report,
making available the extensive park archives and files for rasearch
purposes, conducting me on several guided tours of the park, and
providing the names of local peocples to interview and the repositories to
cortsult for research data.

In addition, my thanks go to the staffs of the warious repositories i
visited: Chester County Historical Society, West Chester, Pennsylvania;
Historical Society of Montgomery County, HNorristown, Pennsylvania;
Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia; Library of Congress;
Pennsylwvania Historical and Museum Commission, Harrisburg; Pennsylvania
State Library, Harrisburg; U.5. Department of the Interior, HNatural
Resources Library, Washington, DO.C., and Valley Farge Historical
Society.

One of the unexpected benefits of undertaking this study has been the
opportunity to contact a number of persons who have been involved in
the administration of Valley Forge both as a state park and as a unit of
the Natienal Park System. | am indebted to all those who aliowed me Lo
interview them either in person or by telephone. | also wish to thank
former Pennsylvania Senator Hugh D. Scotl, Jr., for corresponding with

will



me relative to his efforts to have Valley Forge established as a national
historical park.

Gerald Patten, Assistant Manager; Nan V. Rickey, Chief, Branch of
Cultural Respurces; and Ronald W. Johnson, Chief, Histery Research
Section, Northeast Team, Denver Service Center provided encouragement
for the project. Helen Athearn handled the paper work associated with
the study, and Debbie Drew and Beverly Ritchey typed the manuscript.

it should be nroted that owver the years the route numbers of the
Pennsylvania state highways in the Valley Forge area have changed.
Thus, one should check the maps scattered throughout this report for the
location of the various routes at specific dates.

it should also be noted that over the years various buildings in the
Valley Forge area were acquired and or restored by the Commotrwealth of
Pennsylvania or other private groups because it was understood at the
time that these structures were associated with encampment period events
or personalities. Later research has often changed these associations and
the names by which these buildings are known today. Thus, one should
check the maps throughout the report for the location and designation of
the various structures at specific dates.

Harlan 0. Unrau
September 7984



CHAFPTER ONE

A BRIEF ACCOUNT OF THE VALLEY FORGE ENCAMPMENT AREA
FROM 1778 TC 1876




Soo-

When the Continental Army left the Valley Forge encampment area on
June 18, 1778, it left behind a scene of devastation. According to one
account, the once productive farms in the vicinity were "destitute of
vegetation” and "lay uncultivated and without enclosure." Catile and
horses on area farms had been regquisitioned by the army. The trees in
the nearby forests had been cut down and nothing but the stumps
remained. The timber and farm fences had been used to construct the
huts and pickets for the army and ta furnish fuel for the soldiers.
Moreover, the once busy forge on Valley Creek had been Burned by the
British several months before the arrival of the Americans on December
18, 1737,

The first recorded description of the encampment area after the
Continental Army left Valley Forge is that of Captain Thomas Anbury, a
prisoner af Major General John Burgoyne's army, in December 1778. The
account of his stay at Yalley Forge overnight while on a march to Virginia
under escort includes the following description of the area:

Our treops slept in the huts at Valley Forge, which had been
constructed by the Americans, and we remained till late the
next day for the delivery of provisions hefore we marched. |
had a full gpportunity to reconnociter the whole camp. On the
aast and south sides were entrenchments, with a ditch six feet
wide and three deep, the mound not four feet high, very
narrow, and easily to have been beat down with a cannan; two
redoubts were also begun, but not completed. The Schuy!kill
was on the left, and, as | before observed, with a bridge
across it; the rear was mostly covered by an impossible
precipice formed by Valley Creek, having only a narrow
passage near the river. This camp was by no means difficult
of access, for the right was attainable, and in one part of the
front the ascent was scarcely to be perceived. The defenses
were exceedingly weak, and this is the only instance | ever saw
of the Americans having such slight works, these being such
ihat a six-pounder could easily have battered down. The
ditches were not more than three feet deep, and so narrow that
a drummer-boy might with ease leap over.

A Loyalist, at whose house | was guariered, at Valley Forge,
and who resided here at the time Washington's army was
encamped, told me that when General Washington chose that
spot for his winter-quarters his men were ocbliged to build their
huts with round logs and suffered exceedingly from the
inclemency of the seasch. The greater part of them were in a
manner Raked at that sewvare season of the year, many without
shoes and stockings, and very few, except the Virginia troops,
wilh the necessary clothing. His army was wasting away with
sickness, that raged with extreme mortality in all his different
hospitals, which were no less than eleven. His army was
likewise so diminished by constant desertions in caomparies, from
ten to fifteen at a time, that at one period 1t was reduced to
four thousand, and those with propriety could not be called
effective.



The horses, from being constantly exposed to showers of rains
and Talls of snow, bolh day and night, were n such a condition
that many of them died, and the rest were so emaciated as to
be unfit for labor; had he been attacked or repulsed he must
have left behind all his artillery, for want of horses to convey
it. In additicn to all those distresses, Washington had not in
camp at any cone time a week's provisions for man and horse,
and sometimes he was totally destitute. The Lovalists greatly
censure General [William] Howe in suffering Washington to
continue in this weak and dangerous state from December till
May, and egually astonished what could be the motive he did
not attack, surround or take by siege the whaole army when the
severity of the weather was gome. They expected that in the
month of March, April and May they should hear of the camp
being stormed or besieged. But it seems that General Howe
was exactly in the same situation as General Burgoyne
respecting intelligence, cobtaining none he could place 3 perfect
reliance on. (1)}

The comments of Anbury were echoed by Lieutenant Encs Reeves of the
Pennsylvania Line who passed through Valley Farge in September 1787.
Accarding to an extract from Reeves' letter book, he chserved:

On  Monday Lt. Mclean and | set off for the City of
Philadelphia. Came round by the Sprints, lost our way by
going the back road and found oursalves near the Bull Tavern
at the Valley Forge. We dined near Moor {sicl Hall, came thro'
our old Encampment, or rather first huts of the whole army.
Some of the officers' huts are inhabited, but the greater part
are decayed, some are split up into rails, and a number of fire
fields are 1o be seen on the level ground that was cleared, but
in places where they have let the shoots grow, it is already
like a half grown young wood.({2)

Despite the devastation in the wicinity of the Valiley Farge encampment
most focal residents soon moved back to their homes and farms and began
the process of rebuilding. Fences were rebuilt using rails left in the
pickets, the huts were dismantled with their timbers being used for fuel
and railings, and a new grist mill was constructed near Washington's
Headguarters, Sewveral years later a slitting and ralling mill was
constructed on the Chester County side of the creek. These siructures
were the property of |saac Fotts and Company, |saac resuming residence
in the house that Washingtern had used as his headguarters, and the

1. Quoted in Theodore W. Bean, ed., History of Montgamery County,
Fennsylwvania {Philadelphia, 13843, 1,124.

2. "Extracts from the Letter-Books of Lieutenant Emas Eeeves, of the
Pennsylvania Line (Letter 202)," Pennsyivania Magazine of History and
Biography, XX1 (1897), 235-36.




"Company" referring to David Potts and his son James, who marketed the
iron from the forge and mill in Philadelphia.(3)

The restoration of the farming operations in the encampment area was 4
slow process fraught with many difficulties. tn his History of Valiey
Forge Henry Woodman (much of his information was based on his gwn and
athers' personzl reminiscences and subsequent research has shown some
of his data to be Inaccurate) ocbserved:

The greater part of the country . . . particularly that part
lying i the Great Valley, was laid waste, and but little
exartion was made by most of the owners of it to improve it
until after the conclusion of the war. They then commenced
the restoration of their farms., The hand of indusiry soon
caused the face of the country 1o assume a different aspect,
but it was for many years after before some gof it was restored.
in commencing this work they encountered many difficulties.
Continental money died on their hands. The government was
for many years after in a very unsettled state. The foreign
trade was crippled by the war. And many other discouraging
circumstances had te be surmounted by persevering industry
and patient registration. In the few vyears these were
overcome; their lands were enclosed; where lately nothing was
beheld but desclation could be seen the fruitful fields crowned
with abundance of grain of every description, for the
sustanance of man and beast, and in summer clad with verdant
grass, on which flocks and herds were guietly feeding and the
whaole face of the country bearing witness of the blessings of
peace in contrast with the evils of war . . L)

Farm cperations had <learly been reestablished in the Valley Forge area
by the summer of 1787, when Washington made 3 surprise visit to the old
encampment during a ten-day break in the Censtitutional Convention to
permit its Committee on Details to prepare a draft of the document. On
July 30 and 31 Washington recorded the following comments in his diary:

Monday, 30th. in company with Mr. Gowvr. Morris and his
Phaeton with my horses, went up to one, Jane Maore's {in
whose house we lodged) in the wvicinity of Valley Forge to get
Trout.

Tuesday, 31st. Whilst Mr. Morris was fishing, [ rid over the
{wholg) old Cantonment of the American (Army} of the Winter,

3. Henry Wooedman, The History of Valley Forge {Gaks, Pennsylwvania,
19223, 91-137, and Linda McCurdy, "“The Potts Family fron Industry in
the Schuylikill Valley" {unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, Pennsylvania State
University, 1974}, pp. 185-87. In his book Wcodman provides a brief
history of each of the farms in the encampment area up ta 1850,

4. Wobndman, History of Valley Forge, pp. 125-286.




1777 and 8, wvisited all the Works, wch. were in Ruins; and the
incampments in  woods where the grounds had not been
cultivated,

On my return back to Mrs. Moore's, observing some Farmers at
Work, and entering into Conversation with them, | received the
following information with respect to the mode of cuttivating
Buck Wheat, and the application of the grain, viz. The usual
time of sowing, is from the 10th to 20th of July, on twe
plowings and as many harrowings at least--the grain to be
harrowed in. That it is considered as an uncertain Crop,
being subject to injury by a hot sun whilst it is in blossom and
quickly destroyed by frost, in Autumn, and that 25 bushl. is
estimated as an average Crop to the Acre. That it is
cansidered as an excellent food for horses, to puff and give
them their first fat, Milch cattle, Sheep, and Hogs, and also
for fatting Beeves. To do which, 2 quarts of Buck Wheat Meal,
half a peck of Irish Potatoes at the commencemt. {to be reduced
as the appetite of the beasts decrease or in other words as
they encrease in flesh) mixed and given 3 times a day is fully
competent. That Buck Wheat Meal made into a wash is most
excellent to lay on fat upon hogs, but it must be hardenad by
feeding them some time afterwards with Corn., And that this
Meal and Potatoes mixed is wvery good for Colts that are
weaning. About 3 pecks of seed is the usual allowance for an
acre.

On my Return t¢ Mrs. Moore's | found Mr. Robt. Morris and
his lady there. (Spent the day there fishing & ca and lodged
at the same pilace}.(5)

while at Valley Forge Washington had a conwversation with Edward
Woodman, the father of the author of the aforementioned History of Valiey
Forge. According to Woodman's recolliections of his father's reminiscences
of the occasion, the casual visit was described as follows:

In the fatter part of the summer of 1796 (1787}, be was
engaged in ploughing in 2 field near the Front Line Hill, It
was in the afterncon of the day, and observed an elderly
person of a very dignified appearance, dressed in a plain suit
of black, on horseback, accompanied by a black waiter, ride to
a place in the road oppasite t¢ him, where he alighted from his
horse and came into the field to him, and shaking hands

5. John C. Fitzpatrick, ed., The Diaries of George Washington:
1748-1798 (4 vols., Boston, 1825}, 1, 230-31. |n 1787 Jane Moore owned
and occupied 275 acres that had formed a rortion of the Valley Forge
encampment area. Also see William §. Baker, "Washington After the
Revelution, 1784-1799," Pennsylvanis Magazine of History and Biography,
XEX (July, 1895), 186-87. -




cordially with him, told him he had called to make some inguiry
of him, concerning the owners and occupants of the different
places about there, and alse in regard to the system of farming
practised in that part of the country, the kinds of grain and
vegelables raised, the time of sowing and planting, the best
method of tilling the ground, the gquantity raised, and numerous
other things relative to farming and agriculture, and asking
after some families in the neighborhood. As answers were
given he noled them down in @ memorandum baok.

My father informed him that he was unable to give as correct
information as he could wish, as he had not been brought up to
the farming business, and was not a native of that part of the
country, having settled there since the war, that he came from
North Carolima, where he resided previous 1o the Rewvolution,
that he bad been in the army and was one of the number
encamped there during the war. This gave a new turp to the
ronversation. The stranger informed him that he bad also been
in the army and encamped there, and was expecting in a few
months to leave the city of Philadelphia, with no prospect af
ever returning. He had taken a jeurney to visit the place, view
the old encampment ground, which had been the scene of so
much suffering and distress, and see how far the inhabitants
were recovering from the disasters they bhad experienced, and
the iosses they bad sustained from that event, adding that his
name was George Washington.

Upon receiving this infarmation, my father told him that his
costume and appearance were 5o altered that he did not
recognize him, or he would have paid more respect to his old
Commander and the Chief Magistrate of the Union. He replied
that to see the people happy and satisfied, and the dasolate
fields recovering from the disasters they had experienced, and
particularly to meet with any old companion of his in arms and
suffering now peacefully engaged in the most useful of all
employments, afforded him more real satisfaction than ali the
servile homage that could be paid to his person or station. He
then asked his name, npted it in his memorandum bhook, and
said that pressing engagements rendered it necessary for him to
return to the city that night, or he would visit some of his
former friends al their houses. Then taking him by the hand
bade him an affectionate farewetl.(8)

During the nrext four decades the former encampmenl ares Once again
hecame a thriving agricultural community aided by a number of industrial
developments along Valley Creek. In 1814 the forge and mill were scld to
John Rogers and Joshua Malin, the latter rebuilding and enlarging the
rolling and slitting mill to some thirty feet in widlh and eighty feet in

&. wWwoodman, History of Valley Forge, pp. 126-27.



length. There was a "tilt-mii" in one end, and between the main
building and the dam a small foundry. A three-story stone building was
also commenced for the manufacture of hardware. In 1816, after Malin
suffered financial reverses, James Wood became a pariner of Rogers,
managing the works and completing the three-story structure which he
converted primarily inte & saw factory. Using iron obtained fraom the
Laurel, Cowventry, and Springton forges, Wood also operated the rolling
mill, producing boiler plate and brand iron.

Some time after 1818 a large stack was erected between the rolling mill
and the smith shop with six furnaces built around it. Here cast steel
was produced for saws. Some sixty barrels of clay for crucibles were
brovught from Perth Amboy, New Jersey. Early in 1821 Brooke Evans of
Sheffield, England, leased the property from Rogers, enlarged the mil|
and converted the saw factory and mill into a gun factory. Reportedly,
he produced 20,000 muskets before the miil was destroyed by a freshet.
Thereafter, the building on the Montgomery side, after being wvacated as
a gun factory, was converted to a cotton and woolen factory.{7)

The industrial operations, businesses, and private dwellings were
described by Thomas F. Gordon, a well-known historian, in his A
Gazetteer of the State of Pennsylvania, published in 1832. According te
his description of Valley Forge it was & village &t the confluence of Valley
Creek and the Schuylkili River containing

about 30 houses, a cotton manufactory, having 2000 spindles, a
ralling mill, a gun manufactory extensively carried on, a
merchant grist mil!, and 1 tawvern and 2 stores. The place
darives its name from a forge which formerly stood here. The
tavern, gun factery, and about 10 dwellings are in Chestar
Co.; the creek being the line.(8)

An interesting sidelight in the history of the area was the attempt in
1825-26 of the Friendly Association for Mutual Interest, a congregstion of
thirty families from the Philadelphia and Wiimington areas, to form a
utopian cemmunity at Valley Forge based on the principles of Robert
Owen. The group purchased the structure that had served as
Washington's Headquarters and surrounding property, but within a year
the project had failed with James Jones, a wealthy member of the group,
acquiring the property. After assuming ownership of the property, Jones

7. J. Smith Futhey and Giibert Cope, History of Chester County,
Pennsylvania, With Geneslogical and Biographical Sketehes (Philadelphia,
1881}, p. 348.

8. Thomas F. Gordon, A Gazetteer of the State of Pennsylvania {1832)
{Reprint ed., Mew Orleans, 1975), p. 481. Alsoc see "J, F. Watsen's
Visit to Chester in 1827, to Valley Forge in 1828, (and) to Canal Detaware

and Ches. Canal 1829," Manuscripts Department, Historical Society of
Pennsylvania, Philadelphia.




localed "free stone of an excellent quality," shipping large quantities by
boat to Philadelphia for construction purposes. (9}

The earliest recorded anniversary cCeremonies commemorating the
encampment at Valley Forge took place at the semicentennial celebration in
1828. The celebration purported to be a combined commemoration of the
evacuation of Valley Forge and the Fourth of July, but because the
farmers in Montgomery, Chester, and Delaware counties were busy with
harvesting in early July the celebration, referred to as "Harvest Home, "
was held on July 26. The committee of arrangement for the occasion,
attended by more than 4,000 persons, consisted of David Townsend,
Nathaniel Brooke, Maurice Richardson, Townsend Haines, David Wilson,
Jr., Daniel Abrahams, Mathew Roberts, Abraham Brower, Philip Kendall,
and Thomas Reed. In a pamphiet prepared shortly after the occasion, it
was noted that the large assemblage met “at Valley Forge--the ground
rendered sacred by the sufferings of the American army under
washington--with a view to celebrata their great festivals, and strengthen
each other in the love of their country.” The pamphlet continued:

The ground on which they assembied is covered with wood; but
still bears traces of having been a military position. The
remains of a breastwork are to be seen running aleng the Brow
of the hill towards the river,--thrown up in the severity of the
winter half a century ago, as a preotection against sudden
attack, and raised by the {abour of a patriotic band of freemen,
of whom wery few now survive.

The Valley Forge encampment ground now commands a prospect
in every direction of a prosperous, fertile, heaithy, and
plentiful country--but it once witnessed a far different scene,
and echoed with far different sounds from thase which are
heard at a mirthful HARVEST HOME.

The program for the day was characterized as "a cheering spectacle, a
proper tribute to the memories of our fathers, and of all the ‘great and
glorious day' established by their virtue and confirmed by their blood."
On the stage erected for the occasion were Continental Army wveterans
who had been at Wvalley Forge fifty years before. The morning was
nyshered in by the firing of camnon," and at noon the Declaration of
Independence was regad by Dr. william Harris. When the reading was
completed, 2 national air was struck up by a Z2&-member voluntaer band
frem Bethlehem "amid the thundering of cannen." The principatl address
was given by Col. John G. watmough, who as a Heutenant of artillery had

3. Louwis H. Arky, "The Mechanics' Union of Trade Associations and the
Formation of the Phijadelphia Workingmen's Movement," Pennsylvania
Magazine of History and Biography, LXXVI {April, 1952), 148-47; Niles'
wWeekly Register, December 31, 1825; Harry E. Wildes, Valtey Forge {MNew
York, 1938), pp. 287-89; Arthur E. gestor, Jr., Backwoods Utepias:
The Sectarian and Owenite Phases of Communitarian Socialism in America,
1532-1829 (Philadeiphia, 1850), pp. 202-03; and Woodman, Histery of

Valley Forge, pp. 140-41.




been sewverely wounded in the defense of Fort Erie against the British on
august 15, 1814, The oration centered on the theme of "the preeminence
of civil wvirtue, and how its principles had constituted the wvery living
principle of our existence as a natien, from the first landing of the
pilgrim fathers, through the whole of our revolution, and up to the
present crisis in our national affairs."

After the address a large number of people participated in a beef and
ham dinner in "the shades of the adjoining woods!" prepared by Abisha T.
Woodmar. Thirteen tables "had been laid, 167 feet long each, containing
1620 plates, and all radiating from the outer ring of a smali circle, within
which was the band." The majority of the crowd dined elsewhere or
partook of refreshments offered by numerous settlers 'in the woods. !
Following the meal a "succession of apt and patrictic sentiments, in the
form of topasts, were prociaimed and met the universal approbation of the
meeting, testified by Joud and repeated cheers." Jonathan Roberts,
former U.S5. Senator from Pennsylvania and a rasident of Upper Merion
Township, and a number of prominent iocal citizens presided over the
thirteen formal toasts, and the correspeonding responses which ok on a
politica! flaver in support of the reelection of John Quincy Adams as
President of the United States:

First--The Fourth of July, 1776.

Second--The President of the United States, John Quincy Adams.

Third--The administration of the National Government.

Fourth--The Unien of the States.

Fifth--George Washington.

Sixth--Henry Ciay.

Seventh--Agriculture, Manufactures, and Commerce.

Eighth--Internal Improvement.

Minth--Richard Rush {Secretary of the Treasury, Maticnal
Republican candidate for Vice President on the Adams ticket,
and son of Benjamin Rush, signer of the Declaration}.

Tenth--The Tariff Bill.

Eleventh--The Pepple of Pennsylwvania.

Twelfth--The Gavernor of Pennsylvania.

Thirteenth--The Minority of the Pennsylvania Delegation in the 20th
Congress (the majority being Jacksonian Democrats).

In additicn to these reqgular ioasts, forty-three impromptu toasts were
offered by various individuals. The principal ones, which were followed
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by lengthy responses, were to: John Sergeant, a congressman from
Philadelphia; civil magistrates; Colonel John G. watmough, a future
congressman from Philadelphia; and Peter 5. Duponceau, who had come
from France with Baron won Steuben and served as his aide at Valley
Forge with the rank of captain. After the round of informal toasts, the
meeting, according to the pamphlet, "broke wup at an early hour and
separated without one singfe accident or unpleasant accurrence to mar the
general satisfaction."(10)

The first monument to be erected in commemoration of the valley Forge
encampment was a 'little red sandstone marker" on the left bank of the
Schuyikill River at the site of Sullivan's Bridge ower which the
Continental Army had passed when it left the area in June 1778,
Available documentation does not indicate the date of the marker or the
party responsible for its erection. However, in 1840 canal boatmen
gperating on the Schuylkill Navigation Company and Union Canal works
determined to place “in addition to the small sandstone marker, a larger
and appropriste marble marker on the Valley Farge side of the river."
The boatmen formed an association and started a subscription st
providing for donations from one cent o one dofllar. According to the
reminiscences of one of the bpatmen the dimensions of the new stone were

nine feet high twelve inches wide and nine inches thick. It was
procured from the quarries near Conshohocken, and it was
designed and cut to the zbove dimensions, and then taken to
Naorristown on a Union boat to have the lettering done. When
completed it was again icaded on a Union boat and delivered to
its destination, where it was planted near the tow-path on the

10. Harvest Home Meeting, of Chester and Montgomery Counties, at the
valley Forge Encampment Ground, July 26, 1828, with remarks and
explanations {Philadelphia, 1828y, pp. 1-29. A copy of this pamphiel may
Be seen at the Historical Society of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia.

The Village Record {West Chester) commented on the celebration on
August 6.

Pennsylvania has at last roused herself and Is determined to
continue true to her ewn interests and the real welfare of her
sister states. Let the brave and hardy sons of Kentucky and
the West hear her voice, and be rallied by it around the
standard of pational union, of virtug and civil liberty.

The celebration of the anniversary of American Independence by
the friends of the General Administration, en the grounds of
the oid entrenched camp, at Valiey Forge on the 2Bth instant
has been attended with the mast brilliant and entire success.
The day, Saturday the 26th, was though warm, beautifully
clear and tranguil . . . 4,000 persons attended.

Quoted in Margaret D. Roshong, "75th Anniversary of Valley Forge State
park," Picket Post, July, 1988, 21.




right bank of the river, about three feet in the ground and
nearly six feet exposed. The reason the Unicon boats were used
for conveying the stone was because they were constructed as
freight craft. (11}

The Whigs held another rally at Valley Forge during the presidential
campaign in 1840 in support of the party's nominees, William Herry
Harrison and John Tyler. Same 4,000 persons were present for the
festivities on October 1. Women from Chester Valley presented a banner
and from Radnor came a log cabin composed of blooming dahlias. The
presiding officer for the occasion was General I|ssac Wayne, son of
General Major Anthony Wayne. On the platform sat several veterans of
the Rewvolutionary War, wearing hats inscribed "76ers." The speakers
included former U.5. Senator Jonathan Roberts and Edward Jay Morris, a
celebrated Philadelphia orator.{12)

The first concerted efforts to preserve and memorialize the Valley Forge
encampment site as a historic shrine were commenced by Dr. lIsaac A.
Pennypacker, a medical dector in  Phoenixville, during 1842-45.
Pennypacker was the grandson of Lieutenant |ssac Anderson, who carried
dispatches frem the encampment for Washington. Born in Schuylkill
Township in 1312, Pennypacker graduated from the medical department of
the University of Pennsylvania in 1835, He established his medical
practice in Phoenixville the following year and continued there until 1854
when he became Professor of the Theory and Practice of Medicine in the
Philadelphia College of Medicine. During his residence in Phoenixville he
was a town burgess for three vyears, actively planning for the
improvement and incorporation of the town, a frequent lecturer on a
variety of “literary and scientific subjects,” and the author of a history
of Schuylkill Township and Phoenixville.{13)

Pennypacker began his campaign to preserve Valley Forge by having an
article published in the Village Record at West Chester on September 6,
1842. In the article he urged that a commemorative menument be
constructed on Mount Joy in the encampment area. He stated further:

1.  Quoted in Benjamin Bertolet, "The Boatman's Marker at Sullivan's
8ridge, Valley Forge, and Early Nawvigation of the Schuylkill," Historical
Sketches: A Collection of Papers Prepared for the Historical Society of
Montgomery County, Pennsylvania, 1V (1910), 41-44. ~Affer a freshet
destroyed this marker in 1850, Dr. William Wetherill erected another red
stone marker on his land on the banks of the river mear the site of the
bridge. “The Sullivan's Bridge Monument," Hijstorical Sketches: A

Collection of Papers Prepared for the Historical Sociely of Montgomery
County, Pennsylvania, v (1910}, 31.

12. Edward W. Hocker, "Politicians Once Were Alert to Seek Advantage
in the Patriotic Background of the Valley Forge Encampment Site," Picket
Post, October, 1947, 8.

13.  Futhey and Cope, History of Chester County, p. 683,
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Of such a place--of this place, it is almost infamy to de

. irreverence. It should have been preserved unchanged,
unmolested by foot or hand--it should have been undisturbed as
the army abandoned it, and been handed on to posterity in the
garb of 1777 and '78.

What now remains should be consecrated to liberty. Let the
relics yet there, altered as time and interest may have effected,
with the forest trees springing from amid the soidier's hearth
stones, with the entrenchments worn away by time, with the
maldering logs of the huts, and the crumbling dust of the
remains of the departed wotaries of Liberty who were there
buried--we say still let an effort be made to procure and
preserve the land, or a portion of it containing the best relics,
and hand it on with purpose to the coming generations. it
should be associated with a corpect history of the place,
containing the events of the Rewvolution.

A deed of sacredness should accompany the histery, then, wher
generations yet unknown, descendents, perhaps of ours, shall
be the inhabitants of this land, they may there assemble, and
by the glorious example of the Fathers of our Independence, be
actuated the more firmly to adhere to  our Republican
Institutions, or the more determinedly 1o persevere in the
perpetuation of the imperishable principles upon which this
Republic now stands. {14}

. {ater Pennypacker wrote to the Pottstown Tariffite on December 4, 1843:

let us show to our children that we loved and admired our
honored ancestry. We hops, we Trust that we may. Can we
mot--cannot Philadelphia and the eastern end of Pennsylvania,
upon Mount Joy, at Valley Forge, exhibit our gratitude by the
erection of a monument of taste and beauty? If we will, we can.
Our children's children and the sons of this fair land would
about it assemble, and, gazing toward its summil in motionless
attitude, would resclve to sustain the principles of the
Gowvernment. It would instill the principles of wirtue, of
gratitude and of patriotism, Patriotism has prompted the
execution of monuments in various quarters of the country, and
one is required to exhibit our gratitude and patrigtism at that
memorable encampment at Valley Forge.(15}

14. Village Record {west Chester}, September 6, 1842, in "Valley Forge
Camp Ground," Washingten Chapel Chronicle, 111 {August 15, 1910), 3.

15. Pottstown Tariffite, Cecember 4, 1843, in "alley Forge Camp
Ground," 3.




Pennypacker continued his efforts to preserve Valley Forge in 1844-45.
On April 2 he wrote to John F. Watson, the noted annalist, asking for
help in publicizing the campaign:

Knowing that you have ever felt and continue to feel a most
lively and generous regard for the preservation of and general
notice of the events of our glorious country, ! therefor have
ventured te address you upon the propriety of endeavoring to
secure the relics, or a portion of them, at Valley Forge from
the hand of destruction. | feel that @ monumen! of taste and
eloquence shouid be procured of the place.

. . When | think of the epoch of that gloomy winter and krow
the importance of that period in the Contest for Liberty, |
cannot but feel that Valley Forge has been maost shamefully
neglected.

Pennypacker concluded that there was "considerable stir in our attempt to
do something to commemorate the Place."{16)

Pennypacker and other local Whig leaders arranged for Daniel webster,
the prominent whig orator and U.5. Senator from Massachusetts, to speak
at Valley Forge on October 3, 1844, during a presidential campaign tour
for Henry Clay, then running against James K. Polk, the Democratic
standard-bearer. After delivering a speech in Philadelphia on October 1,
Webster was invited to address a general convention of the Whigs of
Montgomery and Chester Counties two days later at Valley Forge--"a spot
for ever famous in the annals of the Revolution, and still preserving the
most interesting memorials of the dreadful winter of 1777-78." According
to The Works of Daniel webster (11th ed., Boston, 1858) the

information that Mr. Webster was expected %o address the
meeting had circulated widely throughout the neighboring
townships, few of whose inhabitants had ewver had an
opportunity of hearing him. They accordingly assembled in
great numbers, and of both sexes. The village was filled, at an
early hour, by the multitude, which poured in from BvVery
quarter. Processions were formed, with banners, wreaths, and
emblems appropriate to the Revolutionary assaciations of the
place, and significant of the principles and feelings which
belonged to the present occasion. A strong mounted escart was
in attendance at the railway station; and at nine o'clock, A.
M., the train arrived from Philadeiphia, with Mr. Webster and a
large number of political friends from that city.

16. Pennypacker to Watson, April 2, 1844, in John Fanning watson,
Supplement to Watson's Annals, Manuscripts Department, Historical Society
of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia.
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after a short time passed in a survey of the interesting

. localities of the spot, especially the house in which General
Washington's guarters were established during the winter of
1777-18, the convention was organized by the appointment of
Hon. Jonathan Roberts as Fresident.

After a "forcible address" by Roberts, Wabster delivered his campaigh
speech, the thrust of which was to enhance the candidacy of Clay.
Nevertheless, he devoted the early part of his speech to the historic
imporiance and symbolic meaning of the ¥alley Forge encampmenti area:

There is a mighty power in local association. All acknowledge
it, and all feel it! Those places naturally inspire us with
emotion, which, in the course of human histary, have been
connected with great and interesting ewvents; and this power
over all ingenuous minds never ceases, until freguent wisits
familiarize the mind to the scenes.

There are in this vast multitude many who, like myself, never
hefora stood on the spot where the Whig army of the
Rewvolution, wunder the immediate command of their immortal
leader, went through the privations, the sufferings, and the
distress, of the winter of 1777 and 1778, The mention of
washington, the standing on the ground of his encampment, the
gct of looking around on the scenes which he and his officers
and soldiers then beheld, cannot but carry U3 back, also, to
the Rewvaiutiorn, and to one of its most distressing and darkest

. pericds.

and now, Gentlemen, | could not depict, | could not describe,
| could not trust my own feelings in attempting 1o describe, the
horrible sufferings of that Whig army. Cestitute of clothing,
destitute of provisions, destitute of every thing but their trust
in God, and faith in their immortal jeader, they went through
that winter. The grounds now around us, particularly the
grounds contiguous to the hospital, are rich in Rewvolutionary
dust. Every excavation, as often as the season returns,
brings to the surface the bones of Rewolutionary officers and
soidiers, who perished by disease, brought on by want of food,
want of clothing, want of every thing bhut that boundless
sympathy and commiseration for sufferings which he could not
alleviate, that filled the bileeding heart of their illustrious
leader. Long after peace returned, General Washington
declared, at his own table, that it was no exaggeration, It was
the literal truth, that the march of the army from whitamarsh,
to take up their quarters at this ptace, could be tracked by the
blood on the smow from the unshod feet of the soldiers. {17)

17. "Cenvention at Valley Forge," The Works of Daniel webster (6 vols.,

11th ed., Baston, 1858}, 11, 277-78. Also see John F. Reed, "Danigf
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Pennypacker continued his campaign te have Valiey Forge memorialized,
corresponding with Henry Clay, among others, on the subject., On July
9, 1845, Pennypacker again wrote to the Village Record:

The scenes which were here occurred can scarcely find a
parallel in history. It was the crisis on which hung the fate of
the country. Such it was considered by the men of that day.
A nation's gratitude shouid esteem the place sacred, and a
suitable testimonial should be commanded to rise upon Mount Joy
to commemorate the ewvents connected with the history of our
country. {18}

Several sources provide a ghlimpse of the Valley Forge encampment area
and surrounding wvicinity during the 1840s and 1850s. In 1843 Sherman
Day published his Historical Collections of the State of Pennsyivania
which included engravings of many of the sites he wvisited while compiling
data for the baook. Concerning Valley Forge Day included an engrawing
of Washington's Headquarters {then occupied by Mr. Jones} "as seen from
the Reading railroad, near which it stands, just below the mouth of the
creek." The wing was a "modern structure, but it occupies the site of a
smaller wing that was erected for the accommodation of Mrs. Washington.”
aAccording to Day the forge "was near where the cotton factory is; and on
the cormer, diagonally opposite the cotton factory, was the old army
bake-house."” Day also included an engraving showing "Valtey Forge, as
seen from the west." |n this view "the hill above the general's head-
quarters is seen nearly in the centre, beyond the walley of the
creek--the Schuylkill is seen to the left of it, and the roads leading
towards the position of the main army on the right, beyond the cotton
factory, which is on the creek." Day commented that immediately
opposite  Washington's Headquarters "there are still the ruins of an
ancient flour-mill, which was in operation until a few months since."(19}

17. {Cont.} Webster at Valley Forge," Picket Post, April, 1970, 16-18.
Other prominent Whigs to visit Valley Forge at this time were Wiliiam H.
Seward and MNeal Dow.

18. Village Record {(West Chester}, July 9, 1845, in "Valley Forge Camp
Ground," 3.

19. Sherman Day, Historical Collections of the State of Pennsylvania
{Philadelphia, 1843), pp. 496-97. The two engravings referred to may be
seen on the follawing page. The fate of the flour mill was described later
by Mrs. Hannah Ogden:

It stood mear the railroad, and was much larger than the mill
my father built higher up the race the next year, now (1868)
used as a paper-miil. The oid miil had very massive tlimbers
used in its building, which were unharmed by time, and |
heard say the burrs were the best in the country; they were
all destroyed by the fire . . . If the house (the headquarters)
is as old as the mill, it has stocd the storms of over a century
well. There are the same doors and window-shutters {as wefl as
sash} as whern the house was built.
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Gen. Washington's Head-Quarters at Valley Forge.
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Yalley Forge, as seen from the west,

Day, Historical Collections, 1843, pp. 498-97.

17



In his History of Valley Forge Woodman inciuded an extensive dascription
of the Valley Forge area as of 1830. included in his narrative is the
following:

The Valley Forge is situated on the western side of the River

Schuylkill, about twenty-two miles from the city of Philadeiphia,

in the counties of Chester and Maontgomery. The village

bearing the name of Valley Forge contains {(1850) about forty
, houses, with a large cotton factory, a grist mill, and numerous
cther buildings; these lie on a stream of water called the Valley
Creek, which forms the dividing line between the two countias,
that part lying on the eastern side being in Montgomery, and
that on the western in Chester county. The water power for
driving the machinery is probably not excelled by any other in
Pennsylvania, as the stream passes between two abrupt hills
from the fertite regions of the great wvaliey, a distance of more
than 2 mile to the wvillage, near which place these hills, or as
they are more familiariy called, Wount Joy and Mount Misery,
have their northern termination, at which place a large dam of
more tham twenty feel in height, has been constructed, which
affords, in the driest seasons, a sufficiency of water to
continue the manufacturing business in full operation. 4 public
road from the city of Philadelphia to this place, called the Gulf
read, originally terminated  here. Another road from
Phoenixwville, Yellow Springs, Morgantown, Reading, and many
other places, commences at the termination of the Gulf road, at
the county line, and called Nutt's road, taking its name from &
certain Samuel MNutt, who owned extensively at Phoenixwville, in
Chester county, more than a hundred years ago. Another has
within a few years been laid out fram the place to the Lancaster
turnpike, following the course of the dam through the county of
Montgomery, but as | hawve naver travelled it, | cannot say
where it terminates. About half a mile east of the Village, the
Gulf road is intersected by a road aoriginally leading to the old
Lancaster road, by way of the Valley Baptist Meeting Houss,
and has been called the Baptist road, or Valley road. One
thing a little remarkable is, that, though n a public place,
with the Reading railrpad passing through a part of the
property, there has never been a hotel or tavern in the
viliage.

As we gppreach the place on the eastern side by the Gulf read,
as we ascend the top of the hill, a Ilittle north of the
intersection of the Baptist road, the bkeautiful river Schuylkill
bursts full upon the wview, and in a line between the observer
and the river, is seen the original mansion where General
washington had his headguarters during the encampment in the

19. (Cont.} Quoted in Heward M. Jenkins, “The Old Iren Forge--'Valley

Forge'," Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography, XVII {1893},
443, -
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winter of 1777 and 78. After descending by a somewhat
meandering road, we arrive at the Valley Forge, ar rather the
village bearing that name, the purpose of its original
construction has long since been abandomed, not having been
used for the manufacturing of bar iron from pigs for more than
sixty years.

According to Woodman's account, the Valley Forge encampment
attracted considerable numbers of visitors. He commented:

Not only was Valley Forge an attraction

but

washington's Headquarters or remains of the fortifications.

The ground occupied by the army encamped there, has always
peen an object of attraction, and, as such, has often been
visited by wvarious persons. Many a wvenerable patriot, who
composed a part of that Spartan Band encamped there, has in
his old days travelled miles to again behold it, and 1o review
the scenes of that suffering period. | have sgen some aof them
thus engaged in wvisiting the place, and marked the emotign
visible in their wenerable countenances, and 3seen the tears
trickle down their aged and withered cheeks, when on the
verge of the grave, they have looked upon it, and these things
have again been called to their rememberance; and remarked the
joy that was alse manifest when contrasting the happy and
prosperous situation, not only of that portion of the country,
but the nation at large, with the gloomy state of things they
had there witnessed. These have in al! probability all gone
down to the grawve.

In order that the reccliections of that period may not be
forgotten, associations of wvarious kinds have been held upon
the ground; such as military parades, celebrations and potitical
meatings, and most of the latter during several presidential
campaigns within the last twenty-five years. | can say but
little concerning any of thess meetings--nothing from actual
observation, though the mest of them have occurred since my
time: but having never been in the practice of attending any
meetings, either political or wmilitary {except to exercise my
right of suffrage for civil officers), | shall say but little
concerning them. The political meetings were always of a party
kind: and on such times care was taken as far as practicable,
to collect surwiving officers and soldiers of the Revolution to

attend. The military parades were generally valuntear
companies, who met to dritl on what is called the old
ground. . . .

area

far "pilgrimages and gatherings,"

it also attracted "relic hunters" and visitors who wished to see

woodman's account describe some of these aspects:

It was a very comman thing, since my recollection, to find an
the greund some memente of that period. | have often, in
company with my elder brothers and other boys, sometimes with
grown  persons, generally strangers, who when in the
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neighborhood, had a curiosity to wvisit the place, and sometimes
alone have | spent hours in traversing the ground in search of
these refics of the Revolution--not that they were of any great
value, but possess them as curigsities to remind us of the
period. There is even at the present day, sometimes an occa-
sional relic of that day turned up by the ploughshare,

A few years since the old mill, erected prior to the Revolution,
and which had escaped the ravages of that period, was
destroyed by fire, communicated by sparks from the iocomotive
on the Reading Railroad, that passes near it. The mansiocn is
stilt standing, having undergene wvery little alteration. It has
been often visited by strangers and others, on account of its
conngction with the Rewolution, some of whom | have conducted
there; and | have often pointed out the piace to travelers who
have been passing on the public road. There are yet some
things remaining about the building to remind visitors of that
interesting period, particularly the secret doors that were
pianned for the Commander-in-Chief to effect an escape in case
of an emergency.

Wapdman also noted that Charles Rogers was living on the former Potts
estate. As a man of '"great wealth, and disposed to improve the property,
ft is mow in a fair way of improving in appearance and prosperity."
Among the "new and substantial buildings" that he had erected was "an
observatory, furnished with a large teiescope” located “'on a very elevated
peint on the Rear Line Hill"--a prominence generally refarred to as Mount
Joy. The observatery provided

an extended wview of the surrounding country, in every
direction. . . affording to the observer a wvery beautiful and
diversified prospect of the most lovely and interesting scenery
in its native grandeur, highly cultivated farms, splendid
mansions and commedious Tfarm houses, neat cottages and
handsome villages, the navigable river, and railroad thronged
with cars, beautiful streams, hills and dales, "fauntains and
fresh shades" in abundance, till cbservation is satisfied in
passing.

Woodman also described the growth and development of Port Kennedy,
where a variety of industrial operations had been established near the
Schuylkill River to the northeast of the encampment area during the 1820s
and 1830s. Alexander Kennedy had purchased property in the area in
1803 and started farming the land in 1805. Shortly before his death in
1824 Kennedy had opened a lime quarry on the farm and established kilns
to burn fime. Upon his death two of his four sons, John and David R.
Kennedy, built homes on the farm and went into the |ime business on a
more extensive basis. The business prospered and the village of Port
Kenmnedy, first known as Kennedy's Hollow, developed on the site of the
old Kennedy farm. tn 1850 the village had

mare than fifty houses, sixty lime kilns in constant operation,

employing more than four bundred men: a large bhotel, three
stories high and forty feet square; four stores, two biacksmith
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shops and wheeiright shops; and numerous other manufacturing
trades carried a@rn at the place; and two lumber yards and
several coal yards, doing an extensive business.

This place is called Port Kennedy, and Is celebrated for the
great quantity of lime that is burnt, and shipped in canal boats
annually from there to wvarious parts of the states of
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware and Maryland. The amount
sent from this place during last year, | was informed by two of
the proprietors was more than one million, two hundred and
fifty thousand bushels.

The Reading Railroad passes through the property, and tast
year [1849) a bridge was constructed across the river, which
more intimately connects the business on both sides of the
river; and while it is of mutual benefit, it will have a tendency
to still enhance the walue of real estate in the immediate
vicinity; though it is now to be regretted that recent injuries
done to it by freshets have rendered it at present unfit for
crossing with  vehicles of any kind. It is now being
repaired.

The greater part of the business of the place is done through
the medium of the canal. Coal and lumber are brought in this
way, the former from the mines in the county of Schuylkill, the
tatter generally from the Susquehanna by way of the Union
Canal. Little business is done here, or at any other place on
the river by the Reading Railread, when the navigation is
oper, except that the mail is transported by the locomotive
train of cars, and a passenger train stops daily at this place.
There is a post office also established here, called Port
Kennedy Postoffice. The Reading Railroad is chiefly employed
in conveying coal from Pottsville to Richmond on the Delaware,
having enough to do in that line.(20)

on October 28, 1852, the Whigs again held a political rally at Valley
Forge in support of their presidential nominee, Lieutenant Ganeral
winfield Scott. As part of the festivities an ox was roasted in one of the
Revolutionary fortifications known as the "“ocked Hat Redoubt." Between
speeches and singing the participants ate beaf sandwiches.

come 20,000 perscens attended the rally, as many as 4,000 coming by train
from Philadelphia and other large delegations arriving on horseback or in

20, woodman, History of Valley Forge, pp. 27-28, 91, 100-01, 104, 1171,
130-32, 137, 145-46, and Sayen To His Excellency, william C. Sproul,
Covernor of Pennsylvania, {December, 19193, Minutes, Walley Farge Park
Commission. The Minutes of the Valley Forge Park Commission are
contained in nine rolls of microfilm on file at the Pennsylvania State
archives in Harrisburg and WValley Forge National Historical Park. Also
see "Valley Forge Park," Bulletin of the Historical Society of Montgomery
County Pennsylvania, XXXI (Fall, 1978), 205-37.
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wagoens from the rural districts of southeastern Pennsylvania, The
wetherill Club, named for Dr. William Wetherill, whose countiry home was
at Fatland across the 5Schuylkill from Valley Forge, made the trip from
Philadelphiz in an omnibus. The first item of the program in the morning
was the raising of the tall flagstaff, the trunk of an ash tree, with
accompanying cannon salutes under the direction of Major Casper M.
Berry.

At noon the meeting was opened with Major David Zook, a resident of
Port Kennedy, presiding. After singing by the Chippewa Glee Club of
Philadeiphia, Mortan McMichael of Philadelphia gave an  address.
Resolutions, among them a tribute to Daniel Webster wheo had died two
years before, were proposed by Dr. Isaac A. Pennypacker of
Phoenixville, who then spoke about the history of the region and his
plans for the memorialization of Valley Forge.(21)

In May 1854 an article appeared in Gleason's Pictorial Drawing-Room
Companign  attracting national attention to the symbolic historical
significance of Vatley Forge and the remains of the encampment that were
still visible. The article stated:

.Every inch of ground about Valley Forge is sacred to the
cause of the liberty and patrictic suffering. There is not a
heart in America--there is not & lover of liberal institutions
anywhere--that will not swell with mingled awe and admiration,
as he contemplates the scenes and incidents with which this
reqion is identified. Here was concentrated, in the darkest
hour of the Rewolution, the sole reliance of freedom against
oppression; here were centered our hopes and our fears--here
were quartered, amid the snows and blasts of a severe winter,
without clothing, and almost without food, sick, famished,
barefooted and dying, Washington and his army,

According to the article, "several extensive redoubts and breast-works"
were still "distinctly visible" on the southeast side of Mount Joy. The
redoubts now were located "in a deep forest, but their outlines, as wel
as the former sites of the miserable huts of the soldiers" were "still
distinctly wvisible." The headguarters of Washington "were in a small
stone house which stands near the railrcad, and from which a good wview
of it is afforded." A slight addition had "recently been made to the back
buildings, which originally censisted only of a small kitchen erected by
Washington himself."{22)

Meanwhife, changes were occurring in the vicinity of Port Kennedy, thus
presaging the momentous industrial growth that would develop in the area

21. Hocker, "Politicians Once Were Alert," 9-10.

22. "Valley Forge," Gleason's Pictorial Drawing-Room Companfgn, May &,
1854, 281, in John F. Reed Collection, Record Group 10, Valley Forge
National Historical Park Archives, Hereinafter, the Valley Forge Mational
Historical Park Archives will be referred to as the VAFO Archives.
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during the twentieth century.

By 1858 John Kennedy had fourteen kilns

in operation, some of the largest contaiming &s much as 2,500 busheis,

and employing some seventy men.

associates established the Montgomery iron Works.{(23)

In 1856 Abraham 5. Patterson and his

in his History of Montgomery County {1859), William J. Buck described
the village of Valley Forge as well as the remains of the encampment area
that could stili be seen. His description inciuded:

The village of Valley Forge is situated on the south bank of the
SchuylKill, at the mouth of the East Valley creek. It is distant
twenty-three and a haif miles from Philadelphia and six abave
Norristown. That portion of it comprised within the Iimits of
Upper Merion contains Charles H. Rogers' cotton factory, a
grist mill, store, hotel and ten houses. On the Chester county
side is Thropp's cotton factory, a store, post office and fifteen
hauses. The Reading railrgad, which has a station here,
crosses the creek, nmear its mouth, by a bridge some thirty feet
above the water, and from which a beautiful view is offered by
looking up the creek. Among the interesting objects seen are
the falls of the dams belonging to the grist mill and cotton
factory, a short distance above each other, and of the
venerable stone bridge crossing it a hundred yards above.
These, with the deep gorge of the stream and the high and
rugged hills rising on either side, which hem in the wvillage
near by, form an interesting sight--a picture, we might add, to
be properly appreciated should be seen. Description cannot do
it justice. Stolid, indeed, must the person be who has the
recollections of the past stirring within him that can gaze on
such a scene unmoved.

The cotton factory belonging to Wr. Rogers is a iarge and
extensive establishment and employs nearly one hundred hands.
Near by he has a splendid residence surrounded by fine lawns
and shrubbery. Isaiah Thropp's factory of Kentucky jean also
gives employment to a number of hands. Through the liberality
of Mr. Rogers an observalory was erected on his lands, on the
hill, about two hundred yards southeast of the village. It is
not situated quite on the most elevated part of the hill, but
still a splendid view is offered of the surrounding country. It
is approached by a path through the fields, and its sile points
out the spot where Washington's margquee was planted on the
day of his arrival here. The observatory is of an octageonal
form and about forty feet high, and is ascended by a spiral
staircase, From the open gallery, on its top, can be seen
Norristown, Phoenixville, Pawling's Bridge, Edge Hill, Barren

£3.

Sayen To His Exceliency, Witliam C. sproul, Governor

af

pennsylvania, {December, 1913}, Minutes, Valley Forge Park Commission.
Kennedy's house has recently been restored by the Mational Park Service
and been nominated to the National Register of Historic Places.
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Hill, Methacton Hill, and a number of other places, We were
here on the 17th of August, 1853. The day was beautiful but
warm, We observed that the highest and steepest hill here is
on the Chester county side, and are satisfied, from its peculiar
gppesrance, that it can bes seen from an elevation near the
Willow Grove, twenty-four miles distant. The hilis, on both
sides of Valley creek, are generally steep, rugged and wuoded
to their summits, and present an unusually wild appearance,
more so than one might expect from the populousness of the
surrounding country,

The house occupied by Washington as his head-quarters is still
standing, baving undergone but littla alteration since that time.
't was ogwned in the revolution by isaac Potts. it is a two
story stone building, situated near the Reading railroad. The
main portion of it has a fromt of about twenty-four feet and
thirty-three in depth. The outside front is of dressed stone,
pointed. The interior wood work is still inp a good state of
preservation, and with care this building may be made to last
for centuries, as its walls appear to be as durable as when
first built. No one familiar with our revolutionary history can
enter the room which served the great chief for nearly half a
year, both as a reception room and bed chamber, and where he
wrote many important despatches, without feeiings of the
deepest emotions. in the sill of the east window of this room,
and out of which can be seen a considerable portion of the
camping ground, is still pointed out a small rough box, as
having contained his papers and writing material. We gazed at
this depasitery and other objects around with considerable
interest, hallowed as they are by so many associations of the
times that "tried men's souls." Adjoining is a wing ore and
a-half stories high and about twenty-four feet in length, which
has been built since the war, but it occupies the site of a
smaller structure that was erected for the accommodation of
Mrs. Washington. . . . This property is at present awned by
Hannah Qgden.

There are warious remains of the encampment still visible. On
the road te Port Kennedy is a portion of ground unenclosed,
belonging to William Henry, Esq. On this tract the foundations
of the but occupied by Baron Steuben are still visible, and the
ground undisturbed where he used to drill his soldiers.
Several extensive  redoubts and  Dbreastworks on the
south-eastern side of the hill are still pointed out. Thase
consist of large embankments of earth, arranged one after the
ather along the slope of the hill. The redoubts now lie in the
depths of the forest, and their outlines as well as the
foundations of many of the huts are still easily recognized. On
the property now owned by Jacob Massey is a fort in a good
state of preservation. Jis outlines are those of an equalateral
[sic] triangie, forty yards in length and about five feet high.
As most of the land on which the encampement [sic] was is stili
in a state of nature and has therefore generally remained
unmolested, it has been the means of preserving the greater
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part of the remains to this day, though upwards of eighty
years have rolled away since thal eventful period.

Relics are still occasionally found by persons living in the
vicinity. William Henry, Jr., has a number, found on his
fathar's farm, which he recently exhibited to us. Among them
were several pewter buttons, with the figures 7, 8 and 10 on
them; no doubt intending to show the regiment or brigade to
which they belonged. Also, spgons, bayonets and fragments of
musket locks, looking considerably time-worn, besides a variety
of musket balls, some of which were of a large size. william K.
Kennedy, in the spring of 1857, turned up with the plow, on
his farm, several twelve and sixteen pound balls and several
hatchets. The latter were about the usual size, but shaped
precisely like a chopping axe.{24)

on  april 17, 1881, shortly after the beginning of the Civil War, a
patriotic rally was held at Valley Forge in support of President Abraham
Lincoln's April 15 call for 75,000 volunteers to suppress the Confederacy.

Citizens formed a parade and marched tp the encampment aresa, where 3
flag was raised and a salute of 34 guns fired. Then the crowd proceeded
to the Mansion House, a hotel en the Phoenixville Road west of Valley
Creek, where a meeting was organized with Samuel L. Ogden presiding.
The principal speaker was Jsaiah Thropp, Jr., son of the village
storekeeper, who later enlisted in the Union army.(25)

Tha Fhiladelphia Press of August 18,1864, printed & |etter to the editor
writtén by an anonymous visitor to Valley Forge. The letter stated in
part:

Day before yesterday we started, my friend and I, from the
Reading Railroad depot . . . oOn our long-talked-of trip to
Valley Forge. In an hour's time we reached the village, and
the first house we saw, on arriving there, was that occupted
by Washington and his lady during the winter of 1777 and '78.
it is a single two story stone house, in perfect keeping, shaded
by poplars, and, thanks to the patrictic spirit of its present
owners, remains precisely as Washington left it; ewven to the
box in which he kept his private papers, ingeniously contrived
to appear as the seat of one of the recessed windows in the
back parlor. The step in front of the entrance door consists of
a large, flat, oblong stone, which a committee of gentlemen
modestly requested for the Wwashington monument. . . . on
leaving the '"Washington House" we went 1o an eminence
commanding a wview of the village, and we found it really

24. wiltiam J. Buck, History of Montgomery County Within the Schuylkill
valley {(Norristowr, 1859}, pp. 43, 60-81.

o5 Hocker, “Politicians Once Were Alert,” 0.
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beautiful, with its two rows of white houses, and little front
gardens running northwards, parallel with each other, down to
the Schuylkill; the road and factory-berdered stream dividing
them behind the eastern row of houses, and extending beyond
them, rises Mt. Hope, its mighty side marked off into
many-calored fields, like a wvast inclined cheguer-board, its
tree-crowned, undulating summit scalloping the sky. Halfway
up the village an open stone bridge, with its real arch above,
and shadowy one below, spans the dividing waters. . . . we
had letters of introduction to Isaiah Thropp, Esg., and were
hespitably entertained at his beautiful “"Wayside" home. This
gentleman is the oidest inhabitant of Valiey Forge, and during
cur visit he showed us the remains of a couple of the spldiers
of the Revolution, disinterred by the Reading Railrcad Company
when cutting through a portion of his property, and carefully
preserved by him as precious relics of the Revolution. After
dinner we were conducted by some of the younger members of
his family over the hills to "The Old Redoubt," which we traced
a mile or two around "The Encampment Crowd," till we came to

the ruins of "The OIld Fart.". . . . we reached the
cbservatary on Mount Hope in time to see the sun go down
behind the hills of Reading. . . .{(26)

The changing character of the Schuylkill Valley and Valley Forge in
particuiar was portrayed in several works published at the time of the
nation's Centennial observances in 1876. In a pamphlet printed by the
Philadeiphia and Reading Railroad, in which the company promoted its
excursion routes to summer reserts, the Valley Forge area was described:

wWe row reach Valley Forge, so memarable for the sufferings of
the patriot-army under Washington during the winter of 1777-8.
The country throughout this section is filled with historical
recollections, and many a Revolutionary story, handed down
from generation to generation, can be told to a ready listener.
Just above this peint the Perkiomen creek empties into the
river. The valley through which this creek flows is noted for
its unusually beautiful scenery, and its mineral ang agricultural
resources. It was the aboade for many years of Aubuden, the
great naturalist, in whose works reference is made to many of
the rare birds seeking rest and shelter there. {27}

In his Washington at Valley Forge One Hundred Years Ago or the
Foot-Prints of the Rewvolution (1876), ~Thecdore W. Bean commented on
the momentous changes that had transformed the Schuylkill Valley into a

26. Philadelphia Press, August 18, 1884, A copy of this article was
provided to the author by MARO Historian Tobias.

27.  Philadelphia and Reading Railroad, Excursion Routes 1o Summer
Resorts (Philadelphia, 1876), pep. 7-8.
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bustliing center of farming and industrial operations during the previous
century. He observed:

A hundred years ago, this broad field, commencing at Trenton,
on the east, from Delaware to the Brandywine on the south,
seemed to the naked eye, an endless forest. Commen country
roads, running parallel with these rivers, at great intervals,
and converging at Philadeipbhia, intersected by pltantation lanes
and byways, constituted the only awvenues by which the
comparatively few settlers who located on the "Penn Grants,"
north-west of the Quaker City, could reach tide water, and
barter their rude products for the necessities of life. The wild
and lovely valleys of the Perkiomen, the Schuyikiil, and 1lhe
great Chester or Brandywine, supplemented by zleartngs" on
the rolling hills that border them, was about all the arable land
under cultivation at that time. These parallel highways were
the Bethlehem, Lime Kiln, Skippack, Germantown, Ridge, Gulf
and Lancaster roads, ail of which were made memorable by the
marching and countermarching of the Continental armies, in the
campaign that ciosed by the cantonment of the patriot army at
valley Forge. If the visitor of '76 be fortunate in the selection
of a point for cbservation, be will now see, at almast any hour
of the day, the racing trains upon three great converging
railroads, wviz; the North Pennsylvania, the Reading, and the
Pennsylvania Central, intersected, within sight and sound, by
the Chester WValley, Pickering, Perkiomen, S5toney Creek and
plymouth branches, As far as the eye can reach, until wvision
is lost in the horizon of the sea, it falls upen a succession of
towns, villages, farms, churches, colleges, furnaces, factories,
mills, workshops and school houses, forming a picture of river,
valley, plain, mountain and city, rarely equalled, and nowhere
surpassed on the continent.

Turning to a description of Valley Forge Bean noted that of “"the long
lines of redoubts and rifle pits behind which the patriet of a hundred
years since marched his weary rounds, but tittle remains."  Yet,
ieufficient indication of the intrenchments can be discovered, and the
general bearings of the camp located.”

Bean also offered his observations on the leading citizens of Valley Forge,
come of whom would socon participate in the first efforts to purchase and
preserve Washington's Headquarters as an historic shrine. These
included:

saac W. Smith, at whase woolen factory a large number of
hands are empioyed stands foremost on the file.

In this connection we will mention Mrs, Sarah A. Shaw, sister
of Mr. S5mith, a lady who owns considerable property in the
village and neighborhood, and who 15 now living retired upon
her property.
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Charles H. Regers, is a large landed proprietor, owning 200
acres in the wvicinity.

Stanley L. Ogden is landlord of the Valley Forge Mansion Hotel,
located a short distance up the hill from Washingten's
headquarters. (Ogden operated the "Mansion House" probably
during 1875-79. His name does not appear on the title. It is
likely he |eased it from the Hays. The "Mansion House" is the
building known today as the Steuben Memorial Information
Center or site of the Adjutant General's Quarters.)

This noted buiiding, the Pott's Mansion {Washington's
Headquarters) is the property of a widow lady, Mrs. Hannah
Qgden, who keeps the premises in good condition, everything
being precisely as when occupied by the General-in-chief.
Visitors to the Valley will not fail to wvisit this glorious oid
historic mansiorn.

Isaiah Knaur, runs a paper mill in the village, which industry
is in a prosperous condition under the management of Mr. w.
Thomas.

Nathan H. Jones, a retired farmer, is a prominent citizen, as
are Messrs. J. R. Mulvaney and John H. Rowan, merchants of
the locality, nor ought we neglect honorable mention of Mr.
Daniel Webster, the courteous agent of the Reading Railroad
Company, stationed at the Forge.{28)

28. Theodore W. Bean, Washington at Valley Forge Cne Hundred Years

gﬂg% or the Foot-Prints of the Rewvolulion (Norristown, 1876), pp. 54-55,
- ‘T_
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CHAFTER TWO

PRESERVATION EFFORTS OF THE CENTENNIAL
AND MEMORIAL ASSOCIATION OF VALLEY FORGE:
18786-1911
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In the decade that followed the Civil War a new influence spread
throughout the field of historic preservation work in the United States.
It was the enthusiasm generated by the Centennial commemoration in
Philadelphia. In the [870s, as the country approached the Centennial,
there was growing local interest in the part Valley Forge should play in
the festivities. The Daily Local News, a Chester County newspaper,
printed an editorial on July 26, 1873, stating, "Valley Forge, which is
second to no place in America as to Rewvolutionary fame, should be made a
grand objective point in the Centannial Celebration of 1876."(1)

The Centennial arcused increasing interest both in the American
Revolution and in the sites and buildings associated with that period of
our history. HNational periodicals, such as Harper's weekly, showed
increasing interest in the treatment of Revelutionary war sites.(2)
Comments at the annual convention of the American Institute of Architects
‘n 1877 indicate that people wha had traveled to Philadelphia discovered
they had "a past worthy of study."(3) 5ome observers were fascinated
by the Revolutionary relics that they saw and went home with a deeper
interest in the war itself, while others indicated that they had gained a
desire to learn more of the heroic deeds of the Continental Army and
would take steps "to preserve such deeds from oblivion." One writer of
the period observed.

The desire to learn more of the great events of the last century
began with the celebration of our one hundredth anniversary of
our Nation at Philadelphia. No better spot could be chosen for
this commemoration than "the birthplace of the Nation." People
gathered here from all parts of the United States, and North
and South, East and West were brought into closer relationship.

Fram this Exposition people returned bome impressed with a
sense of the greatness of their country and of the importance
of its history. Many relics, hitherte deemed ugly and useless
and kept only for the sentiment attached to them, now made a
rapid descent from garret to parlor.

The curiosity of their owners as to the original possessors of
these relics stimulated a desire to learn more about their
ancestors, and people began eagerly to investigate old records

1. Quoted in Chattahoochie River, Seward, Chickasaw National Recreation
Area, and Valley Forge N3tjonal Historical Park, Hearing Before the
Subcommittee on Parks and Recreation of the Committee on Interior and
meular  Affairs, United States Senate, Ninety-Fourth Congress, First
Session. . . October 30, 1875, p. 28%.

2. "alley Forge," Harper's Weekly, XXi (January 27, 1B877), B7, in
reed Collection, RG 10, VAFQ Archives.

3. E. 5. Peabody, Froceedings of the 11th Convention, American
Institute of Architects, 1877, p. 17.




and documents. Happy were those whao could trace their
lineage to the Pilgrim Fathers, or even back of them, to the
nability of Halland, France and England.

Interest in the patriots of the Revotution led to interest in their
herpic deeds, and it was felt that steps must be taken to
preserve such deeds from oblivion. For this purpose many
societies have been recently established. . . .(4)

Fallowing the Centennial celebration at Philadelphia a group of persons in
Valley Forge organized the Centennial Association of Valley Forge to
commemarate the one hundredth anniversary of the departure of
Washington's army from that winter encampment.(5) The initial
organtzational meeting was held on December 18, 1877, at the home of
Isaac W. Smith, owner of the carpet yarn factory at Valley Forge, with
Smith, Colonel Theodore W. Bean, Dr. N. A. Pennypacker, General B. F.
Fisher, Major R, R. Corson, Charles Ramey, Major B. F. Bean, John w.
Eckman, 1. Heston Todd, Charles Mercer, John W, Rowarr, Daniel
Webster, and John Robb in attendance. At the first meeting Smith was
selected 1o preside, Robb was chosen secretary, and Eckman treasurer.
A subsequent meeting was held to appeint several committees to make the
necessary preparations for the anniversary ceremonies to be held on June
19, 1878. Five commitiees were established: field and organization;
histarical paper, poem, and gration; memorial design and erection; music
and entertainment; and finance.{6)

Subsequent meetings were held to orgamize the activities. Through the
various committees' efforts and publication of an address ta "The
Industrial Interests of the Schuylkill Valtey" a "general suspension of
business was declared" in the surrounding area for the day the
ceremonies were to be held.(7)

4. Effie Hallock, “The Interest in Qur Caolanial and Reveolutichary Past,"
American Monthly Magazine, XiIl {August, 1898}, 126-27. Also see James

B. Ctark, "Address," American Monthly Magazine, VII (December, 71895},
521,

3. Numerous documents pertinent to the history of this organization may
be found in the Centennial and Memorial Association Collection, Record
Group 1, VAFO Archives.

6. H. J. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association of
Valley Forge (Philadelphia, 15379%, p. 81, and Proceedings on the Gccasion
oi the Centennial Celebration of the Occupation of Valley Forge by the
Lontinental Army, Under George Washington, June 19, 1878 (Philadelphia,
1879), pp. 3, 137-38. A list of ihe directors (1886-1970) and their shart
bisgraphical sketches may be found in Stager, History of the Centennial
and Memorial Association, pp. 7-10, 18-78.

7. Proceedings on the Occasion af the Centennial Celebration, p. 3.
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At the meeting on February 22, 1878, the committee on memorial design
and erection made a report recommending the purchase of washington's
Headquarters. It was also suggested that "the matter be placed in the
hands of the ladies, the executive officer to be appointed by 1tbe
Association to be called the "lady regent."{8)

At the next meeting Anna M. Holstein, the wife of Major William H.
Holstein and resident of Bridgeport, Pennsylwvania, was selected as "lady
regant." During the Civil War Mrs. Holstein had served as an army nurse
with the Army of the Potomac at Falmeouth and Potomac Creek, Virginia,
and after the Battle of Gettysburg she had charge of Camp Letterman,
caring for 3,000 wounded men. She had aise been active in the campaign
to purchase Washington's Mount Vernon home before the war, serving as
lady manager of Montgomery County during the campaign to collect funds
throughout the nation.{9)

Mrs. Holstein, in turn, selected a number of other patriotic ladies from
Montgomery and Chester counties to assist in  forming a onaticnal
organization patterned after the Mount Vernon Ladies Association. These
women were: Mrs. Helen C. Hooven, Mrs. Rebecca Mclnnes, who had
been an associate of Holstein during the Civil wWar, Mrs. |saac Holstein,
Miss Emily Amies, Mrs. Mercer, Mrs. Preston, Mrs. Isaac Walker, Mrs.
Cadwallader Evans, Mrs. B. F. Fisher, and Mrs. George W. Holstein.
They gquickly entered into negeotiations fer the purchase of washington's
Headguarters. In March the terms of purchase were agreed upon by a
committee, consisting of Major and Mrs. William H. Holstein and Mrs.
Rebecca Mclnmes, and Mrs. Hannah Qgden, the owner. The price of the
purchase was set at $6,000, and the first payment was advanced by 1saac
W. Smith.{10)

On May 27, 1878, a meeting of the Montgomery and Chester county ladies
was held at Washington's Headquarters to assist the men in the
arrangement for the ceremonies on June 19. The meeting was organized
with Anna M. Holstein as regent, Mrs. James Hooven, treasurer, and
Mrs. Rebecca Mclnmes, secratary. During the ensuing weeks "morey and
large quantities of provisions" were gathered by the ladies, and on June
19 they sold photographs, maps, fruit, crackers, lemonade, and other

articies at the headquarters and surrounding grounds.  They alse
sponsored a “"good country dinner" in a tent on the grounds of the
headgquarters and “a lunch for thousands on the hill." Through these

8. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association, p. 82.

g tbid., pp. 18§, 82.

10. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Associaticn, p. 32,
and Charles B. Hosmer, Jr., Presence of the Past: A History of the
Preservation Movement in the United States Before Williamsburg { Hew
York, 79653, p. 83.
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efforts the women raised the first $500 to repay the money advanced by .
Smith to secure the headquarters {11)

Two days before the centennial celebration at Valley Forge The
Fhitadelphia Ledger reported on the preparations being made for the
cerempnies. The newspaper observed:

On Wednesday comes the centennial of the evacuation of Valley
Forge, the cocmmemaration of the cleose of that dreadful season
of suffering and sacrifice that marked the winter of 1778, What
a change of scene will be witnessed among the beautiful hills
and wvalleys along the Schuylkill on that day. Cultivation
succeeding desoclation, prosperity in place of penury, a
numerous and happy pepulation doing honor to their progenitors
who suffered so long that their descendants might have the free
and peacefu! homes they now enjoy!

Everything is in a forward state for a grand demonstration.
The people of Montgomery, and especially those within short
reach of MNorristown, are sure they will make the occasion
memorable in the catalogue cof historical centemnials. . . .{12)

The centennial celebration at Valley Forge on June 19 was attended by
some 50,000 people, some 30,000 of which were brought to the site by the
Philadelphia and Reading Railrcad. The day began with the firing of the
morning gun, followed at sunrise by a federal salute by the Griffin .
Battery of Phoenixville. A memorial service was held at nine o'clock an
the “grounds in Valley Forge" with Rew. Job F. Halsey, presiding. At
1G:30 o'clock the procession of military and civic societies was formed
under the command of Major General David McM. Gregg, chief marshal for
the day, and proceeded to |. Heston Todd's field (the historic Grand
Parade} where the grand review by Major General Winfield S. Hancock,
u.s. Army, Pennsylvania Governor John F. Hartranft, and other
rprominent officials was held. The number of men marching in line was
estimated to be at least 5,000. The logistics and crowd control diffi-
culties associated with the grand review were described as follows:

With great difficulty the Washington Troop of Pacli managed to
keep the swelling mass of humanity from pressing beyond the
imaginary line, marked by the grass having been mown off,
untii  eleven o'clock, when the barouche containing the
reviewing officers took its position near Washington's cak, The
line and the people who followed hid the rcad for more than a
mile, and with great difficulty, and after the line had been

11. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association, pp.

82-83, and The Philadelphia Ledger, June 17, 1878, Reed Collection, RG
10, VAFQ Archives.

12.  The Philadelphia Ledger, June 17, 1878, Reed Coliection, RG 10, .
VAFO Archives.
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twice broken by the surging mass from the other direction,
finally succeeded in marching around the large fifteen-acre
field, the van touching the rear. The review was a magnificent
spectacle.

Following the national salute of 38 guns by the Griffin Battery at noon,
the “services of the day" were held in a large tent secured from Baston,
Massachusetts, accommodating some 10,000 persons with Gowvernar
Hartranft presiding. The governor began the mass meeting by referring
to the significance and symbolism of Valley Forge that was being
commemorated:

FELLOW-CITIZENS,--We have come to commemarate the darkest
hours of the Revolution. Yet they were the hours of triumph
alsg, and it was at Valley Forge that American independence
was won. In the rude huts of the dreary encampment were
bern the unconguerable will, the courage never 1o submit or
vield, that proved to Engiand and the world that, although the
country might be owverrun, the pecple could not be subdued.
And during those weary months the Continental army received
the training and discipline which afterwards enabled it to meet
the soldiers and mercenaries of Great Britain in equal fight,
without ewver suffering a defeat. Therefore, on this spot,
hallowed by hunger and cold, disease and destitution, we meet
in gladness tc commemorate & fortitude in camp superior to
courage in battle, a steadfastness more powerful than
enthusiasm, and a devotion to a cause and chieftain utterly
forgetful to self. And if it be possible to draw from the past a
lesson for the present, or seek In war an example for peace,
we can find it in the loyalty and dewotion that preserved the
sacred fires of freedom amid the frasts and snows of the winter
encampment at Valley Forge.

The service included a band prelude, singing of hymns, prayers, musical
selections by a chorus, reading of poems, including the widely herafded
"walley Forge Centennial Poem" written by Mary E. Threoepp <one,
presentation of a historical paper, and a speech by Henry Armitt Brown,
a noted orator of Philadelphia.{13)

The success of the centennial celebration was a strong incentive 10
continue the campaign to raise the remaining $5,300 for the purchase of

13. Proceedings on the Occasion of the Centennial Celebration, pp. 4-95.
For further information on the centennial observance see: The Valley
Forge Programme, June 19, 1879, Rare Book Room, Valley Forge Mational
Historical Fark Library; Frank Leslie's tllustrated Newspaper, July &,
1878, and The New York Daiiy Graphic, June 21, 1878, in Centennial and
Memorial Associatien Cellection, RG 1, VAFO Archives; “"Valley Forge,"
Harper's weekly, XXII (July 6, 1878), 533-34; and Julius Moritzen,
Tyalley Forge and the Nation," Harper's Weekly, XLV {Jupe 22, 19013,
629.




washington's Headquarters. To take titie to the property the association
was chartered on July B, 1878, under the laws of Pennsylvania as the
Centennial and Memarial Association of Valiey Forge.{14}

The association thereafter initiated its fund-raising drive in earnest. The
by-laws of the association, patterned after those of the Mount Vernan
Ladies' Association, provided that "any citizen of the United 5tates of
America may become a member of this Association upon the payment of one
dollar, which will entitle such person to a certificate of stock, and upon
the payment of the further sum of fifty cents "on or before the annual
meating”" shall be entitled to wvote at all meetings of the Association for
the ensuing year." Various entertainments--"lectures, musicals, recitals,
parlor readings, and fetes'--were heid in Norristown, West Chester,
Reading, Pottsville, Pittsburgh, and Bridgepart to help raise funds for
the purchase of the headguarters. (15}

The fund-raising effort succeeded in collecting $3,000 by May 1, 1879,
and with the payment of this sum, amounting to one half of the purchase
price, Washington's Headquarters, along with two acres and 31 perches of
land, was transferred by deed from Hannah Odgen to William H. Halstein.
That same day Holstein conveyed the building and properly by deed of
trust to the association.{18)

Plans quickly got underway for the dedication of the building. The
association named a committee of three men, Colonel M. M. Ellis, A. 5.
Hallman, and J. P. Hale Jenkins, to confer with Michael Meshit, Grand
Master of Free and Accepted Masons of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, to procure that organization's services in  laying the
cornerstone at the ceremonies.

The dedication ceremonies were held om June 19, 1879, attended by an
estimated crowd of soms 12,000 people. The Sixth Regiment National
Guard patro! volunteered its services for guard duty far the occasion.
At sunrise a section of the Griffin Battery delivered its "morning-gun."
At ten o'clock the Grand Master of the Free and Accepted Masons of the
commonwealth of Pennsylvania arrived via a special train from Philadelphia
to conduct the ceremony of laying the cornerstone. The ceremony
included a salute by the Griffin Battery and music provided by the
Ringgold Cornet Band of Reading and the Valley Forge Chorus on the

14. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Assaciation, p. 83,
A copy of the "Act of |ncorparation of the Centennial and Memaorial
Association of Valley Forge" may be seen n Appendix A. A brief
description of the by-laws and constitution of the association may bea seen
in ibid., pp. 83-84.

15. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memarial Association, pp.
84-85, and Hosmer, Presence of the Past, pp. 57-38.

16, Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association, p. 16.
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nearby picnic grounds. Judge John Smith Futhey, a Chester County
magistrate and local historian, chaired the public meeting, including in
his opening remarks the oratory which reveals to us much of the spirit
with which patriotic campaigns were conducted in the early days of the
presgrvation movemeant:

vander building, the bhabitation of Washingten during those
months of trial, has, in the providence of God, amidst the
changes wrought by time, which have obliterated so many of
the landmarks of the Rewvglution, been permitted to stand, and
has to-day, after the lapse of over a century, been dedicates
with appropriate ceremonies, a menument 1o the loyalty and
devotion of the brave band of patriots who here, in cold and
hunger, watched for the coming of the dawn of a better day.
Let us indulge the hope that it may long remain,--a fountain to
which the people of our beloved land may ewver turn and drink
inspiration from ithe memories with which it is associated, and
which cluster around and about it.

James Pollock, ex-governor of Pennsylvania, filied in for Senator James
F. Bayard of Delaware who had been selected to give the principal speech
of the day. In his oration Pollock continued in the wein of thought
expressed by Futhey:

How precious are the old memories in our own homes and
households! The ring worn by a beloved mother now in her
grave, how we cherish the holy thingl. . . ASs with home, 30
with country. Patriotism s not merely a sentiment; it is a
principle born in our nature and part of our humanity.
Therefore we rejoice in the present, and benor those who in
other years labored and died to make cur nation graat. Home
and country! alike in heart's best affections; present enjoyment
and happy memory increase our dewvotion 1o both and intensify
our patriotism. We are bere to-day to illustrate history and
perpetuate these memories. The ladies of this "Association' by
and through its organization, desire te accomplish this. May
they be successful; and by your genercus help they wiltl.
when patrictism ceases to be a wvirtue, and lberty be known
only as a mame, then and not till then, will valley Forge, with
its romantic and hercic memeries, be forgotten.

In the afternoon the ladies held a reception and open house at
wWashington's Headquarters, the building "handsomely decorated with the
national embiems." During the afterncon six state rifle teams competed for
the gold medal offered by the Centennial and Memerial Association, and
the Pennsylvania team from Philadeiphia won the contest. At sunset the
retiring guns of the Griffin Battery ended the day's activites. (17}

17. Proceedings on the Qccasion of the Centennial Celebration, pp.
g6-120.
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At the dedication Pollock predicted that Valley Forge would become an
"Amarican Mecca.” But how many meccas would the American people be
willing to wisit or support financially scon became a question with which
the preservation movement had to cope. Valiey Forge and Morristown
were only two of the best-known Washington's headquarters to attract
attention during the post-Centennial years. The Magazine of American
History in February 1879 prepared a list of the general’s headquarters,
including the conditions and owners of each structure, and welcomed
additions from interested subscribers. This pericdical was the first of
several that began to publish articles on historic structures in the 1880s
and 1830s, thus providing publicity for a wide wariety of possible projects
for the emerging preservation movement. 5Such publicity contributed to
the growing realization that most preservation efforis would have to be
done op the state and local levels.{18)

This realization scon became clear to the persons attempting to preserve
Washington's Headguarters at Valley Forge. Anna Hoistein and her
assistants continued their fund-raising efforts to complete purchase of the
structure through "personal soficitation, by correspondence, [and] by
appeals to Congress." They encountered great difficulty in trying to
form a national organization patterned after the Mount Vernon Ladies'
Association. According to Hosmer in his Presence of the Past the problem
tay "to some extent, in the area of criteria for the selection of historic
houses for preservation." The

building at WValley Forge had been Washington's headquarters
far a winter, . . . It had some historic and architectural
interest, but it was not the home of George Washington.

Thus, the building could not obtain the same support that the home and
burial ptace of George Washington had gained. The Centennial and
Memorial Asscciation could not get pecple to wvolunteer to serve as
chairmen in distant states and “appeals to the nation at large met with
scant response. "(19}

The problems caused by the lack of a national organization for the
preservation of Washingten's Headquarters at Valley Forge were
compounded by a "period of general financial depression” during the early
18805, causing local contributions to cease. Meanwhile, the headquarters
and property had been leased to a tenant, but because of declining
contribdtions, the association was unable to meet the interest payments on
the mortgage and Keep the property in repair. It was feared that the
mortgage would have to be foreclosed and the property lost. (20}

18. "washington's Headgquarters During the Rewvolution, Magazing of
American History, 11l {February, 1879}, 15760, and Hosmer, Presence of

the Past, p. 131.

19. Hosmer, Presence of the Past, pp. 58, 60, and S5tager, History of
the Centennial and Memorial Association, p. a5,

20 Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Asscciation, pp. 85.
101, -
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Meanwhile, Valley Forge was receiving publicity both for its scenery and
historic points of interest. In 1881 Joel Cook wrote a series of letters for
publication in the Public Ledger, describing the highlights of warious
short railroad trips in the vicinity of Philadelphia. ©One of the letters
described the points of interest along the route of the Reading Railroad
in the Schuylkill Valley:

. When it receives the Perkiomen, its most important
tributary, the Schuylkill makes a sharp bend southward, and
the railroad curves around with it; then beth curve again 1o
the eastward, for thus we wind through the hills among which
we are again running. The latter bend is almost a right angle
at Vvalley Forge, from which there is a splendid view both
ways, showing that our forefathers had an eye for beauty when
they selected the ground for their famous Rewvolutionary camp,
on the hills berdering the deep, rugged hollow at the mouth of
Valley Creek.{21)

In his History of Montgomery County, published in 1884, Theodore W.
Bean referred to the “warious remains of the encampment still visible."
On the road to Port Kennedy was a portion of

land uninclosed, where the foundations of the hut occupied by
Baron Steuban are still visible, and the ground is undisturbed
on which he drilled his soldiers. At the distance of half a mile
from the headquarters z line of entrenchments crosses the road,
beginning near the Schuylkill, and extending southwards fully a
mile, terminating near the Chester County line. On the farm of
William Stephens, a few yards north of this road is a redoubt,
not quite a quarter of a mile from the Schuylkill, placed there
toe command Sullivan's bridge, which was just below Catfish
1sland, in case of an attempt being made to enter the
encampment from the north side of the river. This redoubt is
about a mile from the headgquarters. On the south side of the
road, and in front of these entrenchments, is a redoubt called
Fort Hamiltan {this probably refers to Fort Huntington since
this is the only mention of a Fort Hamilton), and another called
Fort Washington nearly a mile south and close to the Chester
County !line, These are not the most important. As most of
the encampment-ground is still in a state of nature, it has
therefore generally remained undisturbed to this day, though
mare than & century has passed away since that ewventful
period.

According to Bean relics were "still occasionally found by persons {iving
in  that wicinity." A considerable display of artifacts "hawing been

?1. Joel Cook, Brief Summer Rambles Near Philadelphia: Described in a

Series of Letters Written For The Public Ledger During the Summer of
1881 (Philadeiphia, 1882), pp. 183-84.
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ebtained in and arcund” the encampment area had been exhibited at the
Montgomery County Centennial at Norristown in September 1884.(22)

Meanwhile, the WValley Forge MWonument Association, a Chester County
group that would rival the Mantgomery County based Centennial and
Memorial Asscciation, had been formed on December 18, 1882, through the
effarts of Mary E. Thropp Cone, author of the "Valley Forge Centennial
Poem," and her sister Amelia, both of whom were natives of Valley Forge.
A public meeting was held at Valley Forge electing Cone as president,
Amelia Thropp as secretary, and Anthony J. Drexel of Philadelphia as
treasurer. The purpcse of the organization was stated in a resoclution
adopted at the meeting:

Whereas, Valley Forge stands forth preeminent among the
historic places of American Revolutionary fame; and

Whereas, During the stay of the Continental Army there under
washingten, 1777-78, scores of patriots gave their lives
willingly for the cause in which they were enlisted; and

Whereas, No monument, public or private, has been erscted in
memory of their suffering and death; and

Whereas, Congress has, in its liberality, appropriated wvarious
sums at different times for the bullding of monuments on
Revolutionary batitle fields, and celebrating prominent events of
that great struggle; therefore, be it

Resolved, That it is the sense of this meeting that Vvalley Ferge
should have a monument to perpetuate the memories of the
Continental herces who suffered here, the names of the
commands and the states they were from, and to that end is
entitled to Congressional recognition.

The new organization began halding public meetings, enlisting support of
prominent persons, and directing appeals to Congress for funds to erect
a ''substantial granite shaft" at Valley Forge "upon which might be

chiselled in ocutline the story of the encampment." The association worked
to raise 3,600 by private subscription and laid the groundwork for the
introduction of a bill in the United States Senate requesting an

appropriztion of an additional $5,504.

wWhile the Centennial and Memarial Association and the Valley Forge
Monument Assaciation competed for funds, the federal goverament was
brought inte the picture when Senator David wolsey Vorbees of lndiana
introduced into the United States Senate a resolution to acquire Valley
Forge for a national military park "in just recognition by the Government
of the United States of the sufferings, the patriotism and the unfailing

22. Bean, ed., History of Montgomery County, 1,124-25.
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courage there displayed in the cause of constitutional liberty." The bill
was defeated, but in 1884 a bill that encouraged societies 1o erect
monuments on the important battlefields of the Rewvolutionary War was
presented to the House of Representatives. One section of the hill
specifically extended the matching provisions 1o the Vailley Forge
organizations sesking to preserve washington's Headguarters and erect 2
monumert there. The bill received support from the press and historical
sociaties, but it faited to gain a majority of votes.

Samuel 5. Cox, a congressman from New York City, introduced "a bill for
the erection of monuments on sites made memorable by the struggle for
independence.! The bill was reported favorably by the House Committee
on the Library on July 2, 1885

Two societies have in charge at present the work to be
accomplished at Valley Forge, onhe designed more especially to
preserve the headguarters of Washington there, and the other
to build a monument on the height of land where the
encampment was situated; alse tg secure some of the land and
preserve the intrenchments intact for all time behind which the
army aof Washington passed the memorable winter of privation
and suffering, the touching story of which is familiar to every
schaol boy in the country. Mrs. Mary £. Thropp Cong, of
Philadelphia, a native of Valley forge, is at the head of this
latter organization. Mr. A. J. Drexel, Jr., of Philadelphia, is
its treasurer, and Mr. George W. Childs, a2 charter membar.
The American army at Valley Forge was composed of soldiers
from New England, from the Middle States, and from the South.
All sections of the country were enshrouded in that 'midnight of
despair.' Mo ewvent of the Revolulion was more national in its
character, no wvictory of arms more conducive to the final
result. To preserve a few acres of the encampment of the army
there, and actually to keep the wvery intrenchments behind
which they lay and suffered from being leveled to the ground,
is surely a work in which the nation can well take 2 part. By
an affidavit from Mrs. Anna M. Holstein, of Montgomery county,
Pa., the Lady Regent of the other Valley Forge organization,
and from other sources, the cocmmittee learn that the
headguarters buildings and grounds are in the possession of
this body, and with a clear title; and that there is now due on
the purchase about $3,000, and that the receipts of the society
do not permit this sum of increase, the interest being regularly
paid. Under the operation of this bill this organization feels
they can easily raise the money at ance to pay off this debt by
private subscription, tn fact, the money for this purpose has
been substantially guaranteed to them should the bill become a
law. The Headquarters will then be free from the mortgage
now incumbering it, and & sum equal to its whole cost will then
be avaiiable as the nucleus of a monument fund for the other
organization as may be formed after the bill shall have become a
law. Both these arganizations, your commitige are informed, are
cognizant of the section relating  te  Valley Forge, and
contemplate the passage of the bill with pleasure.
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The bili, as well as a similar piece of iegislation introduced in 1886, failed
to pass, howewer, and little else is known about the activities of the
Valley Forge Monument Association.{23)

in 1885 the Centennial and Memorial Association appealed to the Patristic
Order Saons of America, Camp 114, Pennsylvaniz at Morristown, for
financial aid in ligquidating the debt and interest, amounting to some
43,400, still resting on the property. The Norristown camp Jeaders in
turn brought the matter to the State Camp officials of the prganization.
The state executive committee, led by president Henry J. 5Stager who also
published the order's Camp News, endorsed the project and began
soliciting contributions from its camps throughout Pennsytvania and
members of the order throughout the United States. Publicity was given
to the campaign through the Camp MNews and publication of Theodore W.
Bean's Footprints of the Rewolution. Within six months the sum of
$3,370.98 was collected as a result of the fund-raising campaign.{24}

At its annual convention in Altoona in August 1886 the Pennsylvania State
Camp appointed 8 thirteen-member trustee commitiee, headed by Stager,
to manage and dispose of the coilected funds. In meetings held on
Movember 9 the trusiee committee and the Centennial and Memorial
Association agreed that title to Washington's Headguarters would remain in
the name of the association, that the mortgage and interest debt would be
paid by the trustee committes, and that the order would accept stock in
the association. The cld organization of the assocciation was revamped,
Anna Holstein being selected as regent and Stager and Mrs. Helen C.
Hooven as vice regents, and a thirteen-member board of directers was
elected with representatives from both the association and the order. In
subsequent business on Movember 9 zn order was drawn for payment of
the remaining $3,000 mortgage principal and $478.91 in interest and back
taxes. Thus, full titie to the property was conveyed by deed to the
Centennial and Memorial Association on that date. Further discussions led
to the appointment of committees to petition the state legislature for an
approprigtion and confer with the Historical Society of Pennsylvania
relative to the purchase of additional ground for the headquarters
property. {25)

23, James W. Riddle, Valley Forge Guide and HandBook {Philadeiphia,
1810), pp. 123-24; w. Herbert Burk, "Valley Forge: |[ts Past, Present
and Future," Historical Skeiches: A Collection of Papers Prepared for
the Historical Sociely of Montgomery County, Pennsylvania, IV (1910),
240-42; "The Saving of Valley Forge,” Harper's Weekly {1403y, 8935,
Reed Collection, RG 10, VAFD Archives; and Barbara MacDonald Powell,
"“The Most Celebrated Encampment: Valley Forge in American Culture,
1777-1983" (unpubiished Ph.D dissertation, Cornell University, 1883}, pp.
70-75.

24, Stager, History of the Centennial and Memoria) Assgoiation, pp.
99-102. T

25. “valley Forge Memorial Association," in Valley Forge: Washington
Headquarters {Philadelphia, 1908), pp. 27-32, Reed Collection, RG 10,
VAFO Archives.
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The year 1887 marked numerous changes at Washington's Headquarters at
Valley  Forge. The Pennsylvania state legisiature granted an
appropriation of $5,000 through the help of House member William .
Heelner, a number of donated artifacts were accepted for display at the
headquarters, a new 100-foot flagstaff was installed, an architect was
employed to draw up plans for "renewing the building" and "improving
the grounds,” and a janitor was hired to live in the annex building and
attic rooms of the main house. The improvements to the structure,
including "a complete rehabilitation," the erection of a leg cabin in place
of the stone annex, and "wvaulting" of a subterranean passageway that
reportedly had once led from the house to the river, were carried out by
R. T. S. Hallowell, a member of the board of directors and a carpenter.
Construclion was also begun on a warden's lodge "in the left-hand
corner® of the property "facing the creek," and the grounds were
"generally beautified and adorned.” The improvements were heralded at
the 108th anniversary celebration of the evacuation of Valley Forge led by
officials of the Patriotic Order Sons of America on June 18, 1887.(26)

In April 1888 Peter M. Emery of Norristown became warden/janitor at a
salary of $25 per month plus free rent in the new lodge. His dulies
included: maintenance of the headguarters building and property;
handling of wisitors; and collection of registration fees. In April a
circular was printed for distribution, calling attention (o the "rejuvenated
Headgquarters, and 2 Revolutionary Relic department therein, for which we
calicit contributions of antique furniture and articles of the Colonial
period."{27)

In early 1888 the Centennial and Memorial Association petitioned Congress
"tg appropriate $25,000 for the Washington Headguarters project, having
in view the extension of its praperty line to include other historic plots
of the Revolutionary Campground, as yet uncared for by either S5tate or
Nationai government." By April a bill "in aid of the Centennial and
Memorial Association of Valley Forge and to secure the Washington
headquarters, mansion, and grounds pccupied by the Continental Army of

26. Dara Harvey ODevelin, Historic Lower Merion and Blockley (Bala,
1927), p. 122, and Stager, History cf the Centennial and Memorial
Association, pp. 103, 111-16. Later in 1890 the wood remaining from the
old structure that was removed to make way for the log cabin was used
for "gavels, sleeve buttons, etc., and placed on  sale at  the
Headgquarters.," Ibid., p. 123. Also see W. H. Richardson, "Valley
Forge," New England Magazine, XXII} (February, 1901), 607-04.

27. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memeorial Assoccistion, pp.
116-19. The list of articles and antiques in the association's collection as
of June 1831 may be seen in Washington's Headquarters--Valley
Forge--With Map of Roads, Forts and Entrenchments, As They Now
Appear, Jung 1891 {Philadelphia, 1881), pp. 10-12, In Reed Collection,
RG 10, VAFO Archives. The restored headquarters was rented for
weddings, the first recorded ceremony occurring on November 21, 1888,
when Rev. James M. Guthrie of Fottstown married Ingram P. Bloom, =2

Civil War wveteran, and Miss Leizzie Watkinson, both of Berwyn.
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1777" had passed the Senate, but despite g favorable recommendation by
its Committee on the Library the House of Representatives rejected it.
Similar bills were introduced Tn 1889 and 1890, but hboth fafled to
pass.(28)

The Washington Headquarters structure was insured for $3,000 with the
Montgomery Mutual Fire Insurance Company in late 1888 or early 1889.
During the following summer the lodge was insured for $1,000. Soon
thereafter the insurance policies were transferred to the Pennsylvania
Fire Insurance Company of Philadelphia.{29)

During 18380 the association considered a plan proposed by Theodore W.
Bean to purchase the entire encampment ground at Valley Forge at an
estimated cost of $100,000. According to the proposal the necessary
funds would be raised by a bond subscription of $150,000 at three
percent interest, subscriptions to be limited to the Patriotic Order Sons
of America. Although this somewhat grandiose scheme was newver
imptemented (228 shares were subscribed in 1891 and 25% in 1892) it does
indicate that the association had a larger vision for the Valley Forge
gncampment area than simply the preservation of washington's
Headquarters. While the scheme was under consideration, the association
succeeded in purchasing from Nathan Jones for $1,200 an adjacent 1%-acre
parcel on the south end of its property on which the Washington spring
was located. The new lot was ‘graded to conferm with the original
tolding, the fence extendad arcound it, and fifty-two trees planted, al! to
correspond with the main tract.'"(30}

At its annual meeting in Jurne 1890 the association adopted new by-laws
which remained in effect until its dissciution in 1910. The board of
directors was expanded to eighteen members from whom the officers were
to be elected. The officers were constituted as an executive committee,
having direct management and supervision of the headquarters and
grounds. (31)

By 1890 Valley Forge was being freguented by large groups of
picnickers. Orne such excursion by a group of young people from Wayne
in August of that year was chaperoned by HKate Longstreth Sayen.
According to the reminiscences of one of the participants more than sixty
yvears later, Mrs. Sayen

28. Stager, History of the Centenniai and Memorial Association, p. 118,
and U.5. Congress, House, Committee on the Library, Centennial and

Memorial Association of Valley Forge, Etc., 50th Cong., Tst sess., 1888,
H. Rept. 936.

€9. Stager, Histery of the Centennial and Memorial Association, pp. 120,
122.

30. Ibid., pp. 175-26.

3. Ibi
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invited enough woung people to fill twe hay wagons. | was
camera man with old style oglass plates and a tripod. After
climbing the old wooden observation tower and wvisiting
Washington's headquarters, which had a smail relic room in the
rear as a museum, we all seated ourselves on the slope of ML.
Joy and opened the food and drink for supper. There was
then {in August, 1890) no State Park and only a few scattered
ancient houses which had not been destroyed in the 1777 raid
of Colonel Grey's British Cawvalry, burning the iron forge of
Dewees and Potts.{32)

Valley Forge was afso becoming the summer camp site of various
Pennsylvania militia regiments by the early 1890s. One such encampment
was remembered later by the militiamen for its cnerous "policing” work.
Several hours of every morning were devoted to "carrying loose stones
off the company streets and the parade-ground.” Stones seemed to
"grow' there. According to the militiamen, as "fast as one borrow-lcad
was taken away, as many more appeared, being either detached from the
lonse 501l or washed down the hiliside."{33)

Ellis R. Hampion became warden of the association's property on April 1,
1891, remaining in that position until 1970, The registered admissions to
the headgquarters for 1891 teotaled 2,714, each wvisitor paying a fee of ten
cents to provide a fund with which to maintain the structure and
property. The total number of wisitors to the property during the year
was estimated at 10,000, A stone was placed on the west bank of the
Schuylkill ko mark the site where the Continental Army crossed the river
in June T778. An organization seal was adopted, including upon its face
a picture of the headquarters with the words below, “"Chartered July 15,
1878, Penna.," and the name "Centennial and Memorial Association of
Valley Forge" in a circie around its outer edge.{34)

In June 1891 Anna Hoistein prepared a pamphlet on Valley Forge, one
thousand copies of which were printed and placed on sale at the
headquarters. The pamphlet provided a brief history of the Valley Forge
encampment area as well as a guide toe the still-visible historic points of
interest in the wvicinity of the headquarters, Regarding the headquarters
she wrote:

32. "Picnic at Vailey Forge--1890," Picket Post, Qctober, 1954, 4D. One
visitor to Washington's Headquarters and the surrounding area during the
late 1880s or early 1890s was 5. Gordon Smyth whose reminiscences may
be seen in Appendix B.

33. Edward w. Hocker, "“Valley Forge As A HWaticnal Fark," Cutlook,
LXVI (April 6, 1901), 789-90.

34. Stager, History of the Centenniai and Memorial Asscciation, pp.
128-30.
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The Headguarters House, from cellar to attic, Is in good
preservation, and appears to-day almost precisely as it did
when Washingten was domiciled within it. The doors, with bolts
and locks, are the very same his hands have moved; the floors,
except a portion of the one in the office-rpom, are those over
which the great chieftain has walked in many weary hours; the
window glass and sash are unchanged since the days when
anxiocus eyes looked through them at the soldiers' huts upan the
hills. (3%}

During 1892 there were 3,270 registered visitors to the headquarters, and
thirteen permits were granted for picnic parties. One such party was a
“targe number of gentlemen" associated with the Historical Society of
Pennsylvania who ‘passed a field-day at Valley Forge® on June 18.
Arriving by special train, the men inspected the headguarters and then
heid an informal meeting on the front lawn. After a lunch that was
served in a tent on the lawn in the rear of the headquarters, carriages
were taken to visit the headquarters of Marquis de Lafayette and Henry
Knox, Faorts Washington and Huntington, the site of the cantonment, and
the entrenchments on Mount Joy. (36)

The number of registered visitors to the headgquarters rose to 4,329 in
1893, Ten picnic parties were permitted 1o use the grounds, and a
visiting Post of the Grand Army of the Republic from Marblehead,
Massachusetts, was granted free admission to the headquarters. A Valley
Forge souvenir spoon was designed for sale, and the MNavy donated a
large cannon for public display. One hundred shade trees were planted in
the rear lawn area of the headguarters property.{37)

When the state |egisiature established Valley Forge State Park under the
administration of a park commission on May 30, 1393, the act expressly
excluded "“the property known as Washingfon's headquarters and now
owned bLy the Centennial and Memorial Association of Valley Forge,"
Accordingly, the association informed the new commission that it could use
the headquarters "for meeting purposes whanever necessary, {38}

35.  Anna Morris Holstein, "Valley Forge, 177778," in A Brief Review of
Valley Forge and Iis Environments {Fhiladelphia, 19[‘!1}, PO, 1-6.

36. “Notes and Queries,” Pennsylvania Magazine of History and
Biography, XVI (July, 1832}, 250, and Stager, History of the Centennial
and Memorial Association, pp. 130-31.

37. Stager, History of the Centepnial and Memorial Association, pp.
134-36.

38. "An Act Providing for the acquisition by the State of certain ground
at Valley Forge for a public park, and making an appreopriation therefor,”
May 30, 1893, in By-lLaws of the Valley Forge Park Commission With h

Compilation nf Laws Relating lo the Commission (Harrisburg, 1908), pp.
6-8.
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Despite the apparent initial cooperation between the association and the
new park commission, there was obwvious dissension by June 1834. At a
meeting of the association's board of directors that month, the issues of
the battie between the twe organizations during the next fifieen years
were discussed. The minutes of the meeting stated:

At this meeting the subject of the new Park Commission recently
created by the State for the purchase of the Valley Forge camp
ground and its improvement as & public park was considered.
[t was stated that an object of the Commissioners was the
annexing of the Headguarters property to their contral.  This
the Board of Directors prepared to dispute. They resolved to
maintain the controi of the Headquarters and to resist the Park
Commission from securing any legislation by the State lgoking to
the condemnation of the same. Messrs, Hobscn, Kaoch, Wolfe,
Bertolette and Losch were appeointed a committee to petition the
State Legislature for a special appropriation of 45,000.00.(39)

Despite the growing friction (or perhaps because of it} with the park
commission, the association continued to acquire additional property,
accept donations of "relics," improve and interpret its historic buildings
and grounds, and engage in efforts to attract growing numbers of
visitors. |n January 1894 an adjacent 1%-acre parcel, including a stone
house and stene barn that the association believed had been used as 8
hospital by the Continental Army was acquired fram the Crawford family
for $3,000 and thereafter leased tc a tenant. Storms during the spring
and early summer of 1896 destroyed the flag pole near the headquarters
and damaged the building on the former Crawford property, necessitating
a new flag pole provided by the Patriotic Order Sons of America and
repairs 1o the structures. A model schoolhouse, vwsed on a float in the
Philadelphia Peace Jubilee Parade of 1898 by the Patrictic Order Sons of
America, was re-erected in the rear of the warden's house, remaining
there untit 1905 when it was torn down. During the summer of 1898 the
governors of each of the thirteen original states were requested to
contribute a tree to represent their states, the trees to be planted in a
circle on the headquarters grounds on Arbor Day. Ip 1900 the Valley
Forge Chapter, Daughters of the American Revoiution, were given
permission to furnish with colonial furniture one of the second-story rooms
of the headguarters building, which had presumably been Washington's
bedraom . {407

Criticism of the operation and maintenance of Washington’s Headquarters
by the association was wvegiced In the state legislature in  1900.
Accordingly, the association authorized Stager to prepare a pamphlet
contaiming 'a historical sketch, setting forth the facts attending the care
of the Headquarters" for publication and distribution. After reviewing
the history of the association Stager conciuded the pamphlet with a

39. Stager, History of the Centenpial and Memorial Association, p. 138.

40. Ibid., pp. 136, 141, 143, 146-47, 150.
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defense of its maintenance and preservation operations and a stirring,
patriotic appeal for increased support of those efforts. He observed:

The Centennial and Memorial Association of Valley Forge has
spent about $74,000, which is represented by the property as it
now stands. There is a small indebtedness due upon the last
purchase.

The business of the Association is conducted by a Board of
twenty-one, officers and directors. An annual meeting is held
each year, proper supervision made, and officers provided for.
Quring the interim a house executive committee has supervision
of the property affairs. A warden is employed at z salary of
$360 per annum, with free house-rent and privileges of ground.
Absolutely no return is made for service except to one party,
the warden; all others attend to their duties and attend the
meetings at their own expense. The present source of revenue
is a ten-cent admission to view the property and some profits
that come from the sale of pictures and mementoes. The
visitors at present reach over seven thousand in the course of
a year. The warden attends to the visiters and has the care of
the property and grounds. The Headguarters is in most
excellent state of preservation, Is in thorough repair, and is
kept in the best possible condition.

In view of these facis the Centennial and Memoria! Association
does not meet with that recognition it shouid at the hands of
those interested in a similar movement to purchase the entire
camp grounds adjoining that they have a right to demand.
There is plenty to do, a wide field and national celebrity 1o be
gained by  purchasing, occupying  and restoring the
Headgquarters of the other Generals known to Revoiutionary
fame, in which this neighborhood sco richly abounds, and
protecting the Earthworks and other places of interest
memorable of the days of our country's struggle for
independence; and instead of ignoring the excettent results
already obtained or trying to wrest the honors from those to
whom they properly belong, by reason of lawful purchase and
incorporation under our State laws, or by misrepresentations of
the condition of the Headgquarters, it were less piratical and
more courtecous, by resson of the object and the name under
which such organizations hold forth, if they would cooperate
and give public recognition to those whose primary efforts have
the right of precedence. The Headquarters are not for sale;
but should the Nation or State ever desire to absorb them fo
use 35 a national memorial it could be readily accomplished. Wwe
believe the Association and the Order mosi interested could by
a suitable recognition be induced to be sufficiently !iberal to
make cancessions that were not accorded to either of them in
their appeals to a public which has not been too charitable in
its dealings, or diffusive in its patriotism. HNo matter to whose
hands it may ultimately descend, it is hoped and pfanned to
have the rugged old walls of the Headquarters stand as & grand
and solemn reminder of the days when our country was yet in
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its primitive condition and glad to avail itself of its friendly
shelter for the royal head of the "Father of his Country."(41)

During the next several years two additional rooms in the headgquarters
were furnished under similar arrangements toc that with the Valley Forge
Chapter, Daughters of the American Revaolution. in 1902-03 a
second-floor raom was assigned to and furnished by the Chester County
Chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution. Later in 1903-04 a
third-floor or attic room, known as the “round window" room, was
assigned to and furnished by the Merion Chapter, Daughters of the
American Revolution. The "rules" followed by the latier organization in
furnishing its room were:

The room must be furnished in strict Colonial style. Ewvery
piece of furniture or bric-a-brac must be authentic, & genuine
relic of the Colonial and Revelutionary period, with a known
history. Ewery article must be in good conditan.{42)

The furnishing of these rooms, together with various other property
improvements,  brought increasing numbers  of visitors to  the
headquarters. One such visitor was William C. Ewing of Yonkers, New
York, who published a pamphlet describing his visit to Valley Forge State
Fark and the headquarters. Relative to the latter he observad:

The central point of interest is washington's headguarters; the
tssac Potts home, the main building of which is pretty much as
Washington found it and left it, a two-story house of dressed
stone, peinted, 24 x 33 feet. A frame addition was buiit for
Washingten's use, one story and a half high. This is now
replaced by stome, uniform with the original building; and a log
cabin, which covers a stairway leading to an underground
vault, from which originally a tunnel led to the river bank.

The interior wood work is in a fine state of preservation. .
There are many curios, Indian relics, a washington hatchet, the
flintlock musket of the guide that led the night march on
Germantown, a British Roya! George cannon, a small brass
howitzer, charts of the ground and photographs. Two of the
rooms are furnished in colonjal style, one with furniture that
washington might have had at Mount Vernon, but certainly did

41. H. J. Stager, "The Centennial and Memorial Association of Valley
Forge," in A Brief Review of Valley Forge and Its Envirgnments, pp.
7-1h. A copy of this pamphlet may be found at the Library of
Congrass.,

42. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association, pp.
154-56, and Daughters of the American Revolution, Pennsylvania, Merion
Chapter, Bala, Catalogue of Historic Articles and Relics In the Room
Furnished by Merion Chapter, Daughters of the American Revolution,
washington's Headguarters, valley Forge (n. Pp., 1307}, pp. 3, 6-7.

45




not have at Valley Forge, the other having the plain country

furniture of the northern farm house, a truer picture of

washington's actual degree of comfort during the encampment, .
The walls are hung with portraits of washington's generals and

with a fine collection of varicus engravings of

Washington. . . .{43}

The following year, 1905, brought 12,187 registered visitors to the head-
quarters, nearly double the total of five years before.({44)

Meanwhile, the Valley Forge Park Commission, without the apparent
knowledge of the Centennial and Memorial Association, nad taken action to
abtain the power to condemn the association's property and have it added
to Valley Forge State Park. Section 1 of the Act of May 30, 1833, was
amended on April 7, 7905, striking out the ctause exempting the
association's property from being condemned and added to the state park.
Despite warious association efforts te contest the condemnation procedures
that were instituted at once by the park commission, a jury of view was
appointed during the summer of 1905 and awarded the asscciation $18,000
in damages., The association reluctantly accepted the award on August §
upon condition that it "be permitted to place 3 tablet in Washington's
Headquarters, commemorating the part taken by this Association in the
preservation of said Headquarters." In November the park commission
took possession of the building, denying further use of the structure to
the association for mesting purposes.(45)

Three issues remained to be setiled between the association and the park
commission as the former made preparations to dissolve. After .
considerable bickering between the two organizations, a tablet was erected
on the grounds of the headquarters on February 22, 1908. It read:

THIS TABLET COMMEMORATES

THE PATRIQTIC SERVICE RENDERED BY
THE CENTENRIAL AND MEMORIAL ASSOCIATION
OF VALLEY FORGE

GENERCUSLY AIDED BY THE

PATRIOTIC ORDER SONS OF AMERICA
IN ACQUIRING RESTORING AND PRESERVING
THESE HEADQUARTERS
1878-1906

43. William C. Ewing, Valley Forge Revisited {Yonkers, MNew Yaork,

1904), pp. 11-12. A copy of this pamphlet may be found at the Library
of Congress.

44. 5Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association, p. 158.

45. lbid., pp. 160-85.
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After further negotiations the association accepted final payment in April
1910 from the park commission for personal preperty left at the
headguarters, in June of that year the Montgomery County courts
decreed the formal dissalution of the Centennial and Memorial Association.
Wiltiam F. Damnehawer, an attorney in Norristown, was appointed auditor
of the association's remaining funds. ©n June 5, 1811, he ordered that
all funds remaining in the assaciation's coffers be awarded to the Vailey
Forge Park Commission, thus owverruting the association’s contention that
it distribute the funds among its members or stockholders. The decision
was appealed by attorneys for the association, but it was upheld by the
Common Pleas Court of Montgomery County on October 31 and the
Supreme Court of Pennsylvania on February 26, 1912, (46}

46. |bid., pp. 184-85, 18G-95, 217-42. The association finally agreed te
the tramsfer of fumds without further litigation on the condition that the
funds were [o be used solely for the continuing maintenance of the head-
guarters building. John F. Reed, ed., "Minutes of the Centennial and
Memorial Association of Valley Forge," Valley Forge Journal, | (June,
1982), 49.
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APPENDIX A

AUT OF INCORPGHEATION

oF
THE CENTENNIAL AND MUEMORIAL ASROUIATION
oF

YWALLEY Foitou

The subserihers, citigens of the Colunouwealtn of Jonasya-
vinii, have aprecid b sssooiate themseives for b auTposes set
farth in the foliwang Articles uvader e came and isis of "The
Centenaad amd Momorial Associantion: of Videy foege”

The purpose o 1 ALeociilion =inh e b plrn@se, (IMprove
amd preserve e lands aod o caneits liwreon, ovougsed Ly
ienerad George Washingtow, at YValwr Forge, and nwsitian them
as ouomeniariab park fos all time 1o vente,

Ta have swceesieon by e masioc wiee Llie o U e
put onl Memeral Assoelateor of Yooy Corge” solove 1o Lhe
pawer of the Getieral Assomhly wnder tie Cavstianon of the
Conpanopweaill.

Tu have power to maiain s oclenie jadwin proceedifgs

To make aml wie 4 omaian vl ahd aber sae same at
VIEDIELLE,

Ta hold, purchiane aml transfur sucic Teal ealate 4md porsondy
prapersy as the purposes of 1l vacieraion cequie ool excects
e L amowat limated By this charter wr e laws of L Come
raanwealth.

To apamnt aud renew sucn subnrslnate olicgrs and agents
as e business of Lhe earpocalion ceonires, and e addew tw a
suilalde eomypensition.

Ta make By-Laws nat jncoosisigii with aw, Tor the man-
agesent of sts property, e regeloion of vs alfaies, and the
trangfag of g stagu,

T'a entor ke any oblgaticns ngcessary to tivg bransactoen ul
is ardiiary buseioss.

The capital stack of this Associaraa sliall not excecd Nve
Iandred thousand Jailars, atd the par vaiwe theregd =no0 nal e
iess than one gelac per sbare: poossdeil, adways, thay tee cear
nel yeariy vame, ar nwrease of bae real aodd persoaal propecty,
shall nat excendl the sam of Lwonly tEowsnoid e lars.

Thin Associslion slall transagt i busmness o Aloutgomery
county, Pennsylvania, and the charter shall be perpetuas.
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Nerrurs: Jesiel e =
Wil i1 Vedstein oo U pper Merian
Jolme W Bekennn oo oo LEer Mesn
Theogeare W loran oo L cve Mornsteewn,
Avma M Delstenn oo oo Liper dlersern
Woeleea Mlolaouees e LESETIIEIC T S S A
Lhetem L5 Ml o e e e Morrislow, o
IO P Hale Jemkws ool o S Twarrisiown, Hi

Manfgamery Coundy, 55.:

Persemaliv appeared before me, Recnrcder of Deeds, in and
for saut coumy, Willkam H. Holstcia, Thendare W Dean and J,
¥ Fiale Tenkins alove named, wiie, i due form af Tivw, acknowl.
erlgen the anove and afore written msinomem for Lhe porpeses
as witlaw alaledd,

Witness my Tand angd seal of olfice this cygilin day of June,
AL Duoaleg Fooun W Renan,
[ERALD flernrder.

A pow toowar: faly sih, 0B he [aregeang agguication
having beer peescuted 1o the Hanoealle Llenry 1P Moss a law
Jedpe apd Presidece Jwige of the Cowrl ol Common Picas of
Montgrmwry ety (e cowaty i wlnels thre fesiness of the
enrpnTabnn s b be LrAnsacteal ), aeenmpaanen by peoal ol pwhli-
caticer A e molice of eaid application, sl the said Tiedee having
perused aml examined the foregoimg instrument, and found e
sapye Ia e in e preepee farm msd witlin the popesrs pamed in
the Brsl chigs spevaleg i tee seconed secto of g Aol enlitded:
“An ACE 1o pravide for tie acorperatian and regnlation of cers
tam Corperazions,” approved Lhe 2otk elay of Apnl A0 13 tB2a,
and appenring lawbil ana not anjuriaus 10 e community, da
areler anel slecres o ¢he saied charter 15 apperyedl, aml 1at apan
the reenridug nf the sax] charier znd raid order and deocree, the
subscrbaers 1 2aied chacler alall be a eorporatein Dor bl purposes
and upon the terms vhesein stated, and froan slwneeforsh the per-
oot namacd Llerei and subacribing Loy sime, ol thtie associates
aml successars, shall be a cotpnratinon by 1he pame of "Tae Cen-
wenmal and Memonal Asseoation of Yalicy Forge,” a5 provided

by Jaw.
By the Crmey, Hewey P Raoss,
[SEAL) President fudge,
Certilicd from the Hecords of sae Cowel al Nocnstaown,
July gih, LHrE Paaie Qaiasas,
{EXAL] Prothonatary.

adanlpgemery Canuty, 550

Reqorded in she office bor Recording Decds, e, in ang for
said county, in Misceilapeous Book Moot ppo 1w ol
Witness my hand aod seal af ofiee, Juiy §th, 1575

{SEAL} Jumes Diwes, D R

Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Asscciation, pp. 11-13.
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APPENDIX B

REMINISCENCES OF TRIP TO VALLEY FORGE

BY S. GORDON SMYTH IN LATE 1880s OR EARLY 18905

Some distance beyond this the raad
crosses the Guiph creek as it curves hack to the hills and Rows
toward the Schuvikiil. The bridge which carries the roaa] ovet
this stream i5 curious in its way, and [ oute it hecause it has
stood since the infancy of the Republic. It is Luilt of stome
and bears this inscriptian —

“Erected by Montgomery County 1789
In The 2nd Year of the Foederel Union”

A mile ar 5o bevond this place we enter the Chester Valley
— Jong known as a farming district of exceeding fertility, and of
lime burners, and marble quarties where creaking derricks and
gashes in the face of the earth reveal the progress of a modern
industry, A short ride brings one to the little cross-raads village
called “The King of Prussia,”" and a time honored mn of the
samme mame from which swings the sign of “Frederick the
Great,” is 5o called from the fact that here Baron Steuben was
wont to call for his liquid refreshments; but the tavern is sup-
posed to date from 1760 and was well patronized by roysterers
of the camp near by, Nearat hand is the nid Great Valley Meet-
ing, and from thence a coupte of miles farther, brings one to the
Letitia Penn schos] house at the base of the Valley Forge Hill.
About us are the old dwellings ance in use by the staff officers
of Washington while the army was in camp there. There is the
Abijah Stephens farm house where Gen. Huntingdon was
quartered with his division. There are the old quarters of
Generals Varnum and DeKalb, and <lose at hand the section
where the soldiers reared their hints on the sunny slopes which
sheliered them from the bleak and chilling north-west winds.

Turning to the left one rides down Washington Lane to-
ward Yalley creek but stopping for a few moments at the
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thicket-grown Fare Washington and though overgrown with
undergrowth and timber it stil] preserves she form iy whicls #
was Jeft over a century ago. A ruvigh road leads one around the
Lase of the hill to the warm, sheltered ravine through which
flows the Valley creck. Two comfortable looking stone dwell-
ings near-by and now occupied by 3rs. Mary Jones and Richard
MPeterzom, were once the dotmiciies of General Fnox and Gen.
LaFayette respectively. An ancient covercd bridge crosses the
creek at this point and the road leas along the creek coursing
hetween the towering hills whose wild scenery and inspiring:
beauty rival the Wissahickon. DPrezently z sign appears on the!
roadside indicating that hete was the location of the original
forge that was erected i 1737 and was destroved by the English
early tn 1777 1 rebuiht iy 17570, and eventually disappeared by the
damming up af the creek when mills were erected in the village
lelow. The iron ured at this forge is said to have been brooght
from Warwick furnace. on the south branch of the French
ereek, several miles away. From this place an old woodland road
leads up toward the swimumit of the hills and the lipe of in-
trenchments, or such of them as stil remain to be seen, and
from this elevated position a fine view is had of the surround-
itg country. The two higher peaks lwre are, according to the
fegenidry of the neighborhood—named Mount Joy and hlount
Misery; the latter o called by the soldiers because of their
wretched _o.idition while in camp, but the other name was that
of the manor of Mt Joy—the style used by Letitia Penn in re-
ferring to her patrimony,  Skining the edge of the mill-pond
i a few thoments one enters the village of Valley Forge which
i scattered about the cross roads. Two or three mills lay along
the stream but they have ceazed to operate and the hamlet seems
lifeless thereby, A few rods down the guiet thoroughiare ome
draws rein before the old stone headquarters of the immor-
talized Washinglon and in a moment receives a pleasant wel-
come frotn Ellis Hampton, the custodian of the place. Follow-
ing him into the grovnds one finds not a half-neglected spot as
one is lad to suppose from current report, but a wellcared-for
premises, In the process of its restoration the dwelling has
been repaired along original lines and has a pleasing freshness
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and cleanliness that barmonizes with the spirit of the old Quaker
owner of it in Revolutionary days,

When the old mansion passed into the hamls of tne Me-
morial Association it came fram a family who had been in pos-
session of it since 1759, though not in direct descent, At the
time of my visit to it the property conzisted of two or more
acres of land laid down in lawn anid well shaded by fruit and
forest irees, with the house stzuding well Torward toward the
street. Unforunately, however, the custodian's residence was
built in an angle of the lawn close to the highway which par-
tially obscures a view of the headquarters when approached
from the main corners of the village. Thougi the cottage is
prettity designed and comfortable looking, it is of the “Easilake™
tvpe and very much at variance with the simple colonial desigm
of the mansion, The latter 7. hutlt of flat stone oi uniform
thickness and neatly pointed, It is two and a half stories, square
in form with high pitched roof and a wide projecting cornice
that extends all the way around the house, The buitding 15 not
large, having but four apartments, divided on the first floor hy
a main hall extending from front ta the rear. 7)n one side of the
dwelling is a kitchen addition separated from the main building.
by 2n arched roofed areaway. At the time of Washinglon's oc-
cipatcy and the pumber of attendants and officers rhat had
business wilh lim it was foumd to be insufficiert in size, #o that
a log structure was added to the kitchen wing thus forming an
“L" arrangement in the ground plan,  The sash and the glass in
them; the doors and their frames; the fireplaces and other de-
tails remain pretty much the same as wlen Washington lived
there. But it is odd, that, at this day, one meets with the peculiar
halved-doors that were so common in the earlier days. They
are the “Dutch" dosrs of the past centuries. The main entrance
door and the curious hooded canopy over it are reminiscent of
the Germantown type and where they are now mostly found.

Your guide takes you first into the east room which Is
practically the museum. This was rhe office of the great com-
mander. His table stood by the winidow which had a2 secret ve
cess, and where the General kept his private papers. [t was in
this ropm that Washinglan planned his coming caripaizn, €on-
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ferred with s officers, and ha.j seeret sessions when octasion
rquired. Lo one corner srands a noe grandfathes's clock faith-
fubly ticking away the hours as it Jditd in toe “times that tried
men's sanls.” The same corner cupboards andd the mantels are
there: and the walls are covered with a wiscellameous assort-
ment of picture and engraving: illustrative of other lnstoric davs
and places. Heirlooms of local families, and the trezsure-trave
of retics and bric-z-brac garnish the shelves wherever Jodgment
can be found for them—swords, battle axes. cannon-balis,
rowder hams, tomahawks, pewter, china, Sheffeld plate and
household stulf, and furmiture of our forefathers from old
Englan:, Wales, Sweden and Hoiland. These all help us= to the
realization of the character of the people of the early senlements
herealiout. In another room is a collecton  of engravings,
studies of Washinglon by a variety of artists among whom are
found those of Trumbell, Steart, and other notables whe
sketched him at the different periods of his career. There were
14 of them covering almost all the walis of the room z2nd repre-
senting the great chieflain from the year 1772 to 1798 Thers
are copies by the Peales, Werlhmusller, Erehan, Gulagher and
ome by Lieut. Parker of the Guards—which pictures Washing-
ton as an invalid with bandaged throat, and is said to bear a
close resemblance to the original. In every room of the house
there is something interesting to be found, and to enumerate
would occupy too much Hme and space, buot all more or less as-
sociated with the story of the ceoupancy of the old headquarters
by Washington. The collection of portraits and engravings, I
undeestand, was the pift of Julius I, Sache, the well-lmown
writer and antiquary.

Faszing into the log-cabin one i= told of the mysterions
tunnel, eave or dunpeon, or whatever it may be—that les be-
neath it. Lighes are brought and the guide pilats the way down
a dark, damp stairway into a dismal subterranean chamber snme
thirry odd feet below the surface, and tell us of the Jocal tradi-
tion which asserts that from it 2 secrct passage lead to Lhe
Schuylkill river and offered a means of escape in an emergency.
To me the vault appeared to have been used as a milk room
such as many of the farmers have an their premises to conl the

&0




ralk. Ly thiz gne however, there was an arcned dostway toa
passage lnt 12 =aid to have lead to a spring in the meadow on the
riverside. but when the railroad cut its right-pi-way through
the property the passage was destroved and the entrance to it
walled up.
] O the lawn in front, opposite the main entrance—are two
nnon each inscribed with the royal signet of George LI Ap-
Erentt:r these were the trophie: of war taken by our George I
Upon the adjaining property recently acguired and made parl
of the reservation—siands the old barn which origimally be-
longed o the Potts premises, This ix also of stone and seemn-
ingly as durable as the dwelling; this Luilding was used by
Washingion as a haspital during the cantonment. Near by is
the home of Mrs. Hattie Mewz, a grandidanghter of James Jones
whe became possessed of a portion of the headguarters property
by a transfer from Isaac Potis since those histaric days. She
generously gave me particulars relating to the changes in title
from tne to time and some of its traditions. She showed me
deeds from Thomas and Riclhard Penn wheo inherited the great
tracts of Jand in this region from their mother, and sister—Le-
Litia Aubrey. T was also shown some fine specimens of Dubtim
ware and Royal Worcester that were braught to this couttry by
her Welsh forcfathers.

\When James Jones took possession of his portion of the
camp grounds and began ta clear it he gather up, it is said—
several tons of cannon halls which Te carted ofl 1o some con-
venient furrace in the locality.

Having concluded my visit to the gld camp-grounds T re-
‘terned home by way of the old Gulph Road which bisects the re-

ervation, and ascending Carter's Hill—as the incline is locally
alled—come upon the earth-werks in the weodland on the
ummit of the ridge.  The lines extend entirely around the gast:
rn siope of the hill to the Valley creek approach, and they are
ily foltowed though much overgrown with scrub timber and
vegelation. The summit of Mt Joy has an altitade of about
420 feet above sea level, and the view from it of the surraund-
ing country is very entrancing and picturesgque,  Much of the
Carter estate is in a wild condition. Bushes and briers ahouned




5. Gordon Smyth,

st vertmg overat fsovery difficalt Tl tedoubr s are stiil visible
aie] may early be found. lu a portion of the lowlands, now
abandoned fields—twre are zad 1o e many graves of the
soldiers who perished from exposure or died from their wounds,
ar could not recover from the desperate results of the preceding
campaign. Of these only a few movnds have hen found, as
many were hastily buried and no trace is now left of the place of
thoir interment, Fort Huntingdon lies tiear the Fort Kennedy
road, is slopes and breast-works are well preserved, but it tag,
t5 well hidden by forest growth, The Star Redoubt is easily
seen froun the roadside and seems to have suffered less from the
processes of nature than we other milisary forms of defense,
Here and there on the somh slopes may be scen an oceasional
it where once the seldiers” huts had stood.

From the heights above one Teoks down upon a spot where
the American standar] proudly float: over the quaint old house
nestling in the sequestered vale, 1 hnger awhile to commine
with a spirit which tells of a destiny for it which a2 nation will
guard, defend and hotot such as no other shrine in America will
receive. A oy when its precious memories will be revived ansd
commemorated throughout the land—ifor here many a veteran
snflcred and famished and then turned out on his last review
and sounie to le there ior all time—a buman sacrifice to reedom,
and for liberty for the oppressed of every land. This is the
lepacy he Loueaths to posterity—that these beartiful grounds
may e hehki in remembrance of them and become an object of
lpve in every patrintic hearr, that those who are living today may
defend and enjoy the Messings for which they fought and Lled
anil divrll—these consectated heroes: of Valley Forge.

“The Valley Forge Reservation,” Historical Sketches:

A Collection of Papers Prepared For the Historical Society of Montgomery

Caunty, Pennsyivania, ¥V (1925), 378-81.
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CHAPTER THREE

ESTABLISHMENT OF VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK: 1833
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During the 1880s and early 1890s various efforts were undertaken to have
the Valley Forge encampment area established as a public park. 5.
Gordon Smyth, In a paper presented to the Historical Society of
Montgomery County in 1925, stated:

From time to time, a&as public sentiment wurged the matter,
appeals to the people of the 5State and to the country at
large--were made toward cobtaining legislative, or such
Congressignal action as would make Vvalley Forge & public
charge and place it abaove a mere hand-to-mouth existence.
Public opinion clearly demonstrated the necessity beyond the
question of doubt that it not only should be, but that it
was--the duty of the 5State to take under its protection these
honored grounds, and not the little cld house only--but the
entire site of the encampment--some hundreds of acres, which
would include the earthworks, entrenchments, forts and other
points of historic interest in the locality. . . .{1)

After a number of unsuccessful attempts to have the encampment area
protected and preserved as a public park, Francis Mark Brooke, an
aggressive state legislator and House committee chairman  from
Fhiladelphia, began a sugcessful campsaign to have Valley Forge
established as a state park. Aided by "the public press of the city and
State, and by the arguments of influential citizens," Brooke succeeded in
getting a bill through the legistature and signed by Governor Robert E.
Pattison on May 30, 1893, creating Valley Forge State Park, the first
such entity in Pennsylvania.(2 )

The law, entitled "An Act Providing for the acquisition by the State of
certain ground at Valtey Forge for a public park, and making an appro-
priation therefor," had several key provisions. Section 1 stated:

That for the purpose of perpetuating and preserving the site
on which the Continental Army under which General George
washington was encemped in winter quarters at Valley Farge
during the winter, one thousand seven hundred and seveniy-
seven and one thousand seven hundred and seventy-eight, the
title to and ownership n the ground covering said site,
including Forts Wwashington and Huntingd[t]en, and the
entrenchments adjacent therete, and the adjoining grounds, In

1. Smyth, "The Valley Forge Reservation," 371.

2. lbid., 371-72, and Beatrice Ward HNelson, Slate Recreation: Parks,
Forests and Game Preserves {Washington, 1928}, p. 224, In March
Brooke had a map of a portion of Llhe WValley Forge encampment area
prepared as part of his effort to secure passage of the legislation. A
copy of this map may be seen on the following page. For more data on
the establishment and development of the park during its early years one
should refer to the excellent Newspaper Clippings File, WValley Forge
Fark, at the Chester County Historical 5Society, West Chester,
Pennsylwvania.
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alt not exceeding two hundred and fifty acres, but not
including therein the property known o as washingten's
headquarters and now owned by the Centennial and Memorial
Association of Valley Forge, the location and boundaries thereof
to be fixed by the Commissioners hereafter mentioned, shall be
vested in the State of Pennsylvania, to be laid out, preserved
and maintained, farever, as a public place or park by the name
of Valley Forge, so that the same and the fortifications thereon
may be maintained as nearly as possible in their ariginal
condition as a military camp, and may be preserved for the
gnjoyment of the people of said State.

Section 2 provided for the appointment of a ten-person commission to be
appointed by the governor to administer the park. The commissioners
were 1o serve five-year terms without compensation. The commissioners
were to organize annually in June, electing a president and a secretary
each vear.

The remaining sections contained provisions for the acquisition of park
lands by purchase or condemnation and an apprepriation of $25,000 for
such acquisition "and making the said forts and entrenchments accessible
to the public.” After securing possession of 1the grounds, the
commissioners were to Madopt plans for the improvement, preservation and
maintenance”® of the property. While the commissioners were given the
power to execute these plans and had supervisory autherity over all
funds spent in improving and operating the park, no contracts for
improvements could be made "unless an appropriation therefor shall hawve
been first made by the Legislature."” Once the grounds were secured by
the state, they could be used at any time "as a camping ground for the
National Guard of Pennsylvania." When directed by the gowvernor, acting
as commander-in-chief, the commissioners were '"to make all necessary
arrangements for such camps, te prowvide for sufficient water supply and
drainage, and during such camps ta relinquish to the commanding officer,
for the time being, all police control over and through the said park and
grounds."(3}

Governor Pattison appointed the members of the Valley Forge commission
on June 8. The list Included:

Joel J. Bailey, Philadelphia
John Cadwallader, Philadelphia
Charles C. Harrison, Philadelphia

3. “An Act Providing for the acquisition by the State of certain ground
at Valley Forge for a public park, and making an appropriation therefor,"
ih By-Laws of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1906, pp. 6-8. The
complete text of this act may be seen in Appendix A. Pernhsylvania had
na general enabling act for the purchase of state park land. Thus, this
biil served as the prototype far the creation of subsequenl state parks,
each established by a separate act of the statle legislature. Nelson, Siate
Recreation, p. 224,
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Samuel Hartranft, Fort Washington
Frederick 0. Stone, Philadelphia
Daniel W. Howard, West Chaestar
Henry A. Muhlenburg, Reading

1. Heston Todd, Port Kennedy
William Wayne, Paoli

Francis #. Brooke, Philadelphia

The commissioners met for organizational purposes at the commission office
in the headquarters of {the Historical Society of Pennsylvania In
Phitadelphia on June 17, electing Brooke as president and Stone as
secretary. Thereafter, they made the following appointments:

william €. Hannis, general counsel
Henry Freedley and Edward F. Kane, associate counsels for
Montgomery County

william M. Hayes, associate counsel for Chester County
L. M. Houpt, engineer{4)

4, "Report of the Valley Forge Commission, 1824," in Reprint of Reports
of Valley Forge Park Commission for the Years 1894, 1896, 1300
THarrisburg, 1907), p. 5. Brooke and Stone were reelected to their
respective positions in June 1824, Also see 5. K. 5Stevens, "Fennsylvania
History--Past, Present and Future,” Pennsylvania History, XVII (April,
19503, 95-96. Until 19171 the commission secretary serwved in the dual
capacity as park superintendent. See the following page for a list of the
Valley Forge State Park superintendents.
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LIST OF VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK SUPERINTEMNDENTS

1893-95
1895-98
1899-1903
1903-11
1911-21
1921-24
1825-35
1935-38
1938-40
1940-41
1941-53
1953-55
1955-57
1957-58
1958-66
1966-63
1969-71
1971-76

Frederick D. Stone
Holstein DeHaven
Charles C. Adams

A. H. Bowen

Col. 5. 5. Hartrantt
John 5. Kennedy
Jerome J. Sheas
Gilbert 5. Jones
Joseph E. 5Stott

E. F. Brouse

L. Ralph Phillips
Faul E. Felton
George F. Kenworthy
Wilford P. Moil

E. C. Pyle

Wilford P. Moll
Charles C. Frost, Jr,
Horace Willcox
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APPENDIX A

AN ALY

Froviding for the ecouisltlen by the Stota of certain ground At \Flnlley Torgs
for 8 puille pArvk, el malking e npprnperlitien theseber.

Hoctlon 1. Do it cuacted, &, What for e puvpoese of pevpetwating
and preserving the site on which the Cantinenlal Army uuder which
General Georse Washington was encunped jn winler guariers nl
Yatley Moege dubing fhe winder, une {howsionl sever hundeed sod
geventy-seven and ane Houzaml seven Lk el sevenly cight,
{he bitie to uud vwnelnhip in the gronad covering aaid site, including
Forts Washingtouw and Huatingdon, and Hw eutrenclhents adjoeent
thereto, pnd the adjeining gsronwds, in all pet exceeding two I
deed and Grty weres, bnk not inclwding thervin the properly knuw
as Washinglon's beclquarlors dinl sow viviend Uy e leubennial
and Memorianl sSvssuvindion of Vabley Forge, e loealion and bonnd.
aries therenf to lie fisvd by the Commissioners Tereafive meniional,
ahiall be voesbod in fhe flale of Peansylvaniz, Lo be Laid out, preserved
and maintained, forever, as a pablic place o povk by the uame of
Yelley Forge, so that the same awd the fortifications thereon nay D
wninttaine oy wearly an possilide fa their oviginal condition o &
militury cauip, und may be presecved Toe the erjjoyient ol the peo-
il of said Riate,

Boetion 2, That ten eitizens of the Statle De appoinled by the Gov-
vitns Tor e feran of Qve pears, wha ace heeely canstiluied conmis-
sloners of snid park.  As oflen as o vacancy aceyrs, either by expiva-
G o fvrw o alheewise, e Covornoe magy §ill sail vaeaney, vither
tor another temn of My yones gr foc the expived toom e the onag
iy dne Tl sad conmndssionera sladb oegasise, anally, on the
firat Menday of Juug, by the clection of a president and seevctary to
Berve foor ane year, but (hey shall reevive ne compensation for thepr
acrvice s commissionera

Mo fome b Ml Ele owonered of Lhe sl geemmt by fhe lest geclion
of this el ayproprinted for paklic purposes, skiall be poid for the
g by the State of Pesusylvand secording to fhe valoe wliich ahatl
be saceriaied by i Jouey of diginterested frecholders to be appointed
Uy e court of guarber sessions af the counly in which said grownls
Vie, ugion il qebicion of Fhe said connaissionerss amd G the said peti-
tionrra sleldl delay petitioning, ns aforesaid, for the peried of sixiy
ays alter pnuliee I8 given of their fiklag pessession of raid geound,
then aaid jury sball be appoinied upon the petilion ef ooy persqu
wihoe peogaer]y shall beoso Bden: Previded bowever, That i nny
ense thi Al contiiss! puers may pegotlinle nod ngreee with the owners
of wuy peuct of snld gronmds as [o fhe price Deeeof, and said price
ghall be veported to court of quurter wedalons, nad 1P approved wnd
caai et by madiol cenrgy slaclE Do dodingg oo sndd Sdale and provided
fucther, That wheaever it shall be necessuy 60 huve reconese to a
Jury 1o assess e Gngres for gy property to be taken, as aforesaid,
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fhe said jorey shall eovaist of sueh number, and shall proceed, and
Ll award slud] e reviewed ik enforeed in S ECREIRTT L ITH TR T4 it}
now provitded Uy Hov e the takioge of Wand for the opening of ronds
i said chuuby, aud the s of twenty-five tlousanid dollars, ue g0
el HlieresB s nay e nevessioey, s herely apecilleally approprinted
for e parrlose of comdempadiont money of suitd lands and maling
the said furls il endrenchienls aecessibie to L public by such
mequs 88 iy be deemed necesaary, and for the necessaty oxpenses
ineideat theveto.

e Lot oE Thatt The conmmissioers ul e sadd gak, afler Uiey Alhiadl
have seeuted possession of the =aid grrounds, slistl sidogit plims for
the hwprevement, preservilion wnd mainluminee thevvof, aud ahall
have power to earry the same into pxveation, and ull woneys eX-
peniled] shall be ander thefr aupervision; but no contraets shall be
made for sail improvement unless an appraprialion iheretor whall
have been fivst made by the Loegislatuve,

section o, After e said [nennises shull Lave, an aforesaid, passed
inin e possession of {he Cannetwvestd Uiy fhey amay ol ooy Ll oI’
times hercafter be vsed a8 a camping graund for the Natigual Guard
of Penusylvanin. Whenuser The Governor, acling s Ul ude-in-
Chief, shall divect pi i comanissioners to open the miouds and ok
for L aerpinpoda e of Hie said ped, ol any porlion theeeal, it
ghall be tlhe duiy of thae vannnissinnees o b lee 1] T CESEE PR
menis for sneh cianpd, o provide for snleient waler supply and
dvatimige, nd duving sucit canps to relinguish to (e contmeneding
ultivey, for [l tine Guing, all police contrel over und theoweh Hhis
said park and grounds.

The said ﬂlllpl*t][u‘lﬂﬁmi to be paid on the warcant of the Auditor
General on a settlement made Ly Tive und the State Teeasuver, but
e wirrnnt ahadt e e o wetilement prade witlil Hae connpis-
sionera of guid pork sluell Lsvve vasde, under onth to the Audltor Gey-
ornl, n report contuining B apecifieally itemized stotvwent of the
cost of said gronnd and improvenents, and the same i approved by
him and the Btate Trepsuror, nov antil the Tressurer ehall hnve
sullicicut woney i the Treadury uot dtherwise appropeisted, to
puy the amount due anid cominissionera under this act; sl unex-
pended Dalances of soe approptisted Tor gpecific purposcs qlenil
not be ueed for otlier JUTLHOERS, whether ppeclfic or grueral, and whit il
vevert to Lie Htate Trensury uf the tloge of the llacnl yoora.

Approved—The sOth Aoy of Ay, A. T 1804,

LORBT. E. PATTISON.

By-Laws of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1906, pp. 68,
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CHAPTER FOUR

VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK ADMINISTERED AS AN
COMMONWEALTH AGENCY: 1893-1823
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A, INTRODUCTION

Fram its creation by the Pennsylvania state legislature by the Act of May
30, 1893, to November 3, 1923, Valley Forge State Park was administered
by an independent commonweaith agency known officially as the
Commissioners of Valley Forge Park. During this 30-year pericd the
presiding officer of the commissioners was the “president," and the
commission received its appropriated funds directly from the General
Assembly. These funds were deposited in a banking institution of the
commission's selection and payments were dishursed through its own
voucher system, subject to audit by the Auditor General.{1)

B. EARLY WORK OQOF THE VALLEY FORGE PARK COMMISSION:
1893-1900

The first order of business for the commission was the determination of
the boundaries of the park. Thus, L.M. Houpt, the commission's
engineer, made "a careful topographical survey (& copy of which may be
seen on the following page)} of all of the ground between the Schuylkill
river, the Valley Creek, amd a line extending from the former to the
latter along the Washington Lane, showing ten feet contours, with
property lines, owners, names, &c." to provide '"full krowledge of the
location and surrcundings of the entrenchments and redoubts." Using
this map, together with repeated wvisits to Valley Forge, the commission
established the boundaries (amounting to 217.582 acres) for the park, a
description of the courses and distances of which may be seen in
Appendix A,

Once the boundaries of the park were determined, the Valley Forge
commissioners began the task of land acquisition. According to the
"Report of Valley Forge Commission, 1894" the land acquisition process
was lengthy and complicated, primarily because the l|ocal landewners
attempted to sell their property at prices in excess of the estimated
walues. The commissioners noted:

Having served formal notice upon the sewveral owners of the
lands taken, the Commission "endeavored to negotiate and agree
with the owners as to the price thereof," zs provided by the
Act, but failed to do s0 because the prices asked were in
excess of the wvalues that were fixed by those who, in the
opinion of the Commissioners, were competent to estimate their
values. Except in the case of the tract owned by Edwin Moore,
which was purchased at eighty dollars per acre, and the
purchase having been approved by the court, title was taken
for the State.

Thereafter, the commission 'proceeded to ascertain the walues of the
agther tands, by jurcrs duly appointed for the purpose, in accordance

1. Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commission, Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, 1921-1927, p. 4.
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with 1he further provision of the Act.” The report of the Chester
County jury on lands was submitted on March 27, 1894, and that for
Montgomery County on October 12, 1894, The teotals for the land taken
were:

Area Awards Per Acre
Chester County 5.913 acres $ 1,000 $ 168.12
Montgomery County 211.669 acres 328,578 $ 135.01
Total 217.582 acres 128,578 $ 135.94

Although the awards were "in excess of the wvalues fixed by the withesses
for the State," the cammissioners hastened te point out that they
averaged ‘'much less than half those asked by the land owners and
testified to by their witnesses before the jurors." By December 1894 all
fand acquisition transactions for the 277.582 acres were completed except
for three cases in which the landowners had appealed their jury
awards. {2}

In their annual report in December 1894 the Valley Forge commissioners
propesed the extension of the park bhoundaries and the "making of such
roads and paths as would make the entrenchments and redoubts
accessible." They recommended that an  additional 250 acres "lying
between the Valley Creek, the Washington Lane and the Reading Railrpad,
except the property known as Washington's Headgquarters" be taken by
the state at an estimated cost of $50,000. The commissioners also urged
the construction of "a broad awvenue or drive way aloang the whole outer
line, which extended from near the Valley Creek, a few hundred wards
south of the Washington redoubt, in a southeasterly direction to the
Schuylkill river near Port Kennedy." Along this {ine "nine of the
fourteem brigades" at Valley Forge had been encamped. Such an avenue
would "effectually mark the outer line and alsg afford an cpportunity for
the Colonial States to permanently mark the camps of their several
troops."  The estimated cost of this road, together with the cost of
maintaining it and the roads already within the boundaries of the park,
was =set at 310,000, The commissioners concluded:

2. "Repart of the Valley Forge Commission, 1834," in Reprint of Reports
of Valley Forge Park Commission For the Years 1894, 1896, 1900, pp. 6,
10. The land acquisition program was further complicated by tree-cutting
and mining operations carried out by some landowners on their properties
while the county land juries were conwvening. Repprt of the President of
the Valley Forge Park Commission, February 1, 1894, Record Group 2,
Valley Forge State Park Records, VAFD Archives. Other details of the
land acquisitipn program may be found in the Reports of the President of
the VYalley Forge Park Commission, April 5, June 4, Movember T, and
December &, 1334, ibid.
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That with the boundaries enlarged as above suggested, there
will be neither difficulty or delay in securing the interest and
effective attention of the States and of the Nation through their
several constituted authorities, to this historic spet. That the
Colonial States will permanently mark with appropriate memorials
the camps of their several brigades, and the Nation will erect
on the summit of Mount Joy which is within the tnner or second
line of entrenchments, a high, rugged, battlemented tower,
surmounted with a colossal bronze figure of a private soidier of
the Revolutionary Army. Such a tower will affoerd an
opportunity to see the whole camp greund and its surroundings
and at the same time, be a land mark, visible in every direction
for many miles.{3)

In October 1894 the Valley Forge commissioners, aided by the Historical
Saociety of Pennsylvania, began a national effort te acquire historical
materials relating to Valley Forge. The materials they were especially
interested in obtaining included "unpublished criginal documents" or
copies" of "orderly-books, diaries, letters, and maps, for preserwvation
and for the further elucidation" of the history of the encampment.{4)

To protect the interests of the state Ellis R. Hampton, a steward of the
Centennial and Memorial Association, was appointed as park watchman in
November 1894, His duties included guarding state property, preventing
local landowners from cutting trees on lands within the authorized state
baundaries, watching for and putting out grass fires on and near park
lands, and clearing "underbrush from along the front of the
entrenchments so as to make them convanientl|y accessible."(5)

Little in the way of development occurred at valley Forge during 1895 and
1896, primarily because the Valley Forge Park Commission was hindered
by inadequate funding. On July 3, 1895, the state |egislaiure passed a
bill appropriating $10,000 to pay for the purchase of the lands already
taken by the state and authorizing the commissioners to accept for the
state "gifts of money ar fand and to permit the United States of America

3. “Repart of the Valley Forge Commission 1884," in Reprint of Reports
of Valley Forge Park Commission For the Years 1894, 1896, 1900, pp. 6-7.
Also see "Nates and Gueries," Pennsylvania Magazine of History and
Biography, XIX (April, 1885), 135-36.

4. nNotes and Queries," Pepnsylvania Magazine of History and
Biagraphy, XVIII (October, 1894), 384.

5. Reports of the President of the Valley forge Park Commission,
February 1, November 1, and December &, 1894, RG 2, VAFO Archives.
A copy of the “articles of agreement" for Hampton's employment, dated
May 21, 1900, were found in Correspondence, Record Group 46, Records
of the Valley Forge Park Commission, Division of Archives and
Manuscripts, Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission (PHMC),
Harrisburg, and may be seen in Appendix B.

B0




or any of the States thereof lo erect monuments or other memorials on the
grounds acquired for said Park."(6) Despite this appropriation, the
excess in the cost of the awards for land over the arigimnal appropriation
of $25,000, the increase of the werdicts over the awards in ilhe propertly
cases that were appealed, and the expenses of the court litigation nearly
exhausted the appropristion. Available funds for Valley Forge 5State Park
ware so sparse that Ellis R. Hampton, the park watchman, was sometimes
forced to carry out his duties without pay.

Mo  additional appropriation was forthcoming in 1898, except for some
minimal funding tc cover incurred cobligations. Thus, the commissioners
observed in December 1896 that "no substantial progress has been made
during the last two years." They noted some of the most urgent
problems resuiting from the lack of state financial support:

. « This cessation of the work undertaken by the 5State and
approved by the people of the whole country as an indication
that Pennsylvania recognizes the obligation imposed upon her by
the possession of such historic grounds as those of Valley
Forge and Gettysburg, is much to be regretted. The
gorganization throughout the United States everywhere of
Colonial and Rewolutionary Societies is an evidence that the
people are taking a deep interest in the scenes of those
eventful pericds. . . . It is of the greatest importance that
the whole of the ground included within the encampment should
be acquired by the 5tate so that some general plan may be
devised, just alike to ail, the truth of history te maintained,
and the marking of the localities be not left 1o the chance of
disconnected efforts.

The affect of renewed general interest in this historic camp,
followed by efforts upon the part of states and perhaps
individuals to secure possession of portions of the grounds,
must be to enhance the walue of them, and this furnishes
another reason why Pennsylvania would be wise to act now and
not await the uncertainties of the future.

Valley Forge is one of the very few camps where some of the
entrenchments thrown up by the soldiers of the Rewvolution have
been preserved substantially as they were originally. £ach
vear, however, brings a largely increased number of interested
visitors, and it has become the custom not anly of patriotic but
social and other organizations to make pilgrimages to Valley
Forge. The Commission is unable to make roads for want of
means, and therefore these people wear paths and walks over
the entrenchments themselves. With the best of motives they
work an irreparable injury.

. A copy of this bill may be seen in Appendix C.
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It is hoped that in memory of the deeds of Wayne and Miftlin
and Muhlenberg, and the many brave men who followed them,
and for the credit of our State, which is charged with a duty
hecause of her great achievements in the past, requires that
this Commission be supplied with the necessary funds,

The commissioners repeated their earlier recommendations to expand the
state park boundaries and construct roads and paths to make the historic
remains of the encampment more accessible to the public. They alse
added a proposal urging state acquisition of "such Redoubts, Picket
Pasts, Burial Places, &c., within the lines of historic interest as may be
desirable to preserve."{7)

Although little money was available for development of the park, the
historic sites in the encampment area were attracting increasing attention
from the public during the late 1880s. The condition and significance of
the historic fortifications and eartbworks associated with the Valley Forge
encampment were described by Ellwood Roberts, & local historian, in a
paper presented 1o the Historical Society of Montgomery County on
September 16, 1896. He observed:

Nothing strikes the visitor to Valley Forge mere farcibly than
the axcellent preservation of the forts and earthworks. Fort
washington and Fort Huntingten and the breastwaorks in their
vicinity are in as good condition as aone would expect to find
them after the lapse of twenty-five or thirty years. MHearly a
century and a quarter has intervened since their construction,
and their outlines are still distinctly marked, so that it needs
no great stretch of the imagination to see the wark in progress.
what vast labor it must have been to those who undertook it ifi
the most inclement season of the year, and a notably hard
winter at that! Lower down the slope the fortifications which
once existed have been leveled by the plough, but enough
remain o demonstrate the unconquerable spirit that animated
the officers and soldiers of the American army, which
guaranteed from the beginning the ultimate success of the cause
in whose behalf they wrought.

7. "Report of the Valley Forge Commission, 1896," in Reprint of Reports
of Valley Forge Park Commission For the Years 1894, 1836, 1900, pp.
16-18. For more data on Hamption's activities in the park during 1895-96
see Hampton to Brooke, MNovember 19, 25, December Z, 1895, January 1,
6, March 9, April 6, December 21, 1896, Francis Brooke Collection,
Record Group 12, VAFQO Archives. Data relative to Brooke's activities
during late 1894 and early 1895 may be found in Reports of the President
of the Valley Forge Park Commission, December 13, 1834, February 20,
March 22, May 27, 18385, RG 2, VAFO archives.
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Roberts went on to describe what the visitor to Valley Forge could

. anticipate:

Logking ower the old campground at Valley Forge in the golden
sunshine of a lovely summer day, it is extremely difficult to
realize the condition of the American army during the
encampment, 5tanding on the highest part of the eminence on
the siope of which Fort Huntington stands, there is an excellent
view, not only of the old campground, but of the country for
mijes around. All is bright with the wvaried hues of the season.
Ciose at hand prominent objects of Interest are the fart itself,
the earthworks nearly as clear cut and distinct as ever at this
distance; the old Stephens residence, still owned by the family,
where General Varnum had his headguarters; the drill ground
where Steuben instructed the saldiers; the hillside grave of
Waterman; the woods where Wayne's troops were encamped and
in which hut holes and the remains of the oven in use for
baking bread for the soldiers when any flour could be had, may
yet be distinctly seen. 0On the next slope are the remains of
Fort Washingion, less distinct than those of its twin
fortification, Huntingten, but still clearly to be traced. A long
line of earthworks through the woods back of them is still
found in good condition. Below are orchards and waving
cornfields, beneath whose soil lie the remains of the army of
unknown dead who succumbed to famine, or wounds, or
disease, while thair more fortunate brethren sourvived 1o
continue the contest and, perhaps, to share in the exultation of
. the whole land at the triumphs won at Yorktown and elsewhere.

The tract of weoodland on the Tedd farm on the river side of
the road from Port Kennedy at Valley Forge, though not of
very great extent, is worthy of a careful examination. It is in
the woods that the hut holes are to be found in their greatest
perfection, because here the disturbing influence of the plough
has not been felt.

The wiew from this* point, although not to be compared,
perhaps, with that frem the summit of Mount Joy, and fram
other heights in the wicinity, is magnificent. It takes in all or
nearly all the ground covered by the fortifications and the
encampment, and much more. The but holes are distincthy
marked and can be readily counted. They are probably
twenty-five in numbher, and are wery much like those in the
ground occupied by Wayne's troops of the Pepnsylwvania line (8}

8. Ellwood Roberts, "Valley Forge Campground," Historical Sketches: A
Callection of Papers Prepared for the Historical Society of Momtgomery
. County, Pennsylvania, |l (1900), 343, 343-49.
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Commission President Brooke continued to prod the state legislature to
pass appropriation measures for the development and expansion of Valley
Forge State Park. As part of his effort he had a map printed in
December 1836, showing the park heoldings superimposed on an area layout
of the encampment {(a copy of this map may be seen on the following

page).

In February 1897 Brooke addressed a pamphlet to "the Senators and
Representatives of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania in  General
Assembly" in support of a bill authorizing a $60,000 appropriation for
Valley Forge that had been drafted by the commission. The text of the
draft biil read:

A further supplement to an act, entitled 'An Act' providing for
the acquisition by the State of certain ground at Valley Forge
for a public park, and making an appropriation therefor,
approved the Thirtieth day of May, 1892, making additional
appropriations, and providing for the acquisition of additional
ground." "“SECTION |. Be it enacted, etc., that the sum of
$60,000 is hereby appropriated to preserve and maintain the
redoubts and entrenchments on the lands taken by the State for
the public park, known as 'VALLEY FORGE,' under the act to
which this is a furtber supplement and to build roads and paths
so as o make the same accessible to the public, and ta maintain
the same, and also to maintain such other rgads as may not
exist within or aleng the said ground; and alsa to be applied 10
the purchase or condemnation money of such other lands as the
Commissioners may deem expedient to enlarge the boundaries of
the said Park called by the name of 'VALLEY FORGE' not
exceeding in all three hundred acres in addition to lands
already taken, and for the necessary expenses incident thereto,
which said additional lands the said Commissioners are Rereby
authorized and empowered to acquire in accordance with the
provisions of the Act 1o which this is a further
supplement.

Brooke used the case of Rhode Island as an example of what could be
done with Valley Forge if the state legislature would approve the draft
bill. In 1895 Rhode Island had

passed an Act appropriating $2,000, and appointed a Commission
to erect a memorial at the grave of Lieutenant John
waterman--the only identified grave within the lines of the
Camp, but being wunabie to acquire the necessary site on
satisfactory terms and appreciating the greater importance of
erecting a comprehensive memorial, which could be done an the
site of the Star Redoubt, their Commission made a report
accordingly, asking 1hat the $2,000 with $8,000 additicnal be
appropriated for this purpose.

The site of the Star Redoubt is on the summit between the

valley that extends between the lines of defences and the
Schuytkill river, It commanded the Spenhcer Sullivan bridge

34




. Map of the Revolutionary Camp Ground at Valley Forge

occupied by WasHINGTON and his Army from December igth, 1777 unti! June 1pth, 1778;
taken from *' Sparks’ Washington,” da! o far allered as toshow (in color) that portion acquired
by the Stete of Pennsytvania and the defenses as they now exist on said portion ; and also
the states from which the several brigades came, 5 shown on the ** Armstrong "' Map now
owned by Cornell University.

NOTES :—5Some of the roads shown on the plan baor duer abandomed, and all the olkers
are more of Lesy champed. The county line should show on the state ground between the
entrenchment and Woodford's Brigade,

|Meinied fur FRANCIS M, BROOKE, Pliladaiiss, Duccmice sgab, 18pe ]

oWilynesasgee

\ wopdtords A

ENCAMFNENT
AT

ALY TR

T

L

» d a»
ngtapsn:ﬁ‘_cww-r ,
» LA
'&um‘.m .-

-
-
-

.

85




across the Schuylkill and doubtless was defended by the Rhode
Island brigade, commanded by General Varnum. This brigade
was encamped, immediately adjoining it on the east. Varnum's
Headguarters still standing were very near-by, across the
road, not far away 5 the supposed burial place of the dead of
the surrounding brigade camps and in full view is the John
Waterman grave,

Governor Lippitt earnestly endorsed this recammendation in his
message of the 26th ult., and on the 5Sth inst., it finally passed
the Rhode Island Legislature, and is now & law. our
Commission believes it is the duty of Pennsylvania to afford
their sister states the opportunity of erecting their several
memorials without being at the expense of acquiring the
appropriate sites, and it is hoped that the slLpplement will be
promptly awvailabie for Rhode |siand's needs, that the other
states would promptly follew Rhode Island's {unsolicited)
example, there can be no reasonable doubt, and that the Nation
will also do its duty is eqgually certain.

The commission president concluded his pamphlet with a comparison of
public fumds used to preserve and commemarate Ciwvil War battlefields
compared to Revolutionary War sites. He naoted:

Too Hittle has been dome by our Country whether by the
Nation, the States or the People in affording to posterity the
benefit of enduring memorials of the days of the Revolution .
The Mational Government has properly spent many millions of
doltars on the battle fields of the Rebellion and this work is not
yet done. Qur own State Legislature has appropriated owver a
half miilion of dollars to Gettysburg alone, besides what it has
spent elsewhere for like purposes. vet the battles of the
Rebellion bravely fought to a successful issue, were only foupht
to preserve the Union, established through the unexampled
suffering of the soldiers at Valley Forge.{9)

At the same time as Brooke was writing the aforementioned tract, the
Valley Farge commissioners had Samuel M. Garrigues, a civil engineer
from Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania, prepare a map in support of the draft bill
pending before the state legislature. The map, which was published in
April 1897, displayed an area layout of the encampment as well as the
property boundaries and owners of the fand at the time of the
encampment and the present time. The map was based on original land

8. To the Senators and Representatives of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania in General Assembly met. . . Francis M. Erooke, President,

Valley Forge Commission, February 22, 18397, Brooke Coilection, RG 12,
VAFO Archives.
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surveys and the |and records of Montgomery and Chester counties. A
copy of this map may be seen on the following page.{10)

The proposed bill failed to pass the state legislature in 1897, and no
further appropriations were forthcoming during the next three years.
The lack of adequate funding, and the consequent neglect of the park,
continued to frustrate the commissioners. The death of BrooKe in
November 1898 further clouded the future development of the park since
he had been the president of the commission since June 1893 and its most
influential member in state political circles. The plight of the Valley
Ferge commission, in the wake of Brooke's death, was graphically
described by Holstein DeHaven on March 6, 1399;

I feel it my duty to call your attention to the present status of
the Valley Forge Commission. In the pamphlet | send you the
names of the original Commission as reappointed by Governor
Hastings but not confirmed by the Senate will appear. Mr.
Brooke has since died and Mre. [John W.] Woodside has been
appeinted by Governor Stone i his place and he has also
appeinted a Mr. [Charles C.] Adams in the place of Wm. J.
Latta resigned, both being confirmed by the present Senate,
and he also withdrew the names of the whole Caommission from
the Senate before they confirmed the appointments as made by
Governor Hastings. Therefore, at present | consider the Valley
Forge Commission does not exist, there being only two members
and no officers to carry on the work. . . . We did not receive
any appropriation in 1897, in consequence thereof some awards
hawe not been paid and the Commission has not had any money
even to pay the necessary running expenses,--gur [ate
President, Mr. Brooke, myself, and in fact every member of the
Commission, each bearing personally certain expenses. The
watchman at Valley Forge who receives the salary of three
dollars per week, has not been paid for several vears, although
he faithfully, to the present time, inspects the grounds every
other day and prevents acts of vandalism and looks after things
generally. (11)

1. In early December 1897 Hampton "whiie walking over the hills"
discovered a line of entrenchments, the existence of which had not been
known up to that time. According to his report, the entrenchments lay
"in the tract of Mahon Ambler on the southeast side of the hill, three
hundred (300) feet east of the lang fine of entrenchments. ©One hundred
two (102) feet of the line runs south toward Fort Washington. It then
makes & turn and extends one hundred two (102 feet toward the lang
line of entrenchments. The average hegight is eight (8) feet." Hampton
to Brocke, December 6, 1897, Brooke Collection, RG 12, VAFQ Archives.

T1. DeHaven to Senataor, March &, 1899, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
Also see Report of the President of the Valley Forge Park Commission,
December 8, 1897, RG 2, VAFO Archives, and New York Times, Jung 19,

1904.
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in December 1900 the commission, headed by Woodside, reported on the
financial problems facing them as they attempted to administer the park.
They observed that upon entering “the active discharge of their duties”
on Octeber 14, 1893, they had "found an empty treasury, and unpaid
bills awaiting payment to the amount of $3,500." After careful analysis
they had concfuded that an appropriation of $73,200 was needed to pay
"debts already incurred, and to provide means for the care and
maintenance of the grounds for the next ten years." The estimate was
broken down into six categories:

First. For the payment of debts already incurred, . $ 1,700

Secand. For the completion of purchases upon the
condemnation proceedings of land already taken by
the State and the necessary expenses attendant
thereto, . . . . . . . . . . 3,500

Third, For the laying out of new roads and paths within
and aloeng said Park, s0 as to make the same accessible
to the public, and in the maintenance of such roads as
FMow &xist, . . . . . . . ) . 7 500

Fourth. Far the watching, care, preservation and main-
tenance of the redoubts, embankments and land al-
ready taken, and yet to be purchased or taken by the
State for the purpose of said Park, . . . . 1,000

Fifth. For incidentat and necessary expenses of said
Commission in their performance of their official duties, 500

5ixth. For the purchase or condemnation of lands, in
addition ta land already taken contiguous to the present
Park not to exceed 300 acres and to cost not over . E0,000 (12}

C. CALLS FOR FEDERAL (INVOLVEMENT IN VALLEY FORGE LAND
ACQUISITION AND PRESERVATION: 1896-1902

As early as 1896 there were calls by local histerical groups for federal
government participation in the acquisition of land and preservation of
historic  remains of the Vvalley Forge encampment ares. In his
aforementioned paper presented to the Historical Society of Montgomery
County in September 1396, Roberts ocbserved:

Standing on the slope of Mount Joy or rambling over the old
campground and gazing on the remains of the rude huts erected
by Washington's scldiers, the thought will arise in the mind of

12. "Report of the WValley Forge Commission, 1900," in Reprint of
Reports of Valley Forge Park Commission For the Years 1834, 1896, 1900,
pp. 21-22.
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everyone who feels a patriotic interest in the destiny of the
grandest republic the worid has ever known, that the whole
country should have the sense of ownership in this soil,
berneath which are graves of a multitude of herces who died
that the immortal Declaration of |Independence might become a
living reality. It seems selfish to restrict such a possession to
a single siate.

Pennsylvania has done well in acquiring the fand on which are
the more prominent fortifications that still exist. There ought
to be no hesitation in making the necessary appropriation to put
in proper conditien for public use and enjoyment ewvery acre
that bhas been purchased. This need not interfere with the
undertaking that belongs to the whole nation--the acquisition of
the ground covered by the brigades commanded by Wayne,
Varnum, Huntington and others, marked as it is by hut holes,
the remains of the outer line of breastworks, the graves of
Waterman and hundreds more whose last resting place is
unmarked. The soil where these rest is none the less sacred to
liberty, patrictism and national union.

Valley Forge campground is hallowed by the suffering and death
of patriots who sacrificed all fer their country. It should
become the property of the state, or preferably, perhaps, of
the general government, which owes it to future generations to
preserve intact, as fTar as may be, the relics that remain of the
occupation by Washington's army. Dwellings then in use, like
the original portion of the residence of William Stephens, should
be carefully guarded as memorials of Rewolutionary times. In
any other country such action would have been taken vyears
ago, and it opght not to be postponed any longer.

Washington's Headquarters is the property of the Centepnisl
and Memorial Association, which will take care that it remains
substantially as it now is for ages to come. The museum of
Revolutionary refics is of much walue, and should be made as
complete as possible., The Valley Forge Commission has secured
about 250 acres of land including most of the fortifications
which remain in geood condition. An appropriation to make
needed improvements on this tract should be forthcoming from
the Legislature. Without this, the money already expended
would be practically thrown away. The ground covered by the
encampment should be secured by the United States government
and set apart forever for public use as a memorial of heroic
endurance and seif-sacrificing patriotism. The  three
proprietors need not clash. E£ach would have its own sphere of
action and all would be working for a common purpose--to
preserve as an inalienable inheritance of future ages the ground
sanctified by the deeds of heroes done in the cause of their
country.(13)

13.

Roberts, "Vailey Forge Campground,™ 349-51.
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'n 1897 the Daughters of the Rewvolution, meeting in Philadelphia, adopted
a resglution urging that Valley Forge become a federal reservation. A
committee was appointed to petition Congress for passage of legislation to
that end, but with the heightening tensions that would ultimately lead to
the Spanish-Americarn War the effort was delayed temporarity.{14)

The movement to make Valley Forge a federal "military reservation" or
"mational park™ gained new impetus with the formation of the Valley Forge
National Park Association at Independence Hall in  Philadelphia on
December 19, 1900--the 123rd anniversary of the entry of the Continental
Army nto winter quarters at Valley Forge. in attendance were
representatives of sewventeen historical and patriotic  societies of
Fennsylwvania. The new organization elected John Cadwalader as
president, S. Weir Mitchell as vice president, and Edwin Fairfax HNaully
as secretary, and established its headquarters at 112 South Fourth Street
in Phitadeiphia. Among the reselutions adopted at the meeting were those
supporting federal legislation to establish Valley Forge as a "national
park” and the proposition "{o make Field Day {June 13[18]) at Valiey
Forge a national celebration. {15}

During this time pericd Senator Boies Penrocse and Representative William
McAleer of Philadelphia ntroduced bills in Congress, providing for an
appropriation of $200,000 to purchase 1,200 acres of "historic ground” at
Valley Forge to which would be added the state park land and
washington's Headguarters (still owned by the Centennial and Memorial
Association} and maintain the entire acreage as a federat military park
and government reservation under the jurisdiction of the War Depariment.
The park lands would be developed so that the "historic peoints" would be
easily accessible to the public. It was ever suggested that the federal
gowernment should consider building "a great monumental tower" on the
summit of Mount Joy, from which the plan of the encampment "could be
comprehended.” It was noted that these efforts were being carried
forward because of the growing realization by interested groups that
rnature "has been more genercus than the state in preserving the grounds
for the free enjoyment of all generations, in that she has admirably
provided against their cobliteration by putting forth a2 fine growth of
trees."{16)

On January 7, 1801, a party of forty persons fram the Philadelphia area
appeared before the Senate and House Committees on Military Affairs in

14. National Military Park at Valley Forge, Pa.: Hearing Before the
Committee on Military Affairs of the United States Senate, January 28,
1902, in relation to the bill (S. 614) to establish a national military park
at Valley Forge, Pa. (Washington, 13802), p. 11.

15, Julius Moritzen, "Valley Forge and the MNation," Harper's weekly,
XLV (June 22, 1901}, 628.

16. W. H. Richardson, "Walley Forge," New England Magazine, XXxIII
{February, 1201), 608.
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support of the Penrose and McAleer bills. From Lhis group the following
addressed the committees:

Mayor Ashbridge, John Cadwalader, president of the Valley
Forge HNational Park Association; Edwin F. Naulty, of
Philadelphia, the secretary; Mrs. George McClellan, president of
the Philadelphia Chapter of the Colonial Dames; Miss Biiss, of
Lhe Pennsylvania Society of Colpnial Dames; Mrs., Gearge W.
kendrick, of the Quaker City Chapter, Daughters of the
American Revolulion; Mrs. Nathaniel 5. Keay, of Philadelphia,
first wvice president; and Mrs. J. L. Chapman, second vige
president of the Daughters of the Revclution.

Although the Senate committee gave the delegation "a brief hearing," the
House committee was more accommaodating. Secretary Naulty explained
that the Valley Forge National Park Association was asking the federal
government to purchase nearly 1,200 acres which he estimated would not
average mare than $125 per acre. 5ince the site "was almost in the same
condition as when Washington's army camped" at Valley Forge, it “would
require very little outlay to restore its original features." The
association was anxious to have the McAleer bill amended so that the
members of the commission which would be appointed te define the park's
boundaries would serve withoyt compensation. Other persons in the
delegation urged passage of the bill berause such land acquisition would
be a good investment and establishment of the park as a federal
reservation was the best chance for its preservation and appropriate
monumentation.

Following the hearings the delegation met with Secretary of War Elihu
Root and President William McKinley. Root "promised to do all in his
power to make it a success.' McKinley indicated that he would give the
matter "careful consideration" and stated to the group:

| am in thorough sympathy with this movement. | hope that
the Congressional Committees feel as 1 do towards it and that
you made a good impressipn upon them to-day. |If the bill is
passed by Congress you will have no troule when it reaches
me. {17}

17. Norristown Heraid, January 7, 1907, quoted in "President McKinley
and Valley Farge," Washington Chapel Chronicle, VYII {March 15, 1918},
90-91. In previous correspondence with the grganization McKinley had
wrilten:

. rich as is our country in fields hallowed by the blood of
herces, none is dearer to cur hearts than Valley Forge, where
with untold sufferings during the long winter lay the |ittle &rmy
af heroes upon whom rested the success of our struggle for

liberty and independence. . . the preservaltion ©of historic

ground in our country, which has been made dear to us by

patriptic memories, will keep forever hefore us the l|essons
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Spon after the hearings the Valley Forge NMNatichal Park Association began
8 fund-raising drive. ©Cn April 8, 7801, & circular was preparad for
general distribution, indicating the purpose and needs of the
organization:

If you are interested in the preservation of the historic camping
ground of the Continental Army at Valley Forge and its
preservation by the United States Gowvernment as a national
park, the wark of this Association must appeal to you. If your
patriotic Interest is aroused and you wish to aid, you can do so
in a very acceptable way by sending us a check to help pay
the expenses incurred and to be incurred. Our only source of
income is wvoluntary contributions. Cur mass meeting and
convention of last December, the great number of circular
letters sent ocut and other administrative work hawve placed this
Assaciation under heavy expenses which we ask you to help us
maet.

Every effort was made to pass a bill through the last Congress
providing for the acquisition of this historic Pennsylvania field
by the Government. We wers nol successful, but we shafl
again present our cause to the inceming Congress and this time
we are confident of success, Meantime there is much to be
done to arouse and keep alive public sentiment.

it is our purpose to hold a great Field Day at Valley Forge on
June 18, the anniversary of ewacuatipn, and to do this even in
a modest way, we will need funds. Patrigtic Fhiladelphians
have already aided us and we are sure that you will add your
contribution to our fund, which at its minimum must reach
$2,000 to carry out gur plans,.{18}

fn april 18071 the Qutlook published an article, entitled "Valley Forge as z
National Park," describing the neglect of Valley Forge by the
Fennsylvania state legislature and the movement to establish a "national
park" on the site of the former encampment area. It noted the problems
associated with Pennsyivania's administration of Valiey Forge 5State Fark
and the need for federal involvement in the preservation of the
gncampment area:

17. {Cont. )
taught by the scene there enacted--lessons of endurance, of
loyalty, and sacrifice.

GQuated in Moritzen, "Valley Forge and the Nation,* 628.

18. Valley Forge National Park Association, April 8, 1901, Newspaper
Clippings File, Valley Forge Fark, Chester County Historical Society.
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Proposals that Congress shall establish a National Park at Valley
Forge are timely, in wview of the fallure of the 5tate of
Pennsylvania to carry ocut its plans to convert this hisloric spot
into a State Park. To-day the condition of neglect apparent on
the hills and fields of Valley fForge recalls one marked feature
of the patrict army's dark winter of 1777-78. For when
washington and his 11,000 ragged, sick, and starving fallowers
were  here, their hardships were intensified by the
unsympathetic attitude of some of the pecple of
Pennsylvanta.

And now, a century and a quarter later, when visitors from
distant parts of the Matipn come to Valley Forge, they marvel at
FPennsylvania's indifference towards these historic scenes.
Although innumerable relics of the encampment exist, all are
practically inaccessible, with the exception of wWwashington's
headquarters. Brambles, dense thickets and woods cover the
forts and breastworks, and only the hunter and the
woodchopper penetrate them. A single marked grave remains,
but it is in the middle of a cultivated farm. Celiars of the
saoldiers' huts are to be found in the recesses of the woods, but
there is no path to them. HNor is there a marker or a monument
anywhere to indicate the limes of fortifications or the site of the
camp grounds of the warious brigades,

Without a guide a visit to Valley Forge is fruitless. Moreaver,
even the effart to hire a guide fails almost invariably, for the
natives seem 1o regard with amazement the interest that impels
any one to climb these hills, and none has yet attempted to put
in operation any of the schemes uwswal in historic places to
induce the wvisitor to part with his cash.

Every succeeding Legislature [since 1895] having refused to
make further appropriations, the Park Commission became
dormant, and the land that had been acquired was neglected,
50 that many a nook about which clustered glorious associations
was last to sight, while formerly it had been preserved through
the pride of private ocwners. The State Park site, therefore, is
now a region as wild as it was when the Continental soldiers
buiit their huts there.(19}

Despite the support shown by members of the McKinley administration,
the Penrose and McAleer hbills Ffailed to pass Congress in 1901.
failure was the result of a decision by the House Committee on Military
Affairs during the spring not to report any more bills for
establishment of national parks,(20)

19.

20.

"Walley Forge as a National Park," 787-88.

Moritzen, "Valley Forge and the Nation," &28.
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In early 1902 Senator Penrose reintroduced his bill to have Valley Forge
established as a national military park. The bill (5. 614) read:

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of
the United States of America in Congress assembled, That upon
the State of Pennsylvania ceding to the United States the tand
held by it, bkeing part of the camp ground of General
Washington at Valley Forge, and jurisdiction thereover as well
as over such other land as may be acquired pursuant to the
provisions of this act, the President is hereby authorized to
appoint ten commissioners, to be known as commissioners of the
Valley Forge National Military Park, to locate definitely amd by
metes and bounds, the territory occupied by George Washingten
as a camping ground at Valley Forge, in the S5tate of
Fennsylvania; the said commissioners shall have their office in
FPhiladelphia, in the S5tate of Pennsylvania, and while on duty
shall be paid such compensation out of the appropriation
provided in this act as the Secretary of War shall deem
reasonable and just.

SEC. 2. That there is hereby appropriated the sum of two
hundred thousand dollars, out of any money in the Treasury
not otherwise appropriated, or so0 much thereof as may be
necessary, 1o be expended in acquiring for the United States,
by purchase or condemnation, the territory so located by said
commissioners, and for the improvement of said territory, and
the said territory so acquired shall be designated and known as
the Yalley Forge Nalional Military Park.

Hearings on the bill were held by the Senate Committee on Military Affairs
an Janaury 29, attended by delegations representing the VYalley Forge
National Park Association, Daughters of the Rewolution, General Society,
Maryland Local Society, Colorado Local Society, and Sons of the
Revolution. Those giving the principal testimony were Jlohn Cadwalader,
president of the Valley Forge National Park Association, Mrs. Nathaniel
Seaver Keay, first vice-president-gereral, Daughters of the Revolution,
and Mrs. Thomas Hill, regent of the Maryland Society, Daughters of the
Rewvalution, Cadwalader, president of the Valley Forge HNational Park
Association, urged that the federal government acquire approximately
1,200 acres on which the main body of the encampment had been located.
He want on to state:

. . It was more to preserve the fortifications and redoubts
that the 3tate has purchased what it did. Those being in
excellent preservation were secured first, and it was hoped that
this would be extended; bul the matter is perhaps too large in
its scope for the State, and it is felt that this is a matter of
more general interest to the country at large, and that it ought
rot to be monopolized by any State.  That s the feefing.

Now, owing to the fact that these land walues are sscertained,
that they are moderate, that this iland can be used far any
encampment of troops at any time for the Army, we deem it
important  that this should be acquired by the National

95




Government. Those loocking to the remote future, who might
anticipate trouble in possible wars with foreign powers, will
readily see that the location of Valley Forge, as selected by
Gen. Anthony Wayne and recommended by him to George
washington, would again become a wery important point of
defense and pesition. The Janding of troops which took place
then might occur again, and this point is a very important cne
because of the power of concentration which is offered by the
iocation, both by main roadways and by railways of the
country, in massing troops for the protection of Philadelphia.
it is within two hours of New York, two hours from Baltimore,
and three hours from Washington, and s alsc accessible
thraugh the plains of New Jersey, as well as from Pennsylivania
and New York.

Now, the appropriation suggested is $200,000. Those who are
residents thera and who know the walues feel satisfied that that
will acquire this entire tract. There can scarcely be a guestion
of its walue as an acguisition in any wview that is taken of it,
hot anly the sentimental one, which is extremely great, but the
practical one,

Other speakers urged that the gowvernment cbtain the property while it
could still be acquired at reasonable prices. While Valley Forge should
not be "a place of many monuments," the wvarious supporting groups for
the national reserwvation idea hoped that the government would discover
that it was "a most favorable place for some commemoration of the past.®
The beauty of the area, its proximity to Philadelphia, and talk of “traolley
lires and better railrpad facilities® had led the groups to fear that the
Valley Forge wicinity would soon "be takem up for fine summer
residences" if the government did not act quickly. (21}

Congress failed to take action on the bill, and the effort to establish
Valley Forge as a federal reservation dissipated. |n December 1902 the
the Valley Forge Park Commission reported:

It is possibly well to note that all efforts made by patriotic
citizens of the United States to secure an appropriation from
Congress, to acquire grounds at Valley Forge, have proved
futile, and there being no probability of Congress taking any
action on this matter, it remains with Pennsylvania to continue
the wark, which she has so patriotically commenced, until these
histeric grounds shall be purchased and preserved for the
people of the whole world to enjoy as the turning point in the
struggle for American liberty and independence.(22)

21. National Military Park at Valley Forge, Pa.; Hearing Before The
Committee on Military Affairs, . . January 29, 1902, pp. 7-8, 11-12.

2Z2. "Report of the WValley Forge Commission, December 16, 1902." in

Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commissions For the Years 1902, 1904,
and 1805, p. 5.
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D. DEDICATION OF DAUGHTERS OF THE REVOLUTION MONUMENT

During the legislative effort to have Valley Forge established as a federal
reservation, the Daughters of the Revolution dedicated a monument "to
the Soldiers of Washington's Army Who Sfeep In Valley Forge 1777-1778"
on  Octpber 13, 1901. With the exception of the markers placed by
varigus pegple during the mid-nineteenth century to record the site of
Sullivan's bridge, this monument was the first to be erected at the
encampment site. |t overlooked a large area where numerous graves were
still wvisible, marked with stones but unidentified. The dedication
ceremonies featured addresses by William A. Stone, Governor of
FPennsylvania, Senator Boies Penrose, and Adaline Wheelock S5teriing,
president-general of the Daughters of the Revolution. The monument was
a 50-foot-high granite shaft, the obelisk resting upon a base ten feet
square ratsed upon a plinth with three gradations. Set in the base was a
large bas-relief in bronze representing the Valley Forge encampment.
The monument stood on a piece of ground thirty by thirty-three feet
square with an approach from the road ten feet wide and 3671 feet
long.(23)

The memorial has been misrepresented as the John Waterman Monument
over the years. The erroneous associtioh with Waterman, who had served
as civilian quartermaster and assistant commissary in General Varnum's
Brigade, is traceable. Some years earlier a stone near the monument site
bearing the |etters "J.W." and the date "1778" had been identified as the
grave marker of Waterman--the only Known grave to be marked in the
encampment area. In 1835 the 5tate of Rhode Island had appropriated
$2,000 to erect 2 monument to the men of Rhode Isiand and Waterman.
The state began negotlations with |. Heston Todd te purchase the grave
site and the land necessary for the monument. Todd, however, had
become embittered because, after serving on the park commission for two
years, he had been remowved from office as the resutt of a "palitical
regrganization." He protected the grave marker with a "substantial wire
cage" to keep vandals away and offered to give Rhode Island title to the
grave site, provided the state would agree that Pennsylvania "should
hever obtain contrel of the tract." Rhode island refused to agree to
these terms and attempted instead to purchase the site. Todd, in turn,
refused to sell the property, and Rhode island abandomed its plans for
the proposed morument.

Subsequently, the Daughters of the Rewvolution resolved to erect a
monument to the memory of those who had died while serving at the
encampment. In 1897 Todd conveyed the land for the monument to the
patriotic organization under the same conditions that he had demanded of
Rhode Island. The Waterman grawve site was also purchased as part of
this transactlion and a flagstaff set up beside it.

The first report of the park commission regarding the raising of the
monument did not associate it with Waterman, except by locating it as
ceing " . . . on & plol of ground . . . along the Port Kennedy Road and

23. Burk, Guide to Valley Forge, 1806, p. 23.
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close to the grave of John Waterman." Over the nexi several decades,
however, the menument came to be erraneously referred to as the "Jobn
Waterman Worument--"a designation that took on increased meaning in
1933. |n that year when the Waterman graveslone was removed to the
park museum by the Daughters of the Rewvolution it was likely that the
present lettering was incised on the south face of the base: '"Near ihis
Spot Lies Lieutenant John Waterman, Died April 23, 1778, Whose Grave
Alope OF All His Comrades Was Marked."{24)

E. DEVELOPMENTS IN VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK: 1901-1902

while the effort to establish a federal reservation at Valley Forge was
underway, the state legislature and Governor willtam A. Sione were
locked in a budget battle that had repercussions for Valley Forge State
Park expansion and development. The legislature passed a biil
appropriating $13,200 for the park during fiscal year 1801 and fiscal year
1902. However, on July 18, 1901, Stone, citing "“insufficient state
revenue," approved only $2,000 for "laying out and maintenance of roads"
and $200 for “incidental and necessary expenses."(25)

In their biennial report submitted to Governor 3tone on December 16,
1902, the commissioners fed by President Woodside, commented in tones of
guarded optimism. They noted:

Since the re-organization of the Commission under your
administration, we have every reason to congratulate ourselves
on the progress made in cpening up the cld Camp Grounds, in
cuch a manner as to enable the patriotic visitor to see the
entrenchments, which have marvelously withstood the ravages of
time, and which are a mute admonition to the youth of the
present day, to emulate the fortitude of cur Rewvolutionary
ancestors in the most trying of the "times which tried men's
souls .

When re-organized, the Commission had no funds with which to
complete the work sao auspiciously begun, and were obliged to
provide funds to pay the debt incurred by the previous
Commission, and therefore simply secured the proper figures
with which to appeal to the Legislature of 1801, for such an
appropriation as would liguidate the indebtedness, provide for
the construction of a pathway, ieading from the station of the

24. "Reparts of the Valley Forge Commission, December 16, 1902," in
Reports of the Valley Forge Fark Commissions For the Years 1902, 1804,
and 1906, pp. 4-5; Hocker, "Valley Forge as a National Park," 788;
Richardson, "Valley Forge," 605; and National Military Park at Valley
Forge, Pa., Hearing Before the Committee on Military Affairs, January
28, 1902, p. 1.

25. “A Further Supplement,” in By-Laws of the Valiey Forge FPark
Commission, 1806, pp. $-10.
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Philadelphia and Reading Railway to the entrenchments, and for
that of & macadamized road or roads along these sntrenchments,
to enable the visitors to see in what remarkably good condition
they still remain one hundred and twenty-five years after the
evacuation. Unfortunately the amount appropriated, itself too
small, was cut down by your Excellency in the beiief that the
total appropriations made, were far in excess of the revenues of
the State, and the Commission therefore simply laid out the
road the distance of about four-fifths of a mile. No attempt was
made to macadamize the rpad, and in fact the road cantemplated
was not laid out its full distance, the lack of funds being the
reasan. This work should be finished; the road laid out along
these silemt, historic ditches to Fort Washington, and the road
when laid out, should be macadamized and thus made a delight
to the visitors and a tribute to the patriotic impulse of the
State.

All indebtedness incurred by the previous commission bad been paid
"except that incurred under the proceeding to acquire the ‘5tar

redoubt.' This case had been tried "before a petit jury upon an appeal
taken by William W. Stephens, the pwner, wherein he secured a verdict
af $2,700." No new indebtedness had been incurred by the new

commission "“for any item that was not specially provided for by an
appropriation by the Legislature of 1901."(26)

The members of the commission reported that they felt they had
"accomplished all that was possible, with the meagre Tunds at their
dispesal." To carry out its legislative mandate, however, the commission
requested fgur line item appropriations. These were:

(1} Acquisition of auter line of entrenchments

In order to properly consider the propriety of acquiring the
outer line of entrenchments, the Commission recently visited the
Hills upon which they were constructed. To secure this line
will require the acquisition of about one hundred and
twenty-five acres of ground. In contemplating this measure it
was concluded not to acquire any of the farm-houses or
out-buildings, but simply the ground upen which these
entrenchments were constructed, with the idea of doing as little
damage as possible to private property, and not requiring the
Commission to care for any buildings. The purpose is to have
3 strip of [and contiguous with the present Park, along which a
road may be constructed. This will give a delightful view of the
surrounding country, and will demonstrate to the wvisitor the
good judgment of General Washington in selecting this site for

26. The land boundaries for the "Star Redoubt” tract are described in
"Report of the Valley Forge Commission, December 16, 1902," In Reports
of the Valley Forge Park Commissicns For the Years 1902, 1904, and 1906,

p. B
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the encampment, for the stremgth of the position from a military
point eof wview is most advantageous. Aloeng this line were
encamped the Virginia, Pennsylvania, New Yark, Wassachusetts,
Mew Hampshire and Vermont Troops, and it has been suggested
that aleng this ling, and at points appropriate by reason of
these encampments, the sewveral Cealonial States and Vermont
might very properly erect suitable monuments.

{2) Acquisition of land near Star Redoubt

On the other side of the Port Kennedy Road the Rhode
Island Tropgps were encamped, close to the "5tar Redoubt.™
The Commission also propose to acquire the land between that
now owned by the State, and known as the "“Star Redoubt,"
and the property of Mrs. 5. 5. Zulick, about fifteen acres., It
will be contiguous with the "Star Redoubt," easy of access, and
is most desirable 1o acquire as the excavations made for
forty-one of the huts used by the Rhode Island Troops are stifl
plairnly wvisible.

{3} Beautification and fencing of park grounds

No effort has been, nor will any effort be made to beautify or
adorn the grounds, with the exception of that in front of Fort
Huntington, where theare is an excellent site for a lawn upon
which the people of the 5State can assemble at times of
anniversaries, and similar occasfons. It is the present purpgase
to keep the grounds in the condition in which they were found
by the Commission, excepting the removal of the underbrush,
and the contemplated fencing in of the grounds.

(4) Maintenance/police surveillance of park

The purpose of the present Commission has been to keep the
Park free of all objectionabie features. . . The labor of your
Commission has been to so¢ conduct the Park that this purpose
may be carried out, and all to bs made to understand that the
Park is the State's, its enjoyment, for the people of the State.
The Commission have had in their employ an attendant to keep
the hands of the wvandal from destroying any of the old iand
marks, and has required him to clean out the underbrush, to
construct paths and have general police supervision of the
Park. A competent man has been secured, and an
gpproprigtion to continue this police surveillance is most
desirable, yes, abselutely indespensable.(27)

27. "Report of the Valley Farge Commission, December 16, 1902," in
Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commissions For the Years ’IBDZ 1904,
and 1906, pp. 3-8.

100




F. INCREASING DEVELOPMENT OF VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK UNDER
GOVERNOR SAMUEL W. PENNYPACKER: 1303-1907

With the inauguration of Samuel W. Pennypacker as governor {n 1903 the
fortunes of Valley Forge State Park improved considerably. The son of
Isaac A. Pennypacker who had urged the preservation of Valley Forge
during the 1840s, Samuel had long shown interest in Valley Forge himself.
in 1897 he had secured from some historical collections in Amsterdam a set
of original drafts and plans of the Revoiutionary period, among them maps
pertaining to the Valley Forge encampment area.{28)

The new governor gave evidence of his sympathy for the preservation of
historic shrines in his inaugural by stating that no people

are ever really great who are neglectful of their shrines and
have no pride in their achievements. The history of the world
shows that a correct sentiment is a more lasting and potent
farce than either accumulated meney or concentrated autherity.

around Philadelphia, in Eastern Pennsylvania, the real
struggle of the Rewvolutionary War occurred. The good example
set by Philadelphia in its care of Independence Hall and
Congress Hail should be followed by the State. The fislds of
Fort Necessity, where Washington first became known; of Bushy
Run, where Bouguet won bhis important victory, and the camp
ground of Valley Forge should be tenderly cared for and
preserved.(29)

Urider the prodding of Governor Pennypacker the state legislature passed
two significant acts on behalf of Valley Forge State Park in 1903. On
March 19 an act was passed providing for the acquisition of 250 acres of
additional land and giving autharity to the commissioners "to deputize
officers to maintain police regulation, giving authority to said officers to
make said arrests."{30)

28. Richardson, "Valley Forge," 605.

€9, Hampton L. Carson, "The Life and Services of Samuel Whitaker
Pennypacker," Pennsyilvania Magazine of History and Biography, XLI
{1917}, 41-42. Born at Phoenixville, Pennsyivania, in 1843, Samuel
served as a private In Company F, 26th Pennsylvania Emergency Regiment
at Gettysburg in 1863, A graduate of the law department at the
University of Pennsylvania {1866), he served as Fresident Judge of the
Philadelphia Court of Common FPleas No. 2 and trustee of his alma mater
before becoming governor. He also served as an officer or member of the
Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Pennsylvania German Society,
Netheriands  Saciety of Philadelphia, Society of Colonial Wars,
Pennsylvania Society Sons of the Rewvolutipn, and Society of the War of
1812. The Descent of Samuel Whitaker Pennypacker (Philadelphia, 18583,
pp. 19-20.

30. A copy of this act may be seen in Appendix D. A map of the park
prepared in 13903 may be seen on the foliowing page.
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On May 15 the legislature passed the largest appropriation act to date for
Valley Forge State Park--a sum of $74,500. The total appropriation was
divided into six categories:

(1} Purchase or condemnation of lands lying along the outer line of
entrenchments--161,000

{2) Laying out, building, and maintenance of roads--$5,500
(3) Fencing lands--$2,500

{4) Payment of balance due upon judgment against the commonwealth
in land condemnation litigation for Star Redoubt
property--%i, 500

{5) Future care, preservation, and maintenance of redoubts and
tand already acquired and yet to be purchased--$3,500

{6) Expenses of commissioners in performance of official
duties--3500 {31)

The Valley Forge Park Commission immediately set to work using these
funds to achieve some of its iong-proposed goals for the expanston and
development of the park. Thus, by December 20, 1904, the commission
was able to report "that much has been accomplished during the past two

years."  Additicnal property along the outer line of entrenchments,
amounting to nearly 164 acres, was acquired both by purchase and
condemnation at an average cost of some $257 per acre. The

newly-acquired land was contiguous to the existing park and brought the
total acreage of state lands at Valley Forge to 391.499. The commission
indicated its interest in  acquiring additional lands upon  which
Pennsylvania, Virginia, Massachusetts, New York, and HNew Hampshire
troops had camped. It also noted its feeling “that with the exception of
about twenty acres this is all the {and in this immediate vicinity that is at
present desirable to acquire, except the Headquarters of Washington and
his Commanding Generals, which have not been acguired by the State."
Accordingly, the commission suggested that “a sufficient appropriation be
made for the acquiring of additional ground, without specifying what is
intended to be acguired."{32)

The commission recommended that the Washington Headquarters property
owned by the Centennial and Memorial Association be secured for the
staie. The raticnale for this proposed transfer was:

31. “Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, December 20, 1904,"
in Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commissions For the Years 1902,
1904, and 1806, p. B.

32. lbid., pp. 3-4, 10-12. The boundary description for the newly

acquired land (not including the Star Redoubt property previously
referred to) may be seen in Appendix E.
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The grounds appurtenant have been converted into a lawn and
the place is a mecca for the many strangers who visit the Park.
In order to maintain it a small admission fee is charged, so that
all may upon payment of this toll examine the quaint old house
arnd its surroundings. Should this be? Is it not rather
humiliating to reguire the payment of a small sum of a visitor,
when we realize that all of the Headquarters of Washington
throughout the country, which are preserved and open, are
free to the wisitors?({33)

The 1903 appropriation allowed the commission to complete the "road or
drive-way" along the inner line of entrenchments to Fort washington. The
“econstruction of the driveway" had

sdded much to the pleasure of these historic grounds. AR
opportunity is now afforded to examine the well preserved
conditions of the entrenchments, along which this road has been
built. For a distance of two and one-half miles the visitor may
now see the entrenchments, thrown up during the long and
dismal winter that the Continental troops occupied these
grounds, whereas before, this was impaossible, because of the
underbrush which had grown up, making futile all efforts to
inspect the place hallowed by the sufferings of the patriot army
under Washingion.

The acquisition of the land adjacent to the outer line of entrenchments ied
to the commission's proposal for a three-mile extension of the drive from
Fort Washington to the Port Kennedy Road. This would "make a
continuous, though circuitous roadway of about six miles along the inner
and outer lines of entrenchments. "

Improvements to the existing drive and its proposed exlension were also
needed. The entire length of the roadway should be macadamized (o
prevent washings. The commission noted:

|t should be rememberad that the entrenchments are constructed
along the sides of the hills and in many instances almgost at
their summits. To construct this road in close proximity io them
therefore requires that it be winding in order to prevent a
grade impossible for use, and the probability of washings
occurring must be apparent to any casual observer. The side
gutters should in many instances be paved 10 prevent this
happening and this item should not be lost sight of in making
an apprepriation.

Once the entire six-mile drive was completed the commission urged that
teach one of the Colonial States and Vermont' be invited "to erect
monuments along the line and at appropriate places with reference to the

33. lkid., p. 4.
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location of the troops, marking the temporary quarters of their sons
during the Encampment." This monumentation would "make a visit to the
Park educatiormal as well as patriotic.™ The 1303 appropriation also
provided the necessary funds for completion "of fences along the lines of
the Park" and clearing away "much of the underbrush which marred the
beauty of the surroundings."(34)

The progress made enabled the commission to do some long-range planning
for development and preservation of the park for the first time. The
most urgent needs for the effective adminisiration, maintenance, and
preservation of the park were;

The law should provide for the appointment of a superintendent
to care for the grounds and have charge of the workmen and
watchmen. |In order to have proper police protection, at least
three guards should be employed, and in addition to these
three guards at least three workmen could with advantage be
employed to lsbor upon the roads and clear the grounds. The
superintendent shouid hawve charge of this work and be held
responsible to the Commission and the Legislature for the
faithful performance of his duties. The grounds argund Fort
Huntington have been improved by the remowal of all rubbish
and a lawn now invites the wvisitor to a redoubt which time and
the elements have failed to destroy. One of the most
troublesome things which the Commission have to contend with
is the propensity of many of the visitors to take with them some
memento of the place. The appropriation to employ guards will
in a large deqgree prevent these acts of vandalism.

On the property first acquired there was focated a house which
the Commissian have repaired and which is used to store toois,
etc. The house is small but is well adapted for this purpose.
The Commission recently acquired an additional house and this,
although small, is out of order. It should be repaired and an
appropriation is reguired for the purpose.

There is no water in the Park. The only ground acquired by
the 5tate is on the top of the hills, where the entrenchments
are located. . . The acquisition of these grounds by the State
has increased the number of wvisitors, and during a season many
Sunday schoo! and private picnics utilize this historic State
Park. Many thousands in the last two years have visited the
grounds. Water is necessary for their proper enjoyment, but
none is supplied by nature and up to the writing of this report
the state has withheld its assent to this great necessity.

An abservatory should be erected. A most aligible site could
be selected. This obserwvatory is wery dasirable, All

4. .+ Pp. 3-5.
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battlefields and historical parks have one or more--sll but
Valley Forge.

It would unduly lengthen this report to dwell upon the minor
items necessary for the work of the Commission. The work of
restoring the entrenchments and redoubtis, purchase of
fertilizers, mowing machines, grass seeds, the planting of traes
and securing old cannon, alf are referred to in the item of
maintenance. For this item a much targer sum should be
appropriated than heretofore.{35)

while the improvements under the 1203 appropriation were being carried
out, another effort was mounted in Congress to hawve WValley Forge
established as a federal reservation. WMoving quickly to head off this
effort, Gowvernor Pennypacker wroite a letter to Senator Penrose that
proved to be effective in ending congressional consideration of the
matter:

Cur State Commission has secured the lines there [Valley
Forge], has laid out avenues and is doing its work well, We
want to do ewverything we can to help them and to prevent the
interference which comes from persons outside the S5tate and
certain  well-meaning but  ll-advised women  within  |t.
Pennsylvania is rich enough and capable anough to take care of
Independence Hall, Valley Forge, and her battlefieids, and make
them tell their lesson tg the nation. After she had expended
large sums of money in marking and erecting monuments at
Gettysburg, i1t was transferred to the United States Government
and the result was that afiter Grover Cleveland had been elected
President the bronze New York monument was put in the
cemetery in the wery center of the field, which was in every
aspect of it a Pernnsylvania battle. | do not propose, it | can
help it, to have this course repeated as to Valley Foarge, and
should the maiter come up in Congress, ! rely upon you to help
me. Should a bill be presented, you can probably kill it sasily
by having added to it that the Government also take Bunker
Hitl from Massachusetts and Stony Point from MNew York.{36)

The commission echoed the governcr's sentiments in its December 13904
biennial report. The report stated:

5ince the last report another effort to secure an appropriation
from Congress was made by those who feel that the State has
not in the past been progressive and liberal enough. whilst it
i5 evident that no such action will be taken by the MNational
Government, consideration should be given as to wheather, as

35. Ibid., pp. 5-6.

6. Quoted in Carson, "Life and Services of Samuel Whitaker
Pennypacker," 42.
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Pennsylvanians, we should look upon  the effort with
apprebation. This spot is ours; fate settled that guestion
when, after the defeat of Germantown, some haven had (o be
selected by the Father of His Country. This spot was chosen,
adwvantageous from a military point of wview, and within the
confines of ocur Commonwealth. {1 is a sacred heritage which we
should cherish and preserwve for the pepple of the nation, as
they contemplate the great fortitude of the men who in a

measure secured to ws "life, liberty, and the pursuit of
happiness." The 5State having entered upon this work shouid
not now tuen back, It has a patriotic duty to perform.{37)

Two major events were held at Valley Forge drawing national attention to
tha park while the improvements under the 1903 appropriation were being
completed. One was the 125th anniversary celebration of the ewvacuation
of the encampment arez on June 19, 1903, under the management of the
Valley Forge Anniversary Association organized in Philadelphia the
previous December. The officers of the association were General BE. F.
Fisher of Valley Forge, president; J. PF. Hale Jenkins of MNorristown,
vice-president; George N. Malsberg of Pottstown, treasurer; and John O.
K.. Robarts of Pheonixville, secretary. The exercises were presided ower
by Governor Fennypacker and consisted of a military salute, music, under
the direction of Robarts, patrictic addresses, the reading of Mary E.
Thropp Cone's poem, "The Sentinel of VYalley Forge," and "other
iteresting features."{38}

The following year on June 719, 1904, President Theodore Rooseveft
became the first president to wvisit Valley Forge whife in office. A guest
of Philander C. Knox, his attorney general who had a home near Valley
Foerge, Roosevelt honored the hearoes of Valley Forge with an evacuation
day anniversary address given at the barn-board chapel, then serving as
the temporary quarters of the Washington Memorial Chapei. {39}

37. "Report of the Valley Forge Fark Commission, December 20, 1904,
in Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commissions For the Years 1902, 1904
and 1906, p. 6.

38. W. Herbert Burk, Valley Forge and the Presidents of the United
States of America (M. P., 1929), n. p., and Riddle, Valley Forge Guide

and "Hand-Books, pPp. 125-26. Following the celebration
cornarslone-faying ceremonies were held rnorth of the park for the
Washington Memorial Chapel. For more data on the interaction of the

washington Memarial Chapel ang its later closely-affiliated Valley Forge
Historical Society with Valley Forge State Park one should consuit Powell,
"The Most Celebrated Encampment: Valley Forge in American Culture,
T¥FF-1983.0"

3%. Theodore Roosevelt, "The Vailey Forge Speesch,” independent, LViI
(July 7, 1904}, 19-21, and Burk, Valley Forge and the Presidents of the
United States of America, n.p.
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The improvements in Valley Forge State Park drew increasing numbers of
visitors during the mid-1300s. One such visitor in 1904 was William C.
Ewing, of Yonkers, New York. The descendent of George Ewing, who
cerved in Maxwell's Brigade in the Valley Forge encampment, Ewing
published a pamphlet describing his visit te the park. Among his
observations were the following:

There will be same disappointment in attempting to read history
on the ground, at least until the historical societies have much
more fully marked the spots already identified and have thus
given a basis for conjecture as to the focation of the points still
unsettled. Valley Forge's historical discovery came 100 late to
rescue the log huts of the soldiers, the marguee of the
commander and the headquarters of the various brigades and
the quarters of other general officers, The wvery existence of
the redoubts and pickets on the north bank of Valley Creek is
hardly admitted on the ground; or, to speak more correctly, is
generally stoutly denied. The limes of intrenchment on the
south side are not quite intact, though the ocuter line is still
partly wisible and the inner one is fairly well preserved,
especially the part in the woadiand portien of the camp
grounds. The forge is no more, excep! as a matter of hot
dispute. Later dams have almest obliterated the memory of the
most ancient one, which has siight traditional evidence of its
location.

Fart Washington, near the head of the intrenchments, has still
the embrasure of its battery, and pits mark the location of
magazine and huts. Fort Huntington has a pretty grove of
trees telling its age and the star redoubt is still found near the
river bank.

. { found on the north bank of valley Creek, in the woods
beyond the first run, the ruins of a buiiding having the
dimensions of the huts, as far as the ground plan would show.
The charred fragments of the staves were all that remained of
the building.

. There was alsp a bake-house near Fort Washington and it
still is in some sort of existence.

According to the pamphiet Valley Forge State Park had

hahdsome drives and walks leading 1o the principal paints
of interest. The fields lately under cultivation, or in meadows,
kave a light iron fence around them and are bright with spring
beauties, buttercups and other flowers of the season. The hills
have a wvaried growth of timber, mostly deciduous, with a
sprinkling of pines and cedars, and rising to the older woods
of the summit. Bright azaleas lighten the brushy margin of the
woods. Haorse-chestnut blooms are found here and there and
weeping wilfows mark some of the camps, while cherry Irees are
found that far exceed their usual girth and take on in their oid
age the rougher habit of the cak. A fine drive is making along
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the outer intrenchment, which has but lately been bought by
the state. Unfortunately, the roads and drives have long since
cut off Fort Washington from its unmarked outworks, passibly
not even included in the reservation and likely to be overlooked
by the historical student. A military engineer is needed to
trace out the lines which only a practiced eye can find or a
martial training appreciate.

The next step shouid be the marking of the wvarious commands,
as nearly as may be determined; especially the locating of the
redoubts and pickets on the north side of the creek, which are
now altogether forgotten. . . ,{40)

The Valley Forge Park Commission issued its first publication in 1805.
written by Frank H. Taylor, the booklet was entitled Valley Forge: A
Chronicle of American Hercism, It was designed as a historical handbock
and souvenir guide for the use of visitors as they toured the park.{41}

In May 18905 a replica log hut was constructed by the Daughters of the
Revolution, Colenial Chapter of Philadelphia, on land donated by |
Meston Todd just west of the Washington Memorial Chapel property. It
was built on the site of an "original hut" belonging to the 4th Connecticut
Regiment "as proven by the buttons found in the hut hole." The hut
was built according to the specification for standard twelve-man huts as
issued by Washington. While the reconstructed hut was not on park
fand, it nevertheless stimulated visitation to the park and surrounding
historical sites, particularly after its dedication on June 24, 1905, by
Rev. W. Herbert Burk.({42)

The state legislature, with Governor Pennypacker's support, responded to
the stated needs of the commission in the 1905 session. ©On April 7 an
act was passed authorizing the commission to acquire up to 1,000 acres in
carrying out ils original mandate to establish a park “for the enjoyment of
the people.” it is interesting to note that this act dropped the wording
prohibiting the state's takeover of the Washington Headgquarier's
property, thus calling inte guestion the later assertion of the Centennial
and Memortal Association that it was unaware of changes in the legislation
excluding its property from the state's park lands. {43}

The general assembly, with Governor Pennypacker's support, responded
to the stated needs of the Valley Forge Park Commission and appropriated

40. Ewing, Valley Forge Revisited, pp. 2, 4-6, 8, 10-171,

41, Frank H. Tavlor, Valley Forge: A Chronicle of American Heroism
{Philadelphia, 1905}). A copy of this publication may be found at the
Library of Congraess.

42. "Daughters of the Rewolution Repair Hut," Picket Past {October,
1968}, 22-23.

43. A copy of this act may be seen in Appendix F.
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4115,815 for expansion and develcpment of the park on May 11, 1905.
The act provided for the foliowing categories:

{1} Purchase or condemnation money for tand acquisttion -- $40,000
(2) Laying out and improvement of roads -- $45,250

{3) Painting and construction of fences -- %3,500

{4Y Securing water supply -- $1,000

{5} Purchase and erection of markers for identification of troop
positions -- $3,000

(6) Erection and construction of observatory -- 45,000

{7) Maintenance of redoubts and entrenchments and future care of
lands and employment of superintendent -- $13,615

{8} Erection and construction of stabie -- %500

(9) Purchasing old cannon -- $500

{10) Planting trees -- %500

(11} Purchase of fertilizer and lawn works -- %1, 200
{(12) Erection of three guard houses -- $750

(13) Expenses of commissioners -- $1,000

On the same date the legistature appropriated $30,000 "for the erection of
an equestrian statue of General Anthony Wayne, on the Revolutionary
Camp Grounds of Vvalley Forge"--the first state-sponsored moenument in
the park.(44)

The sizable appropriation permitted the park commission to expand tha
park boundaries both by purchase and condemnation, bringing the total
acreage of the park to 467.1169 by December 1906. The property
acquired included the Washington Headguarter's tract. After the
commission took charge of the property the admission fee charged by the
Centennial and Memorial Association ceased. The registered visitors to
the headguarters between May 1 and November 1, 1906, numbered 19,100,
the highest number to wvisit the site to date. Other property acquired
with the appropriation included the lands on which the Mew Jersey and

44. "An Act Making an Appropriation to the Commissioners of Valley
Forge Park," May 11, 1905, and "An Act To Provide for the Erection of
an Equestrian Statue of General Anthony Wayne, on the Revolutionary
Camp Grounds of Valley Forge and Making an Appropriation therefor ”

May 11, 1805, in By-Laws of the Valley Farge Park Commission, 1906, pp.
14-16.
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Pennsylvania troops and Washington's life guard had encamped and
various parcels for the purpose of straightening the park boundary lines.

Despite the acquisition of this new property the commission reported in
December 1906 that it was necessary to secure additional land. The
park, according to the commissioners, was '"'now segregated" and “should
be contiguous." f it were the purpose of the legislature to authorize the
commissign  "“to secure the different headquarters of the division
commanders during the encampment,”" an appropriation "must be made of
sufficient amount for this purpose."

Howewer, since the price of the properiy was "liable to materizglly increase
if an idea is obtained from the owners that the Commission is desirous of
securing it," the commissioners felt it unwise "to indicate what portions
are cantemplated." The price of land in the wvicinity of Valley Forge had
“very materially increased" since 15883; hence "it is the part of wisdom to
make such appropriation for the acquisition of fand that all iand deemed
necessary for the purposes of the Park may be acguired at the earfliest
moment "

To underline the importance of obtaining additional land for the park, the
commissioners described the historic importance of sites located on sewveral
aof the recently-acquired parcels. ©On the Kendall property the "heles of
about forty huts used by the men under Wayre" and "the remains of the
two bake gwvens" had been located. An “old school house built before the
Revalution and which was used at the time of its acquisition by the State
as a stable or hen house” was located on the McMenamin property. The
commission  intended t¢  restore this building Mo its  original
condition."{45)

The 1905 apprepriation also allowed the commission to make other park
improvements during 1905-06. A 75-foot-high observatory towar was
erected on Mount Joy, providing "a wvery Tfine wview of the surrounding
country and demonstrating "the wisdom of General wWashington in securing
this strategic peoint for the encampment.” On the cobservatory were "fixed
tabfets" marking "“the directions of all the battle fields and camps and
military  localities connected with Lhe 1777-78  campaign." The
fortifications at Forts Huntingten a2nd Washingten were restored, being
"rovered with sod and protected” by enclosures "to prevent the
encampments of wisitors." However, permanent cobservation platforms had
been built so that the public could view them. Faths were laid out to
some of the better preserved entrenchments on Mount Joy, and a portion
of the earthwarks rnear Fart Huntington was reconstructed. in front of
Fort Huntington the commission buried the beody of a soldier that bhad
been discovered on a neighboring farm. it was thought that this might

45. ‘"Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, December 28, 1906,"
in Reporls of the Valley Forge Park Commissions Fer The Years 1902,
1904 and 1906, pp. 3-4. For a boundary description of the 470-acre park
see Appendix G, Subsequent research has led National Park Serwvice
historians and historical architects to conclude that the school house was
built ca. 1790-1810.
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have been the soldier shot by a farmer during the encampment after
wayne had teld the farmer to shoot the next soldier he found stealing
from him.

water "pumps" were made available for public usage ai Forts Huntington
and Washington. Near the boulevard on the hillside where Huntington's
brigade had encamped the commission placed tables and benches under the
trees far the use of picnickers. Thereafter, the grounds of washington's
Headguarters would not be available for picnic parties.

The park drives were completed and were to be opened to the traveling
public during the spring of 1907. The commission anticipated that from
that time forward" the roads would 'doubtless be ane cf the most
attractive features of the Park." Altogether there were some fiwve miles of
macadam road "from the station of the Philadelphia and Reading Railrcad
by a circuitous route, but along the line of the entrenchment and near
Faorts Washington and Huntington, to the road leading from Port Kennedy
to the King of Prussia." Four guard houses were built for the use of
park guards, two of them being reproductions of the huts used by the
encampment soldiers. One stone guard house was located near fFort
Huntington.

The commission (with Lieutenant Colonel John P. Nicholson as chairman}
appointed by the legislature in 1905 to erect a mgnument in honor of
General Anthony Wayne selected a site for the statue on a crest close to
the park road. The site for the monument cverlooked "“the famous
Chester Vallay*® on the "line of the outer entrenchments at the piace that
his Pennsyivania line were encamped.” [T was hoped that the erection of
this monument, being made by Henry K. Bush-Brown, would “stimulate
the sentiment for the erection of others by the Colenial States."{46}

in 19068 Governor Pennypacker expressed his views on the park to the
legisiature. He stated that a "great work has been accomplished by the
State at Vailey Forge." The state "ought to maintain it forever as one of
her most cherished possessions and ought never to forget that her
important relations te that war impose upon her the duty of making it ap
cbject of inspiration and incentive 1o the people of the entire nation.™
Every "American and especially every Pennsylvanian ought to visit Valley
Forge as the saints of Mohammed went to Mecca.'" {47}

The park commissioners echoed those sentiments late in the year. They
observed:

46. Ibid., pp. 4-6, 14, and Burk, Guide to Valley Forge, 1906, pp.
59-60, B9-70. The "Valley Forge Picnic Greunds" were localed across
from the Washington (nn on privale properly.

_4?. "Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, December 28, 1908,"
in Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commissions For the Years 1902, 1904

and 1906, p. 1i4.
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The conception of the Park as evidenced by the Act of 1893,
was a happy one and if the purposes for which the Park was
created can be subserved (and vyour Commission are
conscientiously endeavoring to do so) Valley Forge Park will be
8 manument. The Park wvisitors, not including those to the
Headquarters, from May 1 to Howvember 1 of this year, reached
the astounding number of 40,000, estimating three persons to
each vehicle, and demonstrates that the interest in the Park is
increasing annually and that it is destined to be the Mecca for
patriotic Americans. . . {4R)

The interest of Governor Pennypacker, substantial appropriations by the
legislature, and expansion and development of the park appears to have
had an effect on the organization and work of the Valley Forge Park
Commission. {n December 1906 the commission reported that it was meeting
monthly. Al the members were "taking a very Keen interest in the work
committed to them by the Legislature.” The harmony existing on the
commission was "an earnest of intelligent supervision which in time will
make Vafley Farge one of the most historical on the Western
Continent."(48) As a sign of its new energy the commission published its
recently-adopted by-laws in  1906--the first comprehensive body of
organizational ruies to govern the werk and structure of the
commission, {50)

In 1906 W. Herbert Burk, minister of the Washington Memorial chapel,
published the first edition of his Historical and Topegraphical Guide to
Valley Forge. The guide, which would go through a number of revised
editions until 1932, contained tourist information on how to reach and see
Valley Forge State Park and the bistoric significance and traditions of the
encampment period (his sections on "How to Reach Valley Forge" and
“How to See Valley Forge" may be seen inm Appendix ). More
importantly, the guide provided data on the sightseeing opportunities in
the park and the surrounding vicinity as well as the historical
background of the sites and buildings to be visited. The guide described
the course of the "right line boulevard” and the "front line boulevard” in
the park and the location and significance of the wvarious brigades,
headquarters, markers, earthworks, fortifications, and redoubts.
Considerable attention was given to the construction and activities of the
washington Memorial Chapel.{51)

48. 1Ibid., p. B.
49. Ibid., p. 3.

50. By-Laws of the Valley Forge Park Commission, pp. 36. A copy of
the by-laws may be seen in Appendix H. The by-laws were minimatly
revised in T1916. A copy of the revised by-laws may be seen in Appendix
A, Eleventh Biennial Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission,
December 30, 1916, pp. 18-20.

57. Burk, Guide to Valley Forge, pp. 1-90.
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Legislation was approved by the governor on May 28, 1807, giving power
to the park commission “to grant to railroad companies the right to

connect their termini by tunnel, benesth the park." The bill stated that .
the commission had the paower

to grant to any railroad company, incorporated under a charter
heretofore granted by the Commonwealth of Pennsyfvania, the
right te construct its railroad under the surface of the land
inciuded within the said Park, intervening between the places
named in the charter of such company from and to which such
railroad is to be constructed, maintained, and operated:

provided, That no part of the route of the said railroad, nor
the construction, maintenance or operation thereof, shall in any
manner encreach upon ar interfere with the surface of the said
Park.{52%

G. OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT OF VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK
DURING THE PRE-WORLD WAR | PERICD!: 1908-1514

After Governor Pennypacker ieft office in 1907 the appropriations for
Valley Forge State Park approved by the state legislature were not as
generous. Yet the commitment by the state to upgrade the development of
the park during the Pennypacker years resulied in caontinuing
appropriations for maintenance and small-scale improvements. In 1907,
for example, the legislature appropriated 428,500 for the park In
1907-08--a sum that included $20,080 for road and path maintenance, %500
for construction of fences and painting, and $9,000 for the erection of
markers showing the location of the Pennsylvania Brigade.{53)

During the years 1907-08 the Valley Forge Park Commission carried oul a
number of development projects in the park (a copy of & map of the park
prepared in 1908 may be seen on the following page), using these
appropriated monies as well as the unexpended balance of the 1905
appropriations. The old milt site between the Washington Headquarter's
property and Valley Creek was acquired, the ruins of the mill remaved,
and preparations taken for pilanting a jawn. Improvements to the
headguarters building and property, according to park superintendent
A. H. Bowen who was also serving as secretary of the commission,
included:

Have had Washingion Spring remedelled and have had a
stone basin built which takes owverflow from the Spring far
purpose of watering horses etc. Have had bank at rear sodded

52. Quoted in Bender to Shannon, December 19, 1935, Correspondence,
RG 46, PHMLC.

53. Stager, History of the Centennial and Memaorial Association, p. 220. .
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and it presents a wvery pretty appearance besides being an
sccommodation ta the Public. . . New floor has been placed [in]
ihe room used as kitchen at wWwashington Hdg. Have used
concrate foundations and oak joists this being completed will
last for S0 years. Will also have wvenlilators along side of room
to allow air to pass under. The old floor and [oists were atl
rotted away, they having been placed in the earth. Have also
ardered a wentilatar placed in dry closet, the smell in same
having been offensive.(54)

A road was constructed “from the main driveway 1o the Observatory." A
pedestrian path was also laid out from the ‘''driveway 1toc the
Observatory."

The ald schoo! house on the McMenamin property was restored. During
the restoration work “dates" were reportedly "discovered upon the walls,
one 1714 and one 1716, and from records obtained by a member of the
Commission® it was “ascertained that it was hbuilt in 1705 by Letitia
Aubrey, a daughter of William Penn" {subsequent research, as
aforementioned, indicales that this structure was built ca, 1790-1810).
Opened to the public on May 15, 1908, the building had "desks and
benches around the walls" with the "Master's desk erected upon the
platform, as in 've olden style.'" Thus, the young of the present!" were
provided with "an object lessen as to the manner with which the
inculcation of the youth with the rudiments of education were imparted in
earlier days."

Granile markers with bronze tablets were built "on the sevaral camp
sites." "Exlraordinary care" was taken "to have these erected at such
points and the inscriptions placed therecn to be historically correct."{55}

A number of other improvements were carried out to improve the
"historic" values of the park. Three log huts, based on the Continental
Army specifications prepared by Washington, were constructed. After
Congress authorized the Secretary of War to furnish brass cannon field

S54. Bowen to Sayen, November 4, 1908, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC,

55. Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1908, pp. 3-4, 9. On
December 15, 1908, the washington Chapel Chronicle observed that the
"walley Forge Park Commission has done an excellent work in placing
markers on the sites of the brigades." The markers provided "such
information as [s now available," and space was left on the tablets so that
ather informalion” could be added. ©One such marker was "placed on the
slope of the Star Redoubt"® for Varnum's Brigade. '"State Markers,"
Washington Chapel Chronicle, | {(December 13, 1908y, 2-3.
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pigces toc the Valley Forge Park Commission, the commissioners purchased
four gun carriages to mount the cannon.(56)

On QOctgber 17, 1907, the State of Maine dedicated and presented to the
Valley Forge Park Commission "a marker at the point where the men of
Maine who served in Massachusetts regiments were guartered." The
granite marker--the first state memorial in the park--had been erected
with a2 $500 appropriation by the Maine legisiature upecn the
recommendation of the Maine Society of the Sons of the American
Revolution. The ceremonies included addresses by Augustus F. Moulton,
a civic leader from Peortland, Maine, ex-Pennsylvania Governor Samuel W.
Pennypacker, and Colonel Seth <. Gordon, a medical doctar from
Portiand. William T. Cobb, Governer of Maine, formally presented the
marker to Colone! Willlam H. Sayen, president of the Valley Forge Park
Commission, stating:

A definite motive inspired the great Commonwealth upon whose
s0il we stand today, and whose guests in a sense we are, to
sel aside, to care for and to consecrate forever to a reverent
patriotism this hallowed and historic ground. A definite motive
prompted Maine to heed the reguest of the Scociety of the Sons
of the American Rewvolution of that S5tate, and to cause to be
erected here a monument to commemorate the faithfulness and
valor of the men who, living then in what is now Maine, |eft
their homes and bore their share of the hardships of that
memorable winter at Yalley Forge. The motive in each case was
the same and is a thankful appreciation of the sacrifices made
for the country and for liberty. So long as it exists and finds
its sincere expression in acts and ways like these, so long will

the fires of patriotism illumine the path to true naticnal
grandeur and the permanency of our institutions be
assured. . . .{(57)

56. U.S5. Congress, House, Loaning Certain Brass Cannon to Valley
Forge Park Commission, 539th Cong., 2d sess., 1807, H. Rept. 8160, pp.
1-2, and Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1908, pp. 21-22.
In & related development the Historical Society of Montgomery County
erected & new '"rough rock face granite boulder" on the Wetherill estate at
the site of Sullivan's Bridge ont the Schuyikill on October 7, 18507, While
the park boundarfes did not include the bridge site, this marker added
further to the "historical interpretation” of the Valiey Forge encampment
area. “"The Sullivan's Bridge Mornument," Historical Sketches: A
Collection of Papers Prepared For The H:stcr:ca! Society of Monigomery
County Penns.ylvanla, Iv (1910}, 31-32. Also see, W. H. Reed, "Sullivan
Bridge Marker," ibid., 33-37, and Joseph Formance, "Acceptance of
Sullivan's Er‘idge Marker," ibid., 37-40. A reproduction of the Old
Forge, on private property just west of the Washington Inn, was zlsso
opened to the public on July 4, 1907. Riddle, Valley Forge Guide and
Hand-Book, pp. 31-32.

57. Maine At Valley Forge: Proceedings at the Unveiling of the Maine
Marker, October 17, 1807 {Augusta, 1910}, pp. . 124. The regulations of
the park commission regardmg memorizls may be seen in Appendix J.
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The following vyear, on June 20, 1908, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
dedicated the Anthony Wayne Monument which had been sculpted by
Hanry K. Bush-Brown of Newburgh, HNew York. The bronze eguestrian
monument, which was set on a pedestal of red Missouri granite built by
william R. Hodges of 5t. Louis, Missouri, was cast by Bureau Brothers of
Philadelphia. Situated on a commanding site in the park overlooking the
Chester Valley, the monument was in view of the headquarters which,
according to tradition, Wayne occupied during the encampmeni. The
principal address for the dedication ceremonies was given by former
Governar Pennypacker, who prepared his speech by studying the letters
of Wayne and other Continental Army generals at the Historica! Society of
Fennsylvania. (58)

A force of men under Superintendent A. H. Bowen was at wark
throughout much of 1907-08 "clearing out the underbrush, planting trees
on the denuded slopes, and impreving the grounds.” Bowen reported on

these activities to commission peresident W. H. Sayen on November 4,
1908:

. we have planted linden trees between Fort washington and
kendall point and elm trees on both sides of outer line to Fort
Kennedy road and will have a number [of] oak, chestnut,
hickory and locust. . . . Have also planted laurel all along the
observatory road to hide water ditch and around exposed points
at observatory and entrance from Port Kennedy on Inner Line.
Nuts such as chestnut, hickery oak and walhuts have been
planted in our nursery. Dogwood trees have been planted
along the edge of woods on outer line. Markers for toilet rooms
[two new toilet closets and one dry earth closet], roads, 1o
observatory, and Wayne Monument and bridle paths have been
erected. Tarvia has been placed at all turns in our roads, and
road from Ft. Washington an Outer Line to Gulf Road has been
repaired and covered. Bridle paths have been opened.

All the refuse that comes from trimming trees and our laurel
bed and different paints has been hauled away and burned. We
are now grubbing out woods along Inner line road where it
enters Park and the refuse will be burned during the
winter. . . Our men have been kept busy raking the leaves
and burning them from our roads. Am bhaving some plowing
dore in large field along Outer Line where part of same has
become overgrown with sorrel grass. Wil seed same in the

58. Ceremonies at the Oedication of the Eguestrian Statue of Major-
General Anthony Wayne, Commander-in-Chief of the U.5. Army, Erected
by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on the Revofutignary Camp Ground
at Valley Forge, June 20, 1908 (Harrisburg, 1809), pp. 180, and Samuel
W. Pennypacker, "Anthony Wayne," Pennsylvania Magazine of History and

Biography, XXX (July, 1208}, 257-301.
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Spring. Several of our paths have been repaired and = good
coating of stone screenings have been placed on same. (59)

The park improvements during 1907-08 made WValiey Forge increasingly
altractive to the visiting public. DOuring 1908 visitation to the park
Numbered 108,000 of which number some 30,000 toured Washington's
Headquarters. Yet despite this increase in park visitors there stilt were
no park guides. When a man inquired about bringing a group of boys to
the park, Bowen informed him:

it you will call at my store 112 South 2nd St. Phila., Pa., aon
Friday | will give you some copies of our last report also maps
of the Camp ground at Valley Forge. ©Qur workmen and Guards
can explain all points of interest to you as we have no guide
for this purpose. In regards toc boys coming up yeu or the
persen who has them in charge will have to keep them under
his cantrol and make them observe the rules in regards to not
pulting any wild flowers, walking on the entrenchments nor not
molesting any of the buildings, etc.{&0}

The removal of underbrush in the park not only made Valley Forge more
attractive to the public but also led to the discovery of important sites.
On the former Kendall and Evans properties but holes were uncovered
and the ruins of bake ovens unearthed. Unknown graves were also
"discovered along the River Road” and “along the line of Park near what
is known as the Hallman line "{61)

39. Bowen to Sayen, November 4, 1908, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
Trees for the planting project were obtazined by contract frem Henry F.
Mitchell of Philadeiphia in March 1308 and Wwilliam H. Doyle of Berwyn in
April 1808, Mitchell supplied 1350 seedlings, and Doyle provided an
unspecified number of trees, ranging in size from four feet to ten feet in
height. Doyle's contract called for furnishing "plant finish by mulching
with manure" and replacing "any trees which might die within One year
after being planted, free of cost to the Commission.” Among the types of
trees provided by Doyle were: pine oak, white ocak, red oak, tulip
poplar, hemlock spruce, excelsior white pine, Norway spruce, lacust
{black or sweet), white dogwoad, sugar mapie, red maple, chestnut
(American}, red dogwood, Babylonian willow, cherry (red and black),
linden, elm, Judas, swamp white oak, white birch, sweet gum, and
hickory. Agreement executed between Henry F. Mitcheil Co. and Valley
Forge Park Commission, March 12, 1908, and Agreement executed betweesn
w. H. Doyle and Valley Forge Park Commission, April 29, 1903, RG 2,
YAFQ Archives.

60. Sec. and Supt. to Wilsen, May 12, 1908, Ceorrespondence, RG 46,
PHMC. Also see "Valley Forge Park," Washington Chapel Chronicle, |
(Aprii 15, 1908), 2, and Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission,
1808, pp. 4, 10,

61. Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1908, p. 9.
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Despite the increase in appropriations for Valley Forge State Park the
commissioners centinued to face financial problems in operating the reser-
wvation. For example, the commission was notified in March 1909 that its
1908 biennial report could not be printed because there was no
appropriation for that purpose. Unknawn ta the commissioners the earlier
commission reports had been printed under the direct orders of then
Governor Pennypacker. Only after a delegation appealed 1o Governor
Edwin 5. Stuart and an item was inserted in the 1909 appropriation was
the 1308 report printed.{52)

By early 190% the Pennsylvania general assembly had appropriated a total
of $313,215 for the acquisition and improvement of the iand and buildings
in WValley Forge State Park., According fo a report by the House
Committee on the Library in February 1909 the following improvements had
been reaiized in the park using those funds:

Out of the balance of the state appropriations of $313,21% there
was erected an observatory upon the summit of Mount Joy, from
which there is a vista of wideiy extended scenery of diversified
character and beauty; between 5 and 6 miles of macadam roads
and paths have been laid; Forts Washingten and Huntingd{t]en
and other intrenchments have been restored; trees and shrubs,
including rhododendron, have been treatad and planted, and
much seeding has been done. More than 10 miles of iron fence
has been built, and the spring house at the Washington
Headquarters has been rebuilt; 2 stone guardhouses and % leg
huts (used by park guards}, the latter a reproduction of those
used during the encampment, have been erected. Also 15 large
granite markers to locate positien of brigades and many iron
signboards and tables and benches as well as hitching rails
have been provided.

The old schoolhouse built by Letitia Aubrey in 1705, stones of
which are marked 1714 and 1716, which was used as a hospital
during the encampment, has been restored. Two wells have
been dug to secure water on the outer line of intrenchments;
and 2 nurseries planted, in order that trees may be at hand for
planting in suitable lacations. The underbrush in a large part
of the woods has been cleared. 5ix of the 20 brass cannon
domated by the United States Government have been mounted
upon carriages of the type used during the Revofutionary war,
according to design furnished by the British war office. The
main purpose has been to restore and Yo preserve the
gncampment grounds as nearly as practicable in the condition
they are supposed to have been at the time of the encampment,
and so as to make practicable the fullest enjoyment of them by
the people a5 a public park.{B3)

2. Bowen to Sayen, March 3, 1909, Correspondence, RG 48, PMHLC.

B3. U.S. Congress, House, Committee on the Library, Erection of
Memorial Arches At Valley Forge, Pa., 60th Cong., 2d se&s85., 1909, H.

Rept. 2225, pp. 2-3.
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During the spring of 1909 the park commission was busily engaged in
projects designed to get the park ready for lhe heavy visitalion season
which generally extended from May 1 to November 1. Among other
projects a large pavilion was constructed at the picnic grounds. On April
7 Superintendent Bowen informed commission president Sayen:

Since our last meeting we made considerable progress in
cleaning out underbrush and decayed or dead timber. Have
seeded banks from Fort Washington to Gulf Road each foot of
same has to be packed down afier seed and bone dust have
been applied. . . . Enough paint has been bought to repaint
our fences and we will begin painting some day next week.
The balance {5) of the cannon or six pound bronze guns have
been received from U.5. Government and stored away until
such time as we may secure an appropriation to erect carriages
for same. Pure bone, and grass seed has been bought and will
begin seeding the 22 acres after April 12th. Bridle path has
been finished from Inmer Line drive where path goes to Ft.
Washingten  spring argund through woods te  north  of
observatory coming out on main drive at Kmox's point. . . The
laurels which were planted adjsining river road were nearly all
destroyed by fire last Fail. Hawe had this portion of woods
cleaned up thoroughly so there will not be so much ofd material
for Fire to feed wupon. The remainder of laurels and
rhododendrums [sic] are in good condition, Contractor is
erecting Hospital Hut on the original foundations of one which
was in use in 1777-78 in  Kendalls' woods below  Wayne
Monument. . . {64}

On May 28 the Walley Forge Park Commission let a contract to W. J.
McCone of Daven, Pennsylwania, to build four huts i the park. The
contract stated that the huts were to be 10" x 12" and were to be the
“same kind as built previously {(and in same manrer under the supervision
of Supt. Bowen wha is to be the judge as io whether they are acceptable
to Commission)." The commission would provide the stone and logs for
the wark and pay the contractor $165 for each hut_(85)

The improvements at Valley Forge continued to draw large crowds to the
park. The wisitation and mode of conveyances used by visilors to the
park irn fiscal year 1909 {which ended on May 31, 1309) were:

4. Bowen to Sayen, April 7, 1909, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
65. Agreement entered into May 28th, 1909, between W. J. McCone of

Devon, Pa., as party of first part and the Valley Forge Fark Commission
of second part, RG 2, YAFQ Archives,
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Z700 automobiles 5 to aulo 43,500

1502 double teams 4 to team &,0n2
4335 single teams 2 to team B, 670
15198 pedestrians 15,198

6842 hicycles 643

500 on horseback 500
14300 occupying pichic grounds 14,300
25750 wisiting Hdg. 25,750

114,573 (B6)

The following week on June 7 Superintendent Bowen informed the
commission concerning the spring rush of wisitors:

Picnics are freguent both public schools and Sunday 5chools
and private picnics. All seem to be pleased with their visits,
Large number of wisitors come daily some Saturdays and
Sundays as high as 1500 to 1600 persons paying their visit 1o
the State Park. . . . The wild laurel is in full-bioom and is
greatly admired. . . {67

The floog of visitors was aided by Valley Forge excursion trips from
Philadelphia promoted by the Phitadelphia and Reading Railway. For
instance, on Saturday, June 12, a speciai train transported a 500-parson
Sunday School excursion. On Sunday the 13th three trains carried a
2000-person entourage associated with patriotic services sponsored by the
Knights of Columbus at which former Governar Pennypacker spoke. The
National Association of Credit Men had a 1000-person excursian on
Thursday, June 17.(68)

Although the Valley Forge Park Commission requested apprepriations
totaling $111,800 in 1903, the state legislature granted the sum of
$51,100.({69) With these funds and the balance of unexpended funds from
the 1907 appropriation various improvemenis were carried out under the
direction of Superintendent Bowen during the summer and fall of 1908.
Bowen's monthly reports during this period are iliustrative of the type of
maintenance activities and park improvements carried out by the park
commission during the pre-World War | years. In July Bowen reported:

66. Bowen to Sayen, [June, 1809], Correspondence; RG 46, PHMC.

87. Bowen to Valley Forge Park Commission, June 7, 1809,
Correspondence, RG 45, PHMC.

68. Weeks to Bowen, June 7, 1909, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC,

69. Report of the WValley Forge Park Commission, 1908, p. 15, and

Stager, History of the Centennial and Memorial Association, p. 220. .
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In

The Fi. Moultrie Revelutionary carriage with cannon has been
purchased from Geg. W. Schultz for $700, and same is in
Washington Hdg. <Contract for 19 more Rewvolutionmary carriages
for guns loaned by U.35. Government has been awarded to
Calvin Gilbert of Gettysburg Pa. who made the former carriages
which were delivered last year (for the nett [sic] sum of $/I5
each) part of these carriages have aiready been delivered.
Have sold nearly $300 worth of grass during present season.
Contractor has finished contract for building read in front of
Washington Hdg. along the whele length of Hey property now
owned by the State [new widened roadway permitted two-way
traffic]. . . Messrs. Windrim, Jenkins and Bowen of Executive
Committee have visited Washington Hdg. and have decided to
build the stone fence for which there has already been a
contract entered into with wW. H. Doyle for the nett [sic] sum
of $70. . . Have begun to build path entering off Centreville
road west of Ft. Washington and continueing [sic] below our
driving rgad around Knox's peoint until it meets the present
path  which terminates on  {nner Iline road near path to
washington Spring. . . Both the guards and our laboring men
are kept busy keeping banks and gutters in condition about 12
miles of same to be attended to.(70)

August Bowen reported on a wide wariety of maintenance

construction activities underway in the park. He noted:

The old tree oppesite Hdg. has been cemented and tarred
to try and save |ife of same. Stone fence in fromt of Hdg. has
heen finished as per contract also path has been widened to 8
ft. at entrance and filled in with small stone and dust at sides
and around corners. Faths for horsebackers and pedestrians
have been built through the woods rear Ft. Washington Redoubt
and around near Senator Knox's property around Mt. Joy down
to Mnox bridge. Part of this werk has been done through a
part of the Park which was not accessible to the peaple
befare. . . . Path from cbservatory to Washington Spring has
been rebuilt and same well protected by logs placed in bottom
of path to prevent water from washing away road or path bed.
Repairs to our roads have gone forward but are not finished as
yvet. Mostiy tarvia and small stone and dust have been applied
where roads are worn out or where they have become slippery.
This work is all dome by the day as it 13 almost an impossibility
to do it by contract and it is fairest to all concerned to have it
done by ‘force work'. . . Dirt roads have been cleaned up and
guiters placed in better condition. Hospital hut has been
finished and furnished with bedding etc. and attracts many
visitors. . . Have kept our paths cleaned out and fieilds mowed
to rid them of weeds etc. We have lost a number of trees this

70.

Bowen to Sayen, July 9, 7509, Correspondence, RG 46, PHM(C.
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season, same old and some planted two years and some planted
last Spring. Hawve applied nitrate of soda to the roots trying to
save them which appear to be blighted. . . .(71) .

The park improvements and maintemance activities continued during the
summear and fall. On CQctober 5 Bowen informed Sayen:

Since our last meeting five {5) batteries of four {(4) guns each
and carriages have been placed in pgsition. There are three
{3) more carriages yet to be delivered when they alsc will be
placed. The water has for some time [been] washing out our
grounds through the laurel garden at the reverse turn and we
have placed a gutter 286 ft long by 3 ft wide so as 1o gonnect
watar direct with inlet and stop the washing out. This was done
by contract. Hawve repaired outer Line road where needed alsc
road around observatory and where the observatory road meets
our lnner Line drive-way, Banks aleng the Camp road have
been graded, stumps removed and seeded the surplus fram this
embankment also the surplus dirt from Camp road have been
hauled to Gulph read between cur Inner line driveway and camp
school house, S54ft of 12" T. C. pipe has been bought and
placed in position so as to carry off water from upper side of
Camp road and western side of Gulph road. The Gulph rpad has
been placed in first ciass condition by using surplus dirt and
dirt taken from gutters along road, makes a good drive-way
and s travelled by automcbiles and teams. Stone gutters
placed along the road where our gateway is |ocated opposite
camp road. The river driveway as well as hill arocund and
above rewverse turn 1o cobservatory road also for a distance
around Knax's point and Ft. Washington were in very bad
condition. There portions of the road hawve been rebuilt with
T in. deep of 3/4" Birdsboro 3/4" stene. All this has to be
swept off clean before beginning to work. The 3/4" stone was
well rolled befare applying tarvia and after the tarvia and
scraenings were applied was rotted and then sprinkled and
rolled again with steam roller. The tarvia was all heated by
steam before applying. Think it will make a good road which
will fast for some time. More surface treatment with tarvia deoes

not  last, The stone and tarvia were bought and work
performed as force work the only way this waork could be
performed satisfactorily to your Supt. . . . Path has been

built from near Wayrme Monument to the Hospital hut. This hot
has attracted a large number of wvisitors, as high as 225 in one
day. A large number of trees have died ddring the summer,
though ne fault of the Contractor but owing to the extreme hot
and dry weather,{72)

71. Bowen to Executive Committee, August 10, 1908, Ceorrespondence,
RG 46, PHMC.

72. Bowen to Sayen, October 5, 1909, Correspandence, RG 46, PHMC. .
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Later on November 1, Bowen wrote to Sayen:

Stnce pur last meeting the tenant of the mill property advised
me we could have what soil we reguired at no cost to the
Commission. Embraced his offer and have had a number of
loads hauled and placed along road bank so we can use same in
spring when work begins. The owner Mr. Cutler formerly
charged the Contractor 15cts cubic yard for same. Have had
new grass sowed on site of the basin now covered with manure
to protect it during the winter. Bank afleng camp road and
east end of banks at Ft Huntington should have same treatment
if opportunity offers, We hawve long felt the need of a large
water sprinkler in the Park when wanted have been compelled
to send long distance for same. Hawve had bids from three
different parties and have made contract with H. F. Michell Co
for $322.50 which will include a force pump and hose so we can
pump from the creeks at Valley Forge or at Port Kennedy.
Posts bave all been painted with creosete [sic]. Am cleaning
out part of thicket below Wayne brigade. Bake ovens have
both been restored and graves marked. Large number of
visiters still continue to wvisit the Park. Men are kept busy
raking and burning leaves. A fire occurred along the Railroad
bank but was discovered in time and prevented from doing
much damage. Weeds in fields hawve all been mowed off.
Repairs o roads for this seaspn bhave all been finished which
are equalled by none elsewhere. An accident occurred to an
automobile on Sunday last between Kew York point and Gulph
roads machine was damaged and lady injured. ‘Was not near
Guard house but viewing same from Gulph road and following
tracts of machine looks as if struck cap stone.

The rest of the cannon have arrived. Wwe now have 5 batteries
of 4 cannon each and 2 batteries of 2 cannon each and have
placed one gun on the lunette.{73)

Aside from the warious maintenance and park improvement programs
carried out during the summer and fall of 19032, the columns marking the
location of the Pennsylwvania treops during the encampment were erected
during the summer of 1809 by contractor Henry K. Bush-Brown.
Howewver, they were left unfinished because of lack of funds. In
December 1910 the commission asked the legislature for an authorization to
complete the columns, reminding the legislators that the ¢olumns required
"a bronze bas-relief of Pennsylvania officers on each of the pedestals
supporting  the columns, with appropriate inscriptions, and that
surmounting each column an eagle with outstretched wings should be
placed to produce a proper and finished artistic effect."{74)

3. lbid., November 1, 1303, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.

74. FReport of the Vatley Forge Park Commissign, 1910, pp. 10-11.
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In its biennial report issued in December 1910 the commission noted its
accomplishments and asked far substantial appropriations with which te
carry out necessary park improvements. The Iodge erected by the
Centennial and Memarial Association in front of washingten's Headguartiers
detracted "from the surroundings' and needed 10 "he removed from its
present site." Shelter-houses were necessary for the protection of
myisitors during storms or inclement weather." The most critical problem
facing the park, however, was the acquisition of histerically-significant
land adjacent to the park. The commission abserved:

There was no appropriation made by the last Legislature for the
purchase of lands, hence it is that none have since been
acquired. The Commission cannol too strongly drge upon the
Legisiature and the Governor the necessity of appropriating
lierally for this purpose. Land that could hawve been acguired
ten years ago for one hundred dollars per acre will cost the
State now at least two hundred and fifty dollars per acre, and
as the years go by, and the Park becomes more universally
used as a pleasure-ground for the people, the prices of the
adjacent lands will naturally increase. It would be, therefore,
the part of wisdom of the Legislature to appropriate liberally to
the Commission at this session for this purpose. There are
several tracts of land adjacent to the Camp Ground that are
rich in historic association, and should be acquired by the
Commonwealth. . .

Despite these needs the commission was highly compiimentary of the

support that Valley Forge State Park had received over the years from .
the Pennsylvania executive and legislative branches of govermnment. The
commissioners cobserved:

when the Act of 18893, creating this Commission, was passed,
the wildest dreams of its friends did not realize that the
improvements since made could be possible, nor could they
picture the transformation since made upon these historic hills.
Before that time Valley Forge seemed a sorl of myth and, like
many traditions of old, a place created by the imagination
rather than a reality, but today, owing to the liberality of the
{ egislature of Pennsylvania and the friendship of its Governors,
Valtey Faorge has become the Mecca of all loyal Americans who in
numbers almest innumerable annuatly wvisit it. The inspiration
which the vyoung of the land obtain gquickens the patrictic
impulses of the people and makes the maintenance of the Park &
solemn duty, which all who are charged with public affairs
naturally feel desirous of performing.(75)

The sentiments of the commission were echoed by James W. Riddle, a
member of the Histerical Society of Pennsylvania and the Philadelphia
Baptist Ministers Conference, in his Valley Forge Guide and Hand-Baok,

75. Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1910, pp. 5-12. .
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Published that same vyear. Describing WValley Forge as "The Nation's
3hrine," Riddle described its location as "picturesquely situated near the
mouth of Valley Cresk, where the |atter, after coursing for more than a
mile amid wooded hills and through deep ravines, loses itself in the
waters of the Schuylkill river." The park could be reached by road and
rail and would scon be accessible by trolley. According to Riddle:

To Valley Forge from Philadelphia the distance by road is about
21 miles; by rail it is 24, the railway following the windings of
the Schuyikiil river. The route for pedestrians, and persans
going by private conveyance, is by way of the Lancaster pike
through Overbrook, Bryn Mawr and Gulph Mills. The route by
rail is owver the Philadelphia & Reading road from the Reading
Termingl.

The regular fare, single trip, is 58 cents, but excursicn tickets
at a less rate are obtainable during the summer season.

from Norristown the distance is about 8 miles. From
Phoenixviile, which lies beyond Valley Forge, the distance is 5
miles.

A trolley company, named the "Phoenixville, Valley Forge,
(Bridgeport) & Strafford Electric Raiiway Co." (the name
Indicating its route), is just completing its line as far as Valley
Forge, and expects in the near future to have cars running
over its entire route. When this is accomplished Vvalley Forge
will be made easily accessible fram all parts of the surrounding
territory.

The trolley route from Fhiladelphia will then be wvia 6%th and
Market Streets, Strafford, and King of Prussia; aor, wvia
Chestnut Hiil, Norristown, Bridgeport, and King of Prussia.

Valley Forge State Park was "situated chiefly on the highlands on the
eastern, or Montgomery side of Valley Creek." It comprised

aboul 500 acres, taking in the old forts, entrenchments, etc.,
and contains about 15 or 20 miles of fine roadway and
boulevard, which through winding and diversified route directs
the course of the wvisiior to the wvaricus points and objects of
interest, treating him the while to a magnificent panorama of
landscape wview and vista which it were impossible adequately to
describe. The polite park guard, also in grey uniform, may be
found at every turn in the way to give direction ar information
to pedestrian or other wisitor.

Entrance to the park could be made "either by way of the boulevard
leading directly up the hill eastward from the railway station" aor "by
going westward a square, which brings the visitor to Washington's
Headquarters and Valley Green, thence southward a square to Washington
Imn and the Old Forge in the heart of the Village, thence up the hill
eastward by way of the Gulph Road, the reoute of the trolley." Coaches
were always at the station during the summer months waiting for
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the arrival of trains; but should the visitor prefer, a coach for
the present may be dispensed with, until a great deal has been
taken in which can be easily and more satisfactorily seen on
foot. A carriage if desired may then be procured for the trip
through the Park, obtainable at the station or the Washington
Inn.

The latter course is especially recommended to visitors who wish
to see the most, and obtain a satisfactory idea of the place in a
limited time.

Within the park, according to Riddle, markers were Iconspicugusly placed
throughout the grounds to direct the wvisitor to the wvarious points and

abjects of interest." The most important things to see in the park were:
The Entrenchments Camp School House
Fort wWashington Sotdier Huts {(Reproduced)
Fort Huntington Varnum's and Knox's Headquarters
Star Redoubt Hospital Hut
Waterman Monument Bake Owvens
wayne Monumeant Soidier's Graves{76)

As the operation and development of Valley Forge State Park increased in
complexity, the commission found that its duties and powers required
further legal clarification. This was especially true in three areas:
acceptance and administration of trusts created for the benefit of the
park; improvement and regulation of township roads within the boundaries
of the park; and regulation of street railways and railroads in the park.
Accordingly, the fegislature, at the regquest of the commission, passed an
act on March 30, 1911, authorizing the commission to

accept in trust any fund heretofore or hereafter created for the
benefit or improvement of Valiey Forge Park, or any part
thereof, by deed, beguest, devise, grant, decree or
otherwise.

enter into agreements with township supervisors or pthar
officials charged with the duty of constructing and maintaining
public roads or highways, providing for the location or
relocation of any public road or highway within the limits of
Valley Forge Park, and for grading, widening, narrowing,
elevating or depressing the same, to such extent as may, in the
opinion of the said commissioners, render them suitable for park
roads or highways; and the sald commissioners are further
authorized 10 make reasonable rules and regulations for policing
the said roads or highways, and for regulating the trave! and
traffic thereon and the use thereof within the said park:

76. Riddle, Valley Forge Guide and Hand-Book, pp. 13-14, 28-29, 39-52.
Also see "A Vvalley Forge Tralley," Washington Chapel Chronicle, |1
{ February 15, 1810}, 3.
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Provided, That no moneys shall be expended for such purposes
by the said Commissioners excepting out of the appropriations
made frem time to time by the General Assembly for the
canstructiopn and maintenance of roads and avenues within the
park limits: And provided further: That the duty of
constructing and maintaining such public reoads or highways
shail remain with the township supervisors, or other officials,
charged with the said duty by law as heretofore. . .

consent to the location, relocation, construction, reconstruction,
widening, narrowing, elevating, depressing, grading,
arnamenting, or impraving of any street railway, electric
railway, elevated railway, subway, tunnel!, raitroad, er other
means of trawvel or transportation, within the limits of Valley
Forge Park, upon such terms and conditicns as the said
Commissioners may imppse far the advantage of the said park,
with the approval of the Governor.(77)

As the management of the park became more standardized, the Valley
Forge Park Commission appainted two of its members to & tree committee
te have general respensibility for adoption and implementation of a
forestry policy for the park. The committes, consisting of Richmend C.
Jones and A. H. Bowen, was created during fiscal year 1911 but remained
inactive, "owing to the uncertainty of its powers and duties, which were
net defined in the resolution creating it nor established by practice or
custom during the term of its existence.” At the end of the fiscal year,
oan May 31, Jones and Bowen, nevertheless, reported on the iree policies
that they felt should be adopted by the park:

The Commonwealth has appropriated money for the purchase and
planting of trees, and trees have been purchased but planted
haphazard by the workmen in the wrong places, where they wili
obstruct the wview of the landscape or fill up gaps or bays in
the artificial plow [ine of the forest which ought to be broken
and not preserved.

The forest which covers the hills about Valley Forge has been
cropped several times, since the great encampment, to supply
the neighboring forges and furnaces with charcoal, and the
present growth of sprouts or scrub trees answers the purpose
of covering the hills with wverdure and that alone. That of
course is a mast impartant consideration, which mature supplies,
but forestry (s an art and a science to supplement nature, and

77. Report of Special Committee, Concerning the Suppiemental Act of
Assembly, Approved March 30, 1911, further defining the powers and
duties of the Commissioners of Walley Ferge, RG 2, VAFO Archives. Data
on subsequent consideration of street railway lines in the park may be
seen in Railway Committee, First Reporil te Commissioners of Valley Forge
Park, Jurne 5, 1916, RG 2, VAFO Archives.
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it is the duty of the Commissioners 10 cbserve the canons of
that art and of that good taste which is the supreme and higher
law of all art.

No more planting need be done except along the Avenues and 1o
replace fallen or inferior trees, but the worthy and promising
trees of the forest should be carefully and judiciously selected
and given a chance for their development into great lrees
unhindered by a struggle for existence with hoop poles or
scrub saplings, which serve no other purpose than to give the
forest an unkempt and slovenly appearance.

The plow in the practice of farming draws a straight line aleng
the wood, which is justified by convenience, but in that line
there is no beauty. MNature never draws straight lines and Art
abhors them. The iawn ought to run into the forest and the
forest into the lawn so as to give effecls of light and shadow.
The whole field should consist of big trees and extended lawns,
and shrubbery should be excluded as inconsistent with the
grandeur of the landscape and the history of the field.

Among other things, Jones and Bowen recommended that the tree
committee be remamed the forestry committes, that it have full charge of
the forest and all trees in the park, and that it be authorized to employ
a foresier to adwise on adoption of a comprehensive forestry policy for
the park, including clearing, removal, transplanting, and planting of
trees. (78]

Two new memorial markers were dedicated and presented to the park
commission during 1971, The first was a granite boulder with bronze
plague dedicated "In Memory of Unknown Soldiers Buried at Valley Forge
1777-1778," erected by the Valley Forge Chapter, Daughters of the
American Rewvalution, and accepted by the commission during special
Evacuation Day ceremonies on June 18. The ten-foot-high marker was
located just west of the Wayne Monument. Featured speakers far the
occasion were former gowvernor FPennypacker, Dr. Charles H. Rorer,
pastor of the nearby First Methodist Church, and Mrs. Joseph Formance,
regent of the Valley Forge Chapter.{78)

A second monument, fhe Massachusetts Military Monument, was erected on
the site of the Massachusetts troops during the encampment. 1T was
dedicated and presented to the park commission on November 18. As

78. Jones and Bowen to the Commissioners of Valley Farge Park, May 31,
19117, RG 2, VAFO Archives.

79. "Evacuation Day at Valley Forge Park," Washington Chapel
Chronicle, |V {July 15, 1811}, 27-31, and "Unknown Dead Remembered Al
Valley Forge," Picket Post, Avtumn, 1972, 28. Thereafter, the regent of
the Valley Forge Chapter faid a wreath at the marker each June 19.
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early as 1906 the Massachusetts state legislature had authorized the
governor and council to inwvestigate the maiter of erecting a monument at
Valley Forge. In 1910 the iegislature had authorized expenditure of
$2,000 for a memorial to be erected by a three-person commission. Thus,
on MNovember 18 a large delegation, headed by [Brigadier General Philip
Reade, a retired army officer who was chairman of the Valley Forge
Military Monument Commission, traveled to Valley Forge to dedicale the
Vermont granite monument and present it to the commission. After the
principal address by Reade, William H. Sayen, president of the park
commission, accepted the monument with words of patriotic fervor:

| feel in addressing you almost as though | were addressing the
minute men of '7G, as you are all the descendants of that noble
band of patriots, who, at Concord and Lexington, began the
fight for liberty which culminated in success at Valley Forge.
As at Gettysburg the charge of Pickett's Brigade culminated the
success of the war for the Union, so at Valley Forge the
conversion of a bhody of raw and untrained militia into a drilled
body of veterans by the skill of Baron Steuben, tulminated the
success of the war for Liberty, as Washington never lost a
battle with these troops, after he left Valley Forge. You have
chasen to commemorate your heroes of the Rewvolution with a
menument of imperishable stone. where now [te buried the
countless warriors of Assyria? Who knows? Where are buried
the legions of Casesar? Who knows? To-day the savants of the
world are striving to decipher on monuments of stone the names
and desds of & few hundred herces who lived 3,000 or 4,000
years ago. Who Hnows but that in 3,000 or 4,000 yvears herce a
new nation, a new people perhaps will be striving to decipher
on this very stone the names of the patriots you have caused to
be placed thereon?(80)

By the fall of 1311 chestnut tree blight had becomz a major problem
affecting the forests in Valley Forge State Park as well as throughout
Pennsylvania. The park commission ccoperated with the state Chestnut
Tree Blight Commission created to deal with and control the infestation.
It was found that from 60 to 75 percent of the chestnut trees in the park
were affected by the blight, and there was concern that the
entrenchments would suffer from the destruction of the trees that covered
them. Accordingly, the commission arranged for the remowval of the
infected trees by contractors who were ‘sensitive" to the historic

&J. Dedication Exercies at the Massachuseits Military Monument, Valley
Forge, Fa., Erected by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Saturday,
18th Nowvember, 1911, . . {Boston, 1912}, pp. 1-18, and "Massachuselts
Day at Valley Forge: Dedication of the Massachusetts Marker," Washington
Chapel Chronicle, |V (December 15, 1911}, 67-71, and IV (January 15,
1912}, 75-76,
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resources in the park and for treating the bark of saivageable trees with
formula. {81}

During the spring of 1912 the park commission was confirmed as trustee
of the corporation funds in the possession of the Centennial and Memorial
Association of WValley Forge at its dissolution. While the association
desired to have these funds distributed among its members, the Court of
Common FPleas of Monigomery County and the Pennsylwania Supreme Court
both ruled that the association was a non-profit corporation and that the
furtd, amounting to $15,000 after payment of taxes, was "for a patriotic
and charitable use in that it relieved the public from a charge” and thus
"couid not be diverted from its original purpese." Henceforth, the
commission drew up rules on april 3, 1912, for the investment and use of
the fund, which by court order was to be used for "keeping in proper
order and repair the Headquarters property, and property immediately
adjacent thereto."” Richmond L. Jones, a park commissioner, was elected
officer of the trust fund.(82)

Soon thereafter the park commission's museum committee, headed by
Jones, drew up resclutions for the interior restoration of Washington's
Headquarters using the trust fund. The resolutions, which were adopted
by the commissioners in December 1912, read:

1 = That the Headquarters be furnished in the prewvailing style of
the period of the Rewvolutionary war, and in a manner suited to the
size and uses of the rooms and the character of the bulding.

2 - That the house furnishings be reproduced, &s nearly as may
he, under ihe direction of an expert decorator and the superwvision
of the committee.

3 - That, for the purposes aforesaid, the Committee be authorized
to borrow the sum of $1,000., or so much thereof as may be
necessary, to be repaid out of the income of the Centennial and
Memorial Fund of WValley Forge, beginning July 1, 1913, and that the
said income be pledged for the repayment of the money borrowed as
aforesaid. (83}

81. Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1912, p. 15, and Wilson
to Chestnut Tree Blight Commission, November 14, 1911, RG 2, VAFO
Archives. A map of the park prepared in 1911 may be seen on the
following page.

82. Report of the Walley Forge Park Commission, 1912, pp. 11, 15, and
Rules Adopted at a meeting of the Commissioners of Valley Forge, April
3, M2, concerning the Centennial and Memorial Fund of Valley Farge,
RG 2, VAFD Archives.

83. Jones to Commissioners of Walley Forge Park Trustes, May 1, 1912,
and Jones to Commissioners of Yalley forge, December 4, 1912, RG 2,
VAFD Archives.
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The general assembly appropriated funds totaling $71,500 for the
development and maintenance of the park in 1911-12, but Governor John
K. Tener reduced this amount by $20,000 "because of insufficient State
revenue."(84) Among the projects carried out in the park during those
years were {1} removal of the lodge or keeper's house which had been
built "to the |eft of and partly in front of the Headquarters Building" at
the rear of the headquarters property; (2) design of bronze tablets, with
"bas relief heads" of Generals 5t, Clair, Mifflin, Armstrong, Cadwalader,
Muhlenherg, Read, Harmer, and Irvine, and eagles for Pennsylvania
markers by Henry K. Bush-Brown; (3} construction of a road around the
wayne Monument; and {(4) installation of public water facilities "through
the Park and at the Headguarters."

Arrangements were also concluded with the Philadelphia and Reading
Railroad for “material impraovements" in the wvicinity of the Valley Forge
train station. |In consideration of the commission's permission to allow the
raifway "to |lay a second double track across a narrow strip of ground
belonging to the State, the railroad agreed to build with its own funds "a
hew station at a cost of not less than $10,000.00, to erect covered
platforms for protection of wvisitors in case of storm, to build a steamboat
landing, to censtruct a tunmel under their tracks, to take away the coal
shutes, and tg keep the banks in green and shrubbery." The new
station was to be of colonial design, "using the same material and
harmonizing with the headquarters" near which it was focated. {85)

Not only did the park commission make provision for development of
Valley Forge, but it alsp took steps to protect the esthetic values of the
park. During the fall of 1912 the Counties Gas and Electric Company
attempted to erect power line poles on park property along the side of a
public road. The commission immediately filed a2 hill of equity with the
consent of the attorney general to restrain such activity. Thereafter an
arrangement was made, with the approval of Governor Tener, to protect
the park from the “indiscriminate installation of the unsightly poles."(86)

The continuing develocpment of the park contributed to the growing
number of wisitors. In December 1912 the commission reported that the
“Camp Grounds for the past year have been used as an encampment far
Boy Scouts and the Cadets from the Pennsylvania Military College at
Chester." Numerous Sunday Schools and patriotic societies also visited
the grounds, (87)

84. No. 766, An Act Making an Appropriation to the Commissioners of
Valley Forge Park, June 14, 1911, Correspondence, RG 48, PHMC.

85. Eleventh Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission,
December 30, 1916, pp. 15-16.

86. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1812, pp. 3, 7, 11,
15, 19, 73,

87. Ibid., p. 15.
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Another state monument was formally prasented to the park commission on
June 18, 1913, when the State of MNew .Jersey dedicated a granite
monument surmounted by a Continental soldier in bronze on the camp site
of the New Jersey Brigade commanded by General William Maxwell. Under
an act passed by the New Jersey legislature in January 1972 providing
$5,000 for a state memorial at Valley Forge, then Gowvernor Woodrow
Wilson appointed a five-member Valley Forge Revelutionary Encampment
Commission, with John Henry Fort of Camden as chairman and James L.
Pennypacker as secretary, to oversee the project. The proposal of the
C. J. Hammeli Company of Pieasantville, Mew Jersey, was accepted for an
elaborate Yermont granite monument surmounted by a scldier in bronze
sculpted by John Horrigan of Quincy, Massachusetts, and featuring
bronze inscription tablets. On November 12, 1912, the Camden Lodge of
Elks cenducted the cornerstone-laying ceremony, and on June 18, 1913,
the dedication ceremonies were held with Dr. W. H. 5. Demarest,
president of Rutgers Ccoliege, presenting the principal address and Miss
Margaret Wilson unveiling the monument in the absence of her father,
Fresident Woodrow Wilson, who waz unable to attend.({88)

The following year, on Qctober 31, 1914, the State of Deilaware dedicated
8 memorial marker, cut from Brandywine granite, on the River Road
averlooking the Schuylkill Valley and "within easy waiking distance of
Washington's headquarters,” Charles R. Miller, Governor of Delaware,
presided owver the ceremonies for the gccasion. Henry . Conrad,
Associate Justice of the Delaware Supreme Court and chairman of the
state monument commission, presented the memorial to the park commissian
so "that they who come here from year to year may see and know that
Delaware has not been wunmindful of the debt she owes to her
Revaiutionary sires.“{89)

Two other memorials or markers were added to the growing list of
commemorative monuments in the park in 1913-14. One was a granite
memorial with a bronze tablet erected along River Road by Pennsylvania
to Major General Johnm Armstrong and the Pennsylvania militia who
defended the approaches to the camp east of the Schuylkill. The other
was 2 bronze tablet placed by the Patriotic Society Sons of America at the
elm tree close to Washington's Headquarters. The tree had grown from a
slip ecut by one of the society members at Mount Vermon in 1888.(90)

improvements to Washington's Headgquarters cemprised the primary
development activity of the commission during 1913-14,  After the state

88. Report of The Valley Forge Rewvoluticnary Encampment Commission of
The State Df Mew Jersey (Camden, 11%16), pp. 1-57. A copy of this

publication may be found at the Library of Congress.

89. "Delaware Memorial at Valley Forge,” in Appendix o Report of The
Valley Forge Park Cammission, 1314, pp. 111, and "Delaware Memorial at
Valley Farge," Pennsylvania Maqgazine of History and Biocgraphy, XXXI|X
(January, 1915), 59-7%.

90. Report of The Valley Farge Park Commission, 1914, pp. 5, 9.
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took owver the headquarters property in 1905, the structure "remained
unfurnished" until the commissioners' decision 1o restore it "to the
semblance of a habitable dwelling" in 1912. The interior and the exterior
of the structure were painted and restored, and the interior refurnishing
of the structure was commenced with acquisition of household furnishings
naf the Rewvolutichary epoch.” The interior restoration and refurnishing
were supervised by Dr. Alfred Lewis ward, a well-known architect and
decorator. The water station and toilet facility on the grounds was
equipped, affording "safety and comfort to wvisiters." Thirteen white oak
trees were planted "upon the west side of the Street oppositle to the
Headquarters and extending frem Nutts Road 1o a point near the flag
pole."{91)

The wvicinity of the headquarters was further improved in 1914 by the
canstruction of “Telford Parking and Storage Spaces at the shed near the
structure." According to specifications for the work drawn up by J. O.
Ctarke, engineer for the Valley Forge Park Commission, the work was
described as follows:

The Parking Space will be 72 feet wide by BD feet long of water
bound trap rock on telford bottom and the same canstruction Is
to be carried under the Shed which is 15 feet wide and 57 Teet
long inside. The Storage Space at the rear of the shed, about
19 feet wide by 29 feet long, and the entrance to the Farking
Space from the private lane will be of the same construction.
The entrance will have curbing of Wyoming Valley Bluestone cut
to the proper radius and the parking space will have straight
curbing of the same stone. Adjoining the curbs on the east
and west sides of the parking space, paved gutters threae feet
wide are to be laid. " The inlets are to be buiit of brick and to
have grate tops and the drains are 1o be terra cotta pipe,
except under the entrance where cast iron pipe is to be laid.
The banks and slopes around the parking and storage spaces
are to be sodded and other ground disturbed or filled is to be
seeded. Macadam paths will be required to provide access 1o
the spaces and the shed. The cellar walls shown are to be
torn down before the cellar is filled and the stone obtained may
be used for telford paving.

A comtract for this work was let to William H. Doyle of Berwyn,
Pennsylvania, on June 3, 1914.(92)

91. ibid., p. 9. Also see Second Report of Museum Committee: In the
matter of Furnishing Washington's Headgquarters, November 1, 1918, RG
2, VAFD Archives; Eleventh Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park
Commission, December 30, 1916, p. 13; and Committee on Forestry to
Valley Forge Park Commission, December 1, 1913, RG 2, VAFD Archives.

92. Roadwork, Valley Forge Park, Contract No. 11, Agreement, June 5,
1914, Specifications, May 18, 1914, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC .
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Visitation to Valley Forge Park continued io increase, encouraged in part
by completion of the Phoenixville, Valley Farge and Straffard Railway
during the summer of 1913. A new bridge across Valley Creek was
constructed enabling trolley cars to cross the creek to the park, and
fater comnections were made with the FPhiladelphia and Western at
E_r'l'dgepert.(ES} in December 1974 the commission reported on the
visitation statistics for 1973-14:

1913 1914 {11 months.)
Increass Decrease
At Headquarters . . 150,500 205,750 55,250
Automobiles . . . . . 38,273 59,584 21,311
Riders . . . . . . . 153,092 238,336 85,244
Carriages . . . . . . 4,594 4,450 144
Riders . . . . . . . 13,782 13,350 432
Horseback Riders . . 424 692 268
Fedestrians . . . . . 36,131 33,382 Z2, 749
Motorcycles . . . . . 3,564 5,071 1,503
Bicycles . . . . . . 1,908 2,286 378

The net increase of wvisitors for the 11 months of 1974 over the 12
months of 1913, is 139,462.

During those years Boy Scouts {1913 marked the beginning of & leng-held
tradition--Boy Scouts camping in the park over Washington's Birthday),
cadets of the Pennsylvania Military Acadamy at Chester, and HNational
Guard companies used the park for extended camping purposes, and more
and more Sunday Schools and patriotic and fraternal societies were
helding annual picnics there. The "almost universal use of automobiles
by wisitors," according to the commission, had “increased the cost of
maintenance o such an  extent that the appropriations" had been
insufficient "to cover requirements."(94)

The increasing use of Valley Forge State Park was enhanced by glowing
descriptions of the park's historic features and attractions that appeared
in numerous publications. Representative of such descriptions was that
found in the Report of The Valley Forge Rewvplutionary Encampment
Commission of The State of New Jersey. The report stated:

The Encampment has been restored to its  Revolutionary
condition and the Valtey Forge Park Commission of Pennsylvania
has placed protections around old historic spots and made them
accessible by drives amd transformed the Encampment into a

93, ."The Valley Forge Trolley," Washington Chapel Chronicle, V!
{August 15, 1913}, 35.

94. Ibid., pp. 8, 13. Also ses "The Boy Scouts at Valley Forge,"
washington Chapel Chronicie, V!l (March 15, 1916}, 89-90.
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beautiful park. Wwashington's Headguartiers, the artificers' camp
and the wvarious headguarters are all in good condition and easy
of access. Fort Washingten, Fort Huntington, the 5Star
redoubt, the lines of earthworks, the old Letitia Penn schoal-
house, the old bake-ovens, and the unknown soldiers' graves
have all heen sacredly taken care of, Anp pbservatory has been
erected at Mount Joy that affords & view of the entire
Encampment, and log huts have been erected in facsimile of the
old huts armd hospital used by the Reveolutionary Army.

The Yalley Forge Park Commission of Pennsylvania has brought
the old Camp ground up to a beautifui condition and, while
preserving all of the Revolutionary features, made it a park
that is not only the Shrine of American patriotism but also a
place of recreation as weli as & Revolutionary historical resort.
Beautiful drives and walks place every feature of the old
Encampment within easy access of the wisitor, and the
Commission maintains a Park Guard who guide the visitors and
protect al! objects of interest from desecration. Picnic grounds
have been established and suitable camping facilities, and
thousands of school children, accompanied by their teachers,
frequently visit there, and nearly 300,000 people annually visit
this historic spot.

The whole Encampment has a park-like appearance; the grass 1a
kept cut like a lawn, the groves are kept clear of briars, while
wild flowers grow in profusion, and growths of laurel dot the
hills and roadsides, and hundreds of birds warble and sing
their anthems in the groves to the Nation's Shrine in Summer,
while the soughing of the trees and the howling Winter winds
render a requiem to the unknown dead.{95}

Despite the generally favorable response of most visitors to their
experiences al Valley Forge, same had unpleasant encounters during their
visits. Two persans who expressed their disagreeable experiences in the
park were Mr. and Mrs. W. 5. Cassatt, owhers of Chesterbroock Farm 1o
the south of the reservation. The Cassatts, who rade their horses
through the park nearly every day, were irritated by their encounters
with park guards. According to Mr. Cassait they were freguent|y

annoyed by being ordered by certain of the guards off certain
portions where there were no signs to indicate bridie paths or
mot, and where | touid see no possible reason why we should
be ordered aff.

| can see no reason why equestrians should not be atlowed In
all parts of the park where pedesirians are allowed except upon

95. Report of the Valley Forge Revolutionary Encampment Commission of
the State of New Jersey, pp. 6, 8, 10.
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graves and intrenchments, upon those portiens of the grass
which is kept close trimmed and upen the walks and paths
expecially sel aside for pedestrians. Only 692 equestrians used
the park in the first eleven months of 1914 and this number
and a great many more could use the park as | suggest without
doing the least harm.

If the above is considered too much to ask, would it not be
possible to give us the use of thaese rides. . . and to have
them plainly marked so as to awvoid our being ordered about by
some ignarant and unduly authoritative guard.{96)

H. IMPROVEMENTS IN VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK UMDER GOVERNOR
MARTIN &, BRUMBAUGH: 1915-1819

With the inaguguration of Martin G. Brumbaugh as governor in 1815 Valley
Forge ©5tate Park gained an  ardent supporter in the state chief
executive's office--a turn of ewvents that had not been the case since
1903-07 when Samuel W. Pennypacker served as goverrnor. As a result of
Brumbaugh's support, the state legislature passed an appropriation
messure on June 18, 1913, providing $153,650 for land acquisition and
development, maintenance, and restoration work in the park. The three
majar &reas for which the funds were allocated were: purchase or
condemnation of lands ($75,000); future care, preservation, and
maintenance of lands and resources ($40,000); and read and path
construction and maintenance ($23,650).(97)

The $75,000 appropriation for land acquisition was especially welcome to
the Valley Forge Park Commission. In 1914 the commissioners had
indicated their frustrations in not being able to extend the park in their
biennial repaort:

We have every confidence in the belief that the appropriation
for which we ask, for acquiring mare lands, will be heartity
approved by the peopfe of the Commonwealth; in fact, all the
lands which comprise the camp should eventually be secured.
Only about 472 acres have been acquired in twenty-one years,
either by purchase or condemnation, through apprepriations
specifically made for the purpose. Mo appropriations for this
object have been made since the year 1907.

86. Cassatt to Patton, September 29, 1915, Correspondence, RG 46,
PHMC

87. "MNo. 718: An Act Making an appropriation to the Commissioners of
valley Forge Park". . ., June 18, 1915, in Eleventh Biennial Report of
the Valley Forge Park Cammission, Cecember 30, 1916, pp. 34-35.
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In this connection it may be stated that the lands upen which the camps
of the division of General Stirling, the brigades of General Varnum,
Huntington and Woodford, the Artificers, and sections of the camps of
Generals Mclntosh, Patterson, Weedon, Muhlenberg, the Artillery Park
and other corps, are not owned by the Commonwealth; ang the land
between the Star Redoubt and the Memorial Chapel, on which are
entrenchments and excawvations for huts, is now being offered for sale for
cheap building lots. {98}

With the appropriated funds the park commissioners set to work
establishing a fand acquisition program under the supervision of the
commissioners' real estate commities, headed by Richmond L. Jones. J.
P. Hale Jenkins, who had done previocus land acquisition legal work for
the commission, was appoinied as special counsel for the program, and J.
Q. Clarke was commissioned "to make surveys and property maps of such
tracts as in the opinion of the Committee, required first attention." The
properties of primary importance to the committee were parcels lying aleng
the east and west banks of Valley Creek.{99)

By December 1916 some 275 acres had been added to the park both by
purchase and condemnation, enlarging its otal acreage to approximateiy
766. The new acreage consisted of ten properties lying along both banks
of Valley Creek--100 acres on the west side and 175.686 acres on the east
side. One of the properties on the west side of the creek, a 5l1-acre
parcel owned by Philander C. KnoxX, contained some rather unique legal
stipulations. As described by the commissioners, the transaction
invalving this property inciuded:

In the case of the Hon. Philander C. Kpox property, no part of
the appropriation bhas been expended. Mr. Knox, while
retaining the legal title in himself and his beirs, has entered
into a convenant with the Commonwealth to preserve the
character of the land as woodland, and not to permit any irees
to be cut or removed for commercial purposes, to the end that
the beauty of the landscape shall never be impaired. In
consideration of this covenant, which runs with the {and, the
Commonweaith consents, by accepting the gift, to the
stipulation that it shall keep the forest clean and renew it from
time to time as may be necessary. The guantity of land
covared by this covemant is estimated by the engineer io be
about fifty-one acres, which is not exact, as the guantity is in
general terms described as extending from the Fisher tract to
the Knox bridge along the county line of Chester and
Montgomery and thence extending and inclining in a westerly
direction to the summits or sky line of the hills in Schuylkill
Tawnship, Chester County, covering the landscape in view from
the Public read on the east side of the Walley Creek, which is

98. HReport of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1814, p. 13.

o9, Real Estate Committee to Commissioners of Valley Forge Park,
October &, 1915, RG 2, VAF(Q Archives.
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wvariable and uncertain, but the best description to cover all of
the landscape. (100}

Meanwhile, the interior restoration of Washington's Headquarters was
completed during 1915-18 under the supervision of the park commission's
museum committee, bteaded by commissioner Richmond L. Jones, in
cooperation with the Daughters of the American Rewvolution. Many of the
furhishings for the restoration were purchased from John Wanamaker and
Alfred Lewis Ward, and the refurnishing project, financed by the
Centennial and Meamporial Trust Fund, was carried ocul under the direction
of Wanamaker's decorators and Ward. {101}

Once the restoration program was completed the commissioners in
December 1316 related the extent of their work and other improvements to
the area in the vicinity of the headquarters. They observed:

The furnishing is a restoration, as rmearly as possible, in tlhe
style of the period, and is intended to correspond with the
exterior of the Mansicn, which was theretofore and thereafter
the homa of the owners and managers of the VYalley Forge, who
blended the competence of ironmasters with the simplicity of the
Society of Friends te which they befonged. That is the anly
guide we had. MNone of the original Turnifure remains on the
premises or can be traced--zll of it having been scattered and
lgst during the period of indifference to things af the past
which preceded our Centennial Exposition of 1876, the
renaissance of American Art, and the beginning of reverence
for cur historic places,

on  the lawn, immediately about the Headquarters, the
Commission has planted thirteen American White Oaks, 1o
represent the thirteen states of the Union existing at the time
of the encampment. As these fong-lived trees grow up, they
will gradually displace the ephemeral varieties now shading the
lawn, and lend to the surrcundings a greater dignity and
significance.

The Commonwealth hawing now acquired alt of the meadow of
Valley Creek, the thicket has been cleared out of it, and the
headquarters lawn exiended to and including the westerrn bluff,

100, Eleventh Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission,
December 30, 1916, pp. 6, 9-10.

107. Report, Museum and Forestry Committees, April 5, 1916; Repart of
Museum  Committee: In The& Matter of Furnishing Washington's
Headquarters, June 5, 1916; Second Report of Museum Committee: In
The Matter of Furnishing Washington's Headguarters, Movember 1, 71916;
and Third Report of Museum Commitiee: In The Matiter of Heating
Washington's Headquarters, Cecember &, 1916, RG 2, VAFO Archives.
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which, with its tall and handsome trees, forms a beautiful
background and is a most charming and attractive improvement.
On this bluff, covered in the land acquired this year, was
stationed a battery of artillery, so this acguisition is historic as
well as picturesque.{1062)

Other improvements were carried out in the park during 1915-16 with the
generogus 35iate appropriations. One such project was the reconstruction
of the "Camp Road," one of the oldest and most familiar features of the
encampment directly connecting "the Washington and Huntington
Redoubts." ©On this road, according to the commission, were "stationed
the commands of Brigadier-General Maxwell, Major-General Lord 5tirling,
and 8rigadier-General Huntington, composed of troops from New Jersey,
Fennsylvania, and Connecticut." The commission also stated that aleng
this rpad "was pitched the Marquee of General Washington wpon his
arrival at Valley Forge, and near by is the stump of a tree where
tradition says Washington silently offered a prayer for the success of the
Patriot cause." The road restoration, which cost $10,000, was described
as "a great addition to the park drives."{103)

Restoration work was alsc conducted on the Valley Ferge fortifications,
particularly on the Washington and Star redoubts, during 1915-16.
Considerable research and consultation with military engineers was carried
out by the park commissioners during the restoration activities. In
December 1916 the commissioners reported:

In prosecuting the work, we followed as nesrly as practicable a
drawing of a typital redoubt for field guns of the peried of the
Revalutionary war kindly furnished to us by Col. Geo. A.
Zinn, Corps of Engineers, U.5.A., in charge of the government
work in the Delaware River, which we found to be of
inestimable service,

Last summer the work was completed, but Ceol. Zinn had then
been ordered to the Mexican border and the result could not be
submitted to him as we desired.

Under these circumstances we applied toc Major Oscar T.
Croshy, formerly of the Corps of Engineers, U.5.A., who
requested Col. Jobhn  Biddle, Corps of Engineers and
Superintendent of the U. 5. Military Acadamy at West Point, to
aid us in this interesting historical undertaking. Whereupon
Col. Biddle kindly gave us such information as the West Foint

102. Eleventh Biennial Report of The Vailey Forge Park Commission,
December 30, 1916, pp. 13-14.

133. Ibid., pp. 5-6. In early 1916 5. 5. Hartranft was the first park
superintendent to move into what became known as the "Superintendent's
House" near Washington's Headquarters.
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Library afforded, and upen our sending him a photograph aof
the Washington Redoubt restored and equipped with field guns,
he referred the matter for examination and repeort to Col. G. J.
Febeger, Professor of Civil and Military Engineering, and
forwarded to us a copy of the report as follaws:

“lI have examined the photograph and hawve no criticism to
offer. It is probable that the interior slope was rewvetted
and the area between the gun banks was at a lower level
o give more cover to infantry that manned the parapets
between the guns. These detaiis are, however, not
essential a5 the revetments which were probably of
gabions, fascines, etc., would soon decay.”

in answer to this wvery satisfactory approwval of our work, by
the highest military authorities in the country, after thanking
Col. Biddie for his interest and for the trouble he had taken in
ithe matter, we said it was riot the purpose of the Commission to
restore  any perishable part of this work, which as he
suggested was not essential, but to restore the earthworks as
monuments, and to equip them with guns te complete their
likeness and similitude to the defensive structures as they
existed at the time of the encampment at Valley Forge.

The work of restoring the "Star Redoubt” has also been
completed. There were difficulties attending the restoration of
this redoubt to its original condition which were not
encountered at Fort Washingun, ingsmuch as this structure,
being daown in the arable iand, had vyielded to the plow, and no
positive traces of its form remained upon the ground. We
have, however, the isolated mound on which the "Star Redoubt"
was erected, and the form of a six-pointed star indicated and
located on  Duportail’'s contemporary map which afforded a

perfect guide. As to the manner of construction and
equipment, we followed Washington Redoubt as an approved
made],

Unexpended funds from the appropriation were still awvailable for the
restoration of the Huntington Redoubt, "upon which little expenditures”
would be reguired.{104)

As part af the restoration of the fortifications, more guns were added at
those locations, as well as other sites in the park, for exhibit purposes.
By December 1916 there were 52 guns of various types scattered at sites
throughout the park. The location, number, and type of these guns
were:

104. Ibid., pp. 10, 13.
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Locatian Number Kind of Guns

Fort Washington . ¥ 3-3/4-inch Bronze
Star Fort . . 6 "
Gulph Road and innerline Ruad . 4 3-3/4 " n
Picnic Grounds . 4 3-3/4 0 "
Outerline Road, 500 yds fmm eastern

entrance to the Park 4 3-3/4 .
Outerline Driveway, 200 yds. ’r‘rom eaatern

entrance of the Fark 4 2-3/4 " irpn
300 yds. east qf Wayne Statue . 4 2-3/9 " "
100 yds. west of Wayne Statue . 2 2-3/4 " "
100 ft. above Fort Washington on the

hillside . . b 2-37/4 " "
Along the line of Washmgtnn Lane, 4(}9

yds. apart . . 12 3-2/4 " "
At flag pole in front -::f Washmgtnn 5

Headquarters . . . . . . . . . . 1 4-3/4 " “
Old Camp Schogl House . . . . . . . . 1 larger siege gun

Total Mumber of Guns

25 3-3/4-inch Bronze guns
24 2-3/4-inch iron guns
2 4-3/4-inch iron guns
1 large siege gun {105)

The larger appropriation alse permitted the park commission to davole
increasing attention to forestry issues in 1915-16. Of the 766 acres in
the park at that time some 250 were forest, composed "largety of chestnut
trees which for mare than a century furnished successive crops of
charcoal to forges and furnaces in the neighborhood." The primary
forestry problems faced by the commission were the fwin preoblems posed
by the chestnut blight and the consequent need for forest renewal and
preservation. Accarding to the commissioners:

After each cropping at intervals of 25 years numerpus sprouls
grew up from the live stumps, each crop worse than the last,
until the forest, weakened by this wviclation of nature's law of
reproduction by seeding, became easy prey for the devastaling
chestnut blight which, like a pestilence, smote the trees least
capable of offering resistance. About four thousand trees were
killed, but the experts of the "Blight Commission" informed uJs
that the forest would be improwed by their loss, if the dead
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trees were promptly removed, inasmuch as they were not forest
trees, for the most part, but overgrown bushes or sprouis

. smothering each  other. . . . The Valley Forge Park
Commissioners have constantly sought the advice and aid of the
Forestry Commission n planning for the c¢onservation and
preservation of the forest that covers our beautiful hills,
which, although damaged by the blight, is still an attractive
forest with a charming wvariety of trees: oak, tulip-poplar,
sycamore, ash, hickery, hemlack, pine, etc., all in fihe
condition, but marred and scarred by the dead and dying
timber still standing and breathing poison into the whotesome
tregs that remain. We have cleared the forest of many of these
blighted lrees and are still prosecuting the work. . |,

The commission alsp devoted attention to selective tree-cutting for the
purpase of enbhancing the "esthetic" and "scenic" vistas in the park. The
commissioners noted:

It sometimes happens that trees are out of place and serving no
purpcse but to obscure an extended landscape view or some
notabla work of art or historic interest that lies beyond, and in
such cases it is an esthetic duty to displace them and to cpen
such artistic vistas as may be necessary to improve the picture.
The vista, cut spme years ago, along the inner fine drive,
discloses the most charming view of the Valley Cresk, and
serves as a sample or example of the effect that may thus be
produced in this hilly country. Such an occasion presented

. ftself this year, and the Commission availed itself of the
opportunity before the leaves fell, as the form and exteni of a
vista can be better determined while the trees are in ieaf. ©On
the ridge Beyond the plain which Fort washington overlgoks,
stands the splendid equestrian statue of General Anthany
Wayne, scanning the open country to the south and east in the
direction of Philadelphia, and in full wview for miles from that
direction; but no glimpse of this great work of art couid be had
from the north, because of a curtain of poor trees drawn
behind it. It is true that clearing out the dead chestnuts from
the ridge, had let the daylight through, but there was still a
sparkfing of abstructing branches which obscured the statue,
and & narrow vista was accordingly cpened through this strip
of wood on a direct line from Fort Washington, which brings the
statue intp full wiew, silhouetted on the sky, from Fort
Washington and the Park Drive, circling about it, and also from
several points in the drive over the plain below. {108}

106. Ibid., pp. 14-15. Alsp see Second Report of Forestry Committes to
the Commissioners of Valley Forge Park, November 1, 916, RG 2, VAFO
Archives
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While the extensive restoration programs were underway n 1915216 a
bronze statue of Baron wvon Steuben was unveiled in the park by the
German-American Alliance. The statue, & replica of that dedicated at
Utica, New York, on August 13, 1915, was formally presented to the park
on October 2, 1915, Sculpted by J. Otto Schwizer, the statue was located
on "the OQuter Line Boulevard between the marker of General Scott's
brigade and the massive monument erected by the Valley Forge Chapter,
0. A. R., to the Unknown Dead of Valley Forge." The statue fittingly
stood upan a granite base on which there was "3 bas-relief depicting a
squad of soidiers drilling before the stern commander."{1G7}

During the spring eof 1917 the recommdndations of the park commission's
forestry commitiee of opening wvistas "where the trees obscured a
landscape or some structure of art or historic interest" were carried out.
By mid-May four vistas had been "cut througb obstructing trees." These
included:

1 - On the ridge crowned by the statue of General Anthony Wayne,
where his brigade was encamped. This wvista practically duplicates
his artistic equestrian staiue, by withdrawing the cortain of sprout
trees,- thus opening an impressive wiew of the statue from the
North.

2 - ©On the eastarn declivity of Mount Joy, adjoining Washington
Redoubt, and rewvealing Huntington Redoubt in the distance. Cal.
Zinn on the occasion of his inspection, pointed out that {hese
defenses were associated and ought to be in full view of each other.
The remowal of the pbstructions justified his criticism and discloses
at a glance the intelligent plan of defending the inner line, which
has commended itself to all modern military observers.

3 - On the summit of Mount Joy, from which no wview of the
surrounding country could be had without climbing the tower, an
undertaking not agreeable to many wvisitors, two wvistas have been
cut, one ka the Southwest and the other to the Morthwest, disclosing
enchanting extended wviews of Chester and Montgomery Counties.
Two wears ago a forast fire almost denuded the mountain forming the
Eastern border of the Valley Creek, and the remowval of the burnt
trees has been confused, by some casual observers, with the
opening of the Southwest wista, which thus appears t¢ be
unnecessarily wide, The burnt area will be replanted with suitabie
trees, and then nature, with her inimitable art, will proceed to hea!l
the wounds and hide the scars with generous wverdure, until & new
face, more beautiful than the ald shall be presanted. {108}

107, “Statue of Baron wvon Steuben at  Valley Forge," Washington
Chapel Chronicle, V[l {December 15, 1815), 869-70. Thereafter, wvon
Steuben Day was celebrated each September 17 {wvon  Steuben's
Birthday)} with a wreath-laying ceremony at the statue.

108. Third Report of Forestry Committee to the Commissioners of Valley
Forge Park, May 16, 1917, RG 2, VAFD Archives. The forestry
committee also recommended that a vista be opened from the Wayne
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After the interior restoration and refurnishing of Washington's
Headquarters was completed in 1916, plans were discussed to provide
moderate heat in the building during the winter months, "not onlty for the
comfort of wisitors, wheo row come at all seasons of the year, bul to
Prevent injury to the walls from dampness."{109) The commissioners,
eager to eiiminate all danger of fire, studied the heating systems at Mount
Yernon and Independence Hall and determined upon "a system of hot
water heating to flow underground [through 3-inch flow and return
Pipes] from the office building sbout two hundred feet away, where a
single fire would be maintained to heat both the office and headquarters
buildings. Accordingly, a contract was lat in late fall 1917 to the Wayne
Flumbing and Heating Company to Install the heating system that
consisted of

concealed stacks emitting a flow of warm air through registers
in the fireplaces of the rooms of the first and second stories,
back of the andirons where they wiil be unobserved. {110}

Land acquisition became the paramount activity of the Valley Forge Park
Commission during 1917-18 after the state legislature passed an act on
June 23, 1917, increasing the authorized land acquisition ceiling for the
park ta 1,500 acres {maps of the park prepared in 1917 and 1918 may be
seen on the following pages}. Thereafter, the commission confined its
efforts

to the condemnation of contiguous tracts of land on which are
situated the main inner lines of entrenchments, with the
supperting redoubts Washington and Huntingten, the Star fort
commanding the appreaches to Sullivan's bridge, the rifle pits,
some well preserved; the siles of most of the brigade and
regimental camps with the remains of hut holes and bake-ovens:

108. (Cont.} Monument northeastward in the direction of the Star
Redoubt. Both the statue and redoubt were

on elevations overlooking the intervening land, and the view is
only chstructed by a few unimportant trees on the statue ridge.
such a vista would not only rewveal the Star Redoubt, but it
would render the Wayne Statue piairly visible from the Port
Kennedy Road, the thoroughfare of the Park, and this, in the
opinion of the Committes, would be most desirable.

109.  Third Report of Museum Committes: In the Matter of Heating
Washington's Headquarters, December B, 1916, RG 2, VAFO Archives.
During the restoration work the "apparatuses, formerly used for
heating," were remowved.

110. Headguarters Committee: Fourth Report to Commissioners of Valley
Forge Park, September 3, 1317, and Headquarters Committee: Fifth
Report to Commissioners of Valley Forge Park, December 5, 1917, RG 2,
VAFD Archives,
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the Life Guard Camp; the Artillery Park; the Provost, the main .
graveyard; and the headquarters of Generals Washington and
Varnum, original buildings.{111)

The commission's land acquisition efforts soon led to the realization that
appropriations "for the purchase of condemnation of this land" was "insuf-
ficient 1o pay for the full gquantity of land whose acquisition" was desired
by the commission. Accardingly, in August 1218, the commissioners
requested a formal [egal opinion from the state attornmey general as to
"whether the amount of land that can be acguired at any time is limited
by the amount of specific appropriations, or, whether the Act
contempiates an acquisition of the full fifteen hundred acres, or any part
thereof, in anticipation of appropriations to compensate owners of the land
taken." In response to this inguiry, the attorney general wrote to the
commission on September 4, 1918:

| am of the opinion that the Act contemplates an acquisition of
any amount of land not exceeding fifteen hundred acres at any
time deemed expedient by the Commissioners and without regard
to the awvaiiable amount of moneys specifically appropriated for
this purpose.

This statute does not confer upon the Cammissioners of Valley
Forge Park the right to condemn land, but the State itself
appropriates the property directly and by virtue of the express
terms of the statute. The power of the Commissioners is limited
to designating and marking the boundaries of the land deemed
expedient by them to be acquired and as socn as this is done,
the title is immediately vested in the State,

The intention of the Legislature being clear and not restrained
in its operation by the Constitution, you are therefore now
advised that the Act of 1893, as amended, operates to
appropriate land whose boundaries are marked oul  and
designated by the Commission notwithstanding the fact that
there are mo moneys available from specific appropriations, to
compensate the owners of the tand, so acguired.(112)

Armed with this legal opinion, the park commission escalated its land
acquisition program during the next six months. Thus, by March 1,
1918, the caommissioners couid report that the total acreage of the park
Yat the present time is about 1,430," although "in many cases petitions

1. Tweifth Biennial Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, March 1,
1918, p. 6. -

1M2. Brown to Jenkins, September 4, 1918, in ibid., pp. 29-32. .
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have not been presented."” This ambitious two-year land acquisition
program had thus nearly doubled the size of the park.(113)

The commission's land acquisition efforts arcused the fears and resentment
of local property owners in the wvicinity of the park. These persons,
anxious that they might lose their homes, found a champion in W. Herbert
Burk, rector of the Washington Memorial Chapel, who began publicizing
their fears. Quoting lines from "Evangeline” in a sermon given at the
chapel on Oecember 22, 1918, Burk summarized the intense feeling of
same local residents, Burk, however, was happy to announce in the same
sermon that the park commission had recently informed him

that no home need be surrendered, for the Valley Forge Park
Commission has no intention to drive out any citizen, or 1o
deprive any family of its home. If a house be for sale ihe
state will purchase it, but it will not campe!l anyone to seli. He
explains that the notices now being served are only to prevent
sales to other parties.

This is the good tidings | bring to you to-day, my feliow
citizens, to free your minds from fear and to fill your hearts
with gladness. For one, | am deeply gratefu! to the Commission
for what | believe is the first message ever sent by it to this
community. | rejoice in the news not anly because | consider it
just to the people whose homes are here, but because !
consider the ruthless destruction of a home & sin against
society and treason to the state. Sometimes progress demands
the destruction of a home, as when it stands in the way of
some development necessary for the public good. Ewven then
the hapless people are mariyrs whose sufferings are beyond the
paltry measure of gold. . . .

Mow you can understand why | rejoice in Mr. Scott's message,
after | had watched the surveyors at work and read the notices
served by the Commission. To destroy a few houses to add a
few acres to the Valley Forge Fark would be a social crime,
especially as no historic purpose could be gained by the
devastation. For as a matter of fact it is folly to tatk about
"restoring Valley Forge." That Valley Forge of Washington is
gone forever. .

I doubt if any one ever found more pure deiight in the
Valiey Fforge Park than | bave. Mo one could wvalue it more
highly for its historic associations or for its aestbetic
influences. ©One of the great pleasures of my [ife is to point
aut to others its scenic splendors and its sacred spots. If it
must be extended to fifteen hundred acres or even to two
thousand acres, the extersion can be made without the sacrifice
of a single home, and my hope is that it will be so developed

113. Twelfth Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission,
March 1, 1919, pp. 6-8. Also see Atlorney Genearal o Stuart, January
74, 1924, RG 2, VAFQ Archives.
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by the sound judgment of the Valley Forge Park Commission,
whose members are real home-lovers. {114}

The increase in the size of the park during 1917-18 attracted increasing
numbers of wisitors, created the need for expansion of the park road
system, and led io planned restoration of recently-szcquired historic
structures. Some 500,000 to 600,000 tourists were now coming o the park
on an annuoal baslis, aided in part by reduced cone-day excursion fares
offered on weekends by the Philadelphia and Reading Railway {a copy of
such a railway advertisement may be seen on the following page). As to
the park roads, the commissioners reported in March 1819;

The construction of macadam roads and keeping them in repair
demanded ocur continual consideration and attention. The now
universal use of automobiles had necessaritly increased the cost
of their maintenance. The development of roads in the newly
acguired sections of the camp for the convenience of wisitors to
the entrenchments, redoubts and the stations of picket guard
and provost, are now being worked out. A section of the
historic Gulph Hoad, between the Camp road and Washington
Lane, over which the army marched, has heen macadamized,
and other roads widened, drained and changes in grade and
turnouts made.

According to the commission's biennial report in 1919 the acquisition of
Varnum's Quarters and the site of his brigade camp was viewed as "one
of the most important made by the Commission." The original building
was standing and its restoraticn under consideration. The Philadelphia
Chapter, Daughters of the American Rewvolution, requested that the
building "be tourned owver to their care,” offering to "renovate and
preserve it, subject to the approval of the Commission, and install a
caretaker, without any expense to the Commonwealth."{115}

114.  W. Herbert Burk, Good MNews for The Home-Lovers of Valley
Forge: A Sermon Preached in The Washington Memorial Chapel, Sunday,
December 22, 1918 (N. P., 1919), pp. 1-8.

113. Twelfth Biennial Report of The Valley Ferge Park Commission,
March 1, 1918, pp. &, 8-9. The visitor statistics for Valley Forge Park
during 197718 were:

1917 1918
At Headquarters . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 299,500 221,250
Automobiles . . . . . . . L oL L oL L L. 74,875 55 312
Riders . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. ... 262,066 193,592
Carriages . . . . . . . . . . . o ... 1,392 1,044
Riders . . . . . . . . . . . ... .. 4 176 3,132
Horseback Riders . . . . . . . . . . . .. 740 281
Fedestrians ., . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,845 32,864
Motercycles . . . . . . . . . . . . . ... 2,957 1,008
Bicycles . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. 1,047 781
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Philadelphia and "J

Reading Railway

ONE DAY
' EXCURSIONS
TO

VALLEY FIIRGE

24 MILES FHOM PHILADELPHIA

Saturdays and Sundays
TO OCTOBER 28th, 1917,
INCLUSIVE.

Independence Day, July 4th;
Labor Day, Sept. 3¢d, 1917,

TI'-'IA'.NS LEAVE READING TEHMINAL

WEEEDAYS— 25, 608 7.32 9.3% A M., 12 22, 81 3, 10k, 449,
5.a0, E..:b DA

SUNDAYS—7 36, .00, 10038 A M., 1.25, 6.0f, &3t PAL

SPECIAL RATES FOR ORGANIZATIONS
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Park visitation was encouraged by increasing attention to the reservation
in national periodicals during the war. One example of this national .
exposure was an article, entitied "The Valley Forge Memorial Park," that

appeared in Qutlook on Aprit 11, 1917:

. . Over most of the roads leading to Valley Forge to-day the
dial of the speedometer registers some twanity-one miles.
Despita many admonitions by the way to observe a soher
eighteen-mile pace, Valley Forge is generally counted less than
an hour distance from Philadelphia. Of the quarter of a million
anrual wisitors, however, half alight at the elaborate station,
carried out with reasonable fidelity in the colonial manner. The
site of the encampment lies in the form of an irregular
crescent, some two miles in Jength, with the principal entrances
for the motorists and the railway-trippers at either end.

within the boundaries of the park will be found the sites of the
famous huts, the forts, and the double lines of intrenchments
which surround the camp, the famihiar Washington
Headquarters, and other buildings of the period, with many
arches, statues, and memeorizals of the past. Several of the
ancient lanes, narrow and stony, over which the Continental
soldiers once toiled, are still preserved; but the visitor to-day
may reach every paint of interest by excellent modern roads, of
which there are some twenty miles. The study of history is
robbed of all its drudgery, and the memarials pass as guickly
as one would turn the pages of a book. .

No picture of the suffering at Vatley Forge, probably, makes so
strong an appeal as the familiar interior of the log hut, with
washington in the doorway and the soldiers about the pitiful
little fire struggling to their feet to salute him. The sites of
many of these huts may be clearly traced to-day by the slight
hollews in the ground which indicate their regular grouping.

From the ald drawings stiil preserved a typical hut has been
reproduced (none remain lo be restored) which gives a complete
picture of these famous shelters. In all about one thousand
huts were built, much of the dreary winter being passed in the
work, and, since their utmost capacity was but twelve men, the
size of the army may be definitely counted.

Few buildings in Lhe country are so familiar as Washington's
Headquarters, and one greets it as an old friend. . . . It is
wonderfully well preserved throughout, even the woodwork, the
windows, doors, and locks being originals.

A quaint halved doorway opens directly into the narrow hall,
which runs the length of but lwo small rooms. . . . The front
room, where Washingten held his councils of war, has been
furnished in the traditional manner made familiar by many
illustratioms. A facsimile of the original map of the encampment
hangs above the mantel. The old fireplaces, which were the .
only defense against the c¢old of the Valley Forge winter,
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naturally attract special attention. The details of the
restoration are throughoui so complete that in every room the
past seems wvery real.

Ferhaps the most touching relic of the past at Valley Forge are
the ragged trenches which once engircied the camp. The
underbrush has been cut away in many places, leaving them
clearly defined. Originally the trenches measured six feet in
height and three in depth, with a mound of four feet. In some
places stakes or pikes extended outward from the mound, with
an abatis of brush or stumps, at a distance of extreme musket
range. Many trees have sprouted from their sides and grown
undisturbed to stately proportions. . . . Close beside the
level road which skirts the inner line of fortifications, tempting
the motorists to a quickened pace, a sign cautions the wvisitor to
"slow down to 12 miles." But the pathetic little hillocks should
be approached reverently, even afoot, and twelve miles seems a
profanation.

On scores of memorials to the past history is so legibly written
that he who runs may read. Every State which sent troops to
Valley Forge seems to bave celebrated the honor by some
monument, statue, or marker in stone or bronze. The walley to
the eastward is dominated by a graceful arch erected at a cost
of $100,000 by the Federal Gowvernment. Sewveral buildings of
the period other than Washington's Headquarters remain,
notably the Mansion House, the 5Steuben Headguarters, and the
Varnum Headguarters. The quaint school-house built in 1705,
which served as a scldiers' hospital during the encampment, has
been restored with a faithfulness to detail which even includas
the dunce's cap. The camp should be viewed from the
observatory, some seventy-five feet in height, at the summit of
Mount Hope. The climb of one hundred and twenty steps to
the top well repays the wisitor, who finds the site of the
encampmant unrolled at his feet. {116}

Throughout the vyear 1918 the park commission debated attention to
forestry concerns in the park. On March & the commissioners directed
the forestry committee “to provide for a systematic and artistic planting
of small Hemlock Trees on both slopes of Valley Creek Gorge, to
gradually replace and supercede the present growth of chestnul sprouts
and other inferior {imber growing there." Thus, a contract was let to
Wwilliam H. Doyle, a landscape gardemer in Berwyn,

to furnish and plant on both sides of the Valley Creek in Valley
Forge Park, Twelve hundred hemiock trees, {1200) from 3 1o 4
ft. in height. . . . These trees to be planied on both sides of
the Gorge fifty feet apart or nearly so, and to be planted as

116. F. A. Ceoliins, "The Valley Forge Memorial Park," Outlook, CXV
(April 11, 19173, 655, B57.
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far up the hill as the sky line is wvisible from the public
road. . . L{117)

In the fall of 1918 forest-related issues in the park were studied "with a
view ta the reforestation of such portions as were devastated by the
Chestnut blight in its terrible visitation of the past few years.' On
November 7 the forestry committee reported on the findings of its study
and its efforts toward reforestation and landscape redevelopment:

In remewing the forest, the Committee is impressed with the
desirability of growing & better class of timber, and the
American oak, in its various forms of White, Red and Scarlet,
being indigenous to our soil and climate, and In groups
presenting a Vvery imposing and majestic appearance, s
considered with great favor.

The Committee therefore purchased five bushels of acerns,
gathered largely from the lofty oaks in St. David's Church
yard, and had them planted by a score of boys from the
neighborhood, as if strewn broadcast, after nature's plan, with
the aid of a little covering to facilitate and accelerate the
process of resurrection.

The Committee also found that the Chestnut blight had smitten
so0 many trees in some isolated patches, as to make the others
look like "no man's land", and agreed that the landscape in
general would be greatly improved by clearing away the
unsightly remainder.

The same general rule of treating the landscape as a whole, and
subordinating all details to genera! effect, is being applied to
fence rows and other like disfigurements.(118}

The earliest payroll lists to be found for Valley Forge Park are those
covering the period from December 1, 18717, to December 31, 1918. The
payroll list for the first two-week period in December 1917 shows that
fifteen full-time and part-time employees were on the staff. It read:

117. Doyle to Jones, March 1%, 1918, and Forestry Committee to
Commissioners of Wvalley Forge Park, April 4, 1918, RG 2, VAFO
Archives,

118. Forestry Committee Report to Commissioners of Valley Forge Park,
NMovember 7, 1918, RG 2, VAFO Archives.
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PAY RQOLL - Decembear ist ta December 15th, 1917:

Supt. S. 5. Hartranfi $ 75.00
Clerk Wilfred Jordan 25.00
Foreman George W. Shenk 32.20
Teamster James Jamison 33.75
Ch. Guard Ward Michols 32.50
Caretaker Jerome Sheas 35.00
Labor George Lauer 32.50
" Aaron Jaffe 22.50

" John Brittian 21.25

" John T. Watson 10.00

" Latham M. Wolff 31.25

" George Rowan 16,25

n Clarence Lauer 28.75

" A. M. McGrady 19.20
Janitor Jercme Sheas 2. 50
TOTAL $424.65

in January and February 1318 three to five additional janitors were paid
part-time wages, undoubtedly to ready the park for the spring and
summer rush of wvisiters. The largest payroll period for 1918 was that
covering August 1-15, when there were twenty-seven full-time and
pari-time employees, including eight guards, ten laborers, two foremen,
and two caretakers in the park. These extra workers were obviously
sgasonal  employees who were hired to carry out the guard and
maintenance activities in the park during the spring, summer, and early
fall wvisitation season.(119}

The increasing maintenance and development costs for Valley Forge State
Park raquired increasing amounts of money for park operations. Hence
the park commission was happy to announce the first bequests of private
funds For the maintenance of the park during World War |, The
begquests, which were given by Selden Twitchell in his will and were to
become operative upon the death of his widow, included $10,000 for the
"maintenance of the camp site" and §2,500 for the “care of Washington's
headguartars,"(120)

119. Pay Roll, December 1, 1917, to December 31, 1318, Correspendence,
RG 46, FPHMC.

120. Twelfth B8iennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission,
March 1, 1918, p. 9.
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l. ERECTION AND DEDICATION OF HNATIONAL MEMORIAL ARCH:
1908-1917

The widely-heralded National Memorial Arch, the largest monument to be
erected in Valley Forge State Park, was completed n December 1916 and
dedicated and transferred to lhe Commonwealth of Pennsylvania during
special ceremenies on June 18, 1917. The ceremanies were the culmination
of nearly a decade of efforts to have the federal government erect &
memorial in the park.

The effort began in 1908 when a bill {H. R. 17986) was introduced in the
House of Representatives providing for appropriations of $50,000 for twa
memorial arches (to be called the Washington Arch and the Von Steuben
Arch) at Valley Forge Park--one at each of the principal entrances. The
bill provided that the location, pians, specifications, and designs for the
arches would be approved by the Secretary of war before the
appropriation was expended. it also provided:

That when such arches are erected the responsibility for the
care and keeping of the same shall be with the said Valley
Forge Park Commission, or as may otherwise be provided by the
State of Pennsylvania, and without expense to the United
States.

The biil soon gained widespread publicity, endersements coming from such
organizations as the General Society Sans of the Revglution. The bili's
principal sponsor, Congressman |rving P. Wanger of Morristown, arranged
for an automobile tour of the park by Speaker of the House .Joseph

Cannon and other congressmen on May 28, 1909. Soon  thereafter
hearings were held by the House Committee on the Library with Wanger
providing the principal testimony in favor of the bill. Among his remarks
ware:

In view of the action taken by Congress in building monuments,
as was done at Yorktown, or in contributing toward the
erection of other monuments, as has been done at several places
prominent in Rewvelutionary history, where like amounts were
contributed by States or associations, it s respectfully
submitted that the appropriation of $50,000 asked for the
erection of two memoriai arches, one to be erected at the
western terminus of the boulevard through the park and the
other at the eastern terminus, is reasonable, and may with the
utmost propriety be granted.

To grant the appropriation will be to encourage the splendid
work of Pennsylvania and her people. . .Participation by the
Mational Gowvernment will be an incentive to Pennsylvania 1o
continue her grand undertaking and to the other original States
to participate, to make truly national in scope and spirit this
sacred and all important Rewvolutionary camp ground.
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Thereafter, the committee recommerded passage of the bill, but Congress
took mo further action on the measure.(121)

In Janvary 1910 Wanger reintroduced an identical kill (H. R. 551 in thae
House.{122) After passage in the House the Senate Committee of the
Library, to which the bill was referred, proposed varigus changes:

On careful consideration your committee is convinced that the
amount authorized in the bilt of the House of Representatives,
$50,000, is not sufficient for the purpose named, 1. e., the
erection of twe arches spanning the principal entrance at the
opposite ends of the Valley Forge Park. Your committes is alsq
strongly of the opinion that a memorial of the nation would be
better expressed in a single stracture of befitting propoertions
and dignity. To this end the appropriation of $100,000 is
recommended for the erection of one memorial arch.

The amended bill, which had the wholehearted endorsement of the Valley
Forge Park Commission, was approved on Juns 25, 1910, and read as
follpws:

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representalives of
the United States of America in Congress assembied, That the
expenditure of the sum of one hundred thousand dollars, or so
much theregof as may be necessary, be, and the same is hereby,
authorized for the erectiom upon the site of the encampment
during the winter of seventeen hundred and seventy-sewven 1o
seventeen hundred and seventy-eight of the American army at
Valley Forge, Pennsylvania, of a memarial arch within the
Valley Forge Park, in commemoration of the patriotism displayed
and the suffering endured by General George Washinglon, his
officers, and men during said winter: Provided, That the
money authorized to be expended as aforesaid shall be expended
by the Valley Forge Park Commission under the direction of the
Secretary of war, and that the l|ocation, plans, specifications,
and designs for the said arch shall be approved by the
Secretary of War: Provided further, That when the said arch
is erected the responsibility for the care and keeping of the
same shal! be with the said Valley Forge Park Commission or as
may otherwise be provided by the State of Pennsylvania and
without expense to the United States.(123)

121.
122.

H. Rept. 2225, pp. 1-7.

U.5. Congress, House, Committee on the Library, E£rection of

Memoria! Arches at Valley Forge, Pa., 815t Cong., 2d sess., 19110,

Rept. 319, pp. 1, 7.

123.

H.

U.5. Congress, Senate, Committee on the Library, Memorial Arches

at ¥alley Forge, Pa., BTst Cong., 2d sess., 1910, 5. Rept. 7%, pp. 1-2,
and P.L. B1-272, 36 Stat. 222.
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After passage of the bill the park commission responded by stating that
the "United States has liberally responded to the appeal made to erecl a
suitable arch, thus indicating the interest that the Nation at large has in
this historic camp.” The commissioners were certaip that the completion
of the arch would "doubtless be an impetus for the sawveral states to
recognize, by the erection of appropriate markers, the intense suffering
of their patriotic sons on these Rills {124}

The Vvalley Forge Park Commission advertised for design propasals and of
those received selected that of Professar Paul Philippe Cret of the
University of Pennsylvania. The design of the granite memorial was
described as being "somewhat similar to the Arch of Titus, in Rome, the
embellishments referring to American history." The Commissian of Fine
Arts reviewed and approved Cret's design.{125)

In  Janeary 1811 Congress was requested to provide 8 $£100,000
appropriation for the arch. In the letter submitted to the Secretary of
the Treasury for transmittal to Congress, Secretary of war J. M.
Dickinson noted:

The plans and designs for the arch have now been submitted
by the Walley Faorge Park Commission, as required by the act,
Sfter which it becomes imperatively necessary that an
appropriatien should be made befare any further steps can be
taken to carry into effect the provisions of the act, which
authorized the expenditure of $100,000 for the erection of the
arch, but made no appropriation therefor. The estimate
submitted provides that the appropriation shall be immediately
available in order to avoid unnecessary delay.

it was impracticable to include an estimate for this work in the
regular annual estimates of the War Department for the fiscal
year 1912, as the matter was not presented to the department
until after the regular estimates had been submitted to

Congress, throcugh the Treasury Department, as required by
law. (1263

124. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1910, p. 7.

125. U.5. Congress, Senate, Committee on the Library, Report of The
Commission of Fine Arts, 62d Cong., 2d sess., 1911, S. Doc. 192, p. 9,
and Twelfth Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commissipn, March
1, 1918, p. 10. Thereafter, a controversy ensued over the location of
the arch, the commission holding firm for the intersection of Gulph Read
and Quter Line Drive.

126. U.S. Congress, House, Committea on Appropriations, Memorial Arch
al Valley Forge, Pa.: Letter from The Secretary of The Treasury, 61st
Cong., 3d sess., 1911, H. Doc. 131, pp. 1-2. In the estimate attached
to Dickinson's letter, W. H. Bixby, Chief of Engineers, nated:
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The appropriatiocn was passed in April 1911, and in March 1912 a contract
was awarded to Henry L. Brown to construct the Memorial Arch, the
government retaining Cret as architect. Ground was broken in May. In
December 1912 the park commission reported that the arch would
"doubtless be dedicated in the near future."

Twa years later, in December 1914, the commissioners reported that the

arch was '"appreaching completion." Because of the lack of a
congressional appropriation, it had "mot yel been transferred to the
Commonweaith." The commissicners noted, howewver, that its compietion

would necessitate

some expensive topographical changes; the abandooment of the
present and construction of a new reoad tg directly approach
and run on two sides of it, and terminate at the Guilph road.
The architectural beauty of this imposing Arch (it has no equal
en  this continent), with its historic embellishments and
inscriptions, reguires that its approaches and surroundings
should be in keeping with it. Its commanding location at the
Guiph road, along which Washington with his army marched to
their camp and to the rear of the outer line of defernses, is a
preminent and attractive landmark for the Schuylkill and
Chester Valleys.(127)

Frogress on the arch continued to lag in 1915%-16. |In December of the
latter year the park commissioners observed that the arch was

still wunfinished, and until the work is completed cannot be
accepted by the Commission on behalf of the Commonwealth.

This great work of art, with all its fitting and appropriate
inscriptions, was described in the last Biennial Report of the
Commission, and believing it would be finished this year, the
Legislature of 1915 appropriated %5000 for the ceremonies
incident to its dedication. A bill was introduced intoe the last
session of Congress for an additional appropriation of $35,000 to
complete the work, but it was not reached and goes pwver to the
short session of this year, when the Library Committee, having

126. {Cont.)

The act provided that the money should be expended by the
Valley Forge FPark <Commission, under the direction of the
Secretary of War, but in order to permit the satisfactory
supervision of the work by the Secretary of War as
contemplated by the act it is desirable that, in accordance with
the uwsual custom in such cases, the expenditure of the funds
be assigned to an officer under his direction.

127. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1312, p. 7, and
Ibid., 1914, pp. 9, 13.
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charge of the bill, has assured the President of the Commission
that it will pass.{128}

Finaliy on June 19, 1917, ceremcnies were held at Valley Forge, fermally
dedicating and transferring the National Memorial Arch from the United
States to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with park commission
president William H. Sayen, presiding. In atteridance at the ceremonies
were seven U.S. Senators, including future President Warren G. Harding,
and 87 members of the U.S. House of Representatives led by Speaker
Champ Clark. Music for the occasion was provided by the Philadelphia
Piaza Band, and the gun salute was provided by Battery C of the
Pennsyivania National Guard. Speaker Clark gave the principal address,
formally presenting the arch to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with
these concluding words;

And mow, Governor Brumbaugh, on behalf of the Government of
the Unjted States, | present through you as the chief
magistrate of Pennsylvania ta the old HKeystone State this
spendid memorial arch in heonor of washington and the men who
made Valley Forge another shrine for freedom. May it, defying
the corroding tooth of time, stand as a sign and token of our
love and gratitude so long as the Schuylkill seeks the sea.

Governor Brumbaugh responded with words of egually patriotic fervor:

In accepting for our great Commonwealth this MNational Memorial,
now formally transferred to our care and keeping By an
eloquent and distinguished representative of our MNational
Goverament, it is fitting that we should for a few momenis
consider the meaning of the action now taken and the
significance of the purpose that has called us here.

This enduring arch is not as enduring as the spirit of Valley
Farge, but while it iasts, under the care and keeping of this
great Commonwealth, we shall cherish it, guard it, honor 1L, as
fitting emblem of this wvastly more enduring arch of human
liberty whose foundations are set in the sail of suffering at
valley Forge, and whose summit crowns the hills of WValley
Farge.

This is Pennsylvania. She has ever led in all that rnational
enterprise commands, and she today, accepts this memorial as a
new pledge of national fealty and woridwide democracy. Where
stand Valley Forge and Pennsylwvania, there stand the hopes,
the aspirations, the glories of the human kind.{129)

128. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1916, p. 16.

129. Twelfth Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, March
1, 1918, pp. 5, 10-24. Also see Acceptance Address By Gowvernor Martin
G. Brumbaugh In Reply to Hon. Champ Ctark Upon The Presentation of
The Memorial Arch by The United States to The Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, Valley Forge, June 18, 1917, {Harrisburg, 1917), pp. 3-6.

162




J.  QPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT OF WALLEY FORGE STATE PARK
DURING THE POST WORLD WAR ! YEARS: 1919-1923

With the large increase of park acreage during 1917-18, the commission
devoted much of its efforlts during 1913-20 to impreving and developing
the nmewly-acquired land. On  January 1, 1921, the commissioners
reported:

The land taken was but the initial step necessary to carry out
the general pian for the development of the Park, as conceived
vears ago. That the Park should consist of the ground occupied
by General Washington, during the winter when officers and
men were subjected to the privations which under ordinary
circumstances would notl be endured by any soldiery, is the
gpinion of the Commission. |t was the cause of Independence in
which they were engaged, and the extraordinary faith in their
commander which kept the Continental Army together.

Every foot of this ground is sacred ground, and should be
secured for the pleasure and recreation of the citizens of this
State and the other 5States, for the citizens of all, recognize
this to be the Mecca of Americen patriotism.

The develgpment is, howewver, not a matter of today, but from
time to time as occasion requires, and funds are suppiied, will
improvements in the rpads and approaches be made, wuntil this
Park will become the one in which ocur great Commonwealth will
be justly proud.

Im a matter of such great importance it is essential that a
definite and comprehensive plan be adopted and followed.
Otherwise what bas been done with reference to future
development may have to be undone.

Cne of the actions taken by the commission to develop the park was the
leasing of Yarnum's Quarters to the Daughters of the American Rewvolution
for restoration and maintenance purposes. The commissioners noted that
the headguarters were already in the care of that organization, and "we
desire to acknowledge the obligation of the Commonwealth for this
patriotic movement on the part of these estimable ladies."{130}

The most notable project in the development of Valley Forge during
1919-20 was the restoration of the gorge through which WValley Forge
Creek flowed. The commissioners observed in January 19271

The war of 1812, about thirty years after the Rewvalution, was
fraught with the incidents of profiteering, common to all public
disasters, and tempted the cupidity of man to the diversion of

130. Thirteenth  Biennial Repert of The Valley Forge Park
commission, January 1, 1321, n. p.
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valley Creek from its natural province as a picturesque
mountain stream, to the homely uses of trade, and a dam and
factory were accordingly erected.

But the war ended spon Lhereafter, and the dam, though
spasmodically enlarged from time to time, served the main
purpose of a depository for the silt and mud washed down frem
the Chester ¥Yalley, until the picturesgue stream which had
charmed and lightened the hearts of washington's soldiers, was
transfarmed inta a sluggish and slimy pond. {131}

Accordingly, a contract was let to William H. Doyle of Berwyn to restore
the gorge "as nearly as possible to its condition at the time of the great
encampment.” Using money from the Centennial and Memorial Fund the
restoration work included removal of the dam and all "artificial
obstruction," redirecting Valley Creek to its original channel, and sloping
the banks toward the creek "so as to improve the appearance of the
meadow and prevent the cutting of new chanpels in time of freshets or
floods in the stream."(132)

In a related issue the Valley Forge Park Commission, together with the
Patrictic Crder Sons of America which dedicated its new headquariers
building on the west bank of Valley Creek on November 28, 1920,(133)
began efforts to have the Upper Merion township read straddling the east
bank made a state highway. It was the only road in the park that
nsvoided the hills," and was "therefore a thoroughfare from Knox's bridge
{named for Philander Knox who owned the adjacent property) to the State
road leading to Phoenixville." The road was "sut of repair" and needed
"ty be widened and recenstructed for the general traffic convenience of
the public." Furthermore, the township had "mo funds with which to
reconstruct it or to properiy maintain it as a Commonwealth road ought to
be." Hence efforts were bequn to have the road become a state highway,
thus "connecting the Phoenixville and the Devon roads, both belenging to
the State Highway system, and, to provide for the construction and

131. 1Bid., n. p.
132. |bid. , and Headquarters Committee, Sixth  Report to
Commissioners of Walley Forge Park, December 2, 1920, RG 2, VAFO
Archives.

133. Earlier the park had taken the cld hall of the Patrictic Sons of
america. The order used the award of damages from the state 1o make
alterations and additions to the farmer Riddle mansion, adapting it for
their use as well as that of the public. The most noteworthy of the
additions to lhe structure was the Mt. Vernmon portico. Headquarters
Committee, Ninth Report to Commissioners of valiey Forge Park,
September 1, 1921, and Jones to Nichalson, November 14, 1927,
Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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maintenance of a highway worthy of the pride and dignity of the
Commonwealth through whose historic park it passes. {134}

The growth and development of Valley Forge State Park stirred up a
tantroversy in 1913 between area residents, led by E. B. Cassait of the
nNearby Chesterbrook Farm who feared the state was dismissing "aesthetic
values" in its plans, and the park commissioners who understood their
mission "to restore the historic field to the condition in which it was at
the time of the great encampment" according "to the rules of military
science. " Explaining the rationale behind the commissian's efforts,
commissioner Jones gobserved on June 4 that the original legislation
establishing the park had imposed on the commission the duty “to restore
this historic field"--a duty that "necessarily deferred and subordinated”
all “aesthetic conditions." He went on to indicate:

We therefore in the restoration of the forts and the ares
intended to be contrealed [sic] by them, chose military experts
instead of landscape gardners [sic].

We invited Col. Zinn, then lccated in Philadeiphia as the United
States Army Engineer to clear the channel of the Delaware
river, who advised that the field must be cleared of trees 1o an
extent within the range of the guns then in use, and te bring
the sewveral redoubts within plain wiew of each other. The
plans were prepared in his office and submitted to the expert
engingers at West Point, who approved them without criticism
excepl as to some perishable structures which it was not
intended to restore,

Our friendly critics do not stop to consider the difference
between Fairmount Park in Philadelphia, for example, which is
purely aesthetic, and the field of Valley Forge which is purely
military and historic.{135)

After Jones' views were conveyed to Cassatt the Chester County farmer
responded with a lengthy list of his and other neighboring property
owners' complaints concerning park development policies. Among other
things, he argued "that a middle ground should and could under the law
be found whereby the natural beauties of Valley Forge could be preserved
while at the same time the military features could be retained 'as nearly
as possible' or at least indicated sufficiently o carry their historical
lesson to the people." In his letter Cassailt observed:

| permit myself to dissent from Mr. Jones' views, which seem to
be that the legislative mandate for the restoration of Valley

134,  Thirtegenth Biennial Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission,
January 1, 1921, n. p., and Fourtieth Report, Land Committee 1o Valley
Forge Park Commission, January 6, 1921 (Harrisburg, 1921}, p. 5.

135. Jones to Beale, June 4, 1919, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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Forge as nearly as possible to it's original condition as a
military camp requires the deferring and subeordinating of all
sesthetic conditions to the rules of mifitary science. Mr. Jones
has not quoted in full the section of the Act of March 19, 1893
which creates the Commission, which section, irn addition toc the
portion quoted, says, "so thatl the same and the fortifications
thereonh may be maintained as nearfy &as possible in  their
ariginal condition as a military camp, and may be preserved for
the enjoyment of 1the people of the said State’. The
underlining is my own.

| refuse to admit that "the enjoyment of the peaple of
Pennsylvania® is enhanced by discarding all condition of beauty
and aestheticism. Howewer, assuming what | do not admit,
namely that the Commission is forced by law to be guided by
purely military and historic consideration, the Commission bas
certainly exceeded it's powers in many respects: -

The planting of a row of young shade trees on gither side of
the road from the memorial arch to Port Kennedy was surely
done with an aesthetic condition in wview for these trees were
certainly not required for military reasons.

The most unnecessarily wide vistas on the observatory hill have
absolutely no military wvalue and unless they were out to allow
agsthetic enjoyment of the view through them, | cannotl
understand why they were cut at all.

The beautiful dog wood trees, either planted or spared in
clearing, near the intersection of Gulf Road and the main new
road are a detriment from the soidiers point of view and there
must have been some thought of pleasing the eye when they
were put or left there.

The steel tower or cbservatory was certainly not buiit for any
other reason than that the people might obtain wvisual pleasure
from it's top - more assthelics.

The cutting of the grass on either side of the roads seems 10
me to have been done solely with an eye to beauly.

Furthermore the Commission, probably at the behest of Mr.
Jones, has violated military principles in several cases:-

To be technicaily correct the guns at Fort Washington shouid
not be 12 pounder brass MNapoleons since these guns, unless my
memory is greatly at fault, were nol used until some fifty years
after the Revolution. These guns are arranged lo fire over the
parapet instead of through embrasures.

The small battery o the North west of Fort washington, if

indeed there was any such battery in Washington's time, is
evidently inlended to sweep the slopes of Fort washington,
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protected as these are from the fire of the Fort's guns; instead
of this they are placed as as [sicl te make it impossible to
sweep these slopes.

The slopes, scarp, ditch and counterscarp and approaches to
Fort Washington are beautifully sodded (more aesthetics! the
latter should be covered with abattis made from the branches of
the trees cut from thereabouts and with other ohstructions.

The above cases of evident attempts at beauty on the one hand
and on the other hand of disregard of military rules fead me lo
suspect that it was not the intention of the Commissioners, as
set forth by Mr. Jones, to exclude aesthetics and to be guided
safely by military principles.{138)

While the restoration of Valley Cresk gorge was underway, some minor
new roadwork, as well as pavement maintenance operations in other parts
of the park, was carried out. A part of the Gulph Road, l'eading from
"the main driveway to the Port Kennedy Road" was constructed. As this
was the road owver which washington's troops marched inte winter
quarters, it was, according to the park commission, "historic and should
be maintained as it existed at that time. {137}

Moreover, extensive plans were established in 1919 for the development of
avenues and roadways throughout the enlarged park. Legislation passed
on May T, 1318, appropriated $45,000 for the construction of park ropads
and provided the park commission with additional powers in roadbuilding:

That whenever & public road or highway within a park or
public ground, title to which park or public grounds is vested
in the 5tate of Pennsylvania, is laid out, located, relocated,
altered, or wvacated, in such manner that a public road or
highway, approaching, landing into, or contiguous to such park
or public grounds, shall become either useless, incoenvenient, or
burdensome, such public road or highway, approaching, leading
into, or contiguous o such park or public grounds, may be
altered, relocated, or wvacated, by the township supervisors or
other officials charged with the duty of maintaining such roads
or highways, in whole ar in part, for the purpose of making it
convenient and suitable as an approach to the roads and
highways within said park or public grounds, upon the consent
and agreement of:. {a) the commissioners or officials charged
with the care and management of said park ar public grounds;
{b) the township supervisors or other officials charged with the
duty of maintaining said roads or highways, approaching,
leading into, or contiguous to said park or public grounds: and
{c} the property owners owning the majority of the frontage of

136. Cassatt to Beale, June 17, 1919, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.

137.  Thirteenth Blennial Report of The WValley Forge Park Commission,
January 1, 1941, n. p.
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jand abutting upon the relocated portion of the roads or
highway, appreoaching, leading intp or contiguous to said park
or public grounds.

To determine 'the final plan of avenues and roadways" in 'the recently

acquired property

Clarke, according to the park commissian, kept

the United States Memorial Arch as the focal point and had
located the roads in such a manner as to bring within view of
the same the old camp roads, the Parade Grounds, the burial
ground of the Rhode Island saldiers, the Yarnum Headquarters,
the Waterman Monument, with easy access from the Memorial
Arch to the wWashington Memarial Chapel astablished by the
contributions of patriotic citizens of the wvarious states. From
the Memorial Chapel, the road follows the old camp road to Port
Kennedy, where the spring shown on the Duportadl Map is
located. The plan alsc shows the relocation of the bed and the
changes in the grade of the road leading across the bridge from
Part Kennedy to Betzwood, so that it passes by the spring and
conveniently joins the road beyond the Park,

Mr. Clarke has endeavored to follow the lings of the old camp
road as closely as engineering requirements and the grade of
the ground permit. The basis of the study was the plan of the
encampment as reconstructed in conformity with the Duportail
Map, upon the topegraphical map prepared for the Commission
in  1903-4. The contemporary roads and the [ines of
communication established for camp purposes form a natural and
logical scheme of development for the Park, since the sites of
the warious camps, the defences, burial grounds and other
places of interest will require means of circulation along lines
very similar to those necessary during the encampment.

The roads indicated for construction, re-cpening or relocation
will provide adequately for the Park traffic when full
development has been attained and after they have been laid
down upon a large scale map, with such modifications as studies
in detail may dictate, the roadwork can be wundertaken
systematically and progressively as successive appropriations
permit. The completion of a system of avenues as designated
on the propesed plan will undoubtedly add much ta the beauty
of the Park and will bring within easy access to the visitor all
the paints of historic interest in the Encampment.{138)

138.

Sayen To His Excellency, William C. Sproul, Governor
Pennsylvania (December 1913}, Minutes, Valley

" the commission hired Jacob Q. Clarke, a civil engineer

"who had laid out the present boulevards." In planning the new roads

of

Forge Park Commission.

A copy of a map by Clarke showing approaches to the sMemorial Arch may
be seen on the foliowing page.
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During the summer of 1919 the park commission commenced a new program
of pasturing sheep in the park. According to Superintendent Sayen the
primary purpose of this project was "keeping the grass down on about
ohe thousand acres of the fifteen hundred which the park comprises."
By mid-September the park flock consisted of 115 sheep., A barn with
high stone wall enclosure was set aside for the care of up to 300 sheep.
It was anticipated, however, that the sheep would be allowed to graze
freely over much of the park under the direction of a shepherd with the
aid of "a dog or two.' The shepherd's quarters were in a "wvery good
housa" situated "on the main road through the Fark about two hundred
yards from the Washington Chapel Episcopalian Church."(139)

In mid-1919 the park commission became concerned after rumors circulated
that the Ehret Magnesia Company, which had been organized about 1900
and constructed a magnesia plant on a tract of ground adjaining the old
Kesnme quarry, was planning "to erect upon the tract of ground adjacent
to its works, improvements and houses that wouid necessitate an outlay of
at least $100,000." The guestions and problems raised by the company's
plans were ably described by the park commission to Governor Sproul in
December 1919:

The land in question, upon which such building was proposed,
lays in the midst of the Park and the Commission realized that
this tract undoubtedly would have to be acquired by the State
at same future time as the same is situate in the very heart of
the encampment of the Continental Army and comprises part of
the tract contemplaled by the Act of Assembly of 1833 and its
supplements. The Commission had heretofore refrained from the
formal designation of this tract of ground in order to avoid as
far as possible any immediate interference with the Ehret
Magnesia Company and the operation of its plant. Hawever, the
necessity of the formal acquisition of this tract by the State at
na great distant time was recognized.

The rumor that the Ehret Magnesia Company was contemplating
such a wvast expenditure for improvements upon the tract
adjoining its works was of serious concern  to the
Commission.

Under the circumstances any improvements which a property
owner would make wupon his land previous to the formal
designation by the Commission of that land as being within the
limits of the Park, are proper damages to be recovered by him
when the Commission so designates such land.

The Commission realized that if the Ehret Magnesia Company
were to erect an additional $100,000.00 worth of improwvements

139, Superintendent 1o Mitchall, September 10, 25, 1919,
Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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upan the ground adjacent to its works and wbich ground would
be required by the State at no great distant time, the State
would be compelied to pay this additienal $100,000.00 for the
property when it formally acquired it and this large sum of
money waould represent improvements which were of absolutely
ne wvalue to the State and for which the State would obtain no
return.

Under the circumstances the duty of the Commission in the
premises was cilear. The Ehret Magnesia Company was
requested, through its attorney, to inform the Commission
whether or not it was its purpose to erect these improvements
upon the land adjacent to its works. In reply to this request
the Company informed the Commission that it did not purpose to
give the Commission any information of any kind whatsogver.

'n order to protect the Commonwealth, the Commission felt that
it was necessary to immediately designate the partion of the
tract adjacent to the Magnesia works as having been
appropriated by the State so that the amount of damages which
the Commonwealth would have to pay for said tract would be
fixed as of that time and the Ehrel Magnesia Company would not
be in position to recover from the State the wvalues of any
improvements which it subsequently placed upon the tand. The
Commission had & survey made of this tract of land belonging to
the Ehret Magnesia Company, excluding however from the
survey that portion of the ground comprising 17.263 acres, on
which were situate the mill and the guarry and the land
actually used in the operation of the works, At the same time
the Commission formally designated the portion of the trust
surveyed as having been appropriated.

The contention of the Ehret Magnesia Company that it is being
harrassed in the operation of its work by the Valley Forge Park
Commission is not temable. It is true that the Commission has
taken steps necessary to protect public interest, which were
objected to by the Company, but the Commission feels that the
interests of the public are paramount to the interests of this
Company.

'f the Ehret Magnesia Company desires to build homes to house
its employees, it can and should select land that is not within
the limits of the Park and which the Company well realizes wili
be required by the 5tste. Such other land is easily available.
The Commission understands that a Company composed of the
residents of Port Kennedy has purchased a farm, has divided
the farm inte building lots and in order to encourage building
is disposing of the lots at cost. The Commissicn is also
informed that this same Company has conveyed some of this
ground to another industrial operation in that neighborhood on
which that Company purposes toc erect homes for its employees.
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There is much land around and outside the boundaries of the
Park whereon the Magnesia Company could build properties at
na greater expense than upon the land within the boundaries of
the Park. . . .{140}

Despite the complaints of the company, the effarts of the commission were
successful in preventing the construction of the houses.

The year 1921 marked the passing of two men who had played major roles
in the development of Valley Forge State park. In January Colonel 5. 5.
Hartranft, who had first been appointed to the park commission in 1893
and had subseguently served as lreasurer and later as park
superintendent for more than a decade, died. Later in June, William H.
Sayern, who had served as president of the commission for some sixteen
years, alsc passed away. Hartranft was succeeded by John 3. Kennedy
as superintendent in February, aided by Jerome J. Sheas, who had joined
the park staff as a maintenance empioyee in 1909, as assistant
superintendent. Lieutenant Colonel John P. Nicholson, a Civil War
vateran who had played a leading role in the preservation of the
Gettysburg battlefield as chairman of the Gettysburg MNational Park
Commission since 1895, succeeded Sayen as commission president.  On
April 26, 1921, the commission was increased from ten to thirteen members
by act of the general assembly.{141)

in 1921 the legislature appropriated $101,000 for maintenance of Valley
Forge State Park during the 1321-23 biennium. No funds were allocated
for land acquisition. Accordingly, the principal maintenance projects and
park mprovements to be carried out during the 1921-23 period were:

(1) After the commonwealth took over Valley Creek Road between Gulph
and Baptist roads (along Valley Creek and around the base of Mount Joy)
in 1921, the rpad and the berm were resurfaced, improved, and placed in
the state highway system.

(2) During 1921 the sites occupied during the encampment by
Washington's life guard along River Drive were located and identified with
markers.

(3) Tractors with gasoline-powered engines were first used in the park
for mowing purposes in July 1922, The ‘"efficiency and economy"”
demonstrated by one Fordson Tracter (it could perform four times as

140. Sayen To His Excellency, Wwilliam €. sproul, Governor of
Pennsylvania {December, 1918), Minutes, WValley Forge Park Commission.

141. Reports of The Vatley Farge Park Commission, Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, 1321-1927, pp. 3, 5-6. For more information on Shezas' lang
years of involvement with the park, see Jerome J. Sheas' Diary, 1913-
1921, RG 2, VAFO Archives, and Margaret D. Roshong, "Sheas' Family

Association With Vailey Forge, 1830-1366," Picket Post, July, 1867,
34-36.

172




much work as one two-horse mower) led to the purchase of a second one.
The tractors cut 72-inch swaths, operated on % gasoline and % kerosene
at a working speed of about four miles per hour, and had wheels
protected by wide stee| bands to prevent cutting up the grass lands and
path roads,

{4) The restoration of Valley Creek to its original course through the
meadow in front of Washington's Headquarters was campleted in 1927.
The slopes to the meadow were graded !o bring "the creek in full view
from Mill Road." tron spans of the Phoenixville bridge over the creek at
Nutts Road were removed, and the stone arch of the highway bridge,
washed out by a freshet in 1869, was restored by Montgomery and
Chester county road crews. The meadows south of the bridge were also
graded.

{(5) DOuring the fall of 1921 new rpadway and pedesirian walls and
approaches to the Memorial Arch were constructed. Under plans prepared
by Paul P. Cret, architect, and Jacoch Q. Clarke, engineer, Gulph Road
and appreaches were "re-graded and re-shaped, and the construction of
the concourse with curbing completed." The work was done under
contract by R, H. Johnson at a cost of $21,342.(142)

Quring the grading work along Vailey Creek south of Nutts Road In
November 1921, Superintendent Kennedy, who was directing the
pperations, reported that "positive evidence was uncovered of the remains
of the second or Lower Forge built by Col. Wiliiam Dewees and lsaac Potts
in the spring of 1778." This forge was determined to be the one built
after destruction of the "origiral or Upper Forge" by the British in
September 1777. In its biennial report of 1923 the park commission
roted:

The Lower Forge was found to have been g¢perated
approximately where tradition had placed it, near the breast of
the old dam. The excavation uncovered remains of a circular
hearth about six feet in diameter, and brick decomposed by
heat. Also, a lot of iron gre partly reduced and impregnated
by charcoal, pieces of charcoal and charceal dust, pieces of
soap stone showing the action of heat, some scrap irom and
parts of heavy flooring of hewn chestrut logs. The earth
showed evidernces of forge fires.

The discovery revealed remains of an old masonry wall about B
teet long and 2 feet wide, of irregular and rough construction.
It did not seem to have any corners and was thought to be the

142. Reports of the Valley Farge Park Commission, 1921-1827, pp. 7-8.;
Jones to Kennedy, April 11, 1527, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC; and
Headquarters Committee, Eighth Report to Commissioners of Valley Forge
Park, April 7, 1921, and Headgquarters Committee, Ninth Report to
Commissioners of Valley Forge Park, September 1, 1921, RG 2, VAFOD
Archives.
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remains of a building probably changed by the erection of a
textile mill after abandonment of the forge.

The Second or Lower Forge evidently was operated by a mill
race leading from the dam nearer to the Upper Forge angd such
a2 race is shown on the Duportail map. This Lower Forge was
abandoned in 1816 and the textile mill buiit in 1820 used part of
the forge buildings.

It seems evident that the dam near the Nutls Road bridge was
not in existence at that time. The eastern wing of the textile
mill extended nearly to Valley Creek Road, which then was
known as "Crux Rgoad.! An iron marker was erected at the site
of this Second or Lowsr Forge.{143)

A major tragedy occurred at the park on April 5, 1923, when a cyclone
struck the area. Some 300 trees were destroyed, and damage was caused
to the wvon Steuben statue, the Pennsylvania columns, a barn, and a
stone guard hut. Repairs totaled $3,G00.(144)

The monthly reperts of Superintendent Kennedy provide considerable
insight into the day-to-day operations involved with the administration
and maintenance of the park in 1921-22. On Aprit 4 Kennedy reported on
some of his recent activities:

The force consisted of Jerome Sheas, a foreman, farmer,
shepherd and one guard at Headquarters and six laborers.
Owing to the early spring and the opportunities for doing farm
work and repairs, this force has been gradually increased until
today it consists of Jerome Sheas as Assistant Superintendent
and Caretaker, one foreman, farmer, shepherd, two guards
{one at Headquarters and one at the Sehoolhouse) and thirteen
laborers.

On the farm we have seeded forty-one acres in oats and are
preparing about forty-five acres for corn; hauling out manure,
plowing and other work. During the month we burned a
number of grass fields which seems to be their annual custom
here.

143. Reports of the Valley Forge Parhk Commission, 1921-1827, pp. 6-7,
and Superintendent to Jones, November 15, 1921, and Jones to Kennedy,
November 17, 1921, Correspondence, RG 46, FHMC,

144. Reports of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1921-27, p. 8.
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The shepherd reperts on March 31st,
87 Ewes
55 Lambs (one year)
£ Rams
28 Ewe Lambs
_26 Wethers
Total 1498

This makes fifty-two lambs so far and we should have & number
more before the middle of May.

The Valley Creek Reoad received some attention about March
31st, some holes being filled, measurements taken and a number
of truck lpads of crushed stone delivered along the road about
two weeks ago. | reported to Richmeond L. Jones, Esquire,
vesterday that a force of fourteen men had started work on this
road under supervision of the S5State Highway Commission and |
hope this work will be pushed vigorously and that this road will
soon be in good shape which will relieve our Park roads of
considerable heavy traffic.

! was ordered to tear down the old stome house, known as the
Riddle House across the bridge which was done the next day at
the expense of $16.00 and i have sold $10.00 worth of stone sg
far and expect to get $15.00 or $20.00 more soon from the same
party. This is a cash sale.

In the Park the terraces at Fort Washington were in bad shape,
as there was oneg sink hole and the bank was washed away in
sevaral places. | hawve had this sink hole filled up and some of
the worst bare spots sodded, but the banks at the Forge are
nat in good condition and the grass has not come up well and 1t
will be necessary to sod some of these banks at Fort Washington
as there does not seem Lo be sufficient soil for the grass seed
to start. The men have been engaged in cutting down some
dead trees, raking and burning brush, sowing grass seed,
applying bone meal &nd tamping the banks. This has required
considerable work. The Park roads have been swept at times
during the month and the roads are in good condition, with the
exception of the two places on the road to Knox's Point. This
road needs repairing badly at several places, as does the exit
drive from the Tower Circle and the interline drive at Valley
Creek Vista. We have on hand three barrels of Tarvia Cold
Patch and some crushed stone and | have directed these repairs
ip be made as soon as we hawve warmer weather,

The iren fence on the reverse curve leading to Knox's Point
was badly rusted and | hawve had the same scraped and painted.
Several of the huts need repairs and there is a hole ih the roof
of the hospital and | will have this work looked after.

| fournd the pump floor at Headguarters rotten and in wvery
dangerous condition. | had a new floor laid to make this safe
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and personally inspected the pump platforms in the Park and
find them in good condition.

The Contractor started work at the Memorial Arch aboul ten
days age and has been doing some grading and placing the
material on the Gulph Road for the new grade. The hut at the
Memorial Arch will be in the way and ! have directed it to be
taken down and erected at & point near the Arch facing the
Gulph Road at a location where it will not be in the way of
future work.

| mad necessary repairs made to the hand lawn mowers and
started these lawn mowers at work around Headguarters and on
some of the banks during the last few days in March. | have
slso had the necessary repairs made to our one-haorse mawer
and am repairing the gascline mower so as t3 make it
serviceable for use this summer.

A little work has been done on the Township Road, known as
washington Lane. The Township has started doing additional
work on this road today.

The elm tress were sprayed on the interline drive and | was
obliged to hire one horse and wagon to do this work as | could
not afford to split one of pur teams,

around Headquarters | had some of the ground regraded and
sodded where it was necessary. A good weed Kkiller compound
on the Park roads will be used about the end of this month or
the first of May. we have sufficient compound for this work.

The Contractor made some repairs in the Headguarters, and
also patched the ceiling of the Superintendent's house. There
are some repairs. to woodwork which are necessary at
Headquarters and at the office building.

| have to report a slight fire at the house occupied by David
Hartenstime which was caused by a defective chimney. This

damage will be repaired by our own men and will not cost over
$10.00.

it will be necessary to repair some tables and benches at the
picnic grounds which have been broken in use.

In taking charge here, | found that our farm machinery was
inadequate and much run down and badly in need of repair, or
in some cases, beyond repair. | tock this matter up with Mr.

Edward Beale, Chairman of the Farm Committee and the
committee bas authorized me to purchase one hay rake,

two two-hoarse mowers

one wagor and hay flat
one combination grain drill
ane corn planter
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two horses
. cne set deouble harness and a

small outfit of forks, shovels and tools. | have gotten prices
togetber on these different articles and am going to Norristown this
afternoon to look at a pair of horses which we will take on
trial. (145)

In May Kennedy reported on the [aw enforcement problems in the park.
He observed;

Two lambs were stolen from the sheepfold at night, a plow was
stalen at night from the field; signs have been taken from the
Park and Guard's huts have been broken intc and some times
articles removed. As we have no fences or gates, it is easy
fer any one at night to pass from one part of the property o
another. As we have no guards nor patrol at night, there is
no watch kept in the Park after the guards leave, a few
minutes after five o'clock every evening. We should have
better protection day and night. We have had several reports
that the Park is used at night as a resort for immoral
purposes. It is reported that men bring out women and put
out the lights on their cars and camp in the unfrequented parts
of the Park. It may be advisable to put on a night patrol man,
preferably a bicycle policeman if one could be found to patrol
the roads from five o'clock until 3 A. M, What we should have
s the protection of the State Constabulary which we have not

. a5 yet been able to secure.

We have over twelve miles of roads in the Park and over 1500
acres in its area. This is teo much for us to police with our
own force and many of the visitors here do not pay much
attention to our guards. We have a force of seven guards on
duty at Headquarters and througbout the Park but we need
mare help and we should have a night patrol. There has been
considerable stealing, willful damage to property over the Park
and te some of ocur flowers and shrubbery which is now in
bleom.

wWe will have about 30,000 automohiles and owver 300,000 visitors
this year as the number is increasing every year. There is an
increasing amount of travel in the Park at night and there is
much immoraiity and drinking in regard to which | get reports,
but are unable, with our small force to take any steps to
suppress these conditions. The situation is become worse with
the advent of warmer weather and we are afraid it will become
intolerable.

145. Kennedy to Valley Forge Park <Commission, April 4, 1921,
Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.

177




Accordingly, he consulted with the state highway commissioner and con-
stabulary commander, attempting 1o have state police assigned to the
park. In response to his request, Kennedy was informed that no state
police could be spared for the park and that it would be "more practical"
to increase the number of park policemen. {146)

During the late spring and summer months the pace of maintenance,
protection, and visitor-related activities in the park increased.  In late
May Kennedy reported:

Our wool clipped weighed 1257 Ibs. which | have sold toe James
5 Lees & Sons, Bridgeport, Pa. at 20¢ per Ib. on their truck
here. This was a Cash Sale. This was the best price that |
could secure and | believe it is a very good price. | have
arranged to have a certain number of the sheep brought down
[to] the land around Headquarters and will start this on
Tuesday next.

The Memorial Arch has been giving us much anxiety due toa the
fact that water has been finding its way down through the
arch, and some of the joints in the stone wark have been
opened and we are afraid of serious damage from freezing,
which would be wvery injurious to the arch. | have had our
Engineer, Mr. Clarke, and the Architect, Mr. Cret, make an
inspection and Mr. Ash, wha is Mr. Cret's assistant, has also
been with me twice looking into this matter. | had Hassler the
Steeple Jack of Philadelphia, put up a series of ladders against
the arch which are necessary for inspection and to make

repairs. i alsg have had a rocfing man, Mr. MNeiman, of
Narristown, who has been highly recommended to us, and his
foreman go over the arch with Mr. Ash. | have instructed Mr.

Neiman to go ahead at once on the work of repairing this arch
and do the same under the inspection of Mr. Ash. The
conditions there are serious and it s necessary to have this
work done as scon as possible, especially as we are having so
many rains and the water is finding its way through the
arch.

Under competitive bids, | have purchased an "I ndian"
Motorcycle for $427.50, and the bid of the Harley-Davis
Company for an equivalent cycle was 4$466.00. These prices
delivered hers. | have carefully looked over three or four
young men for the position of night motorcycle guard here. |
have selected a young man named Wismer who has the advantage
af living here, and who is well recommended and had a good

146. Superintendent to Valley Forge Park Commission, May 4, 1921,
Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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Army  reputation Ower  Seas, I have started him at
work. . . (147}

During the month of June hay cutting operations were conducted for 23
days. According to Kenmedy the

hay crop has been wvery poor, the grass is short due to the
dry weather and much of it full of weeds owing te its not being
properly cut last year. We have a few gooad fields of timothy
and some vyellow clower and a little alfalfa, all of which we are
putting in the barm for the harses. We have sufficient rough
hay far the sheep. | estimate we will have 65 to 70 tons in all.
The worst of the hay i1 hawe sold for what | can get for it,
weeds and all, rather than burn any thing on the farm.

Other duties during June included road repairs and the sale and remowval
of dead chestnut trees from the park. Kennedy reported that a young
male visitor had drowned in the park, and that he had forbidden camping
in the park "“for sanitary reasons and the danger of fires." Two park
fires had been '"caused by careless visitors after the guards left."{148)

The report submitted by Kennedy in September is interesting for the
insights it provides with respect te cooperation with outside interest
groups, road maintenance, farm operations, and payroll policies. He
noted:

The matter of the removal of the fence around the Waterman
mopument is still undecided. After some correspondence ! met
on August 24th by appointment at the monument Mrs. Keay and
Mrs. Perry of the Daughters of the Rewvoiution and discussed
the subject with them. They say that they do not object to the
removal of the fence if we could keep the grass neatly trimmed
along the walks and Keep the grounds clean from weeds. |
reptied that we would keep the groumds in good order if the
fence was removed. They asked if | could have the weeds
removed if they would pay for the labor and | replied | would
attend to this premptly. The Annual meeting of this society is

147, Ibid., May 28, 1921, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC. In this
report Kennedy described his efforts to move 2 “stand" established by D.
Midgley, Valley Forge agent of both the Philadelphia and Reading Railroad
and the Urnion MNews Company. According to Kennedy, the stand was
"located directly on the curve opposite Headguarters and as our traffic is
very much congested here, the location of this stand complicates all our
difficulties in handling the large number of automobiles which assemble
here on busy days.

148. Superintendent to Valley Forge Park Commission, July 6, 1921,
Carrespondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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the last week in October and | should hear from the society
then. These ladies said they thought the decision would be
favorable they did not think the fence was ornamental.

The 35tate Highway commission are still improving the Valley
Creek FRoad making it wider in places and erecting their
standard highway fence whereg necessary. | hawve prevailed on

them to give a uniform line to the berm bank of the road and
alsa to slope 1he banks which would improve the appearance of
this road. | estimate that our sheep will prove self supporting.
It has been customary to begin selling our lambs in August and
we are now getting 12¢ per pound live weight for cash sales. |
have sold so far 18 lambs for an average price of $10.22 per
head and expect to have a local market for 120 to 125 at frem
$9.00 to $10.00 per head before December 31st. This sum with
cash $251.40 from the sale of our wool at 20¢ per pound will
more than pay the wages of the shepherd and his heiper and
extra labor when shearing and | think it is fair to assume the
sheep are worth the small amount of feed in winter n
consideration of the benefit we derive from their keeping down
weeds and grass and the manure we get.

In regard to the farm work we have a poor crop of hay and
oats but the corn crop will be good. We suffered from a long
dry spell which hurt our hay and oats seriously. We have put
in our barn so far about 90 tons of hay and have made cash
sales of about $75.00. We have threshed out 632 bushels of
oats and have 10 tons of baled oats straw. In regard to the
oats | am conwvinced that it is noet to our advantage to do any
grain farming in the park. When we pay for all the labor, the
reaping and binding and the cost of threshing we are losing
money and can buy oats cheaper than we can raise them.
Besides this our Park is a grass proposition and harvesting
comes at such a time as to complicate our hay making. We have
over 700 acres of grass land and lawns to keep cut and mowed.
[t is not necessary to raise grain in order to keep in good
grass. We can go from grass to grass or if we have any rough
and weedy land to put in grass we have men here who can
cultivate a crop of corn and we will go to grass. In this
connection | wish to say that the man we employ as our farmer
ts wvery unsatisfactory and | wish to dispence [sic] with his
services and if we raise rno grain we will not need a farmer and

can save his wages and do all the work with our own
men .

Our roads need attention urgently. We have over 12 miles of
roads in the park some of which have not had any repairs
during the last four 1o seven years. These roads are going
down and must have repairs made this fall. The Barrett
Company will supply us with their grade B. road oil at 16¢ per
gallon delivered in their sprinkling tanks here. They will
supply the driver and do the work under cur direction for this
price and atso detail one of their roads experts to go over this
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work without expense tc us. We have made repairs to our
tarvia roads and hawve sufficent fresh stone and screenifng on
hand for the necessary repairs.

As instructed by the Exutive [sic] Committee at their meeting
an August 4th | notified our empioyees that the expected
reduction in wages would kegin August 16th. This reduces our
regular park labor from $%4.00 to $3.25 per diem, the guards go
back to their old rating of $67.50 per month instead of $75.00
and the farmer is reduced from $75.00 to %67.00 per month.
Our park foreman Davis is reduced from $%4.50 to $3.75 per
diem. The force will be gradually reduced beginning September
1st, and the park guards will be laid off about the middle of
October as s our custom, These changes will make a
considerable reduction in our monthly pay rofl.{149)

In December Kennedy reported that small cracks in the Memorial Arch,
the Pennsylvania line marker, the MNew Jersey memorial, and the Wayne
statue had been pointed with cement. The roof of the arch was "now
water tight." Hunters had been kept out of the park with one arrest
made. As it was "generally known that the Park is policed," authorities
were "npt now having any trouble with trespassers."{150()

Superintendent Kennedy reported in January 1922 that his men had
"hauled out and spread 140 loads of manure on our grass fields and on
the banks and terraces of Fort Washington." The other forts and
grassfields would be treated in similar fashion during the winier. A
number of dead chestnut trees and stumps were removed and cut into
cordwood for saie to improve the appearance of the park. Large stumps
"'which hawve for wyears disfigured the Park at the Picnic Grounds and
along the drives" were to be removed and burned during the winter and
"the ground smoothed owver." Relative to park wages and expenses,
Kernedy commented:

when | took charge last February, | found the laborers
were paid $4.00 daily and all received the same rate, which was
wrong. | was authorized to reduce wages giving our best men
$3.25, others $3.00 and %$2.75. | reduced the guards from 375
to $67.50 per month, the Park foreman from $4.50 to $3.75% and
the Shepherd from $90.00 to $80.00 per month. Our force today
consists, Mr. Jerome Sheas and myseif; of the shepherd,
fareman, caretaker and sewven laborers. | reduced the pay of
the foreman and laborers 25¢ daily on January 1st. This gives
us a small organization for the Winter months of trained Park
men who have been with us for years. These men are good with
harses; are good axemen; can do any farm work; put cold
patches in Tarvia rgads, and know the Fark and the work and

149. |bid., September 1, 1821, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.

150, Ibid., December 1, 19271, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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it is advisable for us to keep this small organization. OCuring
the three winter months our men will not average over eighteen
days per month and $3.00 per diem is not toe high under the
circumstances and some of our men come fram two to three miles
to work and one lives in Narristown.

The great difficulty is that unsual expenditures have been
authorized which were not contemplated in the original
appropriation for Park purposes. Of the %55,000 appropriated
we have available $51,160 for two years for all park charges, or
$2,131 per month. This is not sufficient for the upkeep of the
Park and to bring the Park up to the standard we have decided
on. During the past year we were obliged to spend $750 in
repairs to the top of the Memarial Arch, $615 grading the lower
meadow and $2,900 grading the upper meadow.{157)

im April and May Kennedy reported that the woodwork in Washington's
Headquarters and its adjacent barn were painted--a project that had not
been done far nine years. Relative to the farm work he stated:

In farm work we have done some plowing, spread manure,
picked stones and rolled some of our grass land. The field
along the outer drive which was in corn last year will be
seaded In grass. We have some good timothy coming along
which will supply us with hay and the remaining grass lands

will be kept short. | have had a man for several days going
over and putting in thorough order our mowers and farm
machinetry.

J. Eisenberg has taken out a number of Chestnut poles during
the Jast two weeks and will probably have at least two more
months work which will bring us considerable revenue.

Several fires had occurred in the park, one of which was dangerous, but
no seripus damage was done to the park. The Bailey hguse in Port
Kennedy was demolished without expense to the park. Grass-cutting and
mowing operations along the drives were in full-swing.{152)

During the late spring and summer months of 1922 Kennedy reported on a
variety of park maintenance and improvement projects. These included
repairs to the tables and benches at the picnic grounds, park toilets,
huts, and stairway to the attic at Washington's Headquarters. Forty tons
of hay were mowed and placed in the park barn in July. ©Other summer
activities included weed-cutting along Valley Creek and the drives,
cutting corn, and repairing roads. After a leng summer of farm work,
kenrnedy observed on September T:

151. lbid., January 2, March 1, 1922, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
152. 1bi

=8

., April 6, May 3, 1922, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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The cost of hay will be over rather than under the estimate as
hay is fed at times during the whole year. We have to feed the
. sheep well during the early spring to keep the ewes in good
condition. The question is does the grass cutting the sheep do
and the manure we get give a profit. (1t is my judgement that
the sheep are not any advantage to us. They are an additional
complication and the time and labor spent in summer making and
putting in hay for the sheep would be much better spent in
keeping the grass cut shorlt and put in Park shape. . .{153)

The fall months of 1922 were devoted primarily to road repairs, cleanup
pperations on the Bailey property in Port Kennedy, and fighting fires.
Excerpts from Kennedy's November angd December monthly reports
describe these activities in some detail:

Our men have heen occupied in husking and hauling in corn,
trimming trees, raking and burning leaves, c¢feaning up brush
and branches and cleaning out gutters along the roads. Wa
also have smoothed owver a rough porticn of the Gulf Read
leading from the inner line drive and the Memorial Arch by
covering it with earth and making it passible which is a
temporary expediency. We have also commenced work on
repairs to the River Drive from the Reading Station to the top
of the hiil, filling the holes with Tarwvia Cold Fatch., There is a
stretch of road om the inner line drive on Lafayette Awvenue,
beginning at the intersection of the Gulf rcad and running to
its junction with the Observatory read which is in very bad

. shape and this road iz running down rapidly. The history of
this section of road is that it was macamidized [sic] in 1906
with field stenes as the sub-base and 3" of macadam added. At
various times a skin coat of screenings was spread over it and
in 1916 it was water bound with chips and screenings and
rolled. Last year we gawve it a treatment of Tarvia road ol in
the endeavor ito hold it but the trouble is that there is no bond
or penetration betweern the skin coat and the base and the road
is getting full of holes. We shall fill up these holes this Fall
but this sectien of road should be re-built next year. This
work will call for scarification lewering the crown of the rozd
which is too high, relaying with 3" of 14" hard stone, with
sufficient 3/4" stone to fill the woids with penetration with at
least 1-3/4" gals. of Tarvia X per =square yd. This toc be well
rolled with a ten ton roller. Then follow with a seal coat of %"
chips with % to 3/4 gals. of Tarvia X well ralled. The dirt
removed n lowering the crown to be deposited as directed on
the camp road.

153. |bid., June 1, August 2, Seplember 1, October 3, 1922,
Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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The unprecented [sic] dry weather has given us much trouble
from fires. We have had a succession of forest fires which
ctarted on Wednesday aftermcon  November  2Zna from
carelessness of the employees of the State Highway Department
in burning leaves along the Valley Creek Reoad and their neglect
to co-ordinate with ocur men to the best advantage. This was
reported by me to Harrisburg and is not being investigated by
the Fire Prevention and the Forestry Departments. Qur men
worked on this fire until eleven oclock Wednesday night and |
called on the Phoenixville fire department for help and Fire
Marshall J. B. McGown brought out the west End Hose company
with apparatus and gave us good help. The fire broks oul
again about eleven o'clock Thursday morning and by five
o'clock we were called out again by the worst fire | have ever
seen in the Park. This time | not only called out the hose
company from Phoenixville but also Fire Wardens Clotheir, Page
and Mr. Tindle, who all respended promptly and brought a
force of men. Including our own men we had 44 men fighting
this fire uptil about ten thirty when we had it under control
and have had no trouble from it since. The rain and snow
have now made us safe until next March. Of our own force our
Mr. Sheas and five of our men worked until efeven o'clock
wednesday night and all Thursday and Thursday night making
2 36 hour turn. We aiso have been troubled with incendiary
fires at our grass fields which have been set on fire at times
by boys living in the Ebret tenements adjoining the Park. We
have not yet been able to identify any of these boys.(154)

During the 1921-23 pericd the Valley Forge Park Commission responded to
a variety of issues stemming from outside pressures on the park. In 1821
the commissioners "were instrumental® in defeating legisiation which would
have provided an area in the park for '3 cemetery for scldiers, sallors
and marines of World War |," basing their stand on the fact that such use
"would be opposed to the act creating Valley Forge Park." ©On April 6,
1922, the commission, under pressure from the Pennsylvania Society of
the Colonial Dames of America, reversed an earlier decision to allow
Tredyffrin Township in Chester County to change the location of a
portion of the historic Gulph Road {aver which the Continental Army
entered Valiey Forge). The commission declined fto meel with
representatives of the Fairmount Park Commissian relative to a proposal to
construct a highway from Fairmount Park to Valley Forge, taking the
position that 1t had no power "to make any bargains or contracts' with
such a commission.

In June 1923 the Pennsyivania general assembly passed an act autheorizing
the park commission io convey to the Valley Forge Historical Sociely &
tract of 27.59 acres of park land adjacent ta the washington Memarial

154. Ibid., MNovember 6, December 1, 1922, Correspondence, RG 46,
PHMC. .
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Chapei. W. Herbert Burk, founder and president of the society which
had been chartered in 1918, certified to the commission that the society
was prepared to purchase the tract at a price that would reimburse the
commonwealth for the ariginal purchase price, plus interest and costs.
The tract was intended for use as the site of a "Victory Hall" to house
the society's museum. Since the legislation authorized the sale but did
not make it mandatory, the commission, not approving of the sale of park
land, did not adopt a motion providing for such sale.

In August 1923 the commission agreed to permit the Phoenixville, valley
Forge, and Strafford Railway Company to construct an electric railway
within the Jimjts of Valley Forge Park, thus establishing rail service
between the park and Norristown and conneciing with an electric railway
operating between Norristowr and Philadelphia. This agreement was the
result of nearly three years of negotiations hetween the commission and
the railway company. In November 1920 the commission had determined to
remcve the piers, trestles, embankments, and tracts of the company's
Failway in the bed and on the east side of Valley Creek as part of the
project to restore the creek to its original course. In return, the
commission permitted the railway to build a station and shelter on the
west side of Valley Creek.{155)

The park commission also felt the impact of increasing postwar wisitation
to the park during 1921-23. The visitor statistics for 1921, for example,
were:

During the calendar year 1921 Park records reveal that persons
visited Lhis sile from ewvery state in the Union, Alaska, D.C.,
Hawati, Puerto Rico, Philippines, Canal Zone and 47 foreign
countries. The statistics for 1921 compiled by checking during
cdaylight hours are as follows:

Taotal visitors . . ) ) . . . 04,083
Washington Headgquarters (£9, 450 registered) . 130, 000
Automobiles . . . . . . . B0, 304
Motorcycles . . . . . . . 815
Bicycles . . . . . . . . g03
Carriages . . . : . . . . 140
Equestrians . . . . . . . 275
Visitars at Camp School . . . . . 17,866

The largest crowd of the wear (15,000} ocecurred on June 5 when
President Warren G. Harding wvisited the park and spoke at Washington
Memorial Chapel.

155. Reports of The WValley Farge Park Commission, 1921-27, pp. 8-9.
For more data on the electric railway issue see First Report of the Special
Electric Railway Committee to Commissioners of Valley Forge Park, Octoher
6, 1921, and S5Second Report of the Special Electric Railway Committee to
Commissioners of Valley Feorge Park, December 1, 1921, RG 2, VAFO
Archives.
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Visitation increased in 1922, the total number of visitors te the park
reaching 450,000. The number of those passing through Washington's
Headquarters was 217,332, and the number of autemobiles enlering the
park was 58,487, On Memorial Day 1922 more than 24,000 perscns were
in the park, with 4,867 touring washington's Headquarters and some Z,200
automobiles parked at the picnic grounds and along the roadways leading
to it.{156)

The growing ocuiside pressures affecting developments within Valley Farge
State Park, as well as the growing number of wisitors, led some of the
park commissioners to call far g general plan of develgpment of Valley
Forge Park." Richmond L. Jones, vice president of the commission,
spoke far this group when he observed in November 1921:

It would be desirable to have a plan for reference and
suggestion, made without consideration of any outside
conditions, for the Commissioners cannot escape  the
respansibility of the purpose of restoring the field, as nearly
as possible, to its condition as a military camp, and regarding
Vailey Forge as an historic field, nat tc be embellished with
modern devices or ideas, but 10 serve as a memoriat of the pas?t
and as being the heritage of those who suffered there for 2
patriotic cause. (157}

156. Reperts of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1921-27, pp. 10-11,
and "Vailey forge Address By President Warren G. Harding," in Burk,
valley Forge and The Presidents of The United 5States of America, n. p.
Also see A. LCdward Newton, "GChange Cars at Paoli,'" Atlantic Monthly,
CxXxXx {August, 1922), 171-81, for data on sightseeing opportunities at
Valley Forge.

157. Jones to MNicholson, MNovember 14, 1921, Correspondence, RG 46,
PHMC .
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APPENDHX A

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION OF VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK:

The Park in sitnated prioctpalix in Upper Merion Township, Mont.
gomery conmly, nod partly in Tredy®rin township, Chesler conniy.
The linen are as follows:

[eginning ar a point at the Xorth-east coroer of Iand of the Cen-
tounial and Memorial Asaoeiation of Valley Fovge (known as Wash-
ington’s Headoyuarders) and & corner of lands of tlhe estate of Xathan
Sopes, dereamad, and at o distance of 26415 feet frowm the centre lne
uf the Vhilada, & Teading BEoilread, god af cight angles thereto,
thenee nlong he line of the saild as<ociation X, 06 deg 30 wie 35 sec,
W.—1582 foct o o point, corner of land belonging to Lolti- H. Rexs.
thenee by land of waid Rex, X 13 D 29 min. 23 see. E—125 fot o
aaother corner of tLe sate, theoee N 42 des. Y pine 30 wec, W —350
feet to a4 poiol o the middle of a road lemliog to Valley Forge Sta-
tion, and a cotner of property now belnoging to ihe Philada. & Lend
ing Railroad Company, thewee aiong the line of the said comapany’s
leod vortl, 1deg. 31 roin, 13 see west, 63 feer more or liss vo i il
oo the sortherly Hine af the righs of way of the said Boilosd Lo
pany, Duines X3 feed distant ar snb-grode from the centre lipe thereed,
thenee along the soptherTy side of the waid riglit of wax of the said
railvead, posdlcl with the ceatre jing of gnid ealleoul aeld 33 feet
distant ar sub-grade therefrom. fur o distopee of 244966 foet o a
paint at ita intersection with the westetly ling of land twlonging
te Busanna M Jobuson sod at the Aistnoee af 47,13 feet at sub-grade
from the contre lioe of seid sailvoad, measnred aloww the siid west-
orn fine, thenes along the 1in:- of hiid helonging o the said Jolinson
8. 19 dep. 14 min. 20 gee, W30 fect to a point, theaee atill by
the same, E 2 Qe 12 min. M0 see. E—1H6.32 feet to a point. therco
a3l by the same, ® 19 dez. 13 min, 20 sec, W —300 feel to o poiat
in the middle of the Dort Keonedr Road, tlence along the midddle
of tle suid road 8 52 gog, B min 1 3ec. E—1000,81 fect to a point
at Ms interscedon with the contre fine of Washington Loage aud in
the line of fand of W, M. Scephens, thenos along the centree line
ef said lane aed by the said #tephena land & 9 deg. 55 wia. ) sec.
W.—T60 feet ta a point, p corner of land of Charles J. Jolinson,
thence nloug the Fne of snid Johonson's land and lund of Ddidzes e
Menantin 8. 56 dep. 59 win. 50 sec. W—1TM 03 Teet ta o point in (he
centre of the Gulf Road, a coroec of land of Bridpet MelMenamin
and Tt R, Keonedy thenee aleng the Camp Road br laad of the said
Wepuedy, the following courses and distances, to wit: B & dep, 23
min. 43 sec. W.—385.2 feet, & 2D deg. 18 min. 00 sec. E—T50.98 faet
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and 3 13 deg. 30 min, 25 see. E—30.9 feet to & stone, a corner of
gaid Kennedy and of Johe Bweeney, thence along the land of eaid
Bweeney the following couraes and distopces to wit: 5 18 deg. 2%
min. 2% sec. E.—110.5 feet, B. 27 deg. 53 min. 15 sec. E.—2Z15.2 foer,
8. 11 dew. 43 min. 30 zec. BE—3383 feet, £ 4 deg. 26 min. 25 see. BE.—
3450.45 feet and 3. 1 deg S0 iz, 00 sce. E.—1344.0 feet 1o 2 poial in
ihe cenire of the said Washington Lane a corner of aald Sweeney's
lapd awd in fine of tand beloaging to Cyeea X, Davis, thence by ihe
sawe and by land of Hobert T, Robinson aod along the said Wash-
ington Late croasing the [loe dividing the Ceoanty of Moutgomers
froam the Conoty of Cheater, 5. 47 deg. 03 min. 30 see. W.—338.352
feet Lo a peint, o covner of {aud of said Robinson, thence by 1he said
Itobinsen™s land and still alowy the said Lane, 3. 31 deg 335 mio, B35
sgee, YW.—U6 feut to a point, a corper of said lHebinson's land,
thenes by the sate and by kand of Mary W, Jeuus, 8. 71 deg, 27 win
L0 see, W—22U835 feot to a point o the Valley Creek, Nerth of the
road bridge acress the same nod in the line of lands of said Jones
and Jape T, MeXNeely and others, theno: down the said Creel and
Ly land of said Jane T, Mc¢Xeely asd athers, N, 10 deg. 23 min. 45
sov, E—125.74 Lt to a point in the line of lend estate of 2. B Car
ter, aml on the lHoe dividing Hhe county of Cheater from he connty
uf Moptgomery, thenee along the game, and by laods of said €Care
ter's vatate, N, 7L dey. 27 min, 10 see. E.—32.0 feet to o point in the
middle of the Valley Creck eoad, a corner of land of said Carter's
esbite, thence by the same and fpllowing the same road, the fol-
lowing courses awld distauces, bo wit: X, 1 deg. 53 min. 40 sec, W.—
3d4.2 feet, X B deg. 35 min, 25 sec. E.—1306.7 feet, N, 17 v 05 min.
20 see. E. 363,17 feet. X, 32 deg.-33 min. 13 gee. E.—236.21 fevt and
N. 12 deg. 35 min. 20 sec. E—234.96 fect to a corner of the same.
thence leaving the rond and stil! by the sawe laods % 51 @ep. 13
min. 3¢ sec. E.—254.53 feet to a coraer, thence still by the same X
2 deg. 46 min. 30 ace. E.—1527.3 feet to o point in the middle of the
aforesaid Gulf Road aod a corcer of land of Sarak A, Shaw, thenee
by the same, . 30 deg. 3% min. 10 see. E.—1510.3 feat 1o a white
duk stamding ia the cemtre of the aforesaid Port Keooedy Road.
and & covner of lands of suid Shaw and nforesaid estate of Nathan
Jones, deceaged. thence by the land of said Jones' estate, N, 11 deype.
36 win, 20 sec, W.—204.15 feet to a poini. 2 coroer of the said os-
tate. thence by the anme, B 38 dog. 03 min. 30 see, W —1506.5 fout te
the pince of beginning. Conlaining 217,332 peres.

"Report of the Valley Forge Commission, 1894," in Reprint of Reports of

Yalley Forge Park Commission Fer the Years 1894, 1896, 1900, pp. 8-3.
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AFPPENDIX B

LABOR CONTRACT OF ELLIS R. HAMPTON: 1800

ARTICIRS OF AORWIMENT wade and condluded thils twenty firat day
of May, 1900, btetweon the Comnissioners of Valley Porge Park, of the
Btate of Penneylvania, of one part, and Ellis R. Hunpton, of Valley
Forge 1in oald 8tate, of the other part,; Witnesseth!

Firet - 8Sald party of the first parti does hereby hire, engage and
smploy the services of the aald party of the second part, as watchman,
at sald valley Irorpe Park, the duties of which position shall be, to
protect und preserve gll portions of sald property from depredations and
Injury by wnauthorized persons or otherwlse, and {0 prevent trespassing
thereon, In performing esid duties, suid party of the sgecond part
agress that he will, at least once each woek, make a full and somplete
gzaminution of all parts of sald property, and at onoe repoert to sald
rarty of the first part, any mattere requiring or needing their attentinn

feoond =~ Pald employment of sald party of the segond part shall
begin as of May 1st, 1900, and ahall continue until notice of an intene
tion to determine this agreement 1s given, by either party to the other,
whioh may ba done at any time, Jold party of {he frirst part further
agraed to make payment to sald party of the seoond pary of the gum of
me Dollar per week, during the continuance of this agreement{, subjeot
however at all times fo the recelpt by it, from the Btate of Pernsylvanis
or otherwlse, of an appropriation for suoh purpoag,

Third = 3ald party of the second part hereby agrees t0 ascept the
suployment &8 above mentioned, under the terms and condifiong expressed

herelin,
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APPENDIX C .

LAW AUTHORIZING COMMONWEALTH TO ACCEPT GIFTS OF MONEY
OR LAND AND TO PERMIT THE UNITED STATES OR ANY STATE
GOVERNMENT TO ERECT MEMORIALS IN VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK: 1835

Sowttoel o Be o eaaenedds Ko Ul the s ol ool thowsiind Jal-
lara, ol g0 woel thereol pa oy be necesgary, be ond the same s
heveby apecilicully approprinied (o lHne Commiasioncre of the Yalley
Yorge Park for the two Ascal yeurs begivning June first, oue thon-
sand eight houdred and ninety-five, to complete the porcltee o1 comn
dewnation movgy for lands already taken by the Btate for o pub-
lic park, known ae Valley Fovge, under the act to wlich this is u
guppluent: Provided however, That aeo forther condwnuation pro-
ceedings shall be begun or lands porelaaed, wmder (s aet or ihie net
to which this is u supplement, within two years,

Tl anid appropristion to be paid oo fhe worrnot of the Andilor
thenwral] one wowedliemonl e by him and e Blace Trensoeer, but
vo wareant shnll be drown on settlement mode until the Connnisaion-
ere Of anid park pholl have made, suder outh, to (he Anditor General,
o orepert containing f speciftically itemined stutement of the receipta
frou all acurees and expenves of said Commisgioners, togelher with
o mppreblbealv iberriged siatetonn of Oie cosd of said lawd clen noder
the eoudemnation peovecdings, dueiug the greviovs quarier, with
tlies caale Lnlogiee an Jeveeds soned The sanae 35 appeoyedd Tee b sind Uae
Brute Treusurer, er uitil e Treasurer shinll have suflicieut money
in the Trensury, ot otherwise appropvinted, o pay the quoreterly
Instalimenis duce said Conniasioners; and the unexpended balancea
of anwe appropelited for specithe purpoace alianll net De used for atlhey
jpurpoess, wheller specifle or penernd, wd shall vevect Lo e Bintke
Trewsury ul the close of the two Racal years,

Beetion 30 That the Commissioners of the publie park kuown ny
Valley Fovge, be ond ave Tweely puthorized to necept, on ebold of
the Atate, nuy gift or gifte of wmoney or of lnnde rantignone or ned-
Jocent to the Yande faken op (o be tuken Tor te gald publiv Purl, und
to be hield ant ueed for the puiposes thereof,

Bueclion & That tle said Commissioners are Twevelis authordadl to
prerdt e TTiited Statea of Amevics o any of the Rlutes fhweead, to
erecl manniente or ather wemorindg g the glannds now ol beeea Fey
0 e negnized for said park, upon aneh fers ond couditiong aa may,
In the digerertan of snid Cononiagian, be dectimsd sanimlile gad pro-
per.

Approved—The A4 day af Jely, 5. T3 1855,

DANIEL H. HABTINGA,

By-laws of the Vailey Forge Park Cemmission, 1906, pp. 8-9.
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APFPENDIX D

LAW PROVIDING FOR ADDITIONAL LAMD TO VALLEY FORGE
S5TATE PARK AND AUTHORIZING PARK COMMISSION TO DEPUTIZE
POLICE OQFFICERS WITH AUTHORITY TO MAKE ARRESTS: 1903

sertiow 1. 13 10 oleeted, & Thatt seelion one of o e, entitied
A acr peovidinge for fhe aenaisiion by Ve Stade of corlain groand
al Valley Pgrege fweoyopubdic park. and making aa approprindioo
Lhevelor,™ sppreved Ui Whiviictds duy of May, S Poeaind sae thon-
gl efpld o] and winely-iloeer, whicle rewds an Tollows:

“That [ov the purpose of pecpeinatiy and peedceving e gile on
whirh the Uauvinentad Aory, upeder General Geurge Washing bode wis
s o winier qastviees doecing e winter wne Thedsamd seven
Besdvatd s sevenls secen atd one dwnsinnd sevens Beoadeed ol
seventy-ciedi, the e be Jo and wanershbip i e geosnd soveriog siid
sitey el e Poels WY sl tens ol Bl e sund tie sacleench-
tvend s aujiternd (hepee Loy sod tha sl joining geotimds, i all sl exeoeed
Cevu Lodeed sud iy acies, b ey ncbading Wherein Lhss propaerky
koo ats Whslipaton™s hemdgoneiors ad now owned by Lhe Cenden-
wistl ol Mesparial Awsochiuion ol Vailey Porge, the lovetion aind
Longmhinivs 1 lepend 1o Toe dxeed Ly e Congenlasiope s TubcaTiee -
Cioipad, sl e vesled e e Sle of Peuusylvaning 1o be nld onf,
proeservedl ood ngda b ioed Tiever, s b paldie plivse e paell by (e
e uf W liey Favee, soilal the saoue saed e forlilications lercon
iy B i eins] as semely s paossible o Theie origioa] coidition
ws owoailitate s cangys md saey Lo peeserved Toe Ll enjoyneeat of te
el e sade San b e gl e s a here by stanended ol
s Lolluws:

PThat for Ul puirpese ol pespelinti md preseeving Lie sie on
whicly the Conchiendal Uvruy, sanler Genersd Goarge Washingdon
was coeana]uad e b quaeters ol Yalley Farge, doviagg e winte
of one (housaad acven mnleed dud sevenryseven ol one livusand
svem Bownacleend s sescerbeaeiahl, i tide do sk owaersidp i U
sruinl coveriog =anl =i, Tneluding Puris Wishinsvon aud lanting:
dow, atad dhe carenclonent s adeenl diceelo, wad subjulining growuda,
fo el pel exerediog ive mdbeed acres, Bl oot iuetnding Opecein e
preperly kuown an Woaehington's isodgueelers, sl aow awuel by
L= Cogdenndal and Memovind Associalion of Yiuller Vorge, the loca-
tiow sk Benepadaries fhervol 10 be bxed by the Connuissionera Loeese-
aller meedived, siaell be vesbed i Lee Sie ol Peansylvandi, (9 be
il wned, preeserved ol mainiainel ferevei s pulilie plies ae pack,
L Cles Juabe of Villey Furge, se dba ile sanne anid the fortilicatiens
Vickrsa sy Leowstineiesd, s ey as possible, i Oheie veiginal
vutedilinn s s auiditary caangy, and way be preservsd for U cjoy-
wiend ol 1l people of Lhee said Hlate.

so-Lien 2 Tt section Toae af S0 ael, whieh reads s Tolbeas:

Ul e UCpneenissioners of o said paecl, after Lhey shall futye
sevitred possession of Uie said gromds, shall adopl plaes Tor G jn-
provenwnt, preservition and mudintewsnes thereef, and ghall have
s s Do earry the sianee bale exeviienng il sl mwneys e pended
!l Lo wneder thene sopeevisEia, sl e i rets St e soaide tar
e il B reveane s mnbess ez pykepreition thereTor shadl have
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b fhest vzl bt Legisbioore™ Dotk Ul ssonne G fwerely
ampended tworend s Lolloews:

Tlhaat 1l Coptnssigaers o1 the snid ok, aTeer shey shiatl hawy
sernred possession of the sadd gronnds, shall adopl plans for fhe -
preveatwenl, proservielion suel s lennes Lheepaand’, sl skl Tunse
power 1o earey the same inbo exesuiiou; and shall whse bavoe (e
o Alepruliae i ui R Jlersols s speviinl constables Lo asdalain
apder witkin said park, proteet flee propoerly frow des]eme Lo, amd
aunke arresls Tor eiols ue el drespissesy atnd adl motey expended
alatll B wdder fhe suqeevision af e Counaigsioners, at ne een
troels sharbl e nosude o sadd fnegreovewenl anless o approprialion
therefore shnll Tsve been firs) mile by the Legialatore.

Approved—The Loth day o Mareel, AL [HII%

SAMIURL W, PENNYDPACKER

By-taws of the Valiey Forge Park Commission, 1806, pp. 10-12.
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. APPENDIX E

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION OF EXTENSION OF VALLEY FORGE
STATE PARK: 1304

The deseription of the estensivn of the Park along the cuter line of
defences, partly in Upper lerion township, Mentgomery county and
partly in Treely firin towuship, Chester connty, is as follows:

Beginaing at @ stome at the interseetion of Camp Read and Wash-
ington Lare in Upper Jerion township, Montgomery conoty, a cor-
wer of the land formerly acyuized for the Park: thenee south 22° 27
47 east, by the land of Mary E. 5. Fvans, 9097 feet to g sione in
the line dividing the counties of Chesler and Montgomery: thence
north 677 327 207 east, along the said county line andl stil by land
of the said JMary E. 5. Evans, 167.37 feet to a stone: thenee south 27°
167 enst, leaving the eounty lioe bt still by lamd of Mary E, 8, Evans
in Chester egunty, 109475 feet to a stome: thence mortl 87° Q1 50
east, still by the same lend, 19419 Feet to a stone In amether line
sadd to divide the counties: therce morll 217 34 west, by tle same
[and and along the said counts ilme, 23206 feet to a stope: thenees
aorth H7 017 207 east, leaving the sairl econnty lioe and by land of
Jusepk Mullenr in Montgomery county, 17045 feet to a stome in the

. middle of Guif road; themee souri $° 28 40 cast, along the middle
af Gulf rosd amd by the same iand, 13624 feet to & stone: themee
north 67° 317 58 east, leaving Gulf rmad and by lznd of Joseph Mul-
tew and land oow or late of Vieletra M. Kepnedy, 1,310.93 feet to a stone;
thenee south 20° 10 10 cast, alorz the west side of M ullens farm read
one perch wide, 25134 feet to a elone; theaee north G7° 37 307
east, by land of Jusepk Mullen and jand of Mathias P. Wailker, 2,025.43
ieet to a stone; theace nomh 637 237 30 east, by land of the said
Walker, 466.29 feet to 2 stone; thence north 67° 50° 20° wvast, iy land
of the P’hoenix Irow Company, 610,12 feet to a slone: thence north 217
38" 107 west, still by the seme land, 101955 feet to 2 stons: thenee
notth §8°% 19° 30* east, sbill by the sume, 151.53 feet to a stone; thence
north 82% 14" 20* east, stil) by the same, 1,439.3 feet 10 4 stone in the
middle of the road lealiog froma Port Eennedy to the King of Prossia
known as the King mad; theoee zouth 21° 427 307 east, along the said
road and near the middle thereof by lend of the heirs of Edwin Moore,
AEL31 feet to a stone; thence south 67 317 30% west, legving the King
wad und by land of the estate of Robert W, Pechin, decrased, 10753
Feet to a stone: thence south 247 37" W west, by the said land, 34341
feet to a slane: theace south 477 17° 2 west, still by the same, 25794
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feet to & stome: thence math 79° 127 30’ west, still by ths same, 5.63
feet ta & gtome; thenee acuth 66° 38” 507 west, by land of the said P-chin
Estate and laod of Mathies P. Walker, 1,700 feet to a stone; thence south
§9° 41’ 50" west, by land of the said Welker and land of Joseph il:llen.
1.470 feet to a stone; thence south B0° 45" 50 west, hy land of ths saxd
Mullen, 376.93 feet 10 2 stone in the bed of Gulf esad: thenee zouth
577 37" 30" west, by the sune land, 124.31 feet to & stone; thence south
227 31° cast, by land of the said Muallen and land of Hannah 3. Walker
croséine the line dividing these two properiies {seid to be the eoanty
tine} into Chester connty at 738.45 fext. a total distroee of 1.157.45 feer
to & stone; thence south §7° 297 west, by land of the szid Hanpzh §.
Walker, 316.95 feel to a store; thenee south 73° 477 307 west, by land
of Mary E. 3. Evang, 1.375.% feet to a stone; thenee sonth 64* 457 307
west, by Iand of the estate of Evans Kendall, deceased, LE7E.I4 feot to
a stone io the middle of the road leading to Centreville; themee 2orth
217 0% 40" west, along the said road. 30 feet to a ston:: thenee Zarth
31 45" #" west, along the same, 357.6 ieet to a stone at the point —ler:
4 road Feads west to Talley ereek ; thence along the said Centreville =ad.
here cailed Washineton Lane. the five following conrses and distzness.
viz, north 19° 367 50" west. 628.06 feet to a stome: north B 117 307
caigt, 54.12 feet to a stome: north 277 437 207 east, 47400 feat fa & Toire
4 corner of the land formerly sequired for the Park. north 237 127 207
«ast, along the Park line aforesaid, 33.6 feet to & stona and novth 457157
07 emst, still along the Park lice and erossing the county lin: in
Montgomery county, 333,32 feet to the place of hegianing. Contziaing
172771 noves of land be the same more or dess. Desoribed in accor lanes
with 8 survey made by J. 0. Clarke, encineer for the Commission. dated
November 2, 1903. The stones mentioned are of blue marhle lesr=red
v, F. P, on top aod set wilh the V' corner to the north.

"Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, December 20,
Reports of the Valiey Forge Park Cemmission For the Years 1502, 1904

1904,

in

and 1906, pp. 10-11.
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. AFPPENDIX F

LAW PROVIDING FOR ACQUISITION DF ADDITIONAL LAND
FOR VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK: 1905

Sorlion W je etancbed, &en Pl seclion e gl dle e, endiblesh
A aer atnending the wet, entithed “an get providing foz (e aeguai-
sivior biv Thae st ol evelabne ool s Valley Popee Toee a0 pabilie
paek, wod wekiug au appeopeiation thecefory wgeeeved Moy thir-
Hetle, one Dhonsnd cight omdeed sosd adoety-fesey peoviding For
the acguigition of additiooal land, wwd giving anllority to the Con-
wisivners 1o depmiize offivers Lo wadndain police regulation, giving
anthovity o suid officers to manke arvests, ote.” approved the nine-
tecoll duy of Mavcl, niveteen Lundeed and three, which reads 28
follaws:

“Phat For (e purpeae of perpetwating snd proserving the site on
whirh the Continental Armny, nnder Gereenl Genrge Waslingtan,
wils o e il winler quariers o Valley Porge, during the windoer
nf oue thousnnd seven hundred and seventy-geven and cne {housand
gever bondred aud seventy-cight, the titte to and ownership in fhe
srwneel vovering sl site, foelnding Povls Washioglon aod Dnod fng-
don, aucd Lhe enfrenelhments, ad jaeend Uweeroy naed adjodiang proaols,
i gl eaveediog e Duadeed sweres, bod nel inckading vhorein Hee
praierty Taew we YWaalilngion®s bewdguaciors, aud v el Ly e
Cenlewnindl amd Mewoeind Sousuviativn of Yolley Forge, the loeatiou
amel bonwdarivs closreaf Lo Lie Jisesd Ly Hise ol mdssioners Terea Mies

. wenntioned, shali be vested b Clee siate ol Foonsy bvania, te be laid
ant, preseeyed ool madntaiaed Forever as o0 pubbie gl v ok, by
the vgnw ol YVulley Fovge, so olianl Vhe same and the Tortidicotions
oo ey B posindsioed, as neieely ds prossible, i e ie ariginal
cotdlilion as o wilitiey cawmpy, and ey be preseeved for 1be enjoy-
menl ol U prople ul dhe sabd Sle" Lo aed e sunne @8 Jwereby
amcudod to read us follows:

That for the poepose of perpeloadiog wid prescrcing e sile on
wlhiclh e Cootinental Ay, der Geneeal Qeorge SWYasldoglon,
wits tmesteped Bnowlwler gquaclers al Valley Pocge, daving u wineer
af wne thousand seven hundred sod seveuty-seven and one thousand
geven loodved sind seventy-vight, de tthe Ge aud owoeeslip o e
wpannd coveringe Baid site, inclidivg Parts Wisbinglon awd Theat .
Wimden, wiad e cntecneluwents wdjieenl theeeloy, oomb o adjololig
grounda, 1n wil vat exeeeding oxe [Taueael seeeed, e Percit Lo vl
botfidarive Lhereol 10 e Ased by (e Coniaissioners eveafoer weg-
Cionnesd, ®hall e vested o the Sate of Poonsybvinnis, fo b bivid v,
preserved and miutained Torover ws s publie place o parck. by the
wine ol Vadbey Peoee, 5o dRal Ul soaee aond e Geelilisalions Pl
wey b oadnbaiasd, s wearly as possibie, in el orisiaasd comdiliou
a6 a1 oty enange and ey e peeserved for d e enjesaneit ol the
pru[He ol Ul wpinl e

Apprunend e Tl o Sopedls oD T,

=AML WL PTENNYITAUCKEL,

. By-Laws of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1806, pp. 13-14.

197




APPENDIX G

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION OF VALLEY FCORGE STATE PARK: 1906

The Park is situsled partly in Tpper Merion Township, M-aigom-
ery Connty. and partly i Tredyffrin Township, Chester County, and
the linss are as follows:

Beginnine in Montpomery County at a point in the middl: of the
public road leading to Velley Forge Btation at the distane. of 33
fost, measured at right angles, South of the ceater line of the Phila-
delphia and Reading Railway; thence pavallel with the eenter line of
the said rai‘road and 33 feet sowth thereof the three following courses
and distane s, nomely : North 74 21* 30" East, 140213 feet to a point
of eurve. thimes curving to the North with a radivs of 3532.83 Zeet for
a distaace of 31254 feet to n point of tangency and thenee Novth 62°
167 30¢ Erst, 29233 feet to a point; thenee South 15° 337 307 Weat,
leaving the said raileoad and slong land of Susanna M, Jehnsor. 100.66
feet to & stme; themee South 32° 48" East, still alonc the same. 19657
foot to & st-ae: thenee South 157 34 West. still along the same. 30005
feet to 4 p -t in the center line of the Fort emuzady road: thenee
SGouth 5% 50* East, alonz the said eenter iine, 107050 f2¢t 10 a slone at
the point of interseetion of the said line with the center Jine of - ashing-
ton lane: thence leaving the Park line and in the hed of 122 Port
Kennedy rozd the three fnliowing courses and distaness, niamely: South
557 50° Easr, 51930 fect to a point, North 357 37" Egst. 44236 Zxt toa
point and South 31° 02 307 East, 164097 feet to a spile i th- senter
line of the said road set for a corner of Star Redoubt loo thenee alag the
said lot the four following counrses rod diztances, napsly : Norin 39 517
30¢* East, aittg land now ov late of W, 3. Slephens, 230 fe-t to i corner.
South 817 ¢ 30" East, still along the same 200 feet 1o a cornes. South
82 377 30" West, still along the same, 230 feet to anorlher spike =2t for a
comner in the ecater line of the Port Hennedy road. and thens: Nerth
81 027 30" West, alone said center line, 200 feet to the spilc at the first
mentioned corner of the Swar Redonbt lot, thence retracing ths contse
in the bed of the Port Keanedy road, North 817 (027 307 Wes:. 160.87
feet to & point, Sonth 55° 37 West H2.36 feet to 2 point apd Nerth
85 50° Toost 51930 feet to the before mentwned stone in the Park
boundary a: the point of intersection with the center line of Weshington
lane, thene: along the center ling of Washinglon lane the fire £lowing
courses and distanees, namely : South 6° 14" TWest. passing over a stone
at 760 feet. 110496 Teet to & peint, South 77 12 307 West, B33.7] feet
Lo & point, South 9% 117 40" West, 70230 feet to 2 print ac the Inlersec-
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tion with Guif rosd, South 57 137 50" West, 155650 feet to a point and
South 30° 43" 50" West, 136.65 feet to a stone ab the intenection of tha
daid Washington lane with Camyp road near Washington redoubt, thenes
South 22° 27 40" East, leaving Washington lare and aloog land of
Mary E. 3. Evans. 98.57 lect to a stone in Lhe line dividing the countiea
of Montromers and Cheater, thence North 677 327 20 East slong the
saifd covuary line and by the same land, 167.57 feet to 2 stone, Lhenee
South 27° 36" East, leaving the county line hut stilt by land of the
said M. E. 5. Evuns in Chester County, 109473 fieet to 4 stone, thenpe
North 67° {17 307 Esst, still by the same land, 1951.% feet to & stone in
anothey ‘ine said to divide the two counties; theaee North 212 34" Tost
slong the said county line and s:iil by the same land, 23206 fcet to a
stone: toenee North 47 017 0% East, leaving the eounty line and along
tand of Joseph Muller in Monteoanery Couvnty, 10043 foer to a slone in
the milile of Goll road: thenes South 534° 23 407 Eost, aluag the
wniddie «f Gulf road and weill b the same land, TW 24 feot to o glooe;
thenes Xovth 577 51° 307 Esst. leaving Gulf road and by fand of Joseph
Anlier #nd lamd zow or laze of Vieletta M. Eeonedy, 141003 [eet to a
stene: thenge Seach 260 107 137 East, alone the west side of 3lallen’s
farw lans, one perch wide 23104 foet ta a stone; thenee Norlh 677 3T
A Eusr, by lands of Jos-h Mallen and Mathins P. Walker, 202343
fort 1o # stonz: thenee XNorth 65 237 307 East. alooyr the said Walker's
land, 163,20 feet to a steoe: theree North 677 39 207 East, by land of
the Pho-nix Iron Company, 410.12 feet to a slone; theues North 21° 3%
10" Wesr still by the same, 101038 feet to a steoe; thence North 63°
19" 30" East, still br the :ame. 131.53 feet to a stone: thence North
827 11" 20 East, still by the sace, 14323 feet to a stone o the middle
of the Kiam road: thenee Souch 217 427 40 East, glong the said road aod
near the widdle thereof, 86131 feet to & stome: theoee 677 317 30 Wesd,
leaviar the Ring road and along Iand lately of the estate of Robert W,
Peekin, deeeased, 1073.2 feet to a stone; themee South 247 377 307 Wesl,
by the s2id estate. 336.41 fect to o stone; thenee Somth 477 177 907 West,
still by the same. 25751 feot to a stone; theoee South 78° 127 307
West, 5750 by the same. 49303 £eet to0 a stone: thence Sounth 66° 387 30#
West, s1ill by the same and by lend of Alathias P. Walker, 1700 feet lo
a stope: thenee South 637 417 207 West, by Jumds of the snid Walker
and Joseph Mollen, 1420 fect Lo 2 stone; thenee South 80° 457 507 Vest,
by the seid diullen’s land, 576.95 feet to a stone ia the bed of Gulf road;
thenpe South 67° 377 307 Weast, still by the same, 12431 feet lo a stone;
thenes Zouth 225 317 East. by lands of the sald 3Mullen in Montgormery
County and fanaah 3. Walker in Chester County, 115748 feet fo a
stone; thenee South 677 207 West, by lhe said Hannsh 3. Walker's
aud, 34695 feet o a stone: thenee South T3° 477 307 West, by land
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of Mary E. B, Evens, 167890 feet to & sicne; thenee Sonth 347 437 50
West, by land of the estate of Evany Kendall, decensed, 1278.14 feer
10 & slone in the middle of the ruad leading Lo Centreville; thence North
23 09 30" West, along said road, 30 feet to a stone; thence North
207 43" 407 West, still along (he same, 567.60 feet 1o & stone at the
mtersection with the road leading west te Valley Creck; thence along
Washingion lane the three follewing courses and distances, pamely:
Sorth 197 367 50" West, £35.06 feet to a stone: North 97 117 30" Easr,
5117 feet to a stone and Norh 277 457 20 East, $74.97 feet to a stone:
thence South 67 46" Weat, leaving Washington Lane and along a line
purallel withk and 110 feet south of the line dividing the counties of
Chester and Montgomery, 229227 feef to a point in Valley Creek north
of the bridge ou the road to Diemond Rock; thenee North 6° 44 30
Exst, down the said creek, 12574 feet to the 2foresaid countr lize:
thence North 67° 46 Exst along the county line, 32 feet to a stoue in
the middle of the Valiey Creek voad: theare in Montpomery Countr
alrag the Valles Creek road the fve follgwing cowrs:s and distances.
namely: North 57 327 307 West, 3426 feet to a stone: North 47 34 307
East, 130685 feet to o stone: North 137 257 Fast. 363.13 foet to & stone:
Merth 2897 157 East 25757 fect to a stone and North 7 37° 307 East,
23337 feet to & stone pear the sast side of said road; thenee Sentn 247
" W Enst, leaving the Valley Creek road and alons iand formerly of
the Carter estate, 25113 feet to a stone ;. thencs XNorth 3° 03 307 East,
still along the sane land, and passing over several line stoies, 132730
feet to a point in Gulf roml: thenee Nerth 33° 33 East, leaviog Guli
road and passing over several stomes along the line of land of J. T.
Hzllman, 1310.30 feet to & white vak tree in the Pors Kennedy road:
thence South 627 257 207 West, near the center of the said road
1526.34 fret Lo a cormer: thenee North: T$® 037 20% West. leaviug the
Port henmedy road and zlong otber land of J. F. Hallman, 347.3%
fect to a stone; thenee North 1% 36" 20 East, along land of Hearriet J.
Mewres, 28763 feet to 2 corner; thence North 50° 137 507 Trest. still
along the same, 13590 feet to & comner; thence South 9° 467 107 West,
still along the same, 106,20 fect to a point in the bed of a private lane:
thence North 77° 377 50 Wesl, by n line formerly described as the
side of & privete lane ut wow in the bed of the lawe mear the north
side thereof, 20024 feet to o corner: thenee South 11° 15° West, 851
feet to a corper; thence South 77° 39° 3077 East, near the center of the
=aid private lene as vow physieally opened, 8093 foet to a corner:
thence South 10° 537 10 West, leaving said lane and along land of the
said H. J. Mewes, 169.60 feer to the North-east corner of a stone barn;
thenee North 79° 037 20" Test, along other land of J. F. Tlallman,
82.00 feet to a corner: thenmee North 79° 21° 10” West, still aloug the
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same, 73254 feet to an old corner stbae on the east side of a public road
leading to Vealler Forpe Station: thenee Nocth 10° 33° 107 Eas#, aiong
the said side of the road, 376.94 feet to a point in the center thereof at
the bend near the radlroad: thence Xorth 54° 237 40 East, aijong the
center line of the said road. 245,47 feet to a point; thencee South 11% 13
West, 17,34 Teet to a point on th- south side of the road: thenee North
5847 23° 10 East, along the sonth side of the road, 24503 feet to a point
sl theaee North 5% 34 307 YWest, in the middle Bf the swmd road,
£381 feot to zhe plaee of Berinnine.

Containing four huwadred and sistr-seven and sixty-eight one-hun.
dredths. (167 63.100) acres by the resurvey of the entire Park. By the
virisus convesaness and condemaations the area was 4671169 arres.

Deseribed 1 accordatien with the resnrver of the lines enelosing the
interine line of defenecss from the evinal notes and referencal to the
Alagnetis Memdinn established ¥ov the onfer line survers meeording to
the plan dat:] November 2d. 1103

"Report of the Valley Forge Park Commission, December 28, 1506," in
Reports of the Valley Forge Park Commissions For the Years 1902, 1904
and 1906, pp. 8-12.
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APPENDIX H .

BY-LAWS OF THE VALLEY FORGE PARK COMMISSION: 1906

ATYLOCLE L,

Vi inaioneen,

Reetion 1. The Valley Forge Park shall e owan-
aged by 1w Comnimeionerd, ns provided for ander
Aol of thee Fogishoiuwee of  Ponnsylvndidog wpprreved
May 40, 1803, “Proviglng for the acguisithon by the
Blale of eertnin growmd nt Valley Forge for v publie sagewenst of
park and making au approprivlion theretor,” and the
pulicquend aosiluerls el

Hection 2. The umnber of Counnnissianers slinll be Humber of Com-
teaL (T

Bection 3 e Counndgsioners shall, wnder appoind-
ment Ly the Governor, serve for o term af five (8)
FUiLLR

Reetian 4. Al vieanciea in the Bosred ahali e tllled Ziling o vacan-
Dy aprpoinlunenl wf Che Goveenor,

Heetion 5. The Counnisgioners shall huve ol powel  awnerey vested
Lo ack wd adopt all measuees which tiey sliall deew th Comiisaoien.
Lost for the fmprevement, presepvidlon and wmabate
nance of the Park, snd all monies eXpeisled shall be
wnder theit supervision, but we eonteacks alndl be
made for enid improvemenls vulesa au appropriation
therator shull have been flrat wmade by the Legiala-

e,

Reetion 6. The Commissioncrs shall organd#e a0- omegn and o
nually on ihe first Mondny in June by the election of waniation.
u DPresldent, ¥Wice Presldent, Bcevetory wid Troansurer,
to werve for one yenr, or untll their aucressora shall

Torm of wlice.
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hove Jasen ehectml Tlae win bk saeolinge of e Catie
nisgivners shuil be held on the thied Tucsduy of ench
mdn by w il b D exec pdivn ol dody o Sooganl, ol Auch
Lisne and pliee ws oy Le desigaaded by e Preaident,
Mpperid mieviinggs ngy be callod By the BPresidead o
npadi fhee weitten requeat of ve wembera,

Beclion T 83x 6 wwenbaers shadl consiionie o gis-
rian for Che triansaction of bnsincews,

Fecliocn 30 The ordoer vf busioeas o staged weelings
of e Convmissivnees shabl be oas follows:

L Heading of minules.

2 Mot of teepsuper.

d Beport of supevintendent.

o Moquad of cospmiiieey,

3. Unflnislivd Luainowss.

G New brasisageas,

TeoLhdjomnaent.

ARTICLE I
I'resident.

Foecliv T The Preesident shiall possside wd ol ool
inge of rhe Comnissioners, preserve order, appoiot
comiaiibees awd gipn all oeders oo the Treasarer. He
ahiali wake such veports to the Governor and the Leg
lalatauee s way e reguiced by law,

SBeetion 2. In the absence or disalbility of the Dresi-
dent e Viee DMeeshilent abinll preaide, and in.the ub-
gener ¢f beth oflleers the Commnisaioners may elect o
tempeary ehaivinan.

ARTICLE I
Viee President.
Bection 1. The Vier President shull perform all the
duties of the President when the latter ia abaent.
ARTICLE 1V,
Treaguwrer,

Bection 1. The Treusurver shindl be the custodioo of
afl Tunds Lelonging (o the Comminsion. e shall
Keep o record of all receipts and disburacments, ind
wake o ipoutbly veport of 4he suine (o the stnted weet
fnga of the Comminsinnera, an well na such other re
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porld g iy be cequiped by bow, e shall keep thae
enpitkod Ledoangings 1o the Sonaninsioners in anel deposi-
tory ns nay be appeoved by the Connniedion, aud give
i Laend, o sncl s s sy e adesiEnatedd, for e
fuilliful performonee of hig daly. e shall approve
and Farward Lo e Blate Treasueer Toe payiend all
billy, the correcinese of which liae boen eertifed to
by [he praper vllicee of (e Casgmission, ST oeders
Far maney deawn wpon Lhe Tecagarer of Mia Connoiy-
sion, ar bpun Lhie Ble Teeasarer, nanst e sigoanl by
the President and countersipgned by thie Hecretary.

ANTICLE ¥.
Freereiuey.

Heetion L The Beveetary slinll Leep o pecoind of fhe
proceedinga of all meetings in & Minute-Dook provided
for the pavpose. e shnll insue a1 notice of all ataked
or apecial neetings of the Connnsissioners, condact the
corpespondence and carefully presceve all contracta
and revgrds betonging te the {fommissioneva. He
glull, with the Preaident, aign all ordere denwn upon
the Troganraer,

ALBTICLE V).

suprerintendoent.

Beclion 1, The Counissioucrs shull eleet o Boperin-
tuendent of the Parck, wito may be 0 memmber of the Com-
wisgion aud who slinll be poid such salury os the Lon-
ntisgicwiors ey wudhavize, The Supecinieadend shindd
have genernl chorge of the lark propevty, the voa-
structlon and wmalntevance of wll ronda and utlwr lin-
provemenda, nid pevform aech doiics us way from
Cinewe T Tiepe Do smmigrned (o Wime The alagdl peesent o
monthly repore, in welting, to the atated mectings of
Lhe Counisrivnors, showing progress of e work
under him enree. He shindi Bave chiavge of all vmployes
of the Purk, and shall approve for payment all Lills
for labor and unterivls.

ARTICLLE VL
Committees.

Bection L. The President alill appoiat o Fxecu-
Hve Commiltec sonwistiog of Hve members, of which
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Aditing,

Bwripd-

he shall De o ex-aflicio memdier, Lo weeyve during the
yoar.  This covmddbse whall pesforis soele dielics as
Ay e ssrigaed Lo il

Beclion & The Peesident shall adze appdnl ao e
dilitge ConetindBEe of three members, oo exnnine (i
ek ol dle Proesesaeeer ak dhe ebgse ol el lideitd
youl, ald o sueh other thines fa fhe Danpissieners
iy alieee i whiclhe comondl e slad L peport Hiv resoll of
Lhwir exndpations 1o e Commissionors,

Beediven a5 The Prreesibend sladb appaeint all conuail-
tess anthorized Iy the Conomirsicners, and thoir e
pachn whnll by wde in weiling aad epevad upon the
Mautes when so cdered.

ARPICLE VI
Amendments.

These by-laws way be nmended by o bwvo-thivids vole
ol all e Ceaanissionors at woy regular peeting or of
o apeeinl meoting ealled foe e porpasse, swriifen
wobive of propoged clomge baving been given b feast
thivty daya prior to such e ing,

By-Laws of the Valley Forge Park Commission, 1906, pp. 3-6.
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APPENDIX | .

EXCERPTS FROM BURK, GUIDE TO VALLEY FORGE, 1906

HOW IOy REACH VALLEY FORGE.

¥alley Forge -« ot the Heading Thrielon of the Philadzlphla
sl Reading Raiway. 217 mtea from Philadeiphia. There are
pcreral Lraine each way, GRily. The single fare I3 §.58 and the
mmpd trip T34, The lea trip ticket [Food tur parilaa} 1o #4.20-

The Headguaricrs wnd the estranee 1o the PRCE are near
fha station.

Valley Forge can alan be ceachad 07 the Peppsylvania
Bmiproad, from Broad Street Statioo, Beizword In the atasbon
piliets State Pork. 11 4 217 miles from T'hitedelphie Yhe
sl fare |a £.54; the yound trip $.74, and the len beip RLED
Al (ot partiesl. The Right Line Bovlevard ancraocd is a

over & haif-mlle from Belzwood Sration. The Hogd -
gEiews ste two and & half-milea from Balawood.

It carciages e ordered [ro@n Norrielewn ons siation Iy &
wmipEwitent an another,

Jatomohite trips are wade o Yalley Forge weekly through-
aEFss pummer. The attamobiles leavs 12Z7 Market strest.
FilbIcIpri. cvery Saturday aftecnoon at one o'elock, The:
oWl Ues through Overbrook, Wavne, oo, Seats shouwbl 1e
e jo advance, Mare [or the rowed trip $LEG

HOTELS.

¥t Wzrhingion fah near the Headquarters,

ﬂ Mansiin Honse [n Valley Furg
Bart Kenowly 1nn” st Port Kenopidy Stalies.
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HOW TO SEE VALLEY FORGE.

Those who have ooty o limited Ume should viset the ia-
trenchments, Fort Huntington, the Siar Redoubt., Vairdum's
Headguartess, the Soldiers’ Hot, the Waterman Muoumett, e
Washinglon Memorial Chapel and Washiogtons Headgueriers,
Thia ¢an be dobe hurcied!'y ln twe hours.

Those who can apare: mere time should twucn back afver
Foiny aa far as the Chapel, go over the boclevard wn Mt Jov
4y Fory Washlngton, teturn tg the Gulph road, furn to e bef
and deacend Lo the Washicgron Inn, taen to the righs and viz
the Headquariera.

This bouvk degeribes the rour of the entire encampmen:
and a vigit to Dafayettcs Headquacters. Thie 6 all that ead
ke duoe io one day, a3 the other beadquarters lie ton far afeid.
The writer bap lo preparidion 8 book which will secve am a
geide to the more remote places of inkeresl.

CARRIAGES,

An there are Ave miles of boulevard end three milea or
pe of other roads oaver which one must pass Lo gze all (Le
polote of lotereat in the eLcampment, mogt people wll profer
to make the tour in carriuges. These may be ordered through
the bolels or from atables In Norfstown, Phoenlzvilte, or
polnts o the Mpin Lioe With a driver & carclaee for Fou:
wili tomt frem three to Pour dellars for the mornlng or after
Doon, accirdiog o the time ghd dislance,
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APPENDIX

POLICY OF VALLEY FORGE PARK COMMISSION RELATIVE TO
MEMORIALS: CA. 1805

(r)  All designs for monuments must first be submireed to the Commizsion for ap-
proval.

fz1 It is hereby made the fized policy of the Yalley Forge Pack Commission, and
it is ordered, wbat ao satement or fact sball be ioscribed upon any sone, tablet, or
memarial, and placed or crected within the Vit of the Camp ground untit after
written or printed citations of the authoriries upon which it s based have been fled
with the Commission and approved by them.

{1} N steoe, tublet or permanent memerial to be placed or erecred within the
limits of ¢he Camp ground shall contain the mamea of those interested 7o g location
or ercciion, or the namey of aoy other persons, (han these exining during the period
of the War of the Revalution.

Report of the Valley Forge Revolutionary Encampment Commission of the
State of Mew Jersey, p. 27.
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CHAPTER FIVE

VALLEY FORGE STATE PARK ADMINISTERED UNDER THE PENNSYLVANIA
DEPARTMENT OF FORESTS AND WATERS: 1923-1971
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A, INTRODUCTION

Under the prodding of Governor Gifford Pinchot, who had become
governor of Pennsylvania in 1923, a new administrative code was enacted
o direct the operation of the commonwealth government., The code,
enacted on June 15, 1923, consclidated departments and centralized
control, thus increasing the governor's power. One aspect of the code
provided for the merger of the reorganized Department of Farestry and
the Water Supply Commission of Pennsylvania inta the Cepartment of
Forests and waters. The state parks and forests were placed for
purposes of administration and fiscal conduct under the pew department.
The code had a significant impact on the administration of Valley Forge
State Park. Section 202 established the Valley Forge Park Commissign as
a departmental administrative commission, consisting of the Secretary of
Forests and Waters as an ex-officio member (the secretary headed the
Department of Forests and Waters and his deputy served as the state
forester) and thirteen other persons (to be appointed by the governor
and confirmed by the 5Senate). The commission was to elect a chairman
and secretary annually, and seven members were to constitute a quorum.

The park commission was to continue acting as an independent body with
the exception of its responsibility to the Department of Forasts and
Waters in budgetary and fiscai affairs. Sections 503, 608, 1606, and 16813
of the code delimited the powers of the commission and its relationship to
the department:

Sectipn 503, Departmental Administrative Boards and
Commissions.--Except as otherwise provided in this act,
departmental administrative bodies, boards, and commissions
within the several administrative departments shall exercise
their powers and perform their duties independently of the
heads or any other officers of the respective administrative
departments with which they are connected; but in all matters
involving the expenditure of money all such departmental
administrative beards and commissions shall be subject and
responsible to the departments with which they are respectively
cannected.

whenever the head of a department is by this act made
ex-officic a member of a departmental administrative board ar
commission, such department head shall have the privilege of
atiending meetings and participating in the deliberations of such
beard or commission, but shalf not have the right to vote upart
any matter coming before such board or commission.

Section 606. Departmental Administrative Bodies, Boards, and
Commissions.--It  shall be the duty of each departmental
administrative body, board, and commission promptly to furnish
te the head of the department of which it is a part such
infarmation as may be requested by the head of the department
for the departmental budget estimates or the periodical estimates
of the current expenditures of the department.
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Section 1605, The Department of Forests and Waters shall have
the power, and its duty shatl be:

{A) To supervise, maintain, improve, regulate, police,
and preserve all parks belonging to the Commonwealth,
excepl the Fennsylvania State Park at Erie, Washington
Crossing Park, and Valley Forge Park.

Section 1613. Valley Forge Park Commission.--5Subject to any
inconsistent provisions in this act contained, the Walley Forge
Fark Commission shall coentinue to exercise the powers and
perform the duties by law wested in and imposed upon the
Commissioners of Valley Forge Park.

Thus, as a result of this rearganization the Valley Forge Park Commission
henceforth  was  reguired to  request appropriations  through  the
department, the techmnical staff of which provided the park with assistance
in planning, devefopment, and improvement. (1)

Later on April 9, 1929, the legislature, under the prodding of Gowvernor
John Fisher, passed an act known as "The Administrative Code of 18928,"
amplifying the 1923 code with amended and more complete prowvisions for
coensolidation  and  centralization of the state government under the
governor's conterol.  Excerpts from this law, that were relevant to the
Valley Forge Park Commissicn may be seen in Appendix 4. Under the
provisions of the Administrative Code of 1929 the park was operated and
maintained under the supervision of the park superintendent subject to
administrative procedures and pelicies of the Department of Forests and
Waters and to directives of the Valley Forge Park Commission.

The park commission was less than enthusiastic about the bureaucratic
refarms provided in "The Administrative Code of 1929," which would be
the basic legislation governing the powers of the commission as it
administered -the park until 1871, That same year the commissioners
reported that they were

subordinate to several state departments with the unpractical
result that ewven matters of minor significance which should be
decided promptly are subjected to delay. The gradual control
ef the park assumed at the state capitocl was i its origin
doubtless an effort to prevent the staie from becoming involved
in expenditures by the action of park hoards, but it was alsc a
reflection upon the nature of the appointments to such boards.
Certainty no man who has never been krown to attend a
meeting of & park board shoutd be continued in such a position.
The code which became a law in 1929 is a further step toward
limiting the action of park commissioners. But that step clearly

1. Reports of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1321-1927, pp. 12-13,
Nelson, State Recreation, p. 227; and Raymond H. Torrey, Slale Parks
and Recreatipna! Uses of State Forests in The United States (Washington,
19263, pp. 218, 226. -
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prints the way to the creation of a State Council on Parks such
as already exists in several |eading states, it beimg obwvious
that the existing departments at the State Capitcl having the
oversight over forests and waters and properties and supplies
cannot gQive ta state park problems the attention reguired. For
some time past that attention has begen confined mostly to income
and expenditures which are only a part of the guestions
arising. That a department should be required to pass on the
details of the sale of firewood from a few dead trees im a park
s a4 useless and wasteful expenditure of energy and time. A
nen-political 5tate Council on Parks, serving without pay whose
public authority should be confined exclusively to the state
parks, and a small local park commission such as govern a
number of towns more efficiently than is done by town councils
or with the state park managed by a paid superintendent in a
way similar to the direction of the City of Cincinnati by a city
manager, would seem 1o be the inevitable outcome of the
preliminary steps already taken by past and present laws of the
state. {2}

B. THE YEARS T923-1825

On  November 3, 1922, the new Valley Forge Park Commission was
aorganized under pravision of the administrative code at a meeting in
Philadelphia. Because of ‘'"econpmies which generally affected all
departments of the State government," the appropriation for the
maintenance of the park was only $35,000 for the 1922-25 biennium.(3)
The new commission reported that this amount was so small that it was
‘extremely difficult to protect the interests committed to its care, and
impossible to engage in any new developments."(4)

Onty  two monthly reports by Jerome J. Sheas, the park assistant
superintendent, are extant from this period. Both reports submitted in
February anmd March 1925, indicate the reduced level of maintenance
operaticns and program of park improvements., In February the assistant
superintendent reported:

2. Repert of The Valley Forge Park Commission, Commonwealth of
Penncylvania, August 30, 1927 to June 1, 1929, pp. 9%-10.

3. on May 25, 1923, the park commission forwarded a report to
Gowvernar Pinchot detailing the minimum costs, estimated at 321,000 per
year, for operating and maintzining the park. 5Scott to Pinchot, May 25,
1923, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC. A copy of this letter may be seen
in Aposendix B.

d. Reports of The Valley Forge Fark Commission, 1921-27 p. 14.
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Our entire force consist of nine men, including a guard at
Headquarters, on account of the wvery heavy snowfall the men
were chiefly engaged In opening drives, paths, etc., especial
attention was paid to gutters to releave [sic] the roads ef any
accumulation of water as quickly as possible.

Wwe alsp started to clean out traces of woodlands, where a
contractor previously had taken out chestnut poles and posts,
and Tn consequence thereof left tops, branches, etc. behind.
These tracts prove to be a great menace in spring and fall,
when conditions are ripe for forest fires we often find it nearly
impossible to combat fires in them, first on account of their
location, and second in neot having the proper fire fighting
equipments. Our intentions are to keep up the weork until
warmer weather sets in, when we have (o go back to the
reqular road and work again.

As to repairs of the different buildings and structures, may |
call your attention to

Washingtons Headquarters:

where chimneys, kitchen floor and foft ought o repaired, and
also the pavement leading up to and around the quarters needs
improving. | believe L would prove to be good policy to have
a responsible person inspect the buiiding as te its condition and
safety, because in the last season over 200,000 wisitors passed
through the house, ewvan the past month with its inclement
weather brought 488 callers.

Picnic Grove:

where, besides making repairs to the different buildings, and
water hydrants, we need sewveral hundred feet of tables and
benches, as there has no replacement been made in the last
three seasons. The ever increasing numbers of visitors demand
these accommodations.

Observatory:
This structure has not received any attentien for nearly five
vears where in former days it was customary to have it
inspected and painted every other seaspn.
Roads:
We alsc need a liberal supply of Tarvia K.P. and Chips fto

repair gur different bituminous roads as sgon as the conditions
of the same warrants such work.(5)

5. Assistant Superintendent, Valley Forge Park to Commissioners of
Yalley Forge Park, February 13, 1925, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC,
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The following manth he reparted:
Work completed

Favorabkle wealher conditipns assisted us in cleaning up sewveral
tracls of woodland near Ft. Washington and the Tawer, which
areg now free of storm torn and dead timber. Badly diseased,
therefore dangerous trees along the drives were removed. The
different orchards received some attentign aisq.

Work contemplated

Trimming the trees in the Picnic Grove, hauling firewpod to the
storage place at the Toolhouse, starting to clean inlets and
gutters and to paltch roads, picking the mowing fields clear of
stones, branches, bottles, etc., also owverhead our divers
mowing equipments.

Roads

Our reoads while in fair condition at the present time, will not
last leng to be spo, when warm and dry weather starts 1o
disintegrate the surface.

Even now we must patrei the re-constructed, but not finished
Gulph Road, ewvery day to stop her from unravelling.

Matorist quickly perceiving the ideal roadbed, are using it as a
more direct route to gain the Main Line, often at a fiendish rate
of speed.

Guards

Therefore | urgently request, if it is possible to do so, the
calling to Duty of at least two guards o suppress reckless
driving especially on Gulph Reoad and OQuter Line Orive. {6}

Despite the paucity of the park appropriation officials continued to
contend with large numbers of wisitors. In 1924 some 387,500 persons
visited the park, with 210,500 registering at Washington's Headgquarters.
The largest crowd to wvisit the park that year occurred on September 26
when more than 4,000 persons attended exercises at the Waterman grave
under the auspices of The Carpenter Company of Philadelphia.

Early in fiscal wear 1923 the general assembly appropriated to the
Cepartment of Forests and Waters for the exclusive use of the Valley
Forge FPark Commission & fund of $500,300, aliocated for payment of land
judgments with interest and costs, covering awards to various former
owners for lands previously acquired by condemnation for the park.
During the 18923-2% bienniom the commission  completed  the land
settlements, clearing up alt judgment baiances for land acguisition to date

G. lbid., March 2, 1925, Correspundence, RG 46, PHMC,
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at a total cost of $469,367.01. Buildings en lands acquired were ordered
demolished and contractors, under agreement, were not allowed to sell the
structural materials remaining for use in construction of any building
within three miles of the park.(7)

C. THE YEARS 1925-1927

By 1825 the state's finances had improved considerably, and the state
legislature, spurred by the approaching celebration in nearby Philadelphia
of the 150th anniversary of the Declaration of Independence and the
certainty of an increase in the number of wisitors to Valley Forge,
responded with increased appropriations for the park.

The appropriations for the 1925-27 biennium included $150,000 for
maintenance and payment of interest on land purchases, pending final
settlements with former owners of ground added to the park by
condemnation proceedings, and $100,000 for the improvement and repair of
roads, which, according to the park commission, "had fallen into neglect,
cccasigning the most unfavorable remarks."(8)}

The park commission immediately set to work, upgrading the maintenance,
interpretive, forestry, and preservation programs, as well as the recrea-
tional facilities, in the park. The road improvements, necessitated by the
rising moter traffic to the park, were executed under the direction of the
State Highway Department to insure that they "might be competently
executed." Concurrently, the Montgomery County authorities improved
the Port Kennedy Road through the park. By 1927 it was reported that
the park roads were in "an unexceptionable state of repair.”

Seepage through the masonry of the Memortal Arch continued o pose
problems to park officials. Accordingly, in Mowvember 1925 a contract was
let to the Presbrey-Letand Company of New York City to recover the
"exposed verticle joints occurring in the cap stones" and provide for
preservation of the monument.{9)

New interpretive signs, based on research by the commission's histerical
committee, were placed throughout the park to emphasize the "historical
significance" of the wvarious points of interest asscciated with the encamp-
ment. The appointment of Dr. Eliis Paxson Oberholtzer, author of A
History of The United States Since The Civil War, as an assistant to the
historical committee reportedly "put knowledge of the Rewveclution and of

7. Reports of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1321-27, pp. 10,
22-23.

8. Isaac R. Pennypacker, '"Valley Forge," American Mercury, VII
{March, 1925), 343.

9, Contract, Presbrey-Leland Company, Maovember 11, 1925,
Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.

216




American Mistory generally at the disposal of the Commission.” i lale
1326 the commissioners reported:

We have marked and explained sites by many new signs.
The signs already in place had been introduced at a time when
the Park bad but a small acreage. It had come by successive
acquisitions to comprise 1,42% acres. The need was at hand,
therefore, for a complete study of mew requirements inm this
regard. Brigade positions, headquarters houses, roads, the
site of Sullivan's bridge, fortifications, etc., were to be
marked. At [he same time a number of signs were erected
giving direclions to visitors as {0 the boundaries of the Park,
county lines, and the use of automobiles. Nearly 150 of these
markers, finished in conformity with those earlier in position,
have bheen erected.

A study of Washington's Headquarters was conducted by Horace Wells
Sellers, chairman of the Committee on  Histaricai Monuments of the
Philadelphia Chapter of the American !nstitute of Architects, resulting in
the conclusien ''that in a number of respects it had been spoiled by il
advised restoration." Accordingly, changes were made in the kitchen,
areaway between the hguse and the kitchen, and steps leading down from
the house to the areaway "in the interest of historical accuracy." Advice
was also sought concerning room furnishings in the structure with various
unspecified changes being made. Hoods were removed from the chimneys,
colonial-type roof shingles were substituted for the former liles on the
roaf of the pent cver the entrance, and trellises for old-fashioned roses
were built against the south wall. A contract was let to remove "the
modern cement pointing with which the walls were at some former time
disfigured."

In 1926 a building on the lawn just south of the headquarters, reportedly
first used as a stable for Washington's army harses and later as an
ehcampment hospital, was converted inte the Valley Forge Park Museum.
The 500 relics on display inciuded "ammunition, bayonets, scabbards, and
other war material, uncovered at different times by excavation in the
camp  ground,  househsld  utensils, tools, coins and  souwvenirs  of
Washington, Wayne and other commanders." This was the first time that
all the commission’'s pictures and relics were "brought together in one
place far the instruction and enjoyment of wvisitors.” The walls featured
"photographs of Washington portraits, chronologically arranged," which
had been presented to the Commission years before by Julius F. Sachse,
and & "collection of pertraits of washington and his generals and aides,"
together "with maps of the camp, pictures of the Washington Headguarters
buiiding, etc.," presented by Frederick D. Stone. All pictures belonging
to the commission were cleaned and reframed "as much for thefr
preservation as for their exhibition to the public." With the opening of
the museum, the exhibition anmd souvenir sales room in the camp schopl
house, which had been cperated by John V. Francis of Qaks,

217



Fennsylvania, since 1312, was closed. Thereafter, it was "open te wview
as the restoratiorn of an old school room." {10}

The changes to the headquarters and museum buildings led to the
development of ptans for the entire area in their vicinity. The area was
lighted "by electricity in front of reflectors set in the ground" which
were to be masked, thus awvoiding "posts and gloves out of the spirit of
the place." Plans were developed tp restore the fences and gardens
around the headguarters, and the "small house with a recent Mansard
roof, south of the stable, used for some years as the office of the
Commission, and as a residence for the Superintendent,”" was "altered to
appearance in keeping with its surroundings." The barn in the rear of
the headgquartiers area was renowvated for office and storage space and a
large public comfert station, the "unsightly sheds" then serving as
comfort stations being demgclished. The remowval of the sheds opened the
way '"for an entire rearrangement of walks and drives arcund the
Headguarters building." 5Space near the barn was converted for use as &
parking area, and thereafter parking was disallcwed along the rcad in
front of the building. Planting was undertaken "to effect a return of the
entire area around the Headquarters to an appearance suggestive of that
which it wore when Washington lived here." The renovations toc the
headquarters, superintendent's house, and stable building furnished the
visitor "with a pleasant picture of Colanial and Rewolutionary times" along
the Valley Road.

Facilities were developed in other parts of the park during 1925-27 to
accommodate the growing numbers of park visitors. A large parking area
was canstructed "at the foot of the cbservatory on the summit of Mount
Joy. " Mew comfort statipns were built mear that parking area and at the
picnic grove near Fort Huntington. In April 1926 the Fhiladelphia
Suburban Water Company installed "single pipe line of thirty inch,
twenty-four inch, and twenty inch water pipes" across the park.
Originally the pipe line was to be laid along the Gulph Rpad right-of-way.
Rather than submit to the destruction of the mew surface of this road the
commissian consented, ‘Munder conditions and restrictions, to the
excavation of a trench by the most direct route from a point at the
entrance of the Park east of the Phoenixville road to a point on the south
boundary, beyond the Mational Memorial Arch on the way to Bryn Mawr,
the objective of the line." In return for this privilege, branch service
lines were laid to the house on the Huntington Quarters site and Mount

Joy. Telephones were also installed in "a number of key positions" in the
park.

Flanting of trees and shrubbery around the Memarial Arch was
commenced, and in "a comparatively short time" the commission expected
that the nakedness of the knoll" on which the monument steod would "be

10. After 1928 no one was permitted to sell souvenirs on the park
grounds except for wveterans who sold poppies on "Poppy Day." Daily
Republican, Movember 12, 1335, Newspaper Clippings Filg, Valley Forge
Park, Chester County Historical Sociely.
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lost in wverdure." Al Lhe request of Lhe Governor of Massachusells, the
commission agreed 1o relocale the Massachusetls memeorial "to a mare
apprapriate adjacent posilion" in "pursuil of an arrangement of walks and
vistas agreeable lo the eye."” Addilicnal planting was aiso carried out
arocund the Wayne Stalue.

The commission drew up comprehensive plans “for its own guidance and
as a suggeslion to future commissions' for the landscape development of
the park. The plans were prepared largely under the direction of Richard
S. Burns, a landscape architect. The plans were designed lo meet the
need “of a comprehensive policy for the arrangement of all mew features
within the Park, the readjustment of existing features that are
thcongruous and 1he preservation aof all desirable possessions with a wview
to restoring the ground as a natural rural arez to somewhat Lhe same
form and condition in which it was when it was occupied as a camp.”

A park brochure in June 1926 was prepared for free distribution to the
public by the guards. The brochure included a "succinct statement of
the historical significance of Valley Forge" and a map showing the roads
and principal places of interest." {A copy of this brochure may be seen
in Appendix C.)}

While the acquisition of condemned land proceeded slowly during 1925-27,
the commission developed plans for the eventuality when "the site of the
old Baptist Road to the old Fatland Ford on the Schuylkill® became
available. 't was proposed that the path of this road, "over which the
Revolutionary commands which were stationed here constantly passed," be
cleared of undergrowth, thus opening to pedestrians and horse riders "a
way to the ruins of an old picket hut which is one of the valued relics of
the Rewolution." According to the commission, nothing "of more historical
value in the Park" remained "undevelgped."

The cammission alsp reported in 1926 that a "number of useless buildings
without historical significance acquired upon settlement of land claims"
needed to be razed. Other structures, which were not obstructions and
promised to be serviceable far administrative purpeoses, required extensive
repairs. Two old houses west of WValley Creek and south of the
Phoenixville Road were "remodelled and restored in the Colonial spirit."

The number of visitars to the park increased to 478,921 in 1925 and
567,518 in 1926. In the latter year the commission noted:

It is of interest to note the number of persons wha wvisit the
Fark. Ewven in winter time, when it is seen to the Ilaast
advantage, it is the cbjective of many people. In December,
1913, there were only 54 visitors at Washingten's Headquarters.
lmn 1924 ana 192% there were newver less than 2,500 wisitors
during a winter month.

In the calender year 1925 our guards counted approximatety
225,000 wisiters at Headquarters, with a wery much larger
humber in the Fark. In the summer of 1926 the Headquarters
was wisited on a Sunday by 4,500 persons. Five times this
number of persons came to the Park, since many do not attempt
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to enter the building, because of the crowds surrounding the
doors, or prefer simply to drive over the roads to look at the
entrenchments and survey the external scene.(17} .

During this period of increasing park development and improvement, lsaac
R. Pennypacker, who would become chairman of the Valley Forge Park
Commission in fiscal year 1927, published a scathing article in American
Mercury discussing the relative merils of state and federal administration
of parks by comparing the operation of Vatley Forge and Gelltysburg
respectively. He observed:

Across three Pennsylvania counties from the old campground
lies the battle-field of Gettysburg. Valley Forge is a State
park; Gettysburg is a national park. [|n acguiring and caring
for the former, an area of 1,428 acres, Pennsylvania has so far
appropriated 1,998,150, Toward the Gettysburg park of forty
sguare miles Congress, between 1835 and 1924, appropriated
%$1,847,522.50. Before Gettysburg came under natignal contral
the Memerial Association spent a little gver $100,000 upon the
battte-field, at a cost of only %$10,000 for salaries and other
administrative expenses. Jne million tourists  visited
Gattysburg in 1924, and 800,000 go to WValley Forge yearly;
they come from many foreign countries and from most of the
States of the union.

A consideration of the two parks together, the one national and
the other State, may throw some light upon the parsistent
wriggling of Americans between state and national control.

11. Reports of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1921-27, pp. 14-22.
Visitor statistics for 1925-26 were:

1825

Total Visitors . . . e e e e e e e e e 478,921
Washington Headquarters e e e e e e e e e . .. 230,850

These wisitors came by wvarious methods of transportation
includging 95,395 autos, 4,214 busses, 495 motorcycles, 585
bicycles and 10 carriages. Also 333 equestrians were checked

in the Park.

1926
Total Visitors . . . e e e e e e e e 567,518
Washington Headquar‘ters .. . . . 282,527

VYehicies checked by guards included 121 973 autos, 867 busses,
427 motorcycles and 410 bicycles,

Also see "Report To Accompany the General Sketch Plan For The Further
Development ©Of The Revolutionary Camp Ground At Valley Forge,
Pennsylvania," by Richard 5. Burns, 1926, RG 2, VAFDO Archives.
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Here it will be shown, as it has been in 50 many other matters,
that the measure of defect and of merit is about the same in
State and nation, that good or bad results spring from sensible
or faully administration, and that the best results, State or
national, come from administrations which are confined simply to
keeping the machinery running. Administrators like Roosevelt,
woodrow Wilson and, in Pennsylvania, Governor Pinchot, who
strive to be supermen, only put spokes in the governmental
wheels, as Gettysburg and Walley Forge both demonstrate. For
a considerakle peripd in recent years both of these parks
became caves of Adullam for alt Americans who possessed any
historical sense. But that most persons, cultured or otherwise,
are without that sense, jusl as many persons are color-blind
and others tone-deaf, found ample substantiation at bath
places.

After describing the development of Gettysburg, Pennypacker turned 1o
the pelitics and intrusions affecting the operation of Valley Forge. In a
spomewhat cryptic manner, he commented:

History bulked so large in the marking of the Gettysburg field
that in many, if not most, of the memaorials art had slight
consideration, so that it cannot be said there was any contest
between the two. At Valley Forge, however, there has been a
clash--not between history and art, but between the church
and persons barren of the historical sense on the cone side, and
history and the State on lhe other, This contest has, in the
main, gone unnoted., The newspapers have had neone of it. An
occasional woice of protest has been raised only to subside
before public inertia. !t has thus not been an open clash, but
it has been a contest newvertheless.

Subsequent to the wyear 1903, when it became possible to set
about serigusly the establishment of a 5tate park at Valley
Forge, Pennsylvania was fortunate in having several governars
who were especially interested in American history, and who
saw that sufficient appropriations were made to acquire and
preserve the old camp-grournd. . . . But when Gifford Pinchot
became governor with the support of many women voters, he at
once set about a policy of economy, temporarily much waunted
but soon discovered to include the cutting down of necessary
work and the non-payment of bills due by the State under
contract.

The effect of this “economy” at Valley Forge was disasirous.
The roads went wnrepaired and guickly disintegrated. The
park guards and other employees' were unpaid for five months.
When the park comprised but 480 acres there were ning guards.
Now, when it includes 1,428 acres, there are but sewven. This
smali forge finds it impossibie to prevent the destructive
American tourist, wheo brings to Valley Forge his exaggerated
idea of personal tiberty from committing wvandalism. Fregquently
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the Boy Scouts, |imiting sentiment to their ragalia, emulate with
their little hatchets George Washington's mythical feat upon a
cherry-tree.  Again a body of pupils from a Philadelphia
public-school strive to show how they have profited by the
example of the ancient Huns., After a Summer Sunday there is
jeft on the campground all the wusual litter of the sloveniy
American crowd. OR Memorial Day in May, its character lang
since lost, and on Labor Day in September the deposit of such
litter reaches its peak.

Rut, after all, the conduct of these new Americans is less
harmful than certain plans that have been attampted and ewven
carried out by older Americans who cught to know hetter. The
state of Rhode Island, for instance, provided a sum of money
for the erection of a memorial at Valley Forge. The State's
governor and members of the Rhode lsland Commission wvisited
the grounds and were much taken with the prominence of the
site of the GStar redoubt, an earthwork overlooking the
Schuylkill river, erected by washington's engineers. Al once
they proposed te place the Rhode Island memerial on this
redoubt--a naive suggestion, of whose impropriety thay seemed
totally unconscious. The Park Commission, then composed of
competent men, decided that no memorial to Rhode Island troops
or any other troops should be erected on the earthworlk, but
granted permission to Rhode Island to erect a memorial within
twenty feet of it. The sovereign State thereupon refused to
erect any memorial at all, a decisicn perhaps befitting the small
boy of the Union and the last to adopt the national
Constitution.

The contest to prevent similar unseemly intrusions has been
constant. A suburban gas and electric company tried to run its
poles through the park without asking for permission. The
protection of the courts had to be sought. Then & trolley
company undertook ta lay its tracks through the park, and that
misguided and selfish effort was also frustrated. Americans
frem miles around coppesed the removal from Valley Creek of a
dam which was not there when Washingten's army was. World
War survivors have wanted to erect a World War memorial on the
camp-ground. One group after another comes forward to utilize
the memories of the place for prometion of this or that purpose
in no way related to it. And the church group has come negar
effecting what Howe and Clinton, in possession of Philadelphia,
did not even attempt--the capture of Valley Forge. .

Wwhile the equestrian statue of Anthony Wayne by Bush-Brown,
and the National Arch by Paul Cret are both commendable, it is
perhaps fortunate that there is as yet not much of statuary or
architecture on the camp-ground. Here and there is to be seen
a piece of sculpture which shows that the Park Commission is
not an authority in art matters. 1t would be well if a body like
the Washington Fine Arts Commission or the Philadelphia Art
Jury, to be composed of men of high standing, such as Charles
Grafly, head of the schools of sculplure in Philadelphia and
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Boston, were created and given control over proposed
memerials. A competent body would reject most of the designs
submitted, and, as such things go, the more that are rejacted
the better.

The movement of the church toward the capture of Valley Forge
has been led by an energetic clergyman of the Protestant
Episcopal sect, and has taken the concrete form of what is
pepularly called a “cathedral ," regardless of the facts that it is
not the principal church of the diocese nor the bishop's church
and that the bishaop's seat being elsewhere, if he has a seat, it
coniains ng proper bishop's throne.  This "cathedral® stands
just over the edge of the State park. Viewed historicatly, 1t is
an intrusion, since there was no church or need of a church in
the vicinity during the Rewvgluticnary period.

Its proximity to Walley Forge Park, although the two are
entirely distinct, has made it possible for the rector, with a
Valley Forge appeal, to gather from different States a collection
of relics of the Revolutionary period, among them Washington's
tent, contributed by the Lee family of Virginia. Other persons
including the Maryland descendant of a favorite side of
Washington, who hawve been asked to give to this museum have
declined because of grave doubts of the propriety of an
enterprise which has the appearance of building in an unrelated
way upen the fame of the camp-ground, and is without State
supervision and in a peculiar sense an individual effort,

The rector of the "cathedral" is one of the most recent
appointees to the Valley Forge Commission. He signalized his
appearance on the board by advocating the sale of 450 acres of
the camp-ground and the erection in & conspicuous place of a
museum to house the '"cathedral' collection. As is often the
case, his desire to attain an end caused him te overlook the
illegality of the propeosal. The State lodged neo power to sell
land in the commission. The purpose of the State has been to
conserve Valley Forge, not to go into the real estate business.

Full of enthusiasm for the "cathedrai,” persons more interested
in it than in the camp-ground have been known to suggest to
the park guards that they direct tourists to it. In magazines
and other pericdicals articles laudatory of the beauty of its
windows and its architecture have been silent as to the work of
many years in the preservation and interpretation of the camp-
ground. Here, then, is a contest between the church on one
side and history and the State on the other--a rivalry begun
by the church unnecessarily, and unfortunate for the church at
large. . . .{12)

i2.

Pennypacker, "VYalley Forge," 341-45.
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D. THE YEARS 1827-1923

A movement to have Valley Forge made a national reservation was again
promcted by warious groups in 1927, Hoping to head off this mowvement
in its early stages, the commission adopted a resclution, drafted by

chairman isaac R. Pennypacker, for distribution to the press. The
resolution read in part:

The exercise of national control over the Gettysburg battle-freld
park is a warning of the danger to Valley Forge involved in the
transfer of such control to the nation. Without due regard for
the Gettysburg park and without proper foresight as to the
probably f[sic] consequences, during the administrations of
President Roosevelt and Wilson, the Marines, War <{ollege
students, tank units and other military bodies, were encamped
in the park. Many memorials erected by the loyal states and a
number of markers were mutitated, trees and shrubbery were
injured ar destroyed, and much wanton destruction was done by
the thaughtless and irreverent element in the soldiery.

It should he a matter of pride to all Pennsylvanians that
whereas in Virginia mules and cows were turned loose to
pasture upon and trample down the earthworks where Cornwallis
surrendered to Washingion, at the same time when Virginians
were petitioning the national government to preserve them, the
State of Pennsylvania unaided hy the nation, preserved the
Valley Forge camp ground, cared for it and furnished the
information by which was determined the location of
washington's troops from the sewveral states.

To relinguish the care of this "holy ground," and place it in
the uncertain custody of Washington officialdom, which for many
vears, in the Congress, in the Wwar DCepariment, in the
Interstate Caommerce Commission and often in the Presidential
office, has shown much indifference ta the interests of
Pennsylvania, would be to imperil the work thus far so well
advanced.

It would subject the camp ground to pressure from other states
to erect unfit memorials in improper places, and experience
shows that Pennsylvania protests would fall upon deaf ears.
Abdication usually follows a lost cause. For Pennsylvania to
abdicate her authority over Valley Forge, long exercised with
high intelligence, patriotism and |iberatity, and with the
approval of all her people except the representatives of special
interests that look with greedy eye for the flight of the spirit
of valley Forge, would be to turn her back upon the honorable
examples set by her scns in every state and national crisis. If
such abandonment of privilege, pride, duty and authorily
should occur, the Geltyshurg precedent points clearly 1o the
dilapidation reasonably certain to ensue at Valley Forge and to
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the prospect that the burden of repairing the damage will be
thrown back upon Pennsylvania.(13)

The Walley Forge Park Commission dewvoted much of its energy during the
1927-29 biennium to promoting the expansion of the park boundaries. In
1927 a bill was introduced in the Stste Senate by James S. Boyd of
Morristown to appropriate $250,000 for maintenance and extension of the
park area from 71,500 to 5,000 acres. The bill was enthusiastically
endorsed by the commission because of its desire to prevent "unsightly
commercial  building operations or industrial or other wundesirable
development" near the fringes of the historic encampment area. Hearings
were held on the bill and a number of promingnt citizens testified in fawvor
of its passage. These witnesses included: Rt. Rev. Thomas J. Garland,
Bishop of the Pennsylwvania Diocese of the Protestant Episcopal Church;
Dr. John B. 5toudt, president of the Huguenot Society; Dr. J. Horace
McFarland of Harrisburg; William Wayne, president of the Pennsylvania
Society of the Cincinnati; H. W. Krigbe! of Pennsburg; Henry N.
woolman, trustee of the University of Pennsylvania; wallace E. Chadwick,
chairman of the Valley Forge Committee of the General Alumni Society of
the University of Pennsylvania, and Norris S, Barratt, Jr., secretary of
the Pennsylvania Society, 5Sons of the Rewvoiution. Other citizens sent
messages in suppart of the bill,  These included; Horace Wells Sellers,
former president gf the Philadalphia Chapter of the American Institute of
Architects; Col. Samuel Frice Wetherill, president of the Philadelphia
District of the Tri-5tate Planning Federation; John F. Lewis, president of
the Academy of the Fine Arts; Eli K. Price, president of the City Parks
Assaciation; and Frank E. Leitch, field secretary of the Chester County
Recreational Centres Association.(14)

Despite the general enthusiasm of the park commission for the bill, one of
its members w. Herbert Burk, rector of the Washington Memarial Chapel,
was outspoken in his gpposition to the bill. Burk, who had cpposed
previous proposzals to extend the park boundaries, expiained his position
on the bill to the press in February 1928:

Untit exhaustive research has been made by a committee of
Matiornal and State historians we are appointing, nething
whatever should ke done ta change or enlarge WValley Forge
Park.

The mere addition of surrounding ground would tend to
overshadow the camping ground itself, and would have no
historic importance. ft is nolt a suitable thing to create a
playground on  the fringes of this hallowed spot. I have
strived to keep the spiritual wvalues of the historic ground to
the fromt, anda am unalterably opposed 1o what seems 1o be
picnicking plans.

13. Minutes, Valley Forge Fark Commission, October 12, 1927,

14. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1927-29, pp. 4-5.
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Noting that Burk was the gnly commission member to oppase the bill, Dr.
Ellis P. Oberholtzer, assistanl secreiary aof the commission, responded
cryptically:

| never heard of any such commitlee being appointed. . .

If there's such a committee, it's a crestion of his own mind.
He isn't a historian, and doesn't know what he's talking about.
For ten years he's been saying sufficient data is not available
about the park, and he'll probably keep on saying it fer ten
years more. He is the only member of the Commission of
fourteen who doesn't approve of the present plans for the
park.{15)

During 1928 the park commission's land committee directed Richard 3.
Burns, the resident park landscape architect, to estimate "the
approximate amount of acreage adjoining the reservation” that was
"desirabie for acquisition to provide “for a breader historicat and
recreational service and the preservation of presant park values." After
carrying out a study "of the potentialities of surrounding areas," Burns
prepared a "Preliminary Report on Park Extensions at Valley Forge" in
June 1928. Burns prefaced his recommendations for park extensions by
describing the conceptual framewark from which such extensions were 1o
be justified. He obserwved:

Since Valley Forge Park is primarily a Histarical Park,
praserved for public enjoyment as a shrine where cone of the
mast significant and appealing historic events in the history of
the nation took place, any extension to the present 1428 acres
that comprise the main encampment area of Washington's Army
should further protect and advance its far-reaching and unigue
purpose and influence as such, Hence the primary
consideration in selecting adjeining lands is their relative cost
and present use as compared with their existing and potential
proportionate value for in some way or another furthering this
purpose, Upon first thought and purefy from a historical
viewpoint the ideal in extension is Lo acquire, restore, and
preserve all sites and structures that were connected with the
old encampment. Upon further study it is noted that these
features are scattered over thousands of acres of highly valued
and economically useful land in warious directiorns, that most of
them have been greatly altered and semblance angd knowledge of
their original appearance has disappeared, and that many are so
situated that their exploitation under private ownership will not
seriously impair the appearance or value of the main
encampment area that embraces the existing 1428 acres of Valley
Forge Park. With those considerations in mind this latter area

15. (Coatesville Record, February 13, 1928, Newspaper Clippings File,
Valley Forge Park, Chester County Historical Saciety.
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praperly preserved and protected, may in the future, as it has
in the past, amply fulfill the basic purpose of the reservation
without the enormous expenditure reguired for a complete
inctusion of all historical sites.

Accepting the present park therefore as a nucleus about which
& proteciive web of adjeining land is needed in every direction,
the surrcunding territory is divided into areas on the plan for
convenience, the extent of such area away from the nucleus
depending upon the amount of acreage reguired to offer border
protection, to preserve historic or scenic assets within its
natural boundaries against misuse, or to tie harmoniously with
other forecasted commendable land and highway projects in the
vicinity. While it is possikle that all such forecasted projects
may not pe ultimately realized, our recognition of them will he
of materizl help in bringing them about and ne great injury to
the extensions as drawn will result from having recognized
them. |If Valley Forge Park is to be an important link in a
unified Park and Parkway system, and the utmost influence and
enjoyment of the reservation as a historical shrire is to be
realized, cooperation with forward locking public proposals such
as those made by the Regional Planming Federation of the
Philadelphia Tri-5tate District will be necessary.

Accordingly, Burns recommended the acquisition of nine generally-defined
areas, totaling 3,480 acres, for addition to the park. The areas
receiving highest priority were a 1,400-acre tract on Mount Misery, 570
acres on the north bank of the Schuylkill, and 145 acres cn the river's
south bank. Alsc recommended faor purchase were the 35-scre Ehret
Magnesia Manufacturing Company heldings, considered to be "undeniably
objectionable” and a "detriment to park wvalues and enjoyment,” and the
Washingten Innm with 1ts "modern additions which distinctly detract from
the desired historical aspect of the locality."(16)

When the Burns' report was presented to the commission, Burk, who at
the time was proposing to build a $10,000,000 National Washington
Memorial Church near his chapel, and two other members of the 13-person
park commisgion voted against it. 50 disturbed by the report was Burk
that he published a pamphlet, entitied "What Shall we Do with Valley
Forge," to publicize his opposition. Labeling the report as "unhistorical
and unsocial," he described the document as

a land-grabbing scheme, unworthy of serious consideration by
good citizens and staunch patriots. Valley Forge is vastly more

16. "Freliminary Report on Park Extensions at Valley Forge, Submitted
to the Valley Forge Park Commission, June 1928 (Revised and
Supplemented December, 1928)," Richard S. Burns, Resident Landscape
Architect, Valley Forge Park, Penna., Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC,
5ee Appendix D for a copy of relevant excerpts from Burns' report.
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than an excuse for devastating 2 cauntryside, or for making a
raid upon the State Treasury. It is the reason for a Nation's
existence. (17}

Burns revised his preliminary report with a supplement in December 1928,
in part to adjust the commission's land acqguisition plans 1o political
realities. The earlier report, according to Burns, provided for "a
comprehensive plan for extension that forwards the primary purpose of
the Park" by:

FIRST. Protecting it against injurious neighboring
development.

SECOND. Preserving historical and natural assets that are
within its logical boundaries.

THIRE. Planning its future so that it will merge
harmoniously with other commendable publiic projects proposed
for the vicinity.

FOURTH. Alleviating any necessity for its overcrowding
and over-development with recreation features or public utilities
and conveniences designed to meet the needs of more visitors
tham can be accommodated with propriety.

Since few of the recommended land parcels would ever be lower in cost
than at present, "economy as well as the best development and
management” weuld be promoted '"by immediate acquisition of the total
acreage.” However, it was becoming clear that "appropriations for such
simultanecus and complete annexation” would nha deferred in the inleresis
of minimizing the present cost and spreading the land purchases over 2
term of years so as to follow the pace of surrounding regionat and other
developments.” Thus he developed a priority list for land acquisition.

Sgme 1,800 acres were categorized as "imperative extensions.! These
lands were "for the most part over comparatively little used tands” which
were "natural assets to the locality and adaptable for public use without
the addition of expensive Iimprovement." The exiensions were
"particularly  imperative  for public  preservation befare private
exploitation" reduced Itheir natural or historical attracliveness and
consequent value as additions to the Park." The imperative extensions
were!

145 acres along the south bank of the Schuyikill

30 acres north of Valley Creek Road

400 acres of forest area an Mount Misery

300 acres along the morth bank of the Schuylkill

40 acres near Port Kennedy entrance to park

60 acres along Schuylkill just west of washington's Headquarters

875 acres of forest area extending from Mount Misery o Jug
Hollow

. T - P LR R

17. W. Herbert Burk, "What Shall We Do Wwith Valley Forge?" (N.FP.,

19283, n.p. A copy of this publication may be found at the Library of
Congress.
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Some 850 acres were listed as "less imperative extensions." This acreage
was less desirable, "being already expiocited or usefully employed either
. as farms, homes, estates, or commercially and hence invalving a
comparatively high expenditure for their purchase and incorporation into

Park land." These proposed extensions included:
1. 30 acres at eastern end of Valley Forge Viilage near park
entrance
2. 145 acres along Outer Line Drive extending to Trout Run
3. 200 acres near Port Kennedy extending to Trout Run
4. 215 acres extending to Trout Run ocutlet
5. 30 acres including Ehret Magnesia Company, Washington Inn,

and row of houses in Port Kennedy
230 acres along Valley Creek

=]

Four areas, totaling some 865 acres, were listed as “least imperative
extensions." These inclyded:

1. 420 acres along Perkiomen Creek

2. 260 acres north of the Schuylkill

3. 65 acres north of the Schuyikill

4. 120 acres including portions of Valley Forge Village, Perkiomen
Junction, Stirling's quarters, protectory grounds, Mauch home,
Morgan's guarters, and Muhlenberg's guarters,(18)

On January 11, 1929, the park commission held a special meeting with
several men prominent in the field of state and local parks and

. recreation. These men, who endorsed the ewxtension plans of the
commission, included L. H. Weir, a consultant and camp specialist to
national, state, and municipal parks from New York and field secretary of
the American Association on Recreational Centres, Judge S. F. Morthrup
of the Playground and Recreation Association of America, and Frank E.
Sutch, executive secretary of the Chester County Recreational Board.
After touring the park Weir addressed the commission:

For the preservation of Washington's Camp Ground, the people
of the Nation owe the State of Pennsylvania an everlasting debt
of gratitude. But as a result of my visit today it seems to me
that much more remains to be done. As the boundaries are
drawn how, certain historical sites are not included. These fall
within the natural and logical limits of the Park. Furthermare
there are lands which topegraphically are indicated as desirable
additions to the reservation, such as the extensive forested
ridge lying to the west of Valley Creek, running up ils slopes
and over the crest called Mount Misery, the adjoining banks of
the 5Schuylkill and portions of the banks of the Perkiomen.

18. Ibid. A copy of @ map of the park prepared in 1928 may be seen on
the following page.
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I feel very strangiy that this ground shouid be secured, not
only because of its historical interest, but by reasomn of the
absolute need of creating a surrounding beit for the protection
of a National shrine, such as this one has become. Only in
this way can the integrity of the main encampment area be
preserved and made inviolate against undesirzble developments
in the adjacent territory. While guarding the campground, this
belt can be put to recreational uses not consonant with the
campground itself. Space in this belt can be found far picnic
grounds, tourists camps, an airport perhaps, and for other
abjects as the need comes.

It seems to me that you have been very conservative in your
plans for extension when Valley Forge s compared, for
exampie, with the Harriman section of the Palisades Interstate
Park of nearly 56,000 acres and the Allegheny State Park of
nearly 60,000 acres, and many others that might be named.
You have been very modest in proposing that your park shall
be extended to 5,000 acres. My own fesling is that because of
the lack of any large state park created and existing for the
enjoyment of the people in this region, you could go farther
and ask for an extension of your jurisdiction over a still
greéater area. 50 while | approve of your plans and hope that
they will be endorsed by your Legislature, | am hopeful that in
no long time and before suburban values advance to such a
point as to make it difficult, if not prohibitive, you will reach
cut and bring more land into the reservation entrusted to your
care. (19}

In mid-March 1929 hearings were again held in Harrisburg before the
Senate Appropriations Committee on a revised bill for the extension of the
park. Armed with the Burns' report, commission chairman |saac R.
Fennypacker addressed the |egislators:

After careful consideration from both the historical and practical
view the Valley Forge Park Commission advocates the extension
of the Park area from 1500 acres to about 4500 acres and an
appropriation by the Legislature of $500,000 to acquire adjacent
land and alsa amounts for maintenance and for certain
restorative work such as the construction within the present
park area of the colgnial dam and raceway on the Valley Creek,
the acquiring of a colonial forge and putting it in place where
stood the forge burned by the British during the Rewolutionary
war.

Frem the practical view it is obvious that the present park is
menaced by the averfiow of population from Philadelphia and the
adjacent territory. In considerable part the present park has

19. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1927-29, pp. 5-6.
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no more of a natural frontier than existed between Prussia and
Russia. As  through generation after generation Prussian
mothers were in daily fear that the Russians were coming, there
exists at Valley Forge the daily danger that real estate
speculators and builders of unattractive rows of houses will
acquire lands adjacent to the present park, destroy with
commonplace houses the natural and beautiful surrcundings and
make forever impossible the preserwvation of what can now be
preserved.

The people of Philadelphia are moving out that way by the
thousands. The large estates are already being cut up and built
upcon, often with the scle object of getting the last dollar out of
the pperation.

In the Yalley Forge camp ground is a state possession of such
extraordinary interest that people are drawn te it from the ends
gf the earth. It is for state executive and legislature io say
whether in the future Americans, Eurocpeans, Australians or
New Zealanders shall leave Valley Forge with a feeling of
regret, when the menace of bungalows or other unsightly
structures has become a reality and a just cause for another

generation lecking back to our time to exclaim, 'An opportunity
lost. ' {20}

Pennypacker's testimony was ably supported by John R. K. Scott,
chairman of the ecommission's land committee, Bishop Garland of the
Frotestant Episceopal Church, and J. Horace McFarland, a national park
authority., Commission member Burk again spoke against the bill, stating
that he was opposed to

burying Washington’s camp ground in a pleasure park. The
whole country around Valley Forge really is a park now and the
fine estates make it an attractive spot.

The proposal outlined in Senator Boyd's bill is not based upon
historical knowledga and in reality nothing should be done at
Valley Forge until it is known definitely what should be done.
The proposed park would cost between $10,000,000 and
$15,000,000. Park experts felt that what we need is not so0

much a larger park but more uses for the park which we have
now.

The Boyd bill is a wicious measure because it is not for the
purchase of land but for the "designation" of land. This means
that any property to be designated is a worthlass tract on
which no improvements can be made and which no owner can

20. |bid., pp. B-8, and New York Times, March 17, 1929.
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sell. It is placing the countryside under a dead hand.
There's no time limit placed on this designation.

The bill is also objectionable because it follows the line of the
Valley Forge Park Commission in many years, that policy being
to take what are cailed the cheap bungalows or homes of those
in moderate means, but not teuch the estates of the wealthy
owners. That is an wunsocial thing, condemning the poor man's
home and leaving the rich. And it is further objectionable
because it is a backyard dewvelopment and contains no provision
for the development of the park entrance along Gulph Road.(21)

While the park commission was attempting to press for passage of the
park extension bill, two issues involving technical historical expertise
were studied--placement of cannon in the park redoubts and style of the
flag raised owver Washington's Headguarters in 1777-78. In November 1928
the guestion was raised "whether cannon had been properly placed in the
small redoubts by a former Commission.' Accordingly, Colonel John W.
Wright, known as the leading authority in the United States Army on the
use af artillery during the Revolutionary period, was consulted as “to the
probable positions of the American artillery in the Valley Farge lines,
especially the question as to whether or not any artillery was placed in

the small redoubts.'" Writing in response to the inguiry from Fort
Williams, Maine, on November 15, 1928, wright canfirmed "the position of
the cannon as placed in the redoubts." While he admittedly had “no

special knowledge of the American dispositions at Valley Forge," he did
offer the fellowing conclusions based on his research of Rewvolutionary
period artiliery emplacement and tactics:

The eastern portion of the American first lime behind which was
placed the troops of Glover, Learned, Paterson, Weedon,
Muhlenberg, consists of the redan trace, the redans being
about 600 yards apart. Now these redans were for the purpose
of delivering flank fire along the front and as the musket could
caver oanly about 100 yards, evidently this front was not
flanked by this weapon; it must have been flanked by artillery
placed in these redans, the guns of each redan covering half of
the total 6800 or 300 yards, which they could do with grape most
effectively. The western portion could be flanked by
musketry, though, ne doubt, there was some artillery here.
The second line, undoubtedly, has a certain number of the
heaviest guns in position, but the guns of the park could be
retired to this position in sufficient time for defense. | should
say that the extreme eastern redoubt of the fronmt line had
artiliery as it covers the left flank along a road and appears to
gccupy  an  important  position. Also the redoubt near the
position of the train of Knox, which covers the right of the

21. Report of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1927-29, p. 8, and
Mew York Times, March 17, 1929,
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American adwvance Line. The redoubt in the center of the
positionn, a star redoubt near the position of Varnum, probabiy
had one or two long range guns, as it covered Lhe bridge.{22)

while the matter of cannon emplacement was being explored, the guestion
"as to the style of flag raised at washington's headguarters during the
gncampment perigd" was studied by Horace W. Sellers and Captain Byron
McCandless of the United States Mawvy. DBased on a report submitted by
Sellers on December 3, 1928, the commission “directed that the flag of
Washington's Life Guard be adopted for use at Washington Headquarters
and a flag of that design was ordered to be made according to Mr.
Sellers' drawings."{23)

During the 1327-2% biennium a '"systematic" program of reforestation,
planting, pruning, and spraying was initiated under Landscape Architect
Burns. The reforestation program, accerding to Burns, was "started
with a view to restoring, as nearly as our knowledge of the appearance of
the woodlands in Revolutionary days will permit us to, the wopodlands that
existed in Colonial days throughout the encampment area, and alsp to
start young trees in already wooded sections to replace older ones now
fast dying off." Large numbers of trees were dying on Mount .oy, and
thus reforestation was especially needed there. The refarestation
pragram, according to Burns, was "restorative in purpose and carried out
with native trees" especially "well adapled to our spil, situation, and
climate." The quantities and warieties of trees, which were abtained
primarilty from the stocks of the Department of Forests and waters, used
in the program were: 1,000 pin ocak, red ocak, American elm, and sugar
maple in 6-12 foot sizes; 5,500 two-year red cak; 3,500 two-year white
pine; 50 2-3 foot white ping; 225 2-3 foot Caradian hemlock; 2,500
gne-year American elm; and 2,50 two-year white ash. The principal
aress of the park where reforestation was initiated were on Mount Misery,
the barren knoll to the rear of the Wayne Statue zalong Cuter Line Drive,
an  the slope several hundred feet to the rear of Washington's
Headquarters, along the slope by the Reading Railroad, and in the Valley
Creek ravine. The benefits of this work would not be evident for many
years until the striplings evolved

into impressive forests, assuming that mean-while they will be
nursed along through drought, fires, and the temptation to mow
and 'clean up' the planted areas before the trees have attained
sufficient size to be seen and mowed around.

Stnce the integrity of the Park depends to a large extent on its
appearance with relation to the event memorialized, the wooded
areas, rural fields, amd old buildings and barns compose the
Fark scene in which the genera! public benefits. Hence the

22. Report of The Valley Forge Fark Commission, 1927-2%, pp. 12-13.

23. 1bid., pp. 14-%7.
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value of reforestation cannot be overestimated when we realize
that with the less of wirgin trees on our hills, with a stil
further cutting of the second growth, and with the added
ravages of forest fires, the ground fertility is so depieted that
few desirable and long-lived tree warieties remain. Less
desirable and short-lived species are encroaching on the
reservation to the detriment of the generzl desired appearance
of the Park.

While the reforestation program was being carried out Burns and his crew
also dewvoted attention to other planting in the park. Many plants that
grew "in large gquantities” on the reservation “in a wild state were
collected and distributed throughout the Park." Several hundred plants,
including the native flowering dogwoods, rhododendraon, laurel, azaiea,
huckleberry, and ferns, were transplanted. Some established shrub beds
were thinned out, and plants "that succumbed soon after planting were
replaced." Establishment of "native shrub groups along Valley Creek and
in other places where such planting advances the desired natural aspect
of the Park" was started with native asiers, shadbush, redbud, New
Jersey team, white fringe, and honeysuckle.

A pruning and spraying program was also commenced during 1827-28
under Burns. According to his assessment:

Two of the Park ilaborers have been instructed in the proper
methods of pruning and a large percentage of the individual
trees in the park fields and along the drives have been
attended to. Our pruning is done with a thought to retaining
the natural shape of the trees, remowving the excess wood in
order to ipcrease their vigor and create a framework that will
not only give a sturdier appearance to the tree but that will
also withstand fce and wind storms without breakage. Dead,
diseased, weak, and crowded limbs are removed, and scars
carefully treated, and the tree left in its natural, typical shape
and condition.

Spraying has been carried on the new power sprayer to a
certain extent, the pit-making scale on Qaks being the principal
pest at this time.

Many of the mutifated, dangercausly weak, and unsightly trees
have teen removed from the reserwvation and replaced by others
of good character and more [asting gqualities. (24}

During the 1927-2% biennium the park commission took actual possession af
a number of houses and other properties in the Port Kennedy area to
which the state had acquired title some wears earlier. Although the state

c
o

24. | .. pPp. 25-27.
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had paid for the properties, former owners were still occupying the
buildings, in several instances renting them and retaining the rental
revenue. The commission removed 44 families from such buildings, one
family being ejected by the 5Sheriff of Montgomery County at the order of
tha state attormey general. The material of 30 houses was sold by lhe
Department of Property and 5Supplies and the structures razed by the
purchasers. Under the direction of Acting Superintendent Sheas the
sites of the razed buildings and eight acres of adjoining 'and were graded
and sown with grass seed. Eighteen lime kilns "were also wrecked and
the sites graded." Fourteen stone houses were Kept intact, nine of them
being occupied by park employees. In six of these electric lighting was
installed, {25}

Regular maintenance and forest work was carried out during the 1927-29
biennium by the park labor force, consisting of one carpenter, one shop
man, thres machine operators, one teamster, and ten laborers. The
maintenance work accomplished during 1928, which is representative of
the period, Included:

Repair of nine miles of improved roads, one mile of dirt road, tweo
miles of paths, and tweniy-five miles of road bank and tsrraces,
the latter “clipped with scythes"
Mowing with two tractor mowers, supplemented by two horse-drawn
field mowers, of some 900 acres of grassland (mowed four times)
Five houses painted
Observatory and Washington's Headquarters painted under contract
Cleaning out of fence rows in lately-acquired fieids
Addition of 500 feet of benches and tables at picnic grove .

The forest work carried out in 1928 included:

Clean up of some 500 acres of woodland by gathering and burning
Falfen limbs and branches

Cutting of all diseased, dead, and stunted trees from fourteen acres
of forest land

Remgwval of 84 dead trees from open fieids{26)

Park employees alsc began to keep the enclosed approach to and around
the Waterman grave "clear of weeds and its luxurious growth of poison
vy, " The site, owned by the Daughters of the Revelution, had not been
mairntained for some time. The commission considered the iron fence to be

¢a. [bid., pp. 2¥-28., The houses converted for use as park housing
included the Erwin double house, four Quigg cinderbank houses, the
Douglass and Mulien houses, twp double Balmer houses, three Baimer
triple houses, and an old house in the rear of Balmer's store. Minultes,
Valley Forge Fark Commission, August 30, December 14, 1927.

26. Valley Forge Park Commission to fsaac R. Pennypacker, January 23,
1929, Correspondence, RG 46, PHMC.
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both "unsightly and inappropriate” and urged its acquisition by the
state.{27)

During the summer of 1928 R. H. Pastorius, an experienced police
officer, was hired to supervise the park guards. A training program was
begun for the park guards, and regulations, similar to those of Fairmount
Park and the state constabulary, were adopted. For the first time a
night watchman was stationed at Washington's Headguarters at a salary of
$80 per month. A small building near the Washington Inn was remodelled
to serve as headguarters for the guards.

The first organized camping area in the park was opened during the
1927-29 biennium. The camp was located some 300 vards south of the
Washington tpn on an elevation east of Valley Creek. A road leading to
the area was improved, and a water supply system furnished.

Additional parking facilities were provided in the park during 1927-29 as
the result of a commission study. The general parking survey was
prompted by problems resulting from visitors to Washington Memorial
Chapel parking automobiles within that portion of the park where tradition
said "that Continental scldiers were buried." This long-standing practice
had destroyed the grass across from the chapel and cut the ground "“into
gullies rapidly deepened by rainfall." As a result of the study additional
parking facilities were provided at the picnic grounds, Mount Joy
observatory, Wayne Statue, amd Memerial Arch. A barrier with "ne
parking" signs was erected and a park guard was stationed across from
the chapel. Thea "disfigured" ground was graded and seeded, and Burk
was induced to build a new parking lot for automobites on the chapel
grounds.

Several gifts were donated to the park during 1927-29. In the spring of
1928 sixteen Hungarian quail "were set free in the park." A part of a
cannon, which had been cast at Warwick furnace during the Rewolution,
was given to the park by Sarah E. Wynn of Chester County. In 1829
Barbara Bayne presented several horse chestnuts from the Friendship
Tree at Bath, Pennsylvania, which had reportedly come from saplings
given by Washington to General Rabert Brown of Bath.{28)

The number of visitors to Valley Forge increased greatly during the
1927-29 biennium, rising from some 702,000 in 1927 to nearly 1,200,000 in
1928. Formerly there had been few visitors to the park in February, but
cn Washington's Birthday (February 22} in 1923 some 6,000 visitors were
counted at the park. Prominent persons from other countries were also
coming to the park. For example, on January 28, 1928, William Cosgrave,
president of the Executive Council of the !rish Free State and Desmond
Fitzgerald, Irish Minister of Defense, together with members of the

27. Report of Valley Forge Park Commission, 1927-29, p. 30.

28. Ibid., pp. 28-31.
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Society of the Friendly Sons of St. Patrick of Philadelphia, visited the
park.{29)

Twe sesquicentennial cobservances were celebrated at Valley Forge in
1927-28. On December 19, 1927, the 150th anniversary of the Continental
Army's occupation was observed with special ceremonies and a formal
address by George Nox McCain, a prominent Montgomery County
newspaperman and author.{20) The 150th anniversary of the celebration
by Washingten's army of the French Alliance was cbserved on May 6,
1928, with the drama presentation of "Cato" by Addison in the area
adjacent to Varnum's Quarters. This play, directed by Dr. Ellis P.
QOberholtzer, had been given by the soldiers during the encampment aon
May 11, 1778, The anniversary event also included a “picturesgue
miiitary pageant" and addresses by Rev. Dr. Joseph Fort Newton of the
Protestant Episcopal Church, Overbrook, Pennsylvania, Rene Weiller,
French consul at Philadelphiz, and Robert von Moschrisker, Chief Justice
of Pennsyivania, who was the presiding cofficial for the occasion. The
event was financed by contributions collected by Mrs. John C. Martin,
head of the Ladies Auxiliary Committee, and individual contributions by
the park commission. Prior to the occasion the swamp near the Varnum
house "was drained with tiles," and it was determined to post 2 park
guard at the structure and, by agreement with the Daughters of the
American Revglution, it was arranged to open the house to the public
between May and Nowvember.

E. THE YEARS 1922-1931

Data relative to the administration of Valley Forge State Park for the
1929-31 biennium is sketchy since budget problems did not allow the park
commission to publish a biepnial report for that peried. The principal
activity in the park during those years, which marked the beginning of
the Great Depression, was the discovery and excavation in October 1929
of the "original forge" which had been left in burned ruins by the British
after their raid through the valley and hills in September 1777.

23. ibid., p. 25. Also see John T. Faris, Dld Trails and Roads in
Pernn's Land {Port Washington, Long lsland, Mew York, 13277, pp. 135-38
for further data on tourism at Valley Forge. Burk included park tourist
information in his Valley Fforge: Wwhat {t 1s, Where it (s, and What To
S5ee There (North Wwales, Pennsylvania, 192B), excerpts of which may be
seen in Appendix E.

30. The 150th Anniversary of Valley Forge: Address of George Nox
McCain, Litt. D., at Valley Farge, December 19th, 1927, at the Sesqui-
Centennial Celebration of its Occupation by General Washington and his

Army, December 19th, 1777 (Phlladelphla, 1923), and George NOX McCain,
"Colonei George Mox McCain Noted Sesqui Centennial of OCccupation, g
Picket Post, October, 1947, 44-48.
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The forge was |ocated about one-half mile abowve Washington's
Headquarters along Valley Creek after excavations were begun by
Superintendent  Sheas using recently-found documents written by
Lieutenant Isaac Anderson in the early 180(s. The forge remains were
found under some nine feet of silt deposited in the creek. Unearthed
remains included the foundation walls, board flooring, a large water wheeal
with the blades intact, & smaller water wheel, the dam and sluiceway, an
anvil box, tool box, bars of pig iron and other pieces of metal such as
handmade nails and "true forge cinder." It was noted that the “top
stones of the foundation walls, the woodwork and the metal contents all
showed unmistakable signs of having been through a hot fire."{31)

Since discovery of the forge remains received considerable publicity, park
visitors began making inguiry as to its original appearance and operation.
Thus, in 1930 the park commission determined to locate, purchase, and
reconstruct a forge at the original site. George W. 5Schultz, a resident of
Reading and a recognized expert on Pennsylvania forges, furnaces, and
iren operations, was employed to locate such a forge. After some months
he found a forge building, consisting of a water wheel, tilt hammer, open
hearth, and other appurtenances intact, at Hay Creek, three miles fram
Birdsbore in Berks County. Schultz advanced the $2,500 necessary to
purchase the forge, and Horazce W. Seilers was hired to "supervise the
knocking down of the building, the proper identification and resetting of
it and all its apparatus on the Valiey Creek within the park."{32)

The park continued to attract large numbers of wvisitors during 1829-31,
thus giving the park police increasing law enforcement responsibilities, In
March 1830, for instance, Sergeant R. H. Pasterius reported on the
cperations of his staff during the previous month:

Fatrolmen Miller, Eiglesan, Hart and Wagner covered 3555 miles on
Motor Cycles and Ford roadster, patralling the Park.

83 Park Regulations and 50 Motor Law Regulations were corrected
during the month.

One accident happened in which two vehicles were badly damaged,
but without injury to occupants

Five arrests were made, two defendants were released with a
reprimand, the other three parties were turned over to the Perna.
State Motor Patrol for prosecution.

3'. New York Times, Nowvember 30, 1930. Also see "Valley Forge Park
Commission of the Commoenwealth of Pennsylvania, Report of the Chairman
of The Historical Committee Concerning The Forge, Dams and Races On
Valley Creek Im 1777-78," June 1, 1929, RG 2, VAFO Archives; Jerpome J.
Sheas, "The Forges at Valley Forge," Picket Post, July, 1944, 3: "valley
Forge Was Nation's Crucible and Controversy Still Continues Owver the
Original Iron Forge Plant," Picket Post, October, 1946, 15-19; and William
£. Montgomery, Recreation In The 5State Parks and State Forests of
Fennsylvania {Harrisburg, 19353}, pp. 9-10.

32. Reporl of The Valley Forge Park Commission, 1327-29, pp. 10-11.
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6,715 Visitors passed through Head-Quarters, {1,927 on Washington's
Birthday)

8,120 Automaobiles,

31 Aute-Buses,

293 Motor Cycles,

155 Bicycles, were counted on the Park Drives

304 Horseback Riders were observed in fields and paths.

35 to 40,000 People passed through the Park in February.({33)

F. THE YEARS 1931-1935

Gifford Pinchot, a Frogressive Republican who had served as governor of
Pennsylvania during 1923-27, was again elected to that office for the
1937-35 term. Soon after his election for a second term in 1930, Pinchet
set out to purge many of the appointees put in office during 1927-31 by
Governcr Jehn Fisher, head of the conservative Republican faction in the
commonwealth. Pinchot carried oput this purge by reguiring all state
employees and appointees, whether serving with or without pay, to a
pledge of loyalty to his 1930 platfoarm. The lega! battle over Pinchot's
right to extract the pledge was carried to the State Supreme Court, but
the justices "refused to enjoin the Governor from administering the
pledga" in late 1931. The paolitical infighting between the twe Republican
factions had dire implications for the Valley Forge Park Commission. On
January 22, 1932, the Coatesville Record stated:

It is understeed that for the last year the members of the
commission, who are in charge of the beautiful park, which was
the site of the Continental Army's winter encampment, have
been "marking time."

They have not made their biennial report or undertaken new
work in cennection with the park, because they expected to be
"fired" by the Governor. As one member of the commission
intimated, they saw no sense in preparing their report on two
years of activity if in the midst of the work the Governor would
see fit to supersede them.

That same month it was announced that the commissien would be
recrganized "based on the refusal of most of the present members to sign
the Gowvernar's ‘loyalty pledge.'" Pinchot sent fetters to membsrs of the
new commission, asking them to serve for 1932, but at the same time
demanding that they append their signatures to the pledge:

33. "Summary Repart of the Police Department, as furnished by Mr. R.
H. Pastorius, Sergeant in Charge," March 12, 1920, RG 2, WVAFD
Archives. A copy of a map of the park prepared in February 1930 may
be seen on the following page. More data on Pennsylvania forges and
research relating to the operation of forges along Valley creek may be
seen in the George Schuitz Collection in the VAFO Archives.
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I will loyally support the policies approved by the pecple of the
commonwealth in the last election for Governar.(34)

Thus, a newly-organized Valley Forge Park Commission was appointed in
March 1932 and began functiocning in a formal sense in May with Frederick
F. Hallowell of Wayne presiding as chairman.(35)

Park commission chairman Isaac R. Fennypacker was one of those dropped
by Pinchot. After being ufired," Pennypacker delivered an address
bafore the Main Line Kiwanis Club at Merion Cricket Club, describing how
the work of the commission tad been "'disrupted by Governor Pinchot'™
by "'‘numerous changes in the commission's personnel due to political
reasons.'” He cbserved:

The modest position of membership on the Valley Forge Park
Commission, like other modest hut useful wark, does not atiract
newspaper attention as do the bandits and maving picture
actors of the day. Some of you, therefore may noi be aware
that Gowvernor Pinchot last summer disrupted the Park
Commission which had been in existence for nearly five years.
The members of that commission did a great deal of work for
which there is no pay, but which invoived some personal
expense in the way of individual contributions for this or that
object for which the state has made no appropriation.
Incidentally, | may be excused for saying that as chairman of
that Commission, 1 found it necessary at certain periods, to
write twenty-five letters in a day, aboul the work of the
Cemmission or in answer to letters of inguiry, or letters giving
desired information received from many parts of the United
States.

Governor Pinchot displaced a number of the most interested,
best informed and most diligent of the members of the
Commission. . . .(36)

while Pinchot was conducting his purge of state officials Valley Forge
State Park was visited by President Herbert Hoowver on May 30, 1931, for
the purpose of giving a Memorial Day address at the invitation of the
park commission. The state legislature appropriated $5,000 for the
occasion, and a site at the east end of the Parade Grounds near the site
of Huntington's Quarters was selected for the address. The houss was
renovated for the occasion, and, through lpans of furniture by lIsaac H.

34, Coatesville Record, January 22, 1932, Newspaper Clippings File,
Vailey Forge Park, Chester County Historical Society.

35, Report of The Valiey Farge Park Commission, GCommonwealth of
Pennsylvania, 1931-1835, p. 3.

36. Unidentified newspaper clipping, 1932, Newspaper Clipping File,
Valley Forge Park, Chester County Historical Society.
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Clothier, Jr., was Mappropriately fitted" for the president's wvisit.
Nearby a large platform for the speakers and invited guests was erected
with amplifiers, radio apparatus giving the stand twe national "hook-ups,"
and telegraph wires to accommaodate a {arge number of newspaper
reparters and correspondents.

On the appointed day fresident and Mrs. Hoover arrived at the Betzwood
station over the Pennsylvania Railroad and were taken to the park by
automobile, escorted by the "City Troop" of Philadelphia.  As the
president reached the platform a tweniy-one gun salute was fired by
Battery C of the 107th Field Artillery. The crowd of some 30,000 persons
inciuded a number of survivors of the Civil War, members of the Grand
Army of the Republic who were seated in front of the platform. After an
introduction by Chairman Isaac R. Pennypacker, who was still in office,
Hoover presented his address, comparing the trials faced by the
Continental Army at Valley Forge with the economic stresses facing the
American people during the depression. Hoover ended his speech by
alluding to the symbeolism of Valley Forge in American life:

Yalley Forge has come indeed to be a symbol in American life.
It is more than the name for a place, more than the scene of a
military episcde, more than just a criticel event in history.
Freedom was waon here by fortitude, not by the flash of the
sword. Valley Forge is our American synonym for the trial of
human character through privation and suffering, and it is the
symbol of the triumph of the American souf. |f those few
thousand men endured that long winter of privation and
suffering, humiliated by the despair of their country men, and
deprived of support save their own indomitable will, yet held
their countrymen to the faith, and by that halding held fast the
freedom of America, what right have we to be of little faith?
Ged grant that we may prove worthy of George Washington and
his men of VYalley Forge.

Following the president's oration, an acclamation of thanks was given by
Or. Frank Aydelotte, president of Swarthmore College, to conclude the
festivities. President and Mrs. Hoover were driven through the park "in
an cpen car" and shown Washington's Headquarters and other points of
interest on the way back to the Betzwood railway station.{37)

The new commission quickly began a program of park development and
improvement. An equipmenl building was c¢onstructed in 1932-33 on a
'completely concealed" site "near the guarry holes in the neighborhoad of
the magnesia factory." The buiiding housed a fully-equipped machine
shop, blacksmith's shop, space for storage and repair of automotive

37. Commonweafth of Pennsylvania, Department of Forests and Waters,
Valley Forge Park Commissicn, Yalley Ferge: FPresident Haowver's Visil,
Memarial Day, May 30, 1931 (Harrisburg, 1937), pp. 3-19. For more data
on this topic see the Vafley Forge folder in the Ellis P. Cbherholtzer
Papers at the Historical Seciety of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia.
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eguipment, tools, and materials. Construction of this buiiding "did away
with the necessity of maintaining other storage houses in more prominent
places in the Park, as on the slope near the Huntington Heagua